E-ISSN 2687-4555

MEDICAL RECORDS

International Medical Journal

Editor-in-Chief

Assoc. Prof. Zülal ÖNER Izmir Bakirçay University Faculty of Medicine,

Assoc. Prof. Deniz SENOL Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy

Editors

Assoc. Prof. Serkan Öner Izmir Bakirçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology



Volume	:6
Number	:1
Year	:2024

https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/med

E-ISSN 2687-4555 E-mail: medrecsjournal@gmail.com Journal homepage: https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/medr

Publisher: Medical Records Association (Tibbi Kayıtlar Derneği)

Editor-in-Chief

Assoc. Prof. Zülal ÖNER İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: zulal.oner@bakircay.edu.tr

Assoc. Prof. Deniz ŞENOL Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Düzce, Türkiye E-mail: denizanatomi@gmail.com

Co-Editor

Assoc. Prof. Serkan ÖNER İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: drserkanoner@gmail.com

Biostatistics Editors

Yusuf SEÇGİN Karabuk University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Karabük, Türkiye E-mail: yusufsecgin@karabuk.edu.tr

English Grammar Editor

Assist. of Prof. Pelin KOCA İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: pelin.koca@bakircay.edu.tr

Honorary Editorial Board

Prof. Abdel-Hady El-Gilany Faculty of Medicine, Mansoura University, Department of Public Health and Community Medicine, Egypt Email: ahgilany@gmail.com

Prof. Bünyamin SAHİN Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Tokat, Türkiye Email: bunyamin.sahin@gop.edu.tr

Prof. Mohammed Mohammed Elsayed is Elgazz Medical Faculty, Yeditepe University, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: mohd.algazzar@yahoo.com

Prof. Rasmi MUAMMER Yeditepe University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: rasmymuammar@yahoo.com

Prof. Shashikant Mane Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences (KIMS), Department of Anatomy, Karad- India Email: kantmane@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Afzan Mat YUSOF Human Molecular and Cellular Biology Research Cluster (iMoleC), Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia Email: afzanyusof@karabuk.edu.tr

Prof. Ceylan AYADA İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, İzmir, Türkiye Email: ceylan.ayada@bakircay.edu.tr

Assoc. Prof. Cihat UÇAR İnönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Malatya, Türkiye Email: ucarcht@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Şeyma TOY Karabük University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Karabük, Türkiye Email: seymatoy44@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Şuayip Burak DUMAN İnönü University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology, Malatya, Türkiye Email: suayipburakduman@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Türker ÇAVUŞOĞLU İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, İzmir, Türkiye Email: turker.cavusoglu@bakircay.edu.tr

Dr. Mirzaman HUSEYNOV Private Safa Hospital Bağcılar, Pediatric Surgery, Pediatric Urology, Türkiye Email: mirzamanhuseynov@gmail.com

Assist. of Prof. Ahmad YAHYAZADEH Karabuk University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology, Karabük, Türkiye Email: yahyazadeh.ahmad@karabuk.edu.tr

Medical Records Year 2024 Volume 6 Number 2 Page 1-145

Assist. of Prof. Alev CUMBUL Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of, Histology and Embryology, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: alev.cumbul@yeditepe.edu.tr

Assist. of Prof. Akif MAHARRAMOV Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: amaharramov@yeditepe.edu.tr

Assist. of Prof. Filiz ÖZDEMİR İnönü University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Malatya, Türkiye Email: fciledag@gmail.com

Assist. of Prof. Fatma KIZILAY İnönü University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Malatya, Türkiye Email: fatmakizilay@hotmail.com.tr

Assist. of Prof. Hüseyin UZUNER Kocaeli Health Services Vocational School, Kocaeli, Türkiye Email: huseyin_uzuner@yahoo.com.tr

Assist. of Prof. Pelin KOCA İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İzmir, Türkiye Email: pelin.koca@bakircay.edu.tr

Dr. Dilara HASANOVA Azerbaijan Medical University, Department of General Surgery, Azerbaijan Email: dr.hasanova@hotmail.com Dr. Elnur MAHDI Bezmialem Foundation University School of Medicine, Main Areas of Specialization: Radiological Diagnosis, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: elnur.mehdi@gmail.com

Dt. Gomaa AL RAZOUK Duraa Almişari Clinics Email: jomaa2018@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Mushfig ORUJOV Pataloji, Azerbaijan Email: mushfig.orujov@khazar.org

Assoc. prof. Parisa HAJALIOGHLI Tabriz University of Medical Sciences Department of Radiology, Tabriz, Iran Email: p.hajalioghli2@gmail.com

Dr. Reza Mirzajani ANESTHESIOLOGIST Pain and Palliative Care Medicine Fellowship, Tabriz, Iran Email: reza.mirzajani.f@gmail.com

Assistant Dr. Yaghoub KHODABANDEH Tabriz University of Medical Sciences Department of Psychiatry, Tabriz, Iran Email: yagoubkhodabandeh55@gmail.com

Dr. Ramil AlIYEV Central Hospital of Oil Workers, Cardiovascular Surgeon, Azerbaijan Email: shaman_ra@mail.ru

Indexing and Abstracting: TÜBİTAK/ULAKBİM Tıp Veri Tabanı, Türk Medline, EBSCO, Google Scholar, EuroPub, J-Gate

Contents

Original Article	
1. The Effects of Corona Stimulation on the Osseointegration of Dental Implants: An Experimental Study Mustafa AYHAN, Hümeyra KOCAELLİ	1-7
2. Anti-Leukemic Effect of Malachite Green-Mediated Photodynamic Therapy by Inducing ER Stress in HL-60 Cells Metin ÇALIŞKAN, Gulsen BAYRAK, Sercin ÖZLEM ÇALIŞKAN	8-13
3. Investigation of Functional Disability, Pain, And Quality of Life in Patients with Cervical Radiculopathy by Gender Aydın Sinan APAYDIN, Musa GÜNEŞ, Metehan YANA	14-9
4. Can Mecsina Hemostopper, which has a Cytotoxic Effect on Mcf-7 Cells, be Considered an Anticarcinogenic Agent due to its Immunological Properties? Mustafa ÇİÇEK, Mehmet Kemal TÜMER, Alpgiray TURGUT	20-6
5. Determination of the Frequency of Celiac and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases in Children and Adolescents Diagnosed with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus İlknur KABA, Samet Can DEMİRBAŞ, Havva Nur Peltek KENDİRCİ	27-31
6. Is There a Relationship between Insulin Resistance and Eosinophil, Inflammatory Parameters Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, C-Reactive Protein Values? Meltem YİĞİT, Özgür OLUKMAN	32-6
7. The Effect of Surgical Nurses' Attitudes Towards Evidence-Based Practices on Patient Safety Culture: Descriptive and Relationship-Seeking Study Gürkan KAPIKIRAN, Yasin ÇETİN, Cansu AĞRALI, Esra ÜNAL	37-43
8. Gossypin Regulated Doxorubicin-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in H9c2 Cardiomyocyte Cells Yener YAZĞAN, Betül YAZĞAN	44-9
9. Accessory and Sesamoid Bones in the Body: A study on their Size and Presence Muhammet DEĞERMENCİ, Ali AYGÜN, Halil YILMAZ, Adem TOKPINAR, Orhan BAS	50-7
10. The Effect of Uterocervical Angle on Treatment Efficacy in First-Trimester Pregnancy Terminations Hasan Yılmaz AKIN, Tayfur ÇİFT, Süleyman Serkan KARAŞİN, Zeynep TOKSOY KARAŞİN	58-63
11. Bibliometric Analysis of Articles on Methanol Poisoning in Web of Science Database Pelin KOCA, Hanefi ÖZBEK	64-70
12. Is Post-COVID 19 Vaccination Antibody Level Related to Happiness and Stress Hormones? Cihat UÇAR, Faruk DİŞLİ, Tuğçe ATÇALI, Sedat YILDIZ	71-5
13. Investigation of the Antiepileptic Effect of (R)-(-) and (S)-(+) Carvone in Penicillin-Induced Epileptiform Activity Model Özge BEYAZÇİÇEK, Sumeyye ALTUN, Ersin BEYAZÇİÇEK, Şerif DEMİR	76-82
14. Dexmedetomidine and Fentanyl in Endotracheal Intubation: A Comparative Analysis of Hemodynamic and Intubation Responses Ayşegül TORUN GÖKTAŞ, Feriha TEMİZEL, Gülten ARSLAN, Metin ÖZŞEKER, Hüsnü SÜSLÜ, Leyla SAİTOĞLU	83-8

Medical Records Year 2024 Volume 6 Number 2 Page 1-145

15. Investigation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Apoptosis Caused by Malachite Green-Mediated Sonodynamic Therapy in HL60 Cells Metin ÇALIŞKAN, Gulsen BAYRAK, Serçin ÖZLEM ÇALIŞKAN	89-94
16. Improving Phlebotomy Practices Through Small-Volume Blood Tubes: A Survey-Based Study Fatma Demet ARSLAN, Tuğba ÖNCEL VAN, Canan ALPŞEN, Sevgi ÇINAR, Mehmet KÖSEOĞLU	95-101
17. Quality Assessment of YouTube Videos on Avascular Necrosis of the Femoral Head: An Analysis of Content, Reliability, and Educational Value Ali İhsan KILIÇ, Gokhan SAYER, Mehmet AKDEMİR	102-6
18. Inhibition of Autophagy on Melatonin-Induced Apoptosis in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 Cell Lines Gözde Özge ÖNDER Adnan BAYRAM Oğuz Galip YILDIZ Arzu YAY	107-14
19. Evaluation of Publishing Status of Doctoral Theses of Faculty of Medicine Department of Anatomy in Scientific Journals Sibel ATEŞOĞLU KARABAŞ,Selma SOLGUN DAĞ	115-9
20. Availability of Mean Platelet Volume and Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio in Control of Helicobacter Pylori Eradication Hüseyin KAÇMAZ, Ali Rıza ÇALIŞKAN	120-3
21. Turkish Version of Caregiver Difficulties Scale for the Children with Cerebral Palsy: A Study of Reliability and Validity Hatice ADIGÜZEL, Zekiye İpek KATIRCI KIRMACI, Suat EREL, Nevin ERGUN	124-31
22. Inflammation Severity in Radicular Cysts and Its Relationship with Age and Gender Mürüvvet AKÇAY ÇELİK, Havva ERDEM, Fadime Gül SALMAN, Büşra ERŞAN ERDEM, Hilal BALTA, Yeliz KAŞKO ARICI, Özge KAYA KORKMAZ	132-7
23. The Effect of Bilateral Intravitreal Ranibizumab Administration on Pain in Diabetic Retinopathy Mehmet COŞKUN	138-40
24. The Evaluation of Gastric Polyps Detected During Upper Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Ali Rıza ÇALIŞKAN, Hüseyin KAÇMAZ	141-5

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



The Effects of Corona Stimulation on the Osseointegration of Dental Implants: An Experimental Study

Mustafa Ayhan, DHumeyra Kocaelli

İstanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Currently, one of the most promising research areas in dental implantology is the exploration of additional procedures to reduce loading time for implants and enhance osseointegration in cases of poor bone quality. Various techniques have been researched and developed for stimulating bone production, including electrical stimulation of the jawbone and surrounding tissues. However, there is limited research on the direct relationship between electrostimulation and osseointegration. This experimental study aims to investigate the effects of corona stimulation (CS) on the rate and quality of osseointegration, as well as its potential to reduce the waiting period for dental implants.

Material and Method: In this experimental protocol, 32 dental implants were inserted into the tibia of four male sheep bilaterally. Implants on the right tibia of each male sheep underwent CS treatment, while the other side served as a control group without any stimulation. The animals were sacrificed on the 15th and 30th days after implantation. Bone segments containing the implants were processed using a noncalcified method. It assessed new bone formation and osseointegration around the dental implants using the undecalcified method and histomorphological analysis. An experienced blinded investigator measured percentages of mineralized bone-implant contact (BIC), bone area (BAr), and bone perimeter (BPm) to evaluate the bone-implant interface. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 21 for Windows, with a significance level set at p<0.05.

Results: The histomorphometric parameters revealed a significant increase in BIC, BAr, and BPm values in the CS group compared to the control group on both the 15th and 30th days (p<0.05). There was no statistically significant difference in BIC ratio between the second and fourth stimulation groups.

Conclusion: The findings of this experimental study suggest that CS may have a positive impact on the early osseointegration period of dental implants.

Keywords: Corona stimulation, dental implant, electrostimulation, histomorphometry, osseointegration

INTRODUCTION

Titanium implants placed in the jawbone typically achieve osseointegration within a few months of the latent phase, as demonstrated in Branemark's 1983 research (1,2). Presently, there is a significant focus within implant research on employing additional techniques to enable early loading of implants and enhancing osseointegration in cases of poor bone quality (3). Various boneforming methods are under investigation to shorten the osseointegration period and improve success rates in such challenging cases (4). Strategies include enhancing the implant's surface properties, modifying its biochemical and morphological attributes, and boosting bone's inherent healing potential to achieve better bone-implant (BIC) contact both quantitatively and qualitatively (5-7).

Despite numerous studies in this field, current techniques aimed at accelerating postoperative bone healing, reducing prosthetic loading time, or facilitating early loading remain unsatisfactory (8). One such method involves the application of direct or transcutaneous electrostimulation to the bone and surrounding tissues (9). While electrostimulation has shown promise in

CITATION

Ayhan M, Kocaelli H. The Effects of Corona Stimulation on the Osseointegration of Dental Implants: An Experimental Study. Med Records. 2024;6(1):1-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1365954

Received: 25.09.2023 Accepted: 04.11.2023 Published: 10.01.2024 Corresponding Author: Mustafa Ayhan, İstanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: drmustafaayhan@gmail.com wound healing and fracture treatments, there is a dearth of literature demonstrating its connection with osseointegration. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), a form of electrostimulation, has gained popularity in various treatments in recent years, including expediting wound healing, pain management, and reducing postoperative edema (10).

TENS devices have been shown to exert positive effects on wound healing by stimulating peripheral nerves and vascular structures, increasing blood flow, mitigating edema, providing analgesic effects, and accelerating regeneration. However, their potential impact on osseointegration following implant surgery has not been thoroughly investigated. Furthermore, TENS devices offer ease of use in clinical settings, which enhances patient convenience (11,12).

This research aims to experimentally examine the effect of the Corona Simulation device, a type of TENS device, on the postoperative osseointegration process of dental implants using histomorphometric analysis.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The experimental protocol commenced following approval from the İstanbul University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee, under the reference number 2014/77, on July 18, 2014. Funding for this study was provided by the Scientific Research Project Unit of İstanbul University (BAP project no. 49665). The implants utilized in this research were sourced from Zimmer[®] (USA). The study comprised four groups: the experimental group and the control group, both of which were euthanized on the 15th and 30th days, respectively.

The Preoperative Preparation

The experimental phase of the study, including the electrostimulation process, took place at İstanbul University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and involved four rams. Each ram weighed 55±5 kg and was between 12 to 14 months old. They were provided with a diet of concentrated feed (Eriş Fattening Feed - Türkiye) tailored to meet their daily caloric requirements, and they were housed in suitable indoor environments by the İstanbul University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine.

The animals were divided into two groups, with the first group euthanized on the 15th day and the second group on the 30th day of the study. In total, 32 Zimmer[®] (USA) 3.3×8 mm/Tapered Screw Vent (TSV) implants were applied, with four implants inserted into both the right and left tibias of each ram. The right tibia was designated as the experimental group, while the left tibia served as the control group.

General Anesthesia and Surgical Protocol

The animals were transported from their enclosures to the operating room at the İstanbul University Faculty of

Veterinary Medicine Department of Surgery, with the assistance of support staff. For pre-anesthesia, Xylazine HCI (Rompun[®], Bayer, Germany) was administered intramuscularly at a dosage of 0.2–0.5 mg/kg, along with intravenous ketamine hydrochloride (Ketalar[®], Eczacıbaşı, Türkiye) at a dose of 5 mg/kg. General anesthesia was then induced using isoflurane (Forane[®], Abbott. USA). Prior to the surgical procedure, the operative area was shaved and thoroughly cleansed with an antiseptic povidone-iodine solution (Betadine[®], Purdue Pharma, USA).

Subsequently, a mid-crestal incision was made near the tibial diaphysis to access the bone, with the removal of both skin and periosteum. At 5 mm intervals, four implants were placed diagonally in the tibia, in proximity to the diaphysis, within the experimental animals. The implant positions were determined using a round steel bur attached to a contra-angle handpiece connected to a physio dispenser, operating at 800–1000 rpm and cooled with sterile saline. Implant cavities, each measuring 8 mm, were created using a 2-mm thick pilot bur followed by a 2.8-mm second bur. Four dental implants (TSV Zimmer[®]), featuring a diameter of 3.3 mm and a length of 8 mm, were inserted into the tibias of the four rams in bone level position.

Subsequent to the implant placements, subcutaneous tissue closure was achieved using absorbable polyglycolic acid sutures (4.0 Vicryl, Ethicon[®], USA), while skin closure was performed with silk sutures (3.0 Doğsan[®], Türkiye). All surgical procedures were carried out on the same day by the same surgical team, and the rams were subsequently relocated to a recovery area.

Postoperative Care

A half-dose of the antibiotic Ceftriaxone sodium (1 g) (lesef[®], Ulugay, Türkiye) at a rate of 22 mg/kg was administered intramuscularly every 12 h for 3 days. Subsequently, the sutures were removed one week following the surgical procedure. Throughout the 2 and 4-week recovery periods, the health status of the experimental animals was assessed on a weekly basis. The animals, which were provided with a diet of soft concentrated feed (Erişen Fattening Feed[®], Türkiye), were monitored at 6-h intervals daily, post-operation, with particular attention to signs of infection, especially in the wound areas. As a result, all experimental animals completed their recovery period without encountering any complications.

Application of Corona Stimulation

Following the surgery, a postoperative procedure involved applying corona stimulation (CS) in a slow, impulsive mode to the right tibia of the experimental animals using an F3 electrode. This stimulation was administered for 10 min daily over 10 days. In contrast, the left tibia of the experimental animals was designated as the control group (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Application of CS in a slow, impulsive mode to the right tibia of the experimental animals

Technical Specifications of the Corona Device

The device in question is a high-voltage glass electrode available in various forms, designed for application on the skin or mucous membranes. These glass electrodes are essentially electron tubes filled with inert gas at low pressure following vacuum sealing. When the device makes contact with the skin, the high voltage at the electrode tips generates a corona discharge. This innovative device was developed by the İstanbul Technical University KOSGEB Technology Development Center.

The corona treatment device operates at a frequency of 22 KHz, boasts a maximum current intensity of 20 mA, a maximum current concentration of 5 mA/cm², and a maximum voltage rating of 1200 V. It operates on a 220 V alternating current input and delivers an output voltage ranging from 0.5 to 1.5 KV. This is a monopolar device with a total energy consumption of 40 W, an output energy range from 0 to 35 W, and it generates a sinusoidal current waveform.

Sacrification

Euthanasia procedures were carried out at the İstanbul University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Pathology. This involved administering intravenous sodium pentobarbital overdose to groups of two experimental animals on both the 15th and 30th days following the surgical procedure. Before obtaining macroscopic samples from the experimental and control tibia, radiographic images were captured in anteroposterior (A/P) and mediolateral (M/L) projections (Figure 2). Subsequently, under a light microscope at 40× magnification (Olympus DP70, Tokyo, Japan), measurements were taken and recorded for the bone-to-implant contact (BIC), bone area (BAr), and bone circumference (BPm). This was accomplished using a semi-automatic image analysis program (Image Processing and Analysis in Java, Imaje J 1.46 j Version, Wayne Rasband, USA) after staining the sections with Toluidine blue.



Figure 2. Radiographic images of tibia in experimental (left) and control (right) group

Histomorphometric Evaluation

The experimental and control groups were immersed in containers filled with 10% formalin to ensure thorough sample fixation. The bone thickness around the implant did not exceed 3–4 mm. After a 24-h fixation period, the implants underwent dehydration using ethyl alcohol, followed by plastic infiltration using a methylmethacrylate historesin solution (Technovit[®] 7200 VLC, Kulzer & CO. GmbH, Friedrickdorf, Germany).

Following the embedding of the samples and acrylic polymerization, parallel surfaces were prepared for the initial cutting of the blocks. The implant sections were then split using the Exakt 300 CP and a diamond saw, resulting in a final thickness of 200 µm. These sections were subsequently stained with Toluidine blue and examined under a light microscope at 40× magnification (Olympus DP70, Tokyo, Japan). Measurements for BIC, bone area (BAr), and bone circumference (BPm) were obtained using a semi-automatic image analysis program (Image Processing and Analysis in Java, Imaje J 1.46 j Version, Wayne Rasband, USA) (Figure 3).

The BIC value represents the ratio of the entire implant surface length to the length of the bone tissue in contact with the implant surface, expressed in percentage (%). The BAr value is the sum of bone areas located between the implant threads, measured in square millimeters (mm²). Additionally, the BPm value corresponds to the total circumference of the bone tissue formed between the threads of the implants, measured in millimeters (mm).

For the histopathological assessment of the sections, the preparations used in the histomorphometric analysis of the experimental protocol were examined at the Istanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Department of Pathology. Upon comparing the 5 μ m thick preparations used for histomorphometric analysis with the 100 μ m thick sections containing implants, it was determined that the latter were not suitable for histological evaluation to obtain statistically significant results. Therefore, the study included only the results from histomorphometric analysis.



Figure 3. The implant sections were split resulting in a final thickness of 200 μ m and examined under a light microscope at 40× magnification

Statistical Evaluation

Statistical analyses were conducted at the İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Basic Medical Sciences - Public Health, using IBM SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows, Version 21.0, Armonk, NY, IBM Corp.). In this study, descriptive statistical methods, including median, minimum-maximum, and standard deviation, were employed and assessed through the Mann-Whitney U test.

To compare parameters that did not exhibit a normal distribution, as well as quantitative data, the groups were analyzed based on median, mean, \pm standard deviation, and minimum-maximum values. In the Mann-Whitney U test, the significance level was determined by the median value, and statistical significance was considered at the p<0.05 level.

RESULTS

In this research, the impact of coronal stimulation on the osseointegration process of 32 dental implants was investigated. It conducted histomorphometric assessments of the osseointegration process, with implant samples being sacrificed on both the 15th and 30th days. The study comprised four primary groups, each containing eight implants: the 15th-day experimental group (n=8), the 15th-day control group (n=8), the 30th-day experimental group (n=8), and the 30th-day control group (n=8) (Figures 4 and 5).



Figure 4. 15th day control (left) and experiment (right) group



Figure 5. 30th day control (left) and experiment (right) group

In this histomorphometric analyses, three key parameters were assessed: BIC, bone area (BAr), and bone circumference (BPm).

The measurements derived from histomorphometric sections were computed using a specialized computeraided image analysis program, specifically Image Processing and Analysis in Java, Imaje J 1.46j Version, developed by Wayne Rasband in the USA.

The BIC value represents the percentage obtained by dividing the entire implant surface area by the area of bone tissue in direct contact with the implant surface.

The BAr value quantifies the area of bone formation located between the implant threads, and its unit of measurement is square millimeters (mm²).

The BPm value, on the other hand, signifies the cumulative length of the bone tissue circumference formed between the implant threads, and its unit of measurement is millimeters (mm).

The exponent symbols {a, b, c, d, e, f, x} used in group comparisons are presented, with significance values determined for {a, b, c, d, e, f} being p<0.05, while the significance value for x is p>0.05.

When the BIC values between the experimental and control groups on the 15th day were compared, a notable

difference in significance values emerged. Specifically, the BIC value on the 15th day was statistically higher in the experimental group that underwent CS (p=0.001) compared to the control group.

Similarly, when the BIC values between the experimental and control groups on the 30th day were compared, it observed a significant difference. Specifically, the BIC value on the 30th day was statistically higher in the experimental group that underwent CS (p=0.001) compared to the control group.

Similarly, when the BAr values between the experimental and control groups on the 15th day were compared, a significant difference was observed. Specifically, the BAr value on the 15th day was statistically higher in the experimental group that underwent CS (p=0.005) compared to the control group.

Likewise, when the BAr values between the experimental

and control groups on the 30th day were compared, a significant difference in significance values emerged. Specifically, the BAr value on the 30th day was significantly higher in the experimental group that underwent CS (p=0.001) compared to the control group.

In a similar vein, when the BPm values between the experimental and control groups on the 15th day were compared, a notable difference in significance values emerged. Specifically, the BPm value on the 15th day was statistically higher in the experimental group that underwent CS (p=0.001) compared to the control group.

Similarly, when the BPm values between the experimental and control groups on the 30th day were compared, a significant difference in significance values was evident. Specifically, the BPm value on the 30th day was statistically higher in the experimental group that underwent CS (p=0.002) compared to the control group (Table 1).

Table 1. Histomorphometric analysis of groups											
Groups	n	BIC (%)	BAr (mm²)	BPm (mm)							
Day/groups	32	Mean±SD;med; (min-max)	Mean±SD;med; (min-max)	Mean±SD;med; (min-max)							
15th day experiment	8	67.71±5.07, 67.50 (61.73-76.25) ^{ax}	0.56±0.23, 0.47 (0.32-0.91) ^b	6.94±1.22, 6.70 (5.51-9.20)°							
15th day control	8	35.99±6.09, 35.81 (29.27-48.40) ^a	0.24±0.16, 0.18 (0.13-0.65) ^b	4.07±0.84, 3.99 (2.73-5.20)°							
30th day experiment	8	68.33±7.97, 70.04 (55.47-78.15) ^{dx}	0.84±0.27, 0.89 (0.49-1.14) ^e	8.83±1.08, 8.67 (7.54-10.85) ^f							
30th day control	8	45.63±8.48, 41.96 (36.72-56.80) ^d	0.34±0.06, 0.35 (0.21-0.43) ^e	5.60±1.51, 5.73 (3.31-8.18) ^f							

DISCUSSION

Various forms of electrical stimulation have been utilized for several years to expedite wound healing in both soft and hard tissues (13). Furthermore, they have found application in post-surgical pain and edema control, neuralgiform pain treatment in the craniofacial region, acute fracture management, correction of nonunion fractures, periodontal disease treatment, dental procedure anesthesia, and the management of chronic and acute pain in the maxillofacial region (14-17). In recent years, they have also been employed to enhance the osseointegration of dental implants, thus reducing healing time, with ongoing research continually adding to the existing literature (18-21).

In particular, research dedicated to enhancing bone integration through electrostimulation has brought about notable advancements in this field. An initial study by Bassett et al. (22) posited that weak electrical currents could initiate osteogenesis and provided evidence of the beneficial impacts of direct electrical currents on bone formation. Subsequent studies have consistently affirmed the effectiveness of direct electrical currents in stimulating and augmenting osteogenesis (23-25).

In addition to direct electrical currents, non-invasive techniques such as alternating current, electromagnetic fields, and TENS have also displayed positive effects on bone healing. A study by Ciombor et al. (26) underscored the advantageous impact of electromagnetic fields on bone formation, highlighting the potential of non-invasive approaches. Schwartz et al. (27) conducted research on stem cells and demonstrated that pulsed electromagnetic fields (PEMF) enhanced the osteoblastic differentiation of mesenchymal cells, particularly in the presence of BMP-2. Similarly, Sun et al. (28) observed that the application of electromagnetic fields accelerated the proliferation and differentiation of bone marrow stem cells.

The favorable influence of electrical stimulation on mesenchymal cell proliferation has garnered popularity in the context of improving the osseointegration of dental implants. In their study, Gittens et al. (29) examined the impact of electrical stimulation on cell differentiation within an experimental cell culture model. Their results revealed that electrical stimulation augmented the differentiation of MG63 osteoblasts and the production of local factors. Additionally, they observed that the effect of applied polarized electricity was voltage-dependent, with a more pronounced increase in osteoblast differentiation noted at higher potential differences.

Diniz et al. (30) conducted research on the impact of electromagnetic field stimulation on osteoblast maturation in a cell culture setting. Their study demonstrated that electromagnetic fields expedited osteoblast proliferation and differentiation but hindered the formation of bonelike tissue during the mineralization phase. Jansen et al. (31) explored the initial effects of electromagnetic fields on the metabolism and differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells. Their findings suggested that electromagnetic fields enhanced mineralization and promoted cell proliferation.

As a consequence, electrostimulation has emerged as a prominent area of research for enhancing the osseointegration of dental implants, particularly during the initial phases of healing. The results indicate that electrostimulation expedites healing in the early stages and fosters osseointegration. Nevertheless, the long-term effects are intricate and warrant further investigation.

In this study, the results revealed that the experimental groups exhibited significantly higher values in comparison to the control groups, thus reinforcing the favorable impact of coronal stimulation on the osseointegration of dental implants. When comparing the experimental groups at 2 and 4 weeks, the absence of significance in BIC values indicates that coronal stimulation expedites early-stage healing and osseointegration. These findings align with prior studies that have similarly identified electrostimulation as having a substantial influence on wound healing and early-stage osseointegration (30-33).

CONCLUSION

This study marks the inaugural experimental exploration of employing the Coronally Stimulated Implant Device (CSID) in dental implant procedures. In this study, results have statistically substantiated the efficacy of CSID during the initial phases of osseointegration. Specifically, the absence of statistical disparities in BIC values between the experimental and control groups at 15 and 30 days implies that CSID exerts a favorable influence on both the early osseointegration's quality and quantity.

Based on these findings, the utilization of CSID could prove advantageous in scenarios where early implant loading is under consideration, particularly for patients with systemic health concerns. Given the straightforward application of this device in oral and maxillofacial surgery, its translation into clinical settings appears practicable. Moreover, owing to its ability to alleviate edema and pain effectively, it may help diminish the necessity for postimplantation medication.

Financial disclosures: Funding for this study was provided by the Scientific Research Project Unit of İstanbul University (BAP project no. 49665). The implants utilized in this research were sourced from Zimmer[®] (USA).

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The experimental protocol commenced following approval from the İstanbul University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee, under the reference number 2014/77, on July 18, 2014.

REFERENCES

1. Brånemark PI. Osseointegration and its experimental background. J Prosthet Dent. 1983;50:399-410.

- 2. Albrektsson T. The response of bone to titanium implants. CRC Crit Rev Biocompatibility. 1985;1:53-84.
- Adell R, Eriksson B, Lekholm U, et al. Longterm follow-up study of osseointegrated implants in the treatment of totally edentulous jaws. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 1990;5:347-59.
- 4. Parithimarkalaignan S, Padmanabhan TV. Osseointegration: an update. J Indian Prosthodont Soc. 2013;13:2-6.
- Albrektsson T. Oral implant surfaces: Part 1- Review focusing on topographic and chemical properties of different surfaces and in vivo responses to them. Int J Prosthodont. 2004;17:536-43.
- Al-Saadi G, Quirynen M, Komérk A, van Steenberghe D. Impact of local and systemic factors on incidence of late oral implant loss. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2008;19:670-6.
- Brechter M, Nilson H, Lundgren S. Oxidised titanium implants in reconstructive jaw surgery. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2005;7:83-7.
- 8. Cook JJ, Summers NJ, Cook EA. Healing in the new milennium: bone stimulators. An overview of where we have been and where we may be heading. Clin Podiatr Med Surg. 2005;32:45-59.
- 9. Shayesteh YS, Eslami B, Dehghan MM, et al. The effect vvof a cocnstant electrical field on osseointegration after immediate implantation in dog mandibles: a preliminary study. J Prosthodont. 2007;16:337-42.
- Shigvcino T, Ochi M, Kagami H, et al. Application of capacitevely coupled electric field enhances periimplant osteogenesis in the dog cmandible. Int J Prosthodont. 2000;13:365-72.
- 11. Black RR. Use of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation in dentistry. J Am Dent Assoc. 1986;113:649-52.
- 12. Kasat V, Gupta A, Ladda R, et al. Transcutaneus electric nerve stimulation (TENS) in dentistry- A review. J Clin Exp Dent. 2014;6:562-8.
- Rajendran SB, Challen K, Wright KL, Hardy JG. Electrical stimulation to enhance wound healing. J Funct Biomater. 2021;12:40.
- Jha AK, Gupta S, Sinha A, et al. Efficacy of two types of noninvasive nerve stimulation in the management of myofascial pain caused by Temporomandibular Joint (TMJ) disorders. Cureus. 2023;27;15:e42584.
- 15. Bhavsar MB, Han Z, DeCoster T, et al. Electrical stimulationbased bone fracture treatment, if it works so well why do not more surgeons use it? Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg. 2020;46:245-64.
- Cebalo N, Bašić Kes V, Urlić I, et al. The effect of transcoutaneous electrical nerve stimulation on pain control during dental procedure in children 9-14 years old. Psychiatr Danub. 2021;33:1316-9.
- 17. Vance CG, Dailey DL, Rakel BA, Sluka KA. Using TENS for pain control: the state of the evidence. Pain Manag. 2014;4:197-209.
- Zhou P, He F, Liu B, Wei S. Nerve electrical stimulation enhances osseointegration of implants in the beagle. Sci Rep. 2019;9:4916.

- 19. Tomofuji T, Ekuni D, Azuma T, et al. Effects of electrical stimulation on periodontal tissue remodeling in rats. J Periodontal Res. 2013;48:177-83.
- Yonemori K, Matsunga S, Ishidou Y, et al. Early effect of electrical stimulation on osteogbenesis. Bone. 1996;19:173-80.
- 21. Pettersen E, Anderson J, Ortiz-Catalan M. Electrical stimulation to promote osseointegration of bone anchoring implants: a topical review. J Neuroeng Rehabil. 2022;21;19:31.
- 22. Bassett C, Pawluck RJ, Becker RO. Effects of electric current on bone in vivo. Nature. 1964;204:652-4.
- 23. Matsumoto M, Ochi M, Abiko Y, et al. Pulsed elevtromagnetic fields promote bone formation around dental implants inserted into the femur of rabbits. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2000;11:354-60.
- 24. Giannunzio GA, Speerli RC, Guglielmotti MB. Electrical field effect on peri-implant osteogenesis: a histologic and histomorphometric study. Implant Dent. 2008;17:118-26.
- 25. Zhao Z, Watt C, Karystinou A, et al. Directed migration of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in a physiological direct current electric field. Eur Cell Mater. 2011;29:344-58.
- Ciombor DM, Lester G, Aaron RK, et al. Low frequency EMF regulates chondrocyte differentiation and expression of matrix proteins. J Orthop Res. 2002;20:40-50.
- 27. Schwart Z, Simon BJ, Duran MA, et al. Pulsed electromagnetic fields enhance BMP-2 dependent osteoblastic differantiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res. 2008;9:1250-5.

- 28. Sun LY, Hsieh DK, Lin PC, et al. Pulsed electromagnetic fields accelerate proliferation and osteogenic gene expression in human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells during osteogenic differentiation. Bioelectromagnetics. 2010;31:209-19.
- 29. Gittens RA, Navarrete RO, Rettew R, et al. Electrical polarization of titanium surfaces for the enhancement of osteoblast differantiation. Bioelectromagnetics. 2013;34:599-612.
- Diniz P, Shomura K, Soejima K, Ito G. Effect of pulsed electromagnetionec field (PEMF) stimulation on bone tissue like formation are dependent on the maturation stages of the osteoblasts. Bioelectromagnetics. 2002;23:398-405.
- Jansen JH, van der Jagt OP, Punt BJ, et al. Stimulation of osteogenic differentiation in human osteoprogenitor cells by pulsed electromagnetic fields: an in vitro study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2010;23;11:188.
- 32. Ochi M, Wang PL, Ohura K, et al. Solcoseryl, a tissue respiration stimulating agent, significantly enhances the effect of capacitively coupled electric field on the promotion of bone formation around dental implants. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2003;14:294-302.
- Song JK, Cho TH, Pan H, et al. An electronic device for accelerating bone formation in tissues surrounding a dental implant. Bioelectromagnetics. 2009;30:374-84.



Anti-Leukemic Effect of Malachite Green-Mediated Photodynamic Therapy by Inducing ER Stress in HL-60 Cells

Metin Caliskan¹, OGulsen Bayrak², Sercin Ozlem Caliskan³

¹Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biology, Uşak, Türkiye ²Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Uşak, Türkiye ³Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, Uşak, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License

Abstract

Aim: Our objective is to explore the relationship between the anti-leukemic impact of malachite green-mediated photodynamic therapy (PDT) and the induction of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in acute promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60).

Material and Method: For one hour the cells were incubated with different concentrations (3.125, 1.56, 0.78, 0.39, 0.195, 0.0975, 0.04875 μ M) of malachite green and then were exposed to 0.47 mW/cm² irradiance and 0.84 J/cm² fluence for 30 minutes. Also, HL-60 cells were exposed to PDT with light only and both in the presence or absence of malachite green. MTT assay was used to determine cell viability, and immunocytochemical staining was used to detect the expression of ER stress markers Protein Kinase R-like ER Kinase (PERK) and Glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78).

Results: The cell viability of the treatment group (combination of malachite green and light) was significantly decreased compared to the malachite green, control group, and light control. Moreover, immunocytochemical staining scores showed that PERK and GRP78 were significantly upregulated in the treatment group compared with other groups.

Conclusion: Our results indicate that ER stress may contribute to the cytotoxicity occurring in HL-60 cancer cells after malachite green-mediated PDT. Future studies will be crucial in shedding light on the molecular mechanisms underlying ER stress that may occur after PDT. These findings lay the foundation for further investigations in this area.

Keywords: Acute myeloid leukemia, malachite green, photodynamic therapy, ER stress, Protein Kinase R-like ER Kinase, Glucoseregulated protein 78

INTRODUCTION

Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML), which causes symptoms associated with bone marrow failure and infiltration of organs, is a highly aggressive malignancy of leukocytes. If left untreated, AML invariably leads to fatality, and potentially life-threatening complications can swiftly emerge even in initially asymptomatic patients (1). Chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and allogeneic stem cell transplantation are the main current treatments for leukemia; However, these therapies can cause serious side effects, such as normal cell cytotoxicity, drug resistance, and increased risk of infection, during or after treatment (2). Therefore, there has been a greater focus on seeking physical alternative approaches such as light and sound.

The basis of photodynamic therapy (PDT) is cell death as a result of a series of photochemical/photophysical reactions that occur when light activates photosensitizers at the appropriate wavelength in the presence of oxygen. The activated photosensitizer in the unstable excited structure transfers the excess energy to the surrounding molecules via two types of mechanisms. The sensitizer One is the direct energy transfer to molecular oxygen, which forms singlet oxygen, and the other is the transfer of energy to an electron or proton, which produces reactive

CITATION

Caliskan M, Bayrak G, Ozlem Caliskan S. Anti-Leukemic Effect of Malachite Green-Mediated Photodynamic Therapy by Inducing ER Stress in HL-60 Cells. Med Records. 2024;6(1):8-13. DOI:1037990/medr.1368570

Received: 12.10.2023 Accepted: 25.11.2023 Published: 10.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Sercin Ozlem Caliskan, Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, Uşak, Türkiye **E-mail**: srn.ozlem@gmail.com

oxygen species (ROS) (3). While it is acknowledged that both possibilities contribute to cell death, the specific mechanism that predominantly leads to cell death varies depending on the presence of oxygen, the concentration of substrates, and especially the photosensitizer used (4). Singlet oxygen and/or hydroxyl radicals generated through photosensitizer activation are highly reactive and have a very short lifespan (0.04 microseconds). As a result, they are effective within a very small region (0.02 μ m) (5). These parameters suggest that PDT is a localized treatment. PDT has serious advantages over traditional cancer therapies as it can be repeated in multiple doses and is a minimally invasive and localized therapy method. There is no risk of cancer cells developing resistance to PDT (6).

ER is the primary organelle in the cell that performs many cellular functions such as maintenance of cellular homeostasis, intracellular Ca2+ storage, protein folding, modification, and assembly (7). PDT causes apoptosis as a result of oxidative stress through the production of large amounts of ROS, and ER stress, which is one of the mechanisms underlying cancer cell death, as a result of the induction of GRP78, a chaperone in the ER and critical modulator of the unfolded protein response (UPR), through the accumulation of unfolded proteins (8-11). Under non-stress conditions, PERK, an ER membrane protein with luminal stress-sensing domains, forms a complex with a significant amount of the ER chaperone immunoglobulin binding protein. This interaction keeps PERK inactive, and when ER stress occurs, it becomes active and phosphorylates factors that will reduce new protein translation (12). In addition, excessive protein accumulation in the ER lumen results in an increased need for proteins essential for protein folding (11,13). The safety and effectiveness of PDT largely depend on photosensitizers, which are considered an important factor with specificity and phototoxicity. Malachite green is a triarylmethane dye with an absorption band at approximately 617 nm (14). Triarylmethane dyes are of interest as antimicrobial and anticancer agents due to their selective localization and structural properties (15). In this study, we examined the effect of malachite greenmediated PDT on ER stress in HL-60 cells.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Cell Culture

HL-60 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 (+) L-glutamine medium supplemented with 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin and 10% FBS in 25cm² flasks in a humidified and 5% CO_2 incubator at 37°C. In laminar airflow, the culture medium was renewed every 2-3 days.

Photosensitizer

In this study, malachite green, which has a cationic structure, was used as a photosensitizer. Malachite green stock solution was prepared in PBS. Final experimental

malachite green concentrations were determined as 3.125, 1.56, 0.78, 0.39, 0.195, 0.0975, and 0.04875 μ M. Cells (1x10⁵) were exposed to malachite green at 37°C for one hour.

Study Design

In this study, 4 different groups were studied using different concentrations of malachite green.

Group 1: Control: No exposure (malachite green or light)

Group 2: Light control: Only exposure to red light for 30 minutes

Group 3: Malachite green: Only exposure to all concentrations of malachite green for one hour

Group 4: Malachite green mediated PDT: One hour of exposure to malachite green followed by 30 minutes of exposure to red light from a distance of 10 cm

Malachite Green Mediated Photodynamic Therapy Using Red Light

After exposure to malachite green for one hour, centrifugation was performed at 250 g for five minutes and the supernatant was discarded to remove any remaining free malachite green and fresh PBS was added over the cell sediment. Centrifugation, discarding the supernatant, and adding fresh PBS were repeated 3 times in all groups. The light source utilized was an LED system (O'melon Omega Led) comprising 283 units across three panels emitting red light at a wavelength of 640 nm, which is optimal for activating malachite green. A power meter (Newport, USA) was used to measure light output; An irradiance of 0.47 mW/cm² was quantified and a fluence of 0.84 J/cm² in 30 minutes was calculated. Following the applications, fresh medium was added to all groups and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours.

Analysis of Cell Viability of HL-60 Cells by the MTT

3-(4,5-Dimetiltiazol-2 yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium Bromide (MTT) is a water-soluble tetrazolium salt that, if degraded by the dehydrogenase enzyme in viable cell mitochondria, is converted into a soluble formazan. Cells were assessed by a spectrophotometric method using MTT solution in 96 microplates. After treatment, the MTT reagent was applied equally to all groups, followed by a 24-hour incubation period. The solubilization buffer was added and left to incubate at 37°C overnight. Cell viability percentages were calculated using optical density (OD) measurements taken from each well in the wavelength range of 550 to 600 nm using a microplate spectrophotometer.

ER Stress Analysis

Immunocytochemical Markers

The cells were centrifuged and then the pellet was spread on the slides and then the slides were allowed to dry. The cells were then fixed with cold methanol. After fixation, slides were washed with PBS and were kept in for 10 minutes with 3% hydrogen peroxide to block endogen peroxidase. Then the slides were washed with PBS and after dropped onto the slides normal goat serum (Invitrogen- 50062Z) for blocking for 8 minutes. After blocking, the slides were incubated overnight at +4°C with primary antibodies: Anti-PERK (1:100, bs2469R; Bioss) and anti-GRP78 BiP/HSPA5 (1:100, PB9640; Boster). Following this incubation period, the slides were treated with anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (1/200, Thermo Scientific, 65-6140) for 30 minutes, followed by a thorough PBS wash. Subsequently, Horseradish peroxidase (HRP, 1/200, Thermo Scientific, 43-4323) was introduced and allowed to incubate for an additional 10 minutes at room temperature in the dark. The reaction was developed using chromogen diaminobenzidine (DAB, Abcam, ab64238). After washing the slides with distilled water, they were mounted with entellan. Finally, the slides were examined under a light microscope (Olympos BX50) and images were captured using the attached camera. For immunocytochemical scoring, 100 cells were counted in 4 different areas at X400 magnification and the staining intensities of these cells were scored as strong (++++), medium (+++), weak (++), or absent (+). All slides were evaluated by the same histologist.

Statistical Analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine our data to assess potential differences between at least two groups (IBM SPSS Statistics 25, USA). ANOVA followed by the Tukey test was used as a post-hoc analysis for further evaluation. Statistical significance was accepted as p-value≤0.05.

RESULTS

Cytotoxic Activity of Malachite Green and Malachite Green Mediated PDT in HL-60 Cells

The results showed that malachite green-mediated PDT exposure caused a significant decrease in the viability of HL-60 cells. Cell viability at all concentrations of the malachite green-mediated PDT group was significantly lower than the same concentrations of the malachite green and other groups (p<0.001). Cell viability percentages of control, light control, and malachite-mediated PDT groups were determined as 95.2±1.70%, 92.4±1.15%, 75.6±3.59%, 74.8±1.65%, 72.9±1.95%, 68.6±0.72%, 60.5±1.94%, 52.1±2.85%, and 36.2±2.15%, respectively. The results demonstrated that malachite green-mediated PDT significantly increased the cytotoxicity in HL-60 cells, and cell survival is positively correlated with malachite green concentration. There was no significant difference in cell viability between the control and light control groups (p=0.797). In the malachite green group, cell viability percentages were determined as 87.4±0.92%, 85.1±2.66%, 85.8±2.04%, 79.4±0.95%, 77.3±2.08%, 71.6±1.52%, and 63.3±1.52% from low to high concentration, respectively. It was observed that the cell viability of malachite green group was higher than the malachite mediated PDT group (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Evaluation of cytotoxicity after treatment with control, light control, MG and MG-mediated PDT. The data represent the means±standard deviations (SDs) of 3 independent experiments. * indicates statistically significance compared to control group (p<0.001); ^o indicates not statistically significance compared to control group (p>0.05), Error bars 95% confiedence interval

Examination of Immunostaining Markers of ER Stress after Malachite Green, Malachite Green- Mediated PDT

Immunocytochemistry analysis was performed by examining the changes in GRP78 and PERK staining in control, light control, malachite green, and malachite green-mediated PDT groups. In the control group, GRP78 (Figure 2I, 3H) and PERK (Figure 4I, 5H) were found to be weakly stained. There was no significant difference in staining intensity when the control and light control groups were compared (Figure 2H, 4H). In both the malachite green group and the malachite green-mediated PDT group, both GRP78 and PERK staining intensities increase as the malachite green concentration increases (Figure 3A-H and Figure 5A-H) (Figure 2A-H and Figure 4A-H). As shown in Figure 6, both GRP78 and PERK staining showed a significant increase in the malachite green-mediated PDT group compared to the malachite green group, light control group, and control group (p<0.001, Figure 6A-D).



Figure 2. GRP78 immunostaining of Malachite green mediated PDT groups. 3.125µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2A**); 1.56µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2B**); 0.78µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2C**); 0.39µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2D**); 0.195µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2E**); 0.0975µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2F**); 0.04875µM Malachite green mediated +PDT (**2G**), light control (**2H**) and control (**2I**). Strong staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrow). All photos imagination X400



G H G H Figure 3. GRP78 immunostaining of malachite green groups. 3.125µM malachite green (3A); 1.56µM malachite green (3B); 0.78µM malachite green (5A); 1.56µM malachite green (3C); 0.39µM malachite green (3D);0.195µM malachite green (3E); 0.0975µM malachite green (3F); 0.04875µM malachite green (3G) and control (3H). Strong staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead) arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead) arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead) arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead) arrowhead) arrowhead), weak staining (black arrowhead)

С

Ε



All photos imagination X400

Figure 4. PERK immunostaining of malachite green mediated PDT groups. 3.125μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4A**); 1.56μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4B**); 0.78μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4C**); 0.39μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4D**); 0.195μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4E**); 0.0975μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4F**); 0.04875μ M malachite green mediated PDT (**4G**), light control (**4H**) and control (**4I**). Strong staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrow), absent staining (white arrow). All photos imagination X400



Figure 6. Statistical analysis of GRP78 malachite green groups (**6A**), GRP 78 malachite green mediated PDT groups (**6B**), Statistical analysis of PERK malachite green groups (**6C**), PERK malachite mediated PDT groups (**6D**). *Significance according to the control groups. The data represent the means±standard deviations (SDs) of 3 independent experiments. Error bars 95% confiedence interval

G Figure 5. PERK immunostaining of malachite green groups. 3.125µM malachite green (5A); 1,56µM malachite green (5B); 0.78µM malachite green (5C); 0.39µM malachite green (5D); 0.195µM malachite green (5E); 0.0975µM malachite green (5F); 0.04875µM malachite green (5E); 0.0975µM malachite green (5F); 0.04875µM malachite green (5E); 0.0975µM malachite green (5F); 0.04875µM malachite green (5G), and control (5H). Strong staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrow), absent staining (white arrow). All photos imagination X400

P

n

F

R

41

DISCUSSION

The classical treatments for leukemia come with specific drawbacks. Transplantation of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells may cause significant risks for both the recipient and the donor. Chemotherapy can cause severe and various side effects and may lose its effectiveness as a result of drug resistance. High-dose radiotherapy may not eliminate cancer cells and may cause various side effects during or after treatment (16). PDT stands out as a minimally invasive treatment method for a wide range of malignancies. It is the subject of clinical research both as a treatment and as a complementary therapeutic procedure to other treatments (13). Although previous studies have shown that acute monocytic leukemia and chronic myeloid leukemia cells can be effectively killed using a variety of classical photosensitizers such as zinc phthalocyanine, Nile blue, 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA), hypericin, malachite green, and Photolon[®] (17-22), the use of PDT It has received relatively less interest in the treatment of leukemia. The results of our study showed that malachite green-mediated PDT caused a significant decrease in the proliferation of HL-60 cells compared to both controls and malachite green.

ER stress induced by therapeutic agents contributes to cancer cell death and often occurs simultaneously with oxidative stress. However, the molecular mechanisms that will explain the relationship between ROS and apoptosis caused by ER stress are not yet known (23). Apart from therapeutic agents, PDT provides cancer cell death by creating harmful levels of ROS in the tumor tissue (13). Buytaert et al. have reported that hypericin, which is localized in the ER membrane and activated by light, produces ROS, which rapidly depletes ER Ca2+ stores, resulting ultimately in apoptotic cell death and mitochondrial dysfunction (24).

PDT-induced ER stress is a cause of cancer cell death (10). When ER stress is excessive, it initiates the ER-associated apoptotic pathway, leading to cellular apoptosis (25,26). ROS promotes the expression of apoptotic proteins by triggering ER stress, thus causing apoptosis, and is one of the most important executors of apoptosis (27). Chirante et al. have shown that following lipophilic copper(II) phthalocvanine (Pc9)-mediated PDT on CT26 colorectal cancer cells, the expression of various ER chaperones such as Hsp90, Hsp110, calnexin, and GRP78/BIP, increased. Additionally, they demonstrated that ER stress provided to apoptotic cell death by activating the mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathway (28). Firczuk et al. have shown that Photofrin®-mediated PDT induces upregulation of GRP78 protein expression in Du145 prostate cancer cells (11). Zuo et al. reported that pheophorbide a-based PDT on HOS human osteosarcoma cells could induce cell apoptosis and increase GRP78 expression (29). Moserova and Kralova reported in their study on HL-60 acute promyelocytic leukemia and 4T1 mouse mammary carcinoma cells that the activation of the PERK pathway is a crucial trigger point for the ER stress induced by mTPP(EG)4-mediated PDT (30). It

has been reported that the PERK plays a role in inducing autophagy or apoptosis in tumor cells during ER stress and after PDT treatment in many studies (31,32).

In our study, we observed upregulation of PERK and GRP78, markers of cell death and ER stress, in HL-60 cells following malachite green-mediated PDT. We conclude that further studies on ER stress may contribute to the success of treatment.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. One limitation is that our study is an in vitro study and it is unclear what the outcome will be in the patient. Another limitation is that not all proteins involved in the UPR response were examined. Finally, the mechanism that causes cell death has not been demonstrated. The strength of our study is that it provides preliminary information for the development of treatment focused on ER stress in malachite-mediated PDT.

CONCLUSION

We observed that malachite green-mediated PDT caused ER stress in HL-60 cells. Therefore, malachite greenmediated PDT may be a treatment option or an adjunct method in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia through ER stress-induced cytotoxicity. In conclusion, a significant relationship was observed between cell death and ER stress markers. We are planning studies to observe the underlying molecular mechanisms.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Since the methodological structure of the study is a "cell culture study", it does not require ethics committee approval in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research on Humans".

REFERENCES

- Stubbins RJ, Stamenkovic M, Roy C, et al. Incidence and socioeconomic factors in older adults with acute myeloid leukaemia: real-world outcomes from a population-based cohort. Eur J Haematol. 2022;108:437-45.
- 2. Miller KD, Siegel RL, Lin CC, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66:271-89.
- Yano S, Hirohara S, Obata M, et al. Current states and future views in photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol C. 2011;12:46-67.
- 4. Castano AP, Mroz P, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy and anti-tumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6:535-45.
- 5. Moan J, Berg K. The photodegradation of porphyrins in cells can be used to estimate the lifetime of singlet oxygen. Photochem Photobiol. 1991;53:549-53.
- Wilson BC, Patterson MS. The physics, biophysics and technology of photodynamic therapy. Phys Med Biol. 2008;53:R61-109.

- 7. Araki K, Nagata K. Protein folding and quality control in the ER. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2011;3:a007526.
- 8. Li D, Li L, Li P, et al. Apoptosis of HeLa cells induced by a new targeting photosensitizer-based PDT via a mitochondrial pathway and ER stress. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;8:703-11.
- Lin S, Yang L, Shi H, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum-targeting photosensitizer Hypericin confers chemo-sensitization towards oxaliplatin through inducing pro-death autophagy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2017; 87:54-68.
- 10. Li KT, Chen Q, Wang DW, et al. Mitochondrial pathway and endoplasmic reticulum stress participate in the photosensitizing effectiveness of AE-PDT in MG63 cells. Cancer Med. 2016;5:3186-93.
- 11. Firczuk M, Gabrysiak M, Barankiewicz J, et al. GRP78targeting subtilase cytotoxin sensitizes cancer cells to photodynamic therapy. Cell Death Dis. 2013;4:e741.
- Ron D, Walter P. Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8:519-29.
- 13. Agostinis P, Berg K, Cengel KA, et al. Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61:250-81.
- 14. Sun XF, Wang SG, Liu XW, et al. Biosorption of malachite green from aqueous solutions onto aerobic granules: kinetic on equilibrium studies. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:3475-83.
- 15. Montes de Oca MN, Vara J, Milla L, et al. Physicochemical Properties and Photodynamic Activity of Novel Derivatives of Triarylmethane and Thiazine. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 2013;346:255-65.
- Riezzo I, Pascale N, Russa RL, et al. Donor selection for allogenic hemopoietic stem cell transplantation clinical and ethical considerations. Stem Cells Int. 2017;2017:5250790.
- 17. Huang H, Chen Y, Chen W, et al. Purging efficacy of ZnPcH1based photodynamic therapy on chronic myeloid leukemia bone marrow. Int J Lab Hematol. 2011;33:477-82.
- Caliskan-Ozlem S, Gurel-Karadag A, Uzunok B, et al. Antileukemic potential of Nile blue-mediated photodynamic therapy on HL60 human myeloid leukemia cells. Turkish Journal of Biology. 2023;47:276-89.
- Pluskalova M, Peslova G, Grebenova D, et al. Photodynamic treatment (ALA-PDT) suppresses the expression of the oncogenic Bcr-Abl kinase and affects the cytoskeleton organization in K562 cells. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol. 2006;83:205-12.
- 20. Xu Y, Wang D, Zhuang Z, et al. Hypericin-mediated photodynamic therapy induces apoptosis in K562 human leukemia cells through JNK pathway modulation. Mol Med Rep. 2015;12:6475-82.

- 21. Caliskan-Ozlem S, Duran ÖF, Aslan C, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of malachite green-based photodynamic therapy in acute myeloid leukemia. J Contemp Med. 2023;13:305-11.
- Philchenkov AA, Shishko ED, Zavelevich MP, et al. Photodynamic responsiveness of human leukemia Jurkat/ A4 cells with multidrug resistant phenotype. Exp Oncol. 2014;36:241-5.
- 23. Verfaillie T, Rubio N, Garg AD, et al. PERK is required at the ER-mitochondrial contact sites to convey apoptosis after ROS-based ER stress. Cell Death Differ. 2012;19:1880-91.
- 24. Buytaert E, Callewaert G, Hendrickx N, et al. Role of endoplasmic reticulum depletion and multidomain proapoptotic BAX and BAK proteins in shaping cell death after hypericin-mediated photodynamic therapy. FASEB J. 2006;20:756-8.
- 25. Tameire F, Verginadis II, Koumenis C. Cell intrinsic and extrinsic activators of the unfolded protein response in cancer: Mechanisms and targets for therapy. Semin Cancer Biol. 2015;33:3-15.
- 26. Sano R, Reed JC. ER stress-induced cell death mechanisms. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1833:3460-70.
- 27. Gong J, Wang XZ, Wang T, et al. Molecular signal networks and regulating mechanisms of the unfolded protein response. J. Zhejiang Univ Sci B. 2017;18:1-14.
- Chiarante N, García Vior MC, Rey O, et al. Lysosomal permeabilization and endoplasmic reticulum stress mediate the apoptotic response induced after photoactivation of a lipophilic zinc(II) phthalocyanine. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2018;103:89-98.
- Zuo Q, Yunsheng O, Zhong S, et al. Targeting GRP78 enhances the sensitivity of HOS osteosarcoma cells to pyropheophorbide-α methyl ester-mediated photodynamic therapy via the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai). 2021;53:1387-97.
- Moserova I, Kralova J. Role of ER Stress Response in Photodynamic Therapy: ROS Generated in Different Subcellular Compartments Trigger Diverse Cell Death Pathways. PLoS One. 2012; 7:e32972.
- Chen J, Huang JH, Wang Z, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated autophagy contributes to 5-ethylamino-9-diethylaminobenzo[a]phenoselenazinium-mediated photodynamic therapy via the PERK-elF2alpha pathway. Onco Targets Ther. 2018;11:4315-25.
- 32. Zhu J, Tian S, Li KT, et al. Inhibition of breast cancer cell growth by methyl pyropheophenylchlorin photodynamic therapy is mediated though endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced autophagy in vitro and vivo. Cancer Med. 2018;7:1908-20.



Investigation of Functional Disability, Pain, And Quality of Life in Patients with Cervical Radiculopathy by Gender

OAydin Sinan Apaydin¹, OMusa Gunes², OMetehan Yana²

¹Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Karabük, Türkiye ²Karabük University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Karabük, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to compare pain, functional limitation, disability, and quality of life in females and males with cervical radiculopathy and to evaluate their relationship.

Material and Method: A total of 111 patients of both genders, 81 (72.98%) females and 30 (27.02%) males, were included in the study. Pain and numbness of the patients were evaluated with the Numeric rating scale (NRS), neck disabilities with the Neck disability index (NDI), and quality of life with the EuroQol Five-Dimensions- 3-Level (EQ-5D-3L). Functional limitation caused by cervical radiculopathy was assessed with the Cervical radiculopathy impact scale (CRIS).

Results: The average age of the patients was 45.59 ± 11.00 . While the severity of neck and arm pain was similar between genders (p>0.05), numbness radiating to the arm and hand was more severe in females (p=0.027). Also, female's quality of life outcomes was worse than males (p<0.05). However, there was no difference between genders in CRIS subheading scores (p>0.05). This study determined a moderate negative correlation between CRIS symptoms and quality of life parameters and a moderate-weak correlation between CRIS symptoms with pain and numbness (p<0.01).

Conclusion: This study determined that female's disability and quality of life were worse. In addition, the severity of numbness females feel in the upper extremities is higher. Additionally, functional limitation is associated with pain and quality of life in patients with cervical radiculopathy.

Keywords: Cervical radiculopathy, functional disability, pain, quality of life

INTRODUCTION

Radiculopathy may be elaborated as the pathology in which progression along a spinal nerve and its processes is limited or blocked. Clinically, pain and paresthesia occurring in a single extremity and radiating along a nerve root suggest radiculopathy. Symptoms may also include muscle weakness and loss of sensation. Cervical radiculopathy is a clinical syndrome caused by compression of the cervical nerve nerves. It is a condition of fractures due to underlying dysfunction in the cervical spine nerves, nerve roots, or both (1). It is most distinguished from spondylotic changes such as cervical disc herniation and proliferation of bone cells in this area, which lead to nerve root loosening and inflammatory changes (2).

It manifests itself with pain as the initial symptom. When the pain spreads from the neck to the shoulder and arm, cervical radiculopathy, which causes sensory complaints and motor weakness, should be suspected. Cervical radiculopathy occurs in the weakness of a nerve root, accompanied by sensory and motor complaints or reflex changes depending on the condition of the affected nerve (3). Cervical radiculopathy is observed in both genders and varies mostly between 50-54 (4). The incidence rate of cervical radiculopathy was 83.2/100.000/year. Depending on gender regime, it is more common in males, 107.3/100.000/year, 63.5% (5). The performance of cervical radiculopathy is less than that of lumbosacral radiculopathy. A prevalence study stated that while cervical radiculopathy was 3.5/1000, lumbosacral radiculopathy was 9.8/1000 (6).

CITATION

Apaydin AS, Gunes M, Yana M. Investigation of Functional Disability, Pain, And Quality of Life in Patients with Cervical Radiculopathy by Gender. Med Records. 2024;6(1):14-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1374030

Received: 11.10.2023 Accepted: 15.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Aydin Sinan Apaydin, Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Karabük, Türkiye

E-mail: dr.sinanapaydin@yahoo.com

The most common cause of cervical radiculopathy is foraminal spinal nerve compression in the foraminal area (70–75%). The factors that cause this are disc degeneration that narrows the neurological foramen due to loss of distribution in the vertebra or intervertebral disc, posterolateral herniation of the intervertebral disc, and cervical spondylosis due to degenerative changes in the vertebral body, the joints occurring in the anterior or the facet joints in the posterior (7). Causes of cervical radiculopathy vary depending on age. While disc herniations and acute damage are frequently responsible in the young population, foraminal changes due to osteophyte and spondylosis are frequently responsible in older ages (8).

Unlike axial neck pain, radiculopathy often presents with unilateral pain. This may be replicated with ipsilateral dermatome. However, a diagnosis of cervical radiculopathy can be made even if there is no pain in the arm. In addition, the pain can spread to the arm and cause loss of sensation along the dermatome. Additionally, weakness along the myotome where it spreads may accompany patients. It has been reported that radicular pain is most caused by C7 root involvement, followed by C6 and C8 levels, respectively (9). Therefore, surgery, inflammatory drugs, steroid injections, and physical therapy are recommended for treatment in patients. Surgical treatment often significantly improves pain and limitation when other treatments have failed (1,3,4).

Degenerative changes in the spine observed with aging and neck posture and nerve damage and compression in individuals with disc herniations may cause radicular pain. However, previous studies clearly stated the relationship between pain caused by regularly developing cervical radiculopathy and functional deficit, disability, and quality of life due to expanding radiculopathy (1-3). In addition, the lack of a general outcome study evaluating the functional limitation caused by radicular pain has led to a deficiency in evaluating functional limitation (10). The Cervical Radiculopathy Impact Scale (CRIS) is a newly developed scale that uses this ability to evaluate the functional limitation of radicular pain. This potential extends the gap between pain, functional disability, disability, and quality of life with cervical radiculopathy (10,11). However, the relationship between functional limitation due to cervical radicular pain and clinical symptoms has not been adequately examined. Additionally, this limitation due to radiculopathy may differ between genders. In a study, Singh et al. showed that females with cervical radiculopathy had more disability (12). However, the results were insufficient since it was studied in a small sample. Therefore, the difference between genders remained unclear. The hypotheses of this study are that women with cervical radiculopathy have more pain and limitation and that functional limitation is associated with pain and quality of life. Within the scope of this research, this study aimed to elucidate the relationship between pain, functional disability, disability, and quality of life in patients with cervical radiculopathy.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study, which is a cross-sectional observational study, included patients who referred to the neurosurgery outpatient clinic of Karabük University Training and Research Hospital and were diagnosed with cervical radiculopathy. Eighty-one females and 30 males were included in the study. The inclusion criteria for patients were as follows: age over 18 years, with nerve root compression in the cervical region, with or without neck pain consistent with a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) diagnosis, radiating pain neck or upper extremity, showing nerve root compression, including numbness or paresthesia. Patients showing clinical and radiological symptoms were included. Patients with severe neurological deficits, spine malignancies, cervical surgery within the last 12 months, and pregnant patients were excluded from the study.

All procedures followed were by the ethical standards of the committee responsible for human experimentation and the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the University Ethics Committee (2023-KAEK-111), and informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

Patients who met the inclusion criteria were asked to answer the survey face-to-face. Through the questionnaire, patients' age, gender, height, weight, duration of symptoms, affected side, etc., information was recorded. The severity of pain and numbness of the patients was evaluated using the numeric rating scale (NRS), functional limitation using the Cervical Radiculopathy Impact Scale (CRIS), disability using the Neck Disability Index (NDI), and quality of life using the EuroQol five-dimensions – 3-level scale (EQ-5D-3L).

Outcome Measure

Numeric Rating Scale

The NRS was used to measure the severity of pain. Scores on the scale range from 0 to 10. A score of 0 indicates no pain and 10 indicates unbearable pain. In the study, NRS was used for three different assessments: neck pain (NRSneck), pain radiating to the arm (NRS-arm), and numbness in the finger, hand, or arm (NRS-numbness) (11).

Cervical Radiculopathy Impact Scale

The CRIS is a scale that evaluates functional limitations in patients with cervical radiculopathy (10). The CRIS Turkish version was used in this study (11). This scale consists of 3 subheadings and includes a total of 21 questions. First title: The symptoms comprised nine items covering pain in the neck, shoulder, and arm/hand/fingers, as well as related to tingling, loss of strength, and stiffness in the neck. Another title is Energy and postures (6 items), and the 3rd subheading consists of items related to functional limitations due to pain and symptoms in actions and activities (6 items).

Neck Disability Index

The NDI is a scale that evaluates the impact of neck pain on daily living activities. This scale consists of 10 sections, including severity of pain, personal care, weightlifting, reading, headache, concentration, work life, driving, sleep and leisure activities. Each section consists of 6 responses scored between 0 and 5. Patients select the option that best suits them from each section. An increase in points indicates an increase in disability. The test scores were collected at the end of the survey, and the patients' deficiencies were determined. Turkish validity and reliability were tested by Telci et al. in 2009 (13).

The EuroQol Five-Dimensions – 3-Level

The individual's quality of life was evaluated using the Turkish version of the EQ-5D-3L. This scale consists of two subheadings, and the first subheading is the EQ-5D index scale. An index score between -0.59 and 1 is calculated from the first subheading of the scale. In the index score, 0 points indicate death, 1 point indicates perfect health, and negative scores indicate closed consciousness (14). The second subtitle of the scale is the EQ-5D-3L Visual Analog Scale (VAS) scale. It is a VAS containing values between 0 and 100 that evaluate the health status of individuals on the same day. In the scale, individuals' quality of life scores ranging from 0 to 100 are noted, and as the score increases, the quality of life increases (15).

Statistical Analysis

The number of patients to participate in the study was determined using the Gpower program (G*Power Universität Düsseldorf: Psychologie). According to the data obtained from the pilot study, it was calculated that for a significant correlation between pain and functional disability (r=0.318), 95% confidence interval, and 95%

power, at least 102 people would need to participate in the study. Considering that there may be data loss in the research, at least 112 people must participate for the 10% cut-off point.

The study evaluated the normal distribution of the data using the Shapiro-Wilk test and graphs. Analysis of qualitative variables was performed with the chi-square test and data were presented as numbers and percentages (%). Normally distributed numerical variables were shown with mean and standard deviation, and non-normally distributed ones were shown with median, minimum, and maximum values. Spearman correlation test was used for correlation in the statistical analysis of the data obtained at the end of the research. Correlation coefficients r>0.89 were considered very strong correlation, 0.70–0.89 as strong correlation, 0.40–0.69 as medium correlation, and 0.20-0.39 as weak correlation (16). Statistical significance was evaluated at p<0.05 level.

RESULTS

This study is a cross-sectional, observational study conducted. A total of 114 patients with cervical radiculopathy were screened, and three patients were excluded. Two patients had undergone cervical spine surgery last year, and one was unwilling to participate. The study was completed with 111 patients. 81 (72.98%) of the patients were female, 30 (27.02%) were male, and the average age was 45.59±11.00 (Table 1). The mean ages and BMI of males and females were similar (p>0.05). A comparison of the demographic characteristics of the patients is given in Table 1.

Table 1. Demographic and physical characteristics of the patients									
	Females (n=81)	Males (n=30)	Total (n=111)	р					
	X±SD Med (Min-Max)	X±SD Med (Min-Max)	X±SD Med (Min-Max)						
Age, years	46.38±10.75	43.43±11.55	45.59±11.00	0.211					
Height, cm	160 (148-175)	174 (161-184)	162 (148-184)	<0.01					
Weight, kg	73.91±14.29	80.73±12.72	75.76±14.15	0.024					
BMI, kg/m ²	29.02±5.36	27.23±4.06	28.54±5.08	0.101					
Duration of symptoms, month	15 (3-72)	12 (3-60)	14 (3-72)	0.426					
Comorbidities, n (%)									
No diseases	53 (65.4%)	21 (70%)	74 (66.7%)	0.650					
Diabetes	4 (4.9%)	1 (3.3%)	5 (4.5%)	0.717					
Hypertension	25 (30.9%)	6 (20.0%)	31 (27.9%)	0.257					
Heart diseases	4 (4.9%)	3 (10%)	7 (6.3%)	0.330					
Dominant hand side, n (%)									
Right	70 (86.4%)	25 (83.3%)	95 (85.6%)	0.681					
Left	11 (13.6%)	5 (16.7%)	16 (14.4%)						
Affected side, n (%)									
Right	28 (34.6%)	6 (20.0%)	34 (30.6%)	0.230					
Left	30 (37.0%)	16 (53.3%)	46 (41.4%)						
Bilateral	23 (28.4%)	8 (26.7%)	31 (27.9%)						
BMI: body mass index, SD: standard de	viation								

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1374030

When genders were compared, while the neck and arm pain intensity of males and females were similar (p>0.05), numbness extending to the arms, hands, and fingers was significantly higher in females (p=0.027). Additionally, there was no difference between the functional limitation levels of the genders (p>0.05).

Female patients had more disabilities and a worse quality of life than males (p<0.05). The evaluation results for the

groups are presented in Table 2. A moderate negative correlation was observed between CRIS symptoms and quality of life parameters, and a moderate-weak correlation between CRIS symptoms with pain and numbness (p<0.01). A negative correlation was also detected between pain and numbness with quality-of-life parameters. According to the evaluation results, the relationship obtained in patients with cervical radiculopathy is elaborated in Table 3.

Table 2. Pain, numbness, functional limitation, neck disability, and health-related quality of life scores of the patients										
	Females (n=81)	Males (n=30)	Total (n=111)	р						
	X±SD Med (Min-Max)	X±SD Med (Min-Max)	X±SD Med (Min-Max)							
NRS-neck	6 (2-9)	5.5 (2-9)	6 (2-9)	0.175						
NRS-arm	5 (2-8)	4 (2-8)	5 (2-8)	0.285						
NRS-numbness	4 (2-6)	3 (2-5)	3 (2-6)	0.027						
CRIS										
Symptoms subscale	61.00±17.06	57.87±17.62	60.16±17.19	0.396						
Energy and postures subscale	62.50 (4.17-95.83)	64.58 (8.33-100)	62.50 (4.17-100)	0.089						
Actions and activities subscale	29.16 (0-100)	25 (0-91.67)	29.26 (0-100)	0.630						
NDI	20 (7-42)	17 (4-42)	19 (4-42)	0.021						
EQ-5D-3L index score	0.62 (0.09-0.86)	0.71 (0.09-0.81)	0.68 (0.09-0.86)	<0.01						
EQ-VAS	50 (20-85)	60 (10-90)	50 (10-90)	0.011						

NRS: numeric rating scale, CRIS: cervical radiculopathy impact scale, NDI: neck disability index, EQ-5D-3L: EuroQol Five-Dimensions – 3-Level, VAS: visual analog scale, SD: standard deviation

Та	ble 3. The relationship betwee	n pain,	numbness,	neck disability	, health-relate	ed quality of li	fe, and functi	onal disability	in cervical ra	diculopathy
	Variables		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1	NRS-neck	r	1							
'	NRS-neck	р	-							
2	NRS-arm	r	0.659**	1						
2	NK3-dilli	р	<0.01	-						
3	NRS-numbness	r	0.581**	0.556**	1					
3	NK3-Humbhess	р	<0.01	<0.01	-					
4	NDI	r	0.534**	0.392**	0.410**	1				
4		р	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	-				
5	EQ-5D index score	r	-0.309**	-0.256**	-0.315**	-0.650**	1			
J	EQ-3D maex score	р	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	-			
6	EQ-VAS	r	-0.666**	-0.527**	-0.468**	-0.719**	0.561**	1		
0	EQ-VAS	р	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	-		
7	CRIS-symptoms subscale	r	0.386**	0.438**	0.252**	0.615**	-0.501**	-0.524**	1	
1	CRIS-Symptoms Subscale	р	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	-	
8	CRIS-energy and postures	r	0.453**	0.369**	0.284**	0.413**	-0.310**	-0.400**	0.408**	1
0	subscale	р	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	-
9	CRIS-actions and activities	r	0.455**	0.399**	0.319**	0.516**	-0.395**	-0.506**	0.336**	0.403**
9	subscale	р	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01

NRS: numeric rating scale, CRIS: cervical radiculopathy impact scale, NDI: neck disability index, EQ-5D-3L: Euro Qol Five-Dimensions – 3-Level, VAS: visual analog scale r: Spearman correlation coefficient (*p<0.05; **p<0.01)

DISCUSSION

This study showed that females with cervical radiculopathy had more numbness in their upper extremities, worse disability, and poorer quality of life. However, the functional limitation they experienced due to radiculopathy was similar between genders. In addition, pain, functional limitation, disability, and quality of life are interrelated in patients with cervical radiculopathy.

Cervical spondylosis refers to degenerative changes resulting from aging in most adult populations. Spondylotic changes may also be seen in many asymptomatic adults. Radiculopathy develops due to the narrowing of the intervertebral foramen (17). The degenerative process of the cervical spine is divided into three distinct stages: (i) dysfunction, (ii) instability, and (iii) stabilization. Dysfunction occurs between the ages of 15 and 45. At this stage, radial and circumferential tears may occur in the annulus, accompanied by localized synovitis in the facet joint. Instability can occur in individuals between the ages of 35 and 70. This stage is characterized by facet joint degeneration and degradation of the internal disc with progressive resorption. This leads to stabilization, the final stage of the process that most commonly occurs after age 60. At this stage, hypertrophic bone develops around the facet joints and the disc and supports the spine. Additionally, each spinal segment may be at a different degenerative stage. While one level completes the dysfunction phase, the stabilization phase may begin at the other level. While disc herniations occur due to the dysfunction and instability phase, spinal stenosis occurs due to the late instability phase. Also, it may be due to the early stabilization phase due to bone overgrowth and disc space narrowing (18).

Evaluation methods are gaining importance in determining the effective treatment in radiculopathy, the presence of symptoms thresholding the problem, and excluding these problems. Patients with cervical radiculopathy may experience increased disability symptoms due to pain radiating to their neck, especially their arms. Studies have shown that patients with radiculopathy are restricted due to pain, and their disability symptoms increase (19). However, the evaluations focused on neck pain rather than arm and extremity pain and were insufficient to conduct a comprehensive evaluation caused by radiculopathy (20).

The CRIS, developed by Gartner et al., measures the functional limitation in patients with cervical radiculopathy due to pain reflected in the upper extremity, tingling, and additional sensory interference due to arm and neck involvement. It provides more objective information for evaluations (10). A study evaluating radiculopathy due to cervical disc herniation showed that CRIS better expresses the functional limitations of patients (12). Similarly, a study on radiculopathy due to cervical disc herniation determined that radiculopathy provided clearer information with a higher score on the CRIS compared to the neck disability questionnaire (NDQ) and that females had more functional disability (21). However, since radiculopathy causes pain and weakness in the

extremities and necks of individuals, the lack of evidence regarding functional disability is noteworthy.

Although quality of life is one of the parameters that show the health status perceived by patients, measurements of this parameter are used to evaluate the effects of disease and/or injury on the activities of individuals. It is stated that these questionnaires, which the patients themselves answer, are measurement methods that reflect their health status very well. Wang et al. stated that the quality of life was significantly affected in people with chronic symptoms due to neck pain (22). However, the number of studies examining the quality of life and disability level in patients with isolated radiculopathy and the relationship between these parameters is limited. A study conducted in this context found that in the presence of radiculopathy due to disc herniation, the quality of life and the level of disability related to upper extremity function were affected more than in patients without radiculopathy (23). It has been stated that in patients with radiculopathy, the disability may result from neck pain and deficiencies in upper extremity functions. However, since this functional limitation and reduced quality of life in patients with radiculopathy may be affected by ageing, the lack of studies examining the relationship between these parameters is noteworthy (23).

Pain may also spread to both the neck and extremities in patients with radiculopathy, causing a decrease in the quality of life and functional limitations. In patients with radiculopathy due to disc herniation, neck and arm pain may vary from moderate to severe, increasing the level of disability (24). This study observed that neck disability and quality of life were worse in females than males. The results were like the findings of Oe et al., who found more disability in females than males (25). This difference is thought to be caused by female's lower physical activity levels and sedentary behavior (25). However, many physical parameters, such as repeated and increased workload during daily activities, cause posture disorders in females and increase the pressure on the cervical region. In addition, degeneration in the intervertebral disc and structures surrounding the spine with age may lead to the progression of disability. This condition results in compression of the nerves exiting the cervical spine. It is also stated that the cervical vertebrae's linear and areal dimensions may differ in females than in males. Therefore, females are more susceptible to cervical soft tissue and overuse injuries. When anatomical structures are examined, bone mineral density is lower in females. Consequently, they may be more prone to damage than males (9). However, this study determined that the functional limitation due to cervical radiculopathy was similar between genders. This may be associated with males being more active but with a high expectation level due to injury or fear of losing work capacity and productivity due to re-injury. Therefore, a detailed evaluation of functional limitation and the factors affecting it in patients with cervical radiculopathy is essential in the clinical follow-up process.

CONCLUSION

This study determined that females' disability and quality of life were worse than males. In addition, functional limitations with pain and quality of life are interrelated in patients with cervical radiculopathy. Pain and numbness have also been found to be associated with quality of life. Therefore, investigating gender differences and evaluating functional limitations in patients with cervical radiculopathy is essential in the clinical follow-up process.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The study was approved by the Kastamonu University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Protocol number: 2023-KAEK-109).

REFERENCES

- Magnus W, Viswanath O, Viswanathan VK, Mesfin FB. Cervical radiculopathy. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Fakhoury J, Dowling TJ. Cervical degenerative disc disease. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Almasi A, Jafari S, Solouki L, Darvishi N. The best surgical treatment for cervical radiculopathy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Adv Biomed Res. 2023;12:191.
- Luyao H, Xiaoxiao Y, Tianxiao F, et al. Management of cervical spondylotic radiculopathy: a systematic review. Global Spine J. 2022;12:1912-24.
- Rafiq S, Zafar H, Gillani SA, et al. Effects of neurodynamic mobilization on health-related quality of life and cervical deep flexors endurance in patients of cervical radiculopathy: a randomized trial. Biomed Res Int. 2022;2022:9385459.
- Rafiq S, Zafar H, Gillani SA, et al. Comparison of neural mobilization and conservative treatment on pain, range of motion, and disability in cervical radiculopathy: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2022;17:e0278177.
- 7. Kang KC, Jang TS, Jung CH. Cervical radiculopathy: focus on factors for better surgical outcomes and operative techniques. Asian Spine J. 2022;16:995-1012.
- Peene L, Cohen SP, Brouwer B, et al. 2. Cervical radicular pain. Pain Pract. 2023;23(7):800-17.
- 9. Prablek M, Gadot R, Xu DS, Ropper AE. Neck pain: differential diagnosis and management. Neurol Clin. 2023;41:77-85.
- Gärtner FR, Marinus J, van den Hout WB, et al. The Cervical Radiculopathy Impact Scale: development and evaluation of a new functional outcome measure for cervical radicular syndrome. Disabil Rehabil. 2020;42:1894-905.

- 11. Çelenlioğlu AE, Şencan S, Saçaklıdır R, et al. Cervical Radiculopathy Impact Scale: translation, cross-cultural adaptation, reliability and validity of the Turkish version. Arch Rheumatol. 2022;37:574-83.
- Singh S, Sathe PK, Sathe A, Kumar DV. Evaluation of functional disability in cervical radiculopathy patients. Indian J Health Sci Biomed Res. 2023;16:103-10.
- Telci EA, Karaduman A, Yakut Y, et al. The cultural adaptation, reliability, and validity of neck disability index in patients with neck pain: a Turkish version study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34:1732-5.
- 14. Dolan P, Gudex C, Kind P, Williams A. The time trade-off method: results from a general population study. Health Econ. 1996;5:141-54.
- Kahyaoğlu Süt H, Ünsar S. Is EQ-5D a valid quality of life instrument in patients with acute coronary syndrome? Anadolu Kardiyol Derg. 2011;11:156-62.
- 16. Schober P, Boer C, Schwarte LA. Correlation coefficients: appropriate use and interpretation. Anesth Analg. 2018;126:1763-8.
- 17. Kuo DT, Tadi P. Cervical Spondylosis. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Williams J, D'Amore P, Redlich N, et al. Degenerative cervical myelopathy: evaluation and management. Orthop Clin North Am. 2022;53:509-21.
- Paraskevopoulos E, Koumantakis G, Papandreou M. The effectiveness of neuromobilization in patients with cervical radiculopathy: a systematic review with meta-analysis. J Sport Rehabil. 2022;32:5-34.
- 20. Alagingi NK. Chronic neck pain and postural rehabilitation: A literature review. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2022;32:201-6.
- 21. Keith RA. Functional status and health status. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1994;75:478-83.
- 22. Wang WT, Olson SL, Campbell AH, et al. Effectiveness of physical therapy for patients with neck pain: an individualized approach using a clinical decision-making algorithm. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;82:203-21.
- 23. Plener J, Csiernik B, To D, et al. Conservative management of cervical radiculopathy: a systematic review. Clin J Pain. 2023;39:138-46.
- 24. Zaina F, Côté P, Cancelliere C, et al. A systematic review of clinical practice guidelines for persons with non-specific low back pain with and without radiculopathy: identification of best evidence for rehabilitation to develop the who's package of interventions for rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2023;104:1913-27.
- 25. Oe S, Togawa D, Yoshida G, et al. Cut-off values of and factors associated with a negative influence on Neck Disability Index. Eur Spine J. 2018;27:1423-31.



Can Mecsina Hemostopper, which has a Cytotoxic Effect on Mcf-7 Cells, be Considered an Anticarcinogenic Agent due to its Immunological Properties?

OMustafa Cicek¹, OMehmet Kemal Tumer², Alpgiray Turgut³

¹Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biology, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye ²Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Antalya, Türkiye ³Erzurum Technical University, Faculty of Science, Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Erzurum, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: Mecsina is used as a hemostatic agent such as Ankaferd and Tranexamic acid. To struggle with breast cancer, which is a serious public health issue, new, effective, and less toxic therapeutic agents are needed. Hence, it is aimed to compare and evaluate the effects of Mecsina and Ankaferd, both of which contain natural biomolecules in their structure, and synthetic Tranexamic acid on MCF-7 cells.

Material and Method: For this study, MCF-7 immortalized cell lines were commercially purchased. The cells, 5000 cells per flask for each different dose group, were distributed to the 9 groups (mecsina 1:1, 1:2, 1:10, 1:50, 1:100, 1:200, 1:500, distilled water administered negative and control without any administration). Cytotoxicity, ELISA cytokine levels were evaluated, and flow cytometric analyzes were performed for each group using the XTT analysis method, after 24 hours of incubation.

Results: A significant difference was observed between different doses of drug administration groups of Mecsina Hemostopper hemostatic agent in MCF-7 cells (p<0.001). Besides, cytokine levels were found to be significantly higher than those of other possible therapeutic agents.

Conclusion: Mecsina Hemostopper has been found to have anti-tumoral activity in MCF-7 cancer cell lines by producing a hemostatic effect.

Keywords: MCF-7, cytotoxicity, flow cytometry, CD4+, CD8+, mecsina

INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is one of the most common malignant diseases in women today, and its prevalence is increasing rapidly due to the stress of modern life (1). Since surgical resection, radiotherapy and chemotherapy are among the limited treatment options for breast cancer, new chemopreventive agents that can effectively prevent or manage breast cancer are urgently needed (2). Ankaferd Blood Stopper (ABS) is a hemostatic agent containing 5 different plant extracts. It is known to be an effective hemostopper produced for use in the fields of medicine and dentistry and routinely used in and after surgical procedures (3). Each of these plants that constitute the content of ABS has different effects on endothelium, blood cells, cell proliferation, angiogenesis and cellular mediators (4). Tranexamic acid, known to be a fibrin adhesive, is a hemostatic agent that increases vascularization and granulation tissue (5).

Today, antihemorrhagic agents actively used in the medical field can prevent bleeding by using different mechanisms of action (6). "Mecsina Hemostopper®" is created from herbal ingredients such as Mentha arvensis, Urtica angustifolia, Vitis vinifera, Hypericum perforatum, Syzygium aromaticum, Glycyrrhiza glabra extract, Alpinia officinarum. And this compound provides very important erythrocyte aggregation by forming a protein network. It has been proven with the help of electron microscopy that it binds to fibrinogen in the area exposed to the application, forming a protein network, and that erythrocytes are arranged in a roll in this network.

CITATION

Cicek M, Tumer MK, Turgut A Can Mecsina Hemostopper, which has a Cytotoxic Effect on Mcf-7 Cells, be Considered an Anticarcinogenic Agent due to its Immunological Properties?. Med Records. 2024;6(1):20-6. DOI:1037990/medr.1394291

Received: 27.11.2023 Accepted: 22.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024 Corresponding Author: Alpgiray Turgut, Erzurum Technical University, Faculty of Science, Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Türkiye E-mail: agiraytrgt@gmail.com Therefore, the hemostasis effect has also been observed (7). The main therapeutic effect of hemostatic agents such as Anakaferd, Mecsina and Tranexamic Acid is their hemostatic activity by regulating the protein network. This study aimed to compare the immunological, apoptotic, antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects of Tranexamic Acid, Ankaferd Blood Stopper, which is routinely used as a hemostatic agent during and after surgical procedures, and Mecsina Blood Stopper, a new hemostatic agent. and to examine their possible positive or negative effects on MCF-7 cancer cells.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Cell Culture

In this study we designed, MCF-7 cells were commercially obtained from ATTC (American Type Culture Collection). DMEM and F-12 (containing 10% Fetal serum) were used as media for the cells. We provided the growth medium for the cells under environmental conditions containing 95% humidity and 5% CO2 at 37°C. We also multiplied the cells in 25 cm² flasks. It was then extracted from the vial surface using 0.05% trypsin-EDTA solution. During passage, cells were transferred at a ratio of 1:2 cells per new passage. The culture medium was changed every two days after passage. After staining with Sigma brand Trypan Blue (0.05%) dye, the amount of live/dead cells was determined with the Celeromics cell counter. After reaching a sufficient number of cells, the cells were distributed into 3 groups (drug, negative treated with distilled water, and untreated control), with 5000 cells per vial for each drug. It was preserved using a DMSO-based cryopreservation protocol during the stocking process. Additionally, as is known, ethics committee approval is not required for cell culture studies. We did not receive ethics committee approval for our study.

Cell Proliferation Assay

10,000 cells were seeded in a 96-well plate for this assay. The appropriate dose was found in the cells after 24 hours of incubation by administering the drug at doses of 1:10, 1:50, 1:100, 1:200, and 1:500.

The ELISA Study

Control cells and 1:2, 1:10 dosages of drug administered MCF-7 cells were seeded in a 96-well plate at 10,000 cells.

Cell extract was obtained after 24 hours of drug treatment. In our study, we obtained the "GeneAll ProtinEx total protein extraction solution" kit by applying the manufacturer's protocol to measure antibody levels in both monolayers and supernatants. The supernatants were used for ELISA plates after measurement with Nanodrop. YEHUA Interleukin 1beta (IL-1b) (YHB1720Hu), IL-6 (YHB1747Hu) and TNF-alpha (YHB3112Hu) kits were used in the ELISA study. After the standards of the study were prepared and pipetted according to the kit protocol, the color change was measured at 450 nm wavelength after 2 hours (Eliza Device). A linear curve was created according to the Optical Density (OD) values. Concentrations were then calculated by writing the standard concentrations and OD values of the samples to the equation in the graph.

Ankaferd, Tranexamic acid, and Mecsina Hemostopper were used in the treatment of cells. Cells and media were cultured into plates. In 6-well culture plates containing the groups we formed during the assays, we monitored the generation of 5-10 million cells. The study was started once the target number was achieved (24-48 hours). Cells were transferred to 96-well cell culture plates at 5000 per well. For 48 hours in the incubator, the cells were allowed to adhere. The XTT solution and the activation solution were mixed together. XTT was activated by mixing 25 microliters of Activation solution with 5 milliliters of XTT agent. 50uL of active XTT was taken and added to 100ul of culture medium in cell-coated wells. Cells were kept in the incubator for 24 hours. In this phase, it was analyzed at 450 nm wavelength at 2nd, 4th, 6th, 8th, 12th, and 24th hours, and the cytotoxic effect that would arise due to the dose differential between the groups was examined.

Flow Cytometric Analysis

Flow cytometric analysis was performed in Atlas Biotechnology Laboratory (Ankara, Türkiye). The intracellular cytokines TNF alpha, IL-1B, and IL-6, which are located in CD4 + and CD8 + T cells, were flow cytometrically examined separately.

Statistical Analysis

When evaluating the data, Shapiro-Wilk test is used to determine whether the variables are normally distributed, two-way analysis of variance (univariate ANOVA) is used for analyzes based on normally distributed variables and drug groups, and Tukey HSD test is used for effects in dose groups and multiple comparison tests (post-hoc). Three different tests were used: Tamhane T2 test and Dunnett test. Statistical parameters were evaluated using Mean±SD. Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05. Inhibitor concentration (IC50) values were calculated based on dilution ratios. IBM SPSS version 22 (IBM SPSS for Windows version 22, IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, United States) and R.3.3.2 software were used to evaluate the data.

RESULTS

Cell Proliferation and Viability (%) Assessment

The dose-related cytotoxic effect of Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid on MCF-7 breast cancer cell proliferation was analyzed by XTT assay (Table 1). At the end of 24 hours, cell viability rates of Ankaferd, Mecsina and Tranexamic Acid were determined at 100%, 50%, 10%, 2%, 1%, 0.05% and 0.02% concentrations. According to optical density values, the inhibition of all agents at these concentrations was compared with both the control group and each other (Table 1). It was observed that all agents showed cytotoxic effects on MCF-7 cells and there was a significant difference between the dose groups both within and between groups (p<0.001). All three agents showed the greatest cytotoxic effect at 100% concentration. Additionally, Mecsina Hemostopper showed a significant cytotoxic effect at concentrations of 1%, 0.05% and 0.02%. Tranexamic Acid showed a cytotoxic effect on MCF-7 in almost all dose groups except 2% concentration (p<0.001). Almost no cytotoxic effect was observed for Ankaferd at 10%, 2% and 1% concentrations, and for Mecsina at 50% and

10% concentrations (p<0.001). Additionally, when all dose groups were evaluated, the highest IC50 concentration was observed in Ankaferd, while the lowest IC50 concentration was observed in Mecsina and Tranexamic Acid (Table 2).

Table 1. D	1. Demonstration of cytotoxicity and proliferation values of Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid on breast cancer cells								
		Mecsina hemostopper Ankaferd blood stopper		Tranexamid acid					
	Concentration	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	р				
	Control	100.00±0.00	100.00±0.00	100.00±0.00					
	1/500	35.46±22.35**	47.57±32.05**	14.52±3.36**	0.271				
	1/200	40.06±26.86**	59.97±38.15	18.72±0.04**	0.250				
	1/100	38.65±27.42**b	120.97±7.29 ^{a.c}	39.18±3.42**b	p<0.001*				
MCF-7	1/50	58.95±1.63**b.c	116.67±1.12 ^{a.c}	72.30±1.41**a.b	p<0.001*				
	1/10	102.60±3.08 ^{b.c}	81.19±0.94 ^{a.c}	22.64±7.02**a.b	p<0.001*				
	1/2	96.07±2.65 ^{b.c}	3.56±0.31***a	6.20±2.65***	p<0.001*				
	1/1	6.04±1.82**b.c	0.94±0.02**a	0.73±0.25**a	p<0.001*				
	р	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*					

Univariate;a:0.05;Post-hoc:Dunnett test;Tukey Test; Tamhane T2 Test;*The difference is statistically significant;**The difference compared to the control group is statistically significant; The difference according to the a Mecsina group is statistically significant; The difference compared to the b Ankaferd group is statistically significant; The difference according to c Tranexamid Acid Group is statistically significant

Table 2. Demonstration of IC50 values of Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid on breast cancer cells									
IC50	Mecsina Hemostopper	Ankaferd Blood Stopper	Tranexamid Acid						
MCF-7	2.345µl	26.81µl	1.345µl						

ELISA Evaluation

The immunological effects of Ankaferd, Mecsina, and Tranexamic Acid intracellular cytokines on MCF-7 breast cancer cells were evaluated both within and between groups at 1/2 and 1/10 concentrations of each cytokine (Table 3). According to the data obtained, TNF- α and IL-1B, both of which are pro-inflammatory cytokines, and the IL-6,

anti-inflammatory cytokine, were found to have significant differences both for each agent separately within the group, as well as across the groups. While a significant increase was observed in TNF- α and IL-1B levels of Mecsina in 1/10 concentration compared to Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid, IL-6 levels decreased (p<0.05). At 1/2 concentration, statistical significance was observed both between and within groups (Table 3) (p<0.05).

Table 3. Evaluation of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines levels of Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid on breast cancer cells by ELISA method

			MCF-7						
			Mecsina blood stopper Tranexamid acid blood ankaferd blood stopper stopper		Ankaferd blood stopper				
Group	Cell	Dilution	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	Р
IL-1B		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0,00	
	Supernatant	1/2	123.00	±2.83**b	112.00	±1.41***a.c	129.00	±2.83**b	0.014*
		1/10	127.50	±2.12**b.c	102.00	±0.00ª	106.00	±1.41ª	0.001*
		Р	0.0)02 [*]	0.0	0.001*		0.001*	
TNF- α		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
	Supernatant	1/2	4.00	±1.41**b.c	98.48	±0.74 ^{a.c}	109.98	±1.39**a.b	p<0.001*
		1/10	125.48	±2.09**b	102.03	±0.33***a.c	121.48	±2.09**b	0.002*
		Р	p<0	.001*	0.0)11*	0.0)02 *	
IL-6		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
	Supernatant	1/2	81.40	±1.41**c	85.20	±1.41**c	116.00	±0.00**a.b	p<0.001*
		1/10	85.30	±2.12**c	87.70	±0.71**c	106.00	±1.41***a.b	0.002*
		Р	0.0	002*	0.0	001*	0.0	001*	

Univariate;a:0.05;Post-hoc:Dunnett test;Tukey Test; Tamhane T2 Test; *The difference is statistically significant; **The difference compared to the control group is statistically significant; The difference according to the a Mecsina group is statistically significant; The difference compared to the b Ankaferd group is statistically significant; The difference according to c Tranexamid Acid Group is statistically significant

FLOW CYTOMETRY Results in CD4 + and CD8 + T Cells

Expressions of TNF alpha, IL-1B, and IL6, which are intracellularly released cytokines of CD4+ and CD8+

cells, were compared to the anti-hemorrhagic agents Ankaferd, Mecsina, and Tranexamic acid, as well as control groups of their various concentrations, each other, and their measurements at different times (Table 4).

				Mecsina h	emostopper	Ankaferd b	lood stopper	Tranexa	mid acid	
			Dilution	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	р
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		CD4+	1/2	102.35	±0.21**b.c	100.02	±0.01ª	100.65	±0.21ª	0.002
		CD4+	1/10	102.70	±0.42**	102.30**	±0.28	101.60	±0.28**	0.10
	TNF-α		р	0.	004*	0.0	001*	0.0)10*	
	INF-u		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		CD8+	1/2	104.00	±0.71**b.c	100.20	±0.14ª	100.95	±0.21**a	0.00
		CD8+	1/10	106.55	±0.49**c	103.50	±0.71**c	101.35	±0.21***a.b	0.01
			р	0.	005*	0.0	006*	0.0)09*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		004	1/2	360.00	±28.28 ^{b.c}	220.00	±21.21**a	195.00	±7.07**a	0.00
		CD4+	1/10	829.00	±35.36 ^{b.c}	630.00	±28.28***a	565.00	±21.21**a	0.00
CF-7 cell			р	0.	001*	0.0	001*	p<0	.001*	
e 6 hours	IL-6		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		000	1/2	360.00	±14.14**b.c	185.00	±±7.07**a	175.00	±7.07**a	0.00
		CD8+	1/10	635.00	±21.21**b.c	365.00	±21.21**a	420.00	±28.28**ª	0.003
			р	0.	001*	0.0	001*	0.0)01*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
			1/2	100.0	±0.01°	101.35	±0.21**	103.00	±0.71**a	0.014
		CD4+	1/10	107.00	±0.28**b.c	102.70	±0.28**a.c	105.45	±0.49***a.b	0.00
			р	0.	014*	0.0	002*	0.0)04*	
	IL-1B		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
			1/2	100.65	±0.21 ^{b.c}	103.60	±0.71**ª	104.75	±0.35**ª	0.007
		CD8+	1/10	102.20	±0.28**c	104.50	±0.71**c	107.30	±0.71**a.b	0.00
			р	0.	004*	0.0	009*	0.0)01*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
			1/2	103.55	±0.35**c	104.50	±0.71**c	115.50	±1.41**a.b	0.002
		CD4+	1/10	124.55	±0.49**b.c	112.00	±1.41**a	116.20	±1.41**a	0.00
			р	0.	002*	0.0	002*	0.0)01*	
	TNF- α		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
			1/2	107.50	±1.41**	108.50	±0.71**	111.50	±2.12**	0.154
		CD8+	1/10	129.50	±0.71**	112.50	±2.12**	112.80	±1.41**	0.202
			р	0.	004*	0.0	005*	0.0)06*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		0.5.4	1/2	111.00	±1.41**c	119.00	±2.83**c	131.00	±1.41***a.b	0.00
		CD4+	1/10	116.50	±2.12**b.c	187.50	±4.24***a.c	167.00	±2.83***a.b	0.001
CF-7 cell			р	0.	003*	0.0	001*	p<0	.001*	
e 24 hours	IL-6		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		000	1/2	111.00	±1.41**c	109.50	±0.71**c	143.50	±2.12***a.b	p<0.00
		CD8+	1/10	165.00	±2.83**b	152.50	±3.54**ª	147.00	±2.83**	0.023
			р	0.	001*	0.0	001*	p<0	.001*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		0.0.4	1/2	114.00	±2.83**	116.50	±3.54**	114.50	±0.71**	0.65
		CD4+	1/10	121.10	±1.41**	119.50	±2.83**	117.30	±2.12**	0.61
			р	0.	004*	0.0)09*	0.0)02 [*]	
	IL-1B		Control	100.00		100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
			1/2	113.50	±2.12**b	121.00	±1.41***a.c	112.00	±1.41**b	0.024
		CD8+	1/10	125.50	±1.41**b	122.90		115.00		0.031
			p	0.)01*)02*	

Univariate; a:0.05;Post-hoc:Dunnett test;Tukey Test; Tamhane T2 Test; *The difference is statistically significant; **The difference compared to the control group is statistically significant; The difference according to the a Mecsina group is statistically significant; The difference compared to the b Ankaferd group is statistically significant; The difference according to c Tranexamid Acid Group is statistically significant.

Table 4: Evalua Acid in CD4 ar					nflammatory cy	ytokines on br	east cancer ce	ls of Mecsin	a. Ankaferd and	Tranexamic
				Mecsina h	emostopper	Ankaferd b	lood stopper	Tranexa	amid acid	
			Dilution	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	Mean	±SD	р
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		CD4+	1/2	312.00	±14.14**c	300.00	±7.07**c	370.00	±14.14***a.b	0.020*
		CD4+	1/10	690.00	±28.28**	625.00	±35.36**	620.00	±28.28**	0.543
			р	0.0	001*	0.0)01*	p<0	.001*	
	TNF- α		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		000.	1/2	370.00	±28.28**	320.00	±14.14**	380.00	±21.21**	0.132
		CD8+	1/10	830.00	±70.71**	765.00	±21.21**	794.00	±14.14**	0.064
			р	0.0	003*	0.0	001*	p<0	.001*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		004	1/2	112.00	±1.41**b.c	105.00	±0.71**a	107.30	±0.71**a	0.013*
		CD4+	1/10	119.50	±2.12**b.c	110.50	±1.41**a	111.00	±1.41**a	0.021*
MCF-7 cell			р	0.0	002*	0.0)03*	0.0	003*	
line 72 hours	IL-6		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		000.	1/2	104.50	±0.71**b	109.00	±1.41**a.c	104.50	±0.71**b	0.032*
		CD8+	1/10	126.30	±0.71**b	111.80	±1.41**a.c	106.20	±1.41**b	0.031*
			р	0.0)04*	0.0)04*	0.0	014*	
			Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		CD4+	1/2	420.00	±14.14**c	370.00	±21.21**c	213.00	±7.07**a.b	0.002*
		CD4+	1/10	720.00	±21.21**c	625.00	±28.28**c	338.00	±28.28***a.b	0.001*
	IL-1B		р	0.0	001*	0.0)01*	0.002*		
	IL-ID		Control	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	100.00	±0.00	
		CD8+	1/2	420.00	±21.21**c	283.00	±35.36**c	198.00	$\pm 14.14^{\text{**a.b}}$	0.007*
		CD8+	1/10	730.00	±28.28**b.c	725.00	±35.36**ª	282.00	±28.28***a	0.001*
			р	0.0	001*	0.0)01*	0.	005*	

Univariate; α :0.05;Post-hoc:Dunnett test;Tukey Test; Tamhane T2 Test; *The difference is statistically significant; **The difference compared to the control group is statistically significant; The difference according to the a Mecsina group is statistically significant; The difference according to c Tranexamid Acid Group is statistically significant.

An increase in the expression of all intracellular cytokines was observed in Mecsina BS-administered cell lines at 6th, 24th, and 72nd hours compared to Ankaferd BS administration in CD4 + T cells at 1/2 and 1/10 concentration (p<0.05). TNF-a and IL-6 levels in CD8 + T cells increased in the Mecsina-administered group relative to the other groups at 1/2 and 1/10 concentrations at the 6th hour, while IL-1B levels decreased (p<0.005). In comparison to the other groups, all cytokine levels at 1/10 concentration increased significantly in the Mecsina application considering the 24th hour (p<0.05). The levels of TNF-a and IL-6 cytokines were increased at 1/10 concentration (p<0.05), and the levels of IL-1B were significantly higher in the Mecsina-administered group compared to the other groups at 1/2 and 1/10 concentrations at the 72nd hour (p<0.05) (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer in women worldwide, and its incidence increases by an average of 0.4% every year. The financial impossibilities brought about by this situation increase our search for low-cost new drugs and methods as researchers (8). The chemotherapeutic effect of existing drugs is known. However, not every patient reacts the same to these drugs, and clear answers, positive or negative, are not known about their side effects on healthy cells (9). For these reasons, it leads to the search for low-cost, fast-acting and non-toxic agents from natural bioflavonoids to treat this disease. In our study, the cytotoxicity of the anti-hemorrhagic agent Mecsina BS, which is obtained from natural compounds with limited information about its efficacy and cytotoxicity in the literature, and its effectiveness on MCF-7 cells, has been tried to be compared with another natural anti-hemorrhagic agent, Ankaferd BS, and a synthetic anti-hemorrhagic agent, Tranexamic Acid. The fact that our study is the first in this field, as determined by literature searches, increases its clinical significance. It is a condition related to tumor cell formation, decreased apoptosis and uncontrolled cell growth. For this reason, the use of cytotoxic drugs, which aim to activate apoptotic pathways and also reduce cell proliferation, is among the studies carried out for cancer treatment (10). Due to the significant side effects of chemotherapeutic drugs, researchers have recently experimented on the use of natural compounds and discovered that these compounds have high efficacy, low toxicity, and fewer side effects (11). Since the precursors of agents that induce apoptosis are

natural compounds, natural compounds are also used to induce apoptosis in human cancer cells (12,13). In this study, we aimed to evaluate the apoptotic, antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects and effectiveness of different doses of Mecsina and Ankaferd, prepared from standard plants, and Tranexamic Acid, a synthetic anti-hemorrhagic agent, on breast cancer. In this context, different doses of Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid were applied to MCF-7 cells and the XTT viability test was evaluated depending on dose and time. Compared to Ankaferd, Mecsina showed a significant cytotoxic effect on MCF-7 cells at doses of 1% and lower. Tranexamic acid showed this effect at doses of 2% and lower. TNF alpha plays a key role in the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines and leukocyte adhesion molecules. Increasing TNF-a levels increases NF-kB expression and inflammatory response (14). TNF alpha remarks the activity in the early stage of the disease. IL-1B functions as the major proinflammatory cytokine in the development of the Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS) response (15). TNF alpha stimulates fibroblasts to release collagenase, increases vascular permeability, induces the release of cytokines such as IL-1ß and IL-6, increases the production of adhesion molecules, affects the production of factors involved in osteoclast differentiation, and also increases bone resorption by showing a synergistic effect with IL-1 (16). It has been shown that, by inducing the expression of proinflammatory genes and activating stromal and immune cells, IL-1B can initiate inflammation and increase tumor activity, as well (15). In a study, increased levels of IL-1B were linked to tumor invasiveness and a poor prognosis (17). In another study, IL-1ß was found to inhibit the growth of MCF-7 cells and was thought to achieve this feature together with TNF- α and IL-6 (18). IL-6 is a multifunctional cytokine that has a wide range of humoral and cellular immune effects in relation to inflammation, host defense, and tissue damage. It is released from fibroblasts in response to inflammatory stimuli such as IL-1B and TNF-a. Its biological effects include the proliferation of T cells, induction of bone resorption by synergistic effect with IL-1 β (19). This is the first study to compare ABS, Mecsina, and Tranexamic Acid on MCF-7 cancer cells in the literature. In the study, changes in TNF-a, IL-1B, and IL-6 levels of possible therapeutic agents administered to MCF-7 cells and which of these agents had more anti-tumoral activity were evaluated. While the levels of TNF-a and IL-1B, which cause apoptotic cell death, were significantly higher in Mecsina application at 1/10 concentration compared to other agents, IL-6

Mecsina, at a concentration of 1/10, was found to be more effective on MCF-7 cells than other therapeutic agents. T cells are divided into three classes according to their immunological effects: helper cytotoxic T cells (Tc), regulatory T cells, and T cells (Th) (20). These cells secrete cytokines and play a role in the differentiation of activated CD4+ T cells. In contrast, Tc cells play a role in the

differentiation of activated cytotoxic CD8 + T cells (21). In

levels were significantly lower. According to our findings,

a study using T cell immunotherapy on MCF-7 cells, CD8 + and CD4 + T cells, which have strong antitumor effects, were selected for immunotherapy (22). It has been pointed out that subpopulations of T cells play a synergistic role in the regulation of the immune response (23). It is known that immune level adequacy is an important risk factor in the development of cancer biology and cancer prognosis, in this study, the effects of Mecsina and Ankaferd, which are bioactive compounds, and Tranexamic Acid, a synthetic molecule, on CD4 + and CD8 + T cells were investigated. It has been reported that TNF-a can induce apoptotic cell death through p38 MAPK activation. This kinase has been shown to phosphorylate Bcl-2, resulting in increased caspase-3 expression. 9 activation (24). In the study, we think that Mecsina and Ankaferd mediate the induction of apoptosis against MCF-7 cells and this may be due to an indirect effect through TNF-a. In particular, it was observed that cell viability decreased significantly. Since TNF-a activity caused by 1/10 Mecsina application increased its expression in CD8+ cytotoxic T cells. IL-6 is a molecule that induces different biological reactions depending on the function of the target cell. Additionally, it stimulates proliferation in CD8+ cells. The pleiotropic cytokine IL-1B facilitates cancer progression in various tumor types (24). Since cytokines have a significant effect on the proliferation and activation of lymphocytes, flow cytometric measurements were made of their regulatory effects on the expression of IL-1, IL-6 and TNF-a in lymphocytes activated by Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid. The expression of TNF-a, IL-6, and IL-1B in CD8+ T cells in the Mecsina-treated group was found to be significantly higher than in the Ankaferd and Tranexamic Acid-treated group. It was observed that all these cytokines stimulated cytotoxic activity in MCF-7 tumor cells, especially with the application of 1/10 Mecsina.

When the results are evaluated together, it was determined that Mecsina Hemostopper has an anti-tumoral activity by producing a hemostatic effect on MCF-7 cancer cell lines. In comparison to other possible agents, Mecsina has been shown to have strong immune-enhancing, tumorselective, and inhibitory properties. In addition, though Mecsina has been shown to be beneficial in the treatment and prevention of human cancers, more molecular studies are required to discover the molecular mechanism of this condition.

CONCLUSION

In this study, since new, effective and less toxic treatment agents are needed to combat breast cancer, which is a serious public health problem, it is known to be used as hemostatic agents in the literature, such as Mecsina, Ankaferd and Tranexamic acid. In our study, we aim to compare and evaluate the effects of Mecsina and Ankaferd, both of which contain natural biomolecules in their structure, and synthetic Tranexamic acid on MCF-7 cells. Cytotoxicity, ELISA cytokine levels were evaluated on commercially available MCF-7 cells, and flow cytometric analyzes were performed using the XTT analysis method for each group after 24 hours of incubation. A significant difference was observed in MCF-7 cells between different dose drug application groups of Mecsina Hemostopper hemostatic agent (p<0.001). Additionally, it was determined that cytokine levels were significantly higher than other possible therapeutic agents. As a result, Mecsina Hemostopper was found to have anti-tumoral activity in MCF-7 cancer cell lines by producing a hemostatic substance.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This article does not include any studies with human participants or animals by any of the authors.

REFERENCES

- Donepudi MS, Kondapalli K, Amos SJ, Venkanteshan P. Breast cancer statistics and markers. J Cancer Res Ther. 2014;10:506-11.
- 2. Ferrini K, Ghelfi F, Mannucci R, Titta L. Lifestyle, nutrition and breast cancer: facts an presumptions for consideration. Ecancermedicalscience. 2015;23:557.
- Lee SJ, Umano K, Shibamoto T, et al. Identification of volatile components in basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) and thyme leaves (Thymus vulgaris L.) and their antioxidant properties. Food Chem. 2007;91:131-7.
- 4. Goker H, Haznedaroglu IC, Ercetin S, et al. Haemostatic actions of the folkloric medicinal plant extract Ankaferd Blood Stopper. J Int Med Res. 2008;36:163-70.
- 5. Emes Y, Aybar B, Vural P, et al. Effects of hemostatic agents on fibroblast cells. Implant Dent. 2014;23:641-7.
- Zhao Y, Xi C, Xu W, Yan J. Role of tranexamic acid in blood loss control and blood transfusion management of patients undergoing multilevel spine surgery: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100:e24678.
- Çiçek M, Tumer MK. Investigation of the effect of a new hemostatic agent field messina hemostopper® on proliferation of calvarial osteoblasts and evaluation of cytotoxicity by different tests. Dicle Med J. 2018;45:291-6.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, et al. Global cancer statistics GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. Ca Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394-424.
- Liao S, Hu X, Liu Z, et al. Synergistic action of microwaveinduced mild hyperthermia and paclitaxel in inducing apoptosis in the human breast cancer cell line MCF-7. Oncol Lett. 2019;17:603-15.
- Shi Y, Zhang L, Liu X, et al. Icotinib versus gefitinib in previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (ICOGEN): a randomised, double-blind phase 3 noninferiority trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:953-61.

- 11. Taylor WF, Jabbarzadeh E. The use of natural products to target cancer stem cells. Am J Cancer Res. 2017;7:1588-605.
- Naeem A, Hu P, Yang M, et al. Natural products as anticancer agents: current status and future perspectives. Molecules. 2022;27:8367.
- 13. Safarzadeh E, Sandoghchian S, Baradaran B. Herbal. medicine as inducers of apoptosis in cancer treatment. APB. 2014;4:421-7.
- 14. AlZamil AF, AlQutub MN. The effect of different cigarette smoking levels on gingival crevicular fluid volume and periodontal clinical parameters in Saudi Arabia. Saudi Dent J. 2023;35:525-33.
- 15. Bhatia M. Apoptosis versus necrosis in acute pancreatitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2004;286:189-96.
- 16. Franco BJ, Valdivia SJE, Zamudio MH, et al. Actin cytoskeleton participation in the onset of IL-1beta induction of an invasive mesenchymallike phenotype in epithelial MCF-7 cells. Arch Med Res. 2010;41:170-81.
- Erdemir EO, Duran İ, Haliloglu S. Effects of smoking on clinical parameters and the gingival crevicular fluid levels of IL-6 and TNF-α in patients with chronic periodontitis. J Clin Periodontol. 2004;31:99-104.
- 18. Krelin Y, Voronov E, Dotan S, et al. Interleukin-1beta-driven inflammation promotes the development and invasivenes of chemical carcinogen-induced tumors. Cancer Res. 2007;67:1062-71.
- 19. Liu A, Li Y, Lu S, et al. Stanniocalcin 1 promotes lung metastasis of breast cancer by enhancing EGFR-ERK-S100A4 signaling. Cell Death Dis. 2023;14:395.
- 20. Xiao F, Li C, Lin Y, et al. Increased risk of periodontitis occurrence in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and its association with the levels of IL-1 β and TNF- α in gingival crevicular fluid. Ann Palliat Med. 2021;10:9078-87.
- 21. Işler SC, Demircan S, Cakarer S, et al. Effects of folk medicinal plant extract Ankaferd Blood Stopper on early bone healing. J Appl Oral Sci. 2010;18:409-14.
- Turtle CJ, Riddell SR, Maloney DG, et al. CD19 CAR T cells of defined CD4 + : CD8 + composition in adult B cell ALL patients find the latest version : CD19 CAR T cells of defined CD4 + : CD8 + composition in adult B cell ALL patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:2123-38.
- 23. Datta J, Berk E, Xu S, et al. Anti-HER2 CD4(+) T-helper type 1 response is a novel immune correlate to pathologic response following neoadjuvant therapy in HER2-positive breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2015;17:71.
- 24. Sommermeyer D, Hudecek M, Kosasih PL, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells derived from defined CD8+ and CD4+ subsets confer superior antitumor reactivity in vivo. Leukemia. 2016;30:492-500.
- Kowalczewska M, Piotrowski J, Jędrzejewski T, Kozak W. Polysaccharide peptides from Coriolus versicolor exert differential immunomodulatory effects on blood lymphocytes and breast cancer cell line MCF-7 in vitro. Immunol Lett. 2016;174:37-44.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal



Determination of the Frequency of Celiac and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases in Children and Adolescents Diagnosed with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

Ilknur Kaba¹, Samet Can Demirbas¹, Havva Nur Peltek Kendirci²

¹Hitit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child Health and Diseases, Çorum, Türkiye ²Hitit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Çorum, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Celiac disease (CD) and autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) are more common in individuals with Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). Hypothyroidism; has been associated with increased risk of hypoglycemia, reduced growth, and untreated CD with reduced bone mineral density has been associated with skeletal problems. It was aimed to screen the frequency of children and adolescents with T1DM in terms of CD and AITD.

Material and Method: The patients diagnosed with T1DM in July 2015-March 2022 were retrospectively analyzed. The patients' age, gender, age at diagnosis, anti-TPO, anti-TG, Islet Cytoplasmic Antibodies (ICA), Insulin Autoantibodies (IAA), Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase (GADA) antibodies and accompanying autoimmune disease were investigated.

Results: Chronological age was 12.5 ± 4.4 (2.5-21.3), diagnosis of T1DM age 8.5 ± 4.3 (1.0-17.5), duration of diabetes 4.0 ± 3 , 199 patients with T1DM aged 5 (0.0-18.1) years were included. 52.3% (n=104) of the cases were female. While the frequency of CD is 23.2% (n=10), the presence of anti-TPO and anti-TG antibodies is 6.9% (n=3) in patients whose diabetes diagnosis age is less than 5 years. Both CD and the presence of thyroid autoantibodies were more common in girls (73.3%, 68%).

Conclusion: We found that the frequency of CD and AITD in our patients with T1DM was higher than in the general population, the frequency of CD increased in patients with a younger age at diagnosis of T1DM, anti-TPO antibodies was observed with advancing age at diagnosis, and both conditions were more common in females.

Keywords: Adolescent, autoimmune thyroiditis, celiac disease, child, type 1 diabetes

INTRODUCTION

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is an autoimmune disease that specifically results in insulin deficiency as a result of an exaggerated immune response to β -cell autoantigens. The most common autoimmune diseases in patients with T1DM; autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) is followed by Celiac disease (CD) (1-6).

Graves disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) are the most common autoimmune thyroid diseases (7). Hyperthyroidism is more common in Graves disease and hypothyroidism is more common in HT. Genetic predisposition and environmental factors play a role in the etiology of autoimmune thyroid disease (8,9). While the prevalence of AITD in children and adolescents is 0.3-1.1%, it has been determined that it is seen at a higher rate in children with T1DM and this rate is approximately 3-8% (10). The prevalence of AITD increases up to 20% with age, and hypothyroidism is observed in most of the patients (11).

Celiac disease is an autoimmune small bowel disease caused by persistent sensitivity to gluten found in wheat, rye and barley in genetically susceptible individuals (12). CD is more common in individuals with T1DM than in the general population, and its prevalence is reported to be

CITATION

Kaba I, Demirbas SC, Peltek Kendirci HN. Determination of the Frequency of Celiac and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases in Children and Adolescents Diagnosed with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Med Records. 2024;6(1):27-31. DOI:1037990/medr.1373441

Received: 09.10.2023 Accepted: 12.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Ilknur Kaba, Hitit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child Health and Diseases, Çorum, Türkiye

E-mail: ilknurkaba@yahoo.com

1-10% in children and adolescents with T1DM (13). The risk of celiac disease increases as the age at diagnosis of diabetes decreases, and this risk is more pronounced especially in children with T1DM under the age of 5 (14).

Hypothyroidism has been associated with an increased risk of hypoglycemia and decreased growth, while untreated CD has been associated with skeletal problems with reduced bone mineral density. In this study, determining the frequency of CD and AITD in children and adolescents followed up with the diagnosis of T1DM; it was aimed to evaluate the relationship between growth, glycemic control, age, gender and puberty. It is necessary for the patient to screen for comorbidities and to diagnose and treat them at an early stage.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The patients diagnosed with T1DM in July 2015-March 2022 were retrospectively examined. Age, gender, age at diagnosis, duration of T1DM, presence of antithyroid peroxidase (TPO Ab), antithyroglobulin (TG Ab) antibodies, and the concomitant autoimmune disease were investigated.

Ethics committee approval for the study was obtained from the Hitit University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee decision no: 2022-27 and taken on:31/03/2022.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis IBM SPSS Statistics It was carried

out with the software for Windows 22.0. Pearson's chisquare test or Fisher's exact test was used to compare qualitative variables when the expected frequency was less than 5 cells. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to determine whether the numerical variables were normally distributed, and the t-test in independent groups was used to compare the normally distributed variables in 2 groups used. Mann Whitney U test was used to compare the nonnormally distributed variables in 2 groups. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

199 patients with T1DM were included. Mean chronological age was 12.5 ± 4.4 (2.5-21.3) years, mean diabetes duration was 4.0 ± 3.5 (0.0-18.1), and 52.3% (n=104) of the study were female. While 84.9% (n=169) of the patients had no accompanying disease, 7.5% (n=15) had CD, 12.8% (n=25) had TPO Ab, 6.5% (n=13) had TG Ab, CD and AITH were present in 0.5% (n=1). The ages at diagnosis of the cases are shown in Table 1.

While the frequency of CD is 23.2% (n=10), the presence of TPO Ab and TG Ab were 6.9% (n=3) in those with diabetes diagnosis younger than 5 years. The frequency of CD was 3.3% (n=5), the presence of TPO Ab was 14.1% (n=22), and the presence of TG Ab was 6.4% (n=10) in those who were 5 years or older (Table 2). When the gender distribution is examined; the female sex ratio was 73.3% (n=11) in CD, 68% (n=17) in patients with TPO Ab, and 61.5% (n=8) in patients with TG Ab.

Table 1. T1DM, CD diagnosis and thyroid autoantibody detection ages of the cases					
Diagnosis ages	n (%)	mean±SD	min-max		
T1DM diagnosis age (years)	199 (100)	8.5±4.3	1.0-17.5		
Celiac disease diagnosis age (years)	15 (7.5)	6.6±3.8	2.0-14.7		
Age at detection of anti-TPO (years)	25 (12.8)	10.9±3.2	4.9-14.0		
Anti-TG detection age (years)	13 (6.5)	10.1±3.3	4.9-13.9		

Table 2. Frequency of CD and thyroid autoantibodies detection according to T1DM diagnosis age group

Table 2. Trequency of ob and myton autoantibules detection according to Trbin diagnosis age group						
T1DM diagnosis age						
		≤5 years (n=43) (n) (%)	>5 years (n=156) (n) (%)	Total (n=199) (n) (%)		
Celiac disease	Yes	10 (23.2)	5 (3.3)	15 (7.5)		
	No	33 (76.8)	151(96.7)	184 (92.5)		
TPO Ab	Yes	3 (6.9)	22 (14.1)	25 (12.8)		
	No	40 (93.1)	134 (85.9)	174 (87.2)		
TG Ab	Yes	3 (6.9)	10 (6.4)	13 (6.5)		
	No	40 (93.1)	146 (93.6)	186 (93.5)		

DISCUSSION

We found that 7.5% of our patients with T1DM had CD, 12.8% had TPO Ab, 6.5% had TG Ab, and 0.5% had CD and AITH. In addition, while the frequency of CD is 23.2% and the presence of TPO and TG antibodies is 6.9% in patients with T1DM diagnosis age younger than 5 years; the frequency of CD is 3.3%, the presence of TPO Ab is 14.1%,

and the presence of TG Ab antibody is 6.4% in diabetes diagnosis age were 5 years or older.

Patients diagnosed with T1DM, an autoimmune disease that results in insulin deficiency as a result of an exaggerated immune response to β -cell autoantigens, are more likely to develop other autoimmune diseases than the general population (15). While it is recommended to

screen for common conditions such as AITD and CD at regular intervals in T1DM patients, it is recommended to screen for other less common autoimmune diseases in the presence of symptoms (16).

Current guidelines of the American Diabetes Association (ADA) recommend testing for antithyroid peroxidase, antithyroglobulin antibody and thyroid function tests in children and adolescents immediately after diagnosis of T1DM. If thyroid function tests are normal, it is recommended to be checked every 1-2 years. if the patient develops symptoms such as thyroid dysfunction, thyromegaly, abnormal growth rate or an unexplained glycemic variation should be checked earlier (17). The International Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes Association (ISPAD) recommends screening for thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and anti-TPO Ab in the diagnosis of diabetes, and then every two years in asymptomatic individuals and in the absence of goiter or in the absence of thyroid autoantibodies, otherwise more frequent evaluations should be made (18).

Celiac disease develops against gluten found in wheat, rye and barley; It is an autoimmune enteropathy that occurs in genetically predisposed individuals and is characterized by inflammation of the small intestine, villous atrophy and malabsorption (19). The clinical picture of CD may be silent in the absence of gastrointestinal signs or symptoms, so it is important to be screened (20). If there are no symptoms in children with T1DM, the ADA recommends measuring Tissue Transglutaminase Immunoglobulin A level at the time of diagnosis and then repeating it 2 and 5 years later (17). It is recommended by ISPAD that screening should be performed during the diagnosis of T1DM and every 1-2 years there after (18).

The incidence of T1DM does not differ significantly between females and males. In a study conducted in our country, it was determined that 51.4% of the cases were male and 48.6% were female (21). In our study, the gender distribution of the cases was found to be 52.3% female and 47.7% male, consistent with the literature. Studies have reported that the frequency of autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents with T1DM varies between 7.3% and 21.6% (22-25). In our country, the frequency of AITD in children and adolescents with T1DM was found to be 6.2% (26), 11.9% (27), 12% (28) and 12.8% (29). We found the presence of TPO Ab in 12.8% of our cases, and the presence of TG Ab in 6.5% of our cases, consistent with the data of our country. In studies involving children with T1DM, the frequency of thyroid autoantibodies was found to be high in females (11,22,23,27), and Hashimoto's thyroiditis occurs mostly after puberty begins (22,23). Consistent with this finding; in our study, the female sex ratio was found to be 68% in patients with TPO Ab and 61.5% in patients with TG Ab. The mean age of TPO Ab detection was 10.9 years, and the mean age of TG Ab detection was 10.1 years in our cases. It was observed that the presence of autoantibodies increased with age (The presence of TPO and TG antibodies was 6.9% in

those with diabetes diagnosis age 5 years and younger, while the presence of TPO Ab in those with diagnosis age over 5 years was 14.1%, TG Ab presence was found to be 6.4%). Similar to our study, many studies have found that the frequency of thyroid autoantibodies increases as age and duration of diabetes increase (30). The presence of thyroid autoimmunity significantly increases the risk of deterioration in thyroid functions in individuals with T1DM, and this risk is higher in children than in adults (10). However, the low number of patients in need of treatment in children with T1DM and Hashimoto's thyroiditis suggests that screening should be evaluated in terms of cost-benefit (27).

CD and T1DM are autoimmune diseases that share common genetic variants and are both chronic, and similar to other autoimmune diseases, the combination of genetic susceptibility and environmental factors play a role in the formation of both diseases (31). Compared to the general population, the children with T1DM have 15 times more celiac serology positivity and up to 10 times more biopsy-proven CD. Prevalence of biopsy-proven CD varies between 1.6% and 16.4% (32). In our study, the frequency of biopsy-proven CD was found to be 7.5%, which is similar to the rate of 6.7% found in the study conducted by Esen et al. in our country (29). The substantial genetic overlap between celiac disease and T1DM explains the increased prevalence of CD in T1DM patients compared with healthy individuals. Polymorphisms related to the HLA-II-DQ and DR alleles are responsible for the risk of co-development of T1DM and CD. Almost 90% of celiac patients have HLA-DQ2 or HLADQ8 with the DR3 haplotype, which is also shared 60-70% by T1DM (33). The genetic overlap between T1DM and CD (including HLA and non-HLA) common pathogenic mechanisms highlights and explains the increasing prevalence of comorbid diseases. Recent genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified single-nucleotide polymorphisms associated with autoimmune diseases, including T1DM and CD. CD and T1DM-associated genes discovered in GWAS show variable effect sizes and effects directions. There are also gene-environment interactions that likely increase risk, though not yet identified (34). Genetic and environmental factors that play a common role in the pathogenesis of both diseases may be the reason for the intercommunal differences in the frequency of CD in individuals with T1DM.

As the age at diagnosis of diabetes decreases, the risk of CD increases, and children diagnosed with T1DM have a higher risk of developing CD, especially around the age of five. (31). In our study, the mean age at diagnosis of CD was 6.6 years, and the frequency of CD was 23.2% in patients with diabetes diagnosis of 5 years and younger, and 3.3% in patients with a diagnosis of more than 5 years. This shows that there is a direct correlation between insulin deficiency and the duration of gluten sensitivity. In various studies conducted on children and adolescents with T1DM and CD association, gender distribution was found to be different. While it was reported that it was

seen more frequently in girls and in boys in some studies, no gender difference was found in some studies (32). In our study, it was observed that most of our cases with T1DM and CD coexistence were female (73.3%).

In addition to publications in the literature reporting that there is a weak or no relationship between CD and thyroid autoimmunity and studies that found a significant relationship between the two diseases (35). Tissue transglutaminase antibody positivity was reported at a rate of 6.4-7.8% in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (35-37) and TPO Ab positivity of 10.5-14.6% in patients with CD (36, 37). In addition, the risk of developing thyroid autoimmunity is 3 times higher in children diagnosed with CD (38). Ventura et al. showed that the frequency of thyroid autoantibodies is high in patients with CD and that these antibodies disappear with a gluten-free diet (39,40). It is thought that this relationship results from the common genetic background of CD and autoimmune thyroiditis or environmental factors that affect tolerance to their own tissues (40). We detected the presence of thyroid autoantibodies and CD in only 0.5% of the cases. The fact that the mean chronological age of our cases was 12.5 years and the mean diabetes duration was 4.0 years may cause our sample not to reflect the true frequency of this association.

The limitations of our study are its retrospective design and single center experience. Multicenter and long-term follow-up cohort studies will more accurately reflect national data.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion; we detected in our patients with T1DM, the frequency of CD and AITD is more frequent than in the general population, the frequency of CD increases in patients with a younger age at diagnosis of T1DM, but the presence of thyroid antibodies occurs with advancing age at diagnosis, and both conditions are more common in females. Longer-term studies with larger patient groups will guide the development of new screening strategies.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval for the study was obtained from the Hitit University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee decision no: 2022-27 and taken on:31/03/2022.

REFERENCES

- Roldan MB, Alonso M, Barrio R. Thyroid autoimmunity in children and adolescents with Type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Nutr Metab. 1999;12:27-31.
- Park YS, Kim TW, Kim WB, Cho BY. Increased prevalence of autoimmune thyroid disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. Korean J Intern Med. 2000;15:202-10.

- 3. Kordonouri O, Klinghammer A, Lang EB, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a multicenter survey. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1346-50.
- 4. Piatkowska E, Szalecki M. Autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab. 2011;17:173-7.
- 5. Triolo TM, Armstrong TK, McFann K, et al. Additional autoimmune disease found in 33% of patients at type 1 diabetes onset. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:1211-3.
- 6. Riquetto ADC, de Noronha RM, Matsuo EM, et al. Thyroid function and autoimmunity in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2015;110:e9-11.
- 7. Brown RS. Autoimmune thyroiditis in childhood. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. 2013;5:45-9.
- Villanueva R, Greenberg DA, Davies TF, Tomer Y. Sibling recurrence risk in autoimmune thyroid disease. Thyroid. 2003;13:761-4.
- Lee HJ, Li CW, Hammerstad SS, et al. Immunogenetics of autoimmune thyroid diseases: a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2015;64:82-90.
- 10. Shun CB, Donaghue KC, Phelan H, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med. 2014;31:126-35.
- 11. Hughes JW, Riddlesworth TD, DiMeglio LA, et al. Autoimmune diseases children and adults with type 1 diabetes from the T1D exchange clinic registry. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101:4931-7.
- 12. Ediger TR, Hill ID. Celiac disease. Pediatr Rev. 2014;35:409-15.
- Kliegman RM, ST Geme III JW, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, Behrman RE. Celiac Disease. Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics. 21st Edition, Elsevier, California 2020;7909-24.
- 14. Mahmud FH, Elbarbary NS, Fröhlich-Reiterer E, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Other complications and associated conditions in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes. 2018;19:275-86.
- 15. Kakleas K, Kossyva L, Korona A, et al. Predictors of associated and multiple autoimmunity in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2022;27:192-200.
- 16. Chiang JL, Maahs DM, Garvey KC, et al. Type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents: a position statement by the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2018;41:2026-44
- 17. American Diabetes Association. 12. Children and adolescents. Diabetes Care. 2017;40:S105-13.
- Besser REJ, Bell KJ, Couper JJ, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2022: Stages of type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents. Pediatr Diabetes. 2022;23:1175-87.
- Alaedini A, Green PH. Narrative review: celiac disease: understanding a complex autoimmune disorder. Ann Intern Med. 2005;142:289-98.

- 20. Hoffenberg EJ, Bao F, Eisenbarth GS, et al. Transglutaminase antibodies in children with a genetic risk for celiac disease. J Pediatr. 2000;137:356-60.
- 21. Taşkın E, Yılmaz M, Kılıç S, Ertuğrul S. The epidemiological features of the type I diabetes mellitus. F.Ü. Sağ. Bil. Derg. 2007:21:75-9.
- 22. Muhame RM, Mworozi EA, McAssey K, Lubega I. Thyroid autoimmunity and function among Ugandan children and adolescents with type-1 diabetes mellitus. Pan Afr Med J. 2014;19:137.
- 23. Kordonouri O, Hartmann R, Deiss D, et al. Natural course of autoimmune thyroiditis in type 1 diabetes: association with gender, age, diabetes duration, and puberty. Arch Dis Child. 2005;90:411-4.
- 24. Kochummen E, Marwa A, Umpaichitra V, et al. Screening for autoimmune thyroiditis and celiac disease in minority children with type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2018;28;31:879-85.
- Karavanaki K, Kakleas K, Paschali E, et al. Screening for associated autoimmunity in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). Horm Res. 2009;71:201-6.
- 26. Hatun Ş, Demirbilek H, Darcan Ş, et al.; Turkish Pediatric Diabetes Research Group. Evaluation of therapeutics management patterns and glycemic control of pediatric type 1 diabetes mellitus patients in Turkey: a nationwide crosssectional study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016;119:32-40.
- 27. Unal E, Demiral M, Öcal M, et al. Incidence of Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Patients with Type 1 Diabetes. JCP. 2020;18:251-62.
- Simsek DG, Aycan Z, Özen S, et al. Diabetes care, glycemic control, complications, and concomitant autoimmune diseases in children with type 1 diabetes in Turkey: a multicenter study. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. 2013;5:20-6.
- 29. Esen İ, Deveci U, Ökdemir D. The frequency of autoimmune polyendocrinopathy type 3b in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Turk J Diab Obes. 2020;2:79-83.

- 30. Lipman TH, Rezvani I, DiGeorge AM. The natural history of thyroid autoimmunity and thyroid function in children with type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr. 2007;151:e10-2.
- 31. Sange I, Mohamed MWF, Aung S, et al. Celiac disease and the autoimmune web of endocrinopathies. Cureus. 2020;12:e12383.
- 32. Unal E, Demiral M, Baysal B, et al. Frequency of celiac disease and spontaneous normalization rate of celiac serology in children and adolescent patients with type 1 diabetes. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. 2021;13:72-9.
- Siddiqui K, Uqaili AA, Rafiq M, Bhutto MA. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DQ2 and -DQ8 haplotypes in celiac, celiac with type 1 diabetic, and celiac suspected pediatric cases. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100:e24954.
- Cohn A, Sofia AM, Kupfer SS. Type 1 diabetes and celiac disease: clinical overlap and new insights into disease pathogenesis. Curr Diab Rep. 2014;14:517.
- Valenzise M, Aversa T, Saccomanno A, et al. Epidemiological and clinical peculiarities of polyglandular syndrome type 3 in pediatric age. Ital J Pediatr. 2017;43:69.
- Larizza D, Calcaterra V, De Giacomo C, et al. Celiac disease in children with autoimmune thyroid disease. J Pediatr. 2001;139:738-40.
- Sari S, Yesilkaya E, Egritas O, et al. Prevalence of celiac disease in Turkish children with autoimmune thyroiditis. Dig Dis Sci. 2009;54:830-2.
- Marwaha RK, Garg MK, Tandon N, et al. Glutamic acid decarboxylase (anti-GAD) & tissue transglutaminase (anti-TTG) antibodies in patients with thyroid autoimmunity. Indian J Med Res. 2013;137:82-6.
- 39. Ventura A, Neri E, Ughi C, et al. Glutendependent diabetesrelated and thyroid-related autoantibodies in patients with celiac disease. J Pediatr. 2000;137:263-5.
- Von Herrath MG, Fujinami RS, Whitton JL. Microorganisms and autoimmunity: making the barren field fertile?. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2003;1:151-7.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Is There a Relationship between Insulin Resistance and Eosinophil, Inflammatory Parameters Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, C-Reactive Protein Values?

Meltem Yigit, Ozgur Olukman

İzmir Bakırçay University Çiğli Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatric, İzmir, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The relationship between insulin resistance and inflammation and atopy is a matter of curiosity and various studies have been conducted. Study results show differences. We aimed to evaluate the relationship between insulin resistance and inflammation and atopy using C-Reactive Protein (CRP) and Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) as eosinophils and inflammatory indices and to determine whether the low-cost hemogram can be used as a reliable marker.

Material and Method: Between May 2022 and November 2023, 1566 children admitted to the Pediatrics outpatient clinics of İzmir Bakırçay University Çiğli Training and Research Hospital were retrospectively screened. A total of 349 pediatric patients without any known chronic disease and with complete blood count, CRP and HOMA-IR levels were retrospectively included in the study.

Results: Individuals with HOMA-IR<2.5 were considered as control group and those with HOMA-IR≥2.5 were considered as children with insulin resistance. As a result of Mann-Whitney-U test performed according to HOMA-IR groups, age and NLR parameters were found to be higher in the group with insulin resistance. This result was statistically significant (p<0.05). The results were not significant in eosinophil (p=0.324) and CRP (p=0.352) parameters.

Conclusion: NLR value may be a credible predictive marker of insulin resistance. Inexpensive and simple complete blood count measurement may help in the early diagnosis of Type 2 DM and in the design of treatments. In addition, due to the increasing risk of insulin resistance with age, education on conscious nutrition can be given in schools during adolescence.

Keywords: Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, Insulin resistance, Inflammation, eosinophils, CRP

INTRODUCTION

Obesity has become an increasingly common health problem in both children and adults (1,2). The HOMA-IR value is an important tool for detecting and measuring insulin resistance (IR) indicator. Obesity and IR are often directly proportional. Obesity in general is a health problem that negatively affects the whole system and even leads to metabolic consequences.

IR is known to be one of the main causes of Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 (T2DM), but the mechanism of IR is not fully understood. Some studies have shown that there may be an association between IR and inflammation (3,4). IR may trigger allergic diseases and inflammation through different mechanisms. In individuals with high IR, plasma IL-6 level was found to be high, which also increased in inflammation (5).

Eosinophils are immune cells associated with parasitic infections and allergic reactions. They are produced from multipotent hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow. They are involved in the pathology of chronic inflammation directly or by producing inflammatory cytokines (6).

The prevalence of both obesity and asthma has increased rapidly in recent years and the association of these two diseases is remarkably high. Although some studies have shown that aeroallergen sensitization is higher in obese children, no clear information has been found. Mechanisms

CITATION

Yigit M, Olukman O. Is There a Relationship Between Insulin Resistance and Eosinophil, Inflammatory Parameters Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, C-Reactive Protein Values?. Med Records. 2024;6(1):32-6. DOI:1037990/medr.1398279

Received: 30.11.2023 Accepted: 22.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Meltem Yigit, İzmir Bakırçay University Çiğli Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatric, İzmir, Türkiye

E-mail: meltemdr@yahoo.com
NLR is a recently popular and frequently used parameter in subclinical inflammation. It is calculated by the ratio of neutrophil and lymphocyte percentages in hemogram analysis (9,10). Increased neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as a result of increased neutrophil count and decreased lymphocyte count is considered as an indicator of immune response and inflammation. NLR is also used to measure the severity of the disease (11). NLR has become an inexpensive and reliable method used to determine both cardiac and non-cardiac inflammation (11,12). More studies needed to understand the relationship between IR and NLR.

CRP is a protein that indicates tissue damage and inflammation and is produced by the liver. CRP measurement, which is used as an inflammatory marker, is a simple and inexpensive test.

Some studies have shown that IL-6, TNF-alpha and CRP levels are higher in obese patients, but the number of studies is not sufficient and more studies are needed. In a study by Park et al. it was reported that there was a direct relationship between CRP and body mass index and between IL-6 and body fat ratio (14).

In this study, we tried to determine the relationship of peripheral eosinophil percentage with IR and whether elevated inflammatory indices suggest IR by using a simple and inexpensive test of complete blood count and CRP measurement.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Population and Design

The study was conducted with the decision of the Local Non-interventional Ethics Committee 1233 dated 11.10.2023. It was conducted in the pediatrics department of a training and research hospital. In the study, 1566 children aged 3-17 years were retrospectively screened and 349 children with complete blood count, CRP and HOMA-IR tests and without known chronic diseases were included in the study. As a result, the study was conducted on 160 males and 189 pediatric subjects. The

Statistical Analysis

The conformity of the data to normal distribution was tested with the Anderson Darling test, which is a normality test. Median, minimum and maximum values were included in the descriptive statistics of the data. Mann Whitney-U test was used for analysis between two groups. The relationship between the data was revealed by Spearman rho correlation analysis and the level of HOMA-IR determination of the parameters was revealed by ROC analysis. SPSS 21 package program was used for statistical analysis with p<0.05.

RESULTS

As a result of the normality test, it was found that all parameters did not show normal distribution according to HOMA-IR groups ($p \ge 0.05$). Descriptive statistics of the control and insulin resistant groups are given in Table 1.

As a result of Mann-Whitney-U test, age, NLR and HOMA-IR parameters were found to be significantly different between insulin groups (p<0.05). There was no significant difference in eosinophil (p=0.324) and CRP (p=0.352) parameters.

The relationship between the parameters and the degree of relationship were evaluated by Spearman rho correlation test and a moderate significant relationship was found between HOMA-IR and age. Very weak correlations were found between CRP and eosinophils, NLR and age, eosinophils and CRP, and HOMA-IR and NLR (Table 2).

The effect of the parameters was evaluated by ROC analysis and it was found that the age parameter had the highest effect, followed by the NLR parameter (Figure 1, Table 3).

Table 1. Descriptive statistics according to insulin groups								
Parameters	Group	Minimum	Median	Maximum				
Age	Control	3.00	7.00	17.00				
	IR	3.00	13.00	17.00				
Eosinophil	Control	0.00	2.60	40.00				
	IR	0.10	2.40	13.00				
CRP	Control	0.30	0.56	207.00				
CKP	IR	0.30	0.66	45.00				
NLR	Control	0.34	1.07	26.00				
NLK	IR	0.47	1.46	12.15				
HOMA-IR	Control	0.10	0.90	2.40				
HOMA-IR	IR	2.50	3.95	17.00				

Table 2. Spearman rho correlation table								
Parameters	Age	Eosinophil	CRP	NLR				
Eosinophil	-0.088							
Eosinophii	0.102							
CRP	-0.037	-0.138						
CKP	0.486	0.010						
NLR	0.331	-0.230	0.227					
NLK	0.000	0.000	0.000					
HOMA-IR	0.636	-0.008	-0.010	0.281				
	0.000	0.878	0.849	0.000				

Table 3. ROC performa	inses				
Parameters	AUC (95%)	Cutt off	р	Sensitivity	Specificity
Gender	0.452 (0.392-0.513)	1.50	0.124	49	41
Age	0.821 (0.777-0.865)	10.50	0.000	73	76
Eosinophil	0.472 (0.411-0.533)	2.55	0.369	47	49
CRP	0.529 (0.468-0.590)	0.58	0.352	53	53
NLR	0.647 (0.589-0.705)	1.293	0.000	63	63





DISCUSSION

Eosinophils are produced from multipotent hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow. Immune cells, including eosinophils, play a role in the pathology of chronic inflammation, either directly or by producing inflammatory cytokines (6).

There are some studies investigating the effects of asthma, atopy and insulin resistance. However, these studies have shown inconsistent results.

Lee et al. found a significant association between insulin resistance and total IgE in premenopausal women, but not in men or postmenopausal women (15).

In a Danish study, IR was directly associated with asthmalike symptoms (16). In a study by Ma et al. on adults in the USA, insulin resistance has not been found to be a risk factor for allergies (17). In a study by Zhu et al. on 9111 Chinese adults, the percentage of eosinophils was inversely correlated with the risk of T2DM (18). In another study conducted in the United States, the association between IR and asthma was found to be significant (19). The differences between these results were thought to be due to differences in the study population. In our study, no significant association was found between eosinophil percentage and IR.

There is chronic inflammation in the mechanism of many diseases, however, many studies have shown that chronic inflammation is involved in the pathogenesis of T2DM. This suggests that IR and inflammation may be related and there may be a potential relationship between IR and inflammatory markers NLR and CRP. Inflammatory factors such as CRP, TNF-a, IL-6 and MCP-1 are elevated in patients with T2DM and this is thought to be due to chronic inflammation. Chronic inflammation results in high neutrophil counts (20). IR was significantly associated with increased NLR in the study by Lou et al. (21). In the study of Atlı et al. CRP levels were found to be significantly higher in obese patients compared to non-obese patients, but no statistically significant difference was found in NLR and PLR values. (22). In a study by Karakaya et al. NLR was significantly higher in obese patients with IR was detected (23). In a study conducted by Saricam on 274 patients, the relationship between insulin resistance and inflammatory parameters was found to be significant (24).

In a study conducted by Gelaye et al. on Peruvian adults, a significant association between high insulin resistance and increased CRP was found (25). Kim et al. found a significant positive association between IR and elevated CRP in a study group with a sample of 36 patients in 2011 (26). In our study, no significant correlation was found between IR and CRP. However, a significant direct correlation was found between NLR and IR. Inflammatory markers such as CRP and NLR may be a helpful method for early diagnosis of T2DM, but more research is needed to confirm this observation.

The study by Yang et al. showed that IR increased with increasing age (27). In a study by Strazhesko et al. it

was shown that HOMA-IR was inversely associated with telomere length (28). Because of the shortening telomere length with increasing age and the inverse relationship between IR and telomeres, this resulted in a direct relationship between age and IR. This suggests that the probability of increasing IR increases with increasing age. However, more studies are needed on this subject. In our study, a significant relationship was found between IR and age. The probability of IR increased with increasing age.

CONCLUSION

High NLR value may be a suitable predictive marker of IR. However, more studies are needed because of different results in the studies on the relationship between CRP and eosinophil percentage and IR. Detection of an elevated NLR value by complete blood count measurement, which is an simple and inexpensive test, may help in the early diagnosis of T2DM. Due to the significant direct correlation between IR and age, proper nutrition education and counseling is especially important during adolescence.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was obtained from İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine (decision no: 133 research no: 1213 date: 11.10.2023).

REFERENCES

- 1. Lang JE. Exercise, obesity, and asthma in children and adolescents. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2014;90:215-7.
- Di Genova L, Penta L, Biscarini A, et al. Children with obesity and asthma: which are the best options for their management?. Nutrients. 2018;10:1634.
- Shoelson S, Lee J, Goldfine A. Inflammation and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:1793-801. Erratum in: J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2308.
- Visser M, Bouter LM, McQuillan GM, et al. Low-grade systemic inflammation in overweight children. Pediatrics. 2001;107:E13.
- Kern PA, Ranganathan S, Li C, et al. Adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 expression in human obesity and insulin resistance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2001;280:E745-51.
- Khansari N, Shakiba Y, Mahmoudi M. Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress as a major cause of age-related diseases and cancer. Recent Pat Inflamm Allergy Drug Discov.2009;3:73-80.
- Strunk RC, Colvin R, Bacharier LB, et al. Airway obstruction worsens in young adults with asthma who become obese. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2015;3:765-71.e2.
- Nahhas M, Bhopal R, Anandan C, et al. Investigating the association between obesity and asthma in 6- to 8-yearold Saudi children: a matched case-control study. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med. 2014;24:14004.

- 9. Zazula AD, Précoma-Neto D, Gomes AM, et al. An assessment of neutrophils/lymphocytes ratio in patients suspected of acute coronary syndrome. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2008;90:31-6. Erratum in: Arq Bras Cardiol. 2008;90:309.
- 10. Von Vietinghoff S, Ley K. Homeostatic regulation of blood neutrophil counts. J Immunol. 2008;181:5183-8.
- Tamhane UU, Aneja S, Montgomery D, et al. Association between admission neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Am J Cardiol. 2008;102:653-7.
- 12. Núñez J, Núñez E, Bodí V, et al. Usefulness of the neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in predicting long-term mortality in ST segment elevation myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2008;101:747-52.
- Turkmen K, Guney I, Yerlikaya FH, Tonbul HZ. The relationship between neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and inflammation in end-stage renal disease patients. Ren Fail. 2012;34:155-9.
- 14. Park HS, Park JY, Yu R. Relationship of obesity and visceral adiposity with serum concentrations of CRP, TNF-alpha and IL-6. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005;69:29-35.
- 15. Lee SE, Baek JY, Han K, Koh EH. Insulin resistance increases serum immunoglobulin e sensitization in premenopausal women. Diabetes Metab J. 2021;45:175-82.
- 16. Thuesen BH, Husemoen LL, Hersoug LG, et al. Insulin resistance as a predictor of incident asthma-like symptoms in adults. Clin Exp Allergy. 2009;39:700-7.
- Ma J, Xiao L, Knowles SB. Obesity, insulin resistance and the prevalence of atopy and asthma in US adults. Allergy. 2010;65:1455-63.
- 18. Liying Z, Tingwei S, Min X, et al. Eosinophil inversely associates with type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance in Chinese adults. PLoS One. 2013;8:e67613.
- 19. Cardet JC, Ash S, Kusa T, et al. Insulin resistance modifies the association between obesity and current asthma in adults. Eur Respir J.2016;48:403-10.
- Tabák AG, Kivimäki M, Brunner EJ, et al. Changes in C-reactive protein levels before type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular death: the Whitehall II study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2010;163:89-95.
- Meiqin L, Peng L, Ru T, et al. Relationship between neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and insulin resistance in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. BMC Endocr Disord. 2015;15:9.
- Atlı H, Önalan E, Yakar B. The effect of insulin resistance on inflammation markers in individuals with obesity. Medical Science and Discovery. 2021;8:619-22.
- 23. Karakaya S, Altay M, Efe FK, et al. The neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and its relationship with insulin resistance in obesity. Turk J Med Sci. 2019;49:245-8.
- 24. Saricam O. Hematological and inflammatory parameters effective on inflammationand insulin resistance in obesity. KSU Medical Journal. 2023;18:39-44.
- 25. Bizu G, Luis R, Tania, et al. Association between insulin resistance and c-reactive protein among Peruvian adults. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2010;2:30.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1398279

- 26. Güneş HK, Gerald R, Steven L. Relationship between insulin resistance and c-reactive protein in a patient population treated with second generation antipsychotic medications. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2011;26:43-7.
- 27. Yang H, Gong R, Liu M, et al. HOMA-IR is positively correlated with biological age and advanced aging in the US adult population. Eur J Med Res. 2023;28:470.
- 28. Strazhesko I, Tkacheva O, Boytsov S, et al. Association of insulin resistance, arterial stiffness and telomere length in adults free of cardiovascular diseases. PLoS ONE. 2015;10:e0136676.



The Effect of Surgical Nurses' Attitudes Towards Evidence-Based Practices on Patient Safety Culture: Descriptive and Relationship-Seeking Study

Ourkan Kapikiran¹, Over Cetin², Ocansu Agrali³, Ocansu Agr

¹Malatya Turgut Özal University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Emergency Aid and Disaster Management, Malatya, Türkiye ²Adıyaman University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Adıyaman, Türkiye

³Osmaniye Korkutata University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Midwifery, Osmaniye, Türkiye

⁴Osmaniye Korkutata University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Osmaniye, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study was aimed to evaluate the relationship and the effect of surgical nurses' attitudes to evidence-based nursing (EBN) practices on patient safety culture (PSC).

Material and Method: The study was descriptive and correlational. The sample consisted of 364 nurses working in the surgical departments of a university hospital. Data were collected by using individual information form, attitude towards EBN scale and PSC scale.

Results: The average total score of PSC of surgical nurses was 3.60 ± 0.38 and the average total score of attitudes towards EBN practice was 60.07 ± 6.01 . There was a strong positive correlation between EBN practices and PSC (r=0.705, p=0.000). In the regression analysis, it was seen that the attitude towards EBN practices, which was the predictor variable, explained approximately 49.7% of the variance in the predicted variable of PSC (F=358.175; R²=0.497; p=0.000).

Conclusion: It was determined that the attitudes of surgical nurses towards EBN practices and PSC were positive. It was found that surgical nurses with higher attitudes towards EBN practices had more positive attitudes towards PSC. Although PSC is important for nurses working in all clinics, it is more important for nurses working in surgical clinics. Therefore, it is recommended that working conditions should be improved and in-service trainings should be planned in line with the latest evidence findings.

Keywords: Patient safety, patient safety culture, evidence-based nursing practices, surgical nurses

INTRODUCTION

Patient Safety (PS) is defined as a concept that aims to reduce the risk of harm to individuals while receiving healthcare services and determines the quality of care services (1). This is considered a critical issue that should be handled carefully by healthcare institutions and healthcare personnel and is directly related to efforts to prevent medical errors (2,3). According to data published by the World Health Organization (WHO), one out of every ten patients in the world is exposed to medical errors and is faced with health problems as a result of this situation (2,4). Accurate diagnosis, appropriate treatment and safe storage of patient information has a crucial role in the prevention of medical errors (5,6). In addition, a collective safety culture should be developed in all health care institutions and health personnel to prevent medical errors. For the development of this culture, it is of great importance to create educational content including audit and quality control strategies based on academic foundations (1,5-7). The increasing global interest in improving quality and safety in healthcare both increases efforts to update training programmes for healthcare professionals and encourages policy-making regarding clinical practice (8). Surgical areas are an area where patient safety is emphasised and handled with care as an area where patients experience one of the most sensitive and high-risk treatment processes (9). The role of surgical

CITATION

Kapikiran G, Cetin Y, Agrali C, Unal E. The Effect of Surgical Nurses' Attitudes Towards Evidence-Based Practices on Patient Safety Culture: Descriptive and Relationship-Seeking Study. Med Records. 2024;6(1):37-43. DOI:1037990/medr.1374672

Received: 12.10.2023 Accepted: 25.11.2023 Published: 10.01.2024 Corresponding Author: Gurkan Kapikiran, Malatya Turgut Özal University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Emergency Aid and Disaster Management, Malatya, Türkiye E-mail: gurkankpkrn@gmail.com nurses is critical in ensuring patient safety at every stage of surgical interventions. Therefore, evidence-based nursing (EBN) methods and procedures applied by surgical nurses constitute one of the cornerstones of patient safety culture (PSC). EBN practice refers to the integration of scientific evidence and the latest research into clinical practice, which is critical for PSC (10). Clinical procedures and care standards applied by surgical nurses are updated in line with the constantly developing scientific knowledge in the field of health services. EBN practices have a crucial role in this process and form the basis of clinical decisions to ensure that patients have a safer and more effective surgical experience (11). Attitudes of surgical nurses towards EBN practice are critical for the adoption and implementation of this innovative perspective (12).

PS should be at the centre of health services. For this purpose, surgical nurses' acceptance and use of EBN practices may contribute to the prevention of adverse events. However, the attitudes of surgical nurses towards EBN practices may change under the influence of many factors. The effect of these factors on PSC has not been completely determined in studies. The study investigated the effect of surgical nurses' attitudes towards EBN practices on PSC.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Type

The study was descriptive and correlational type.

Research Design and Participants

The study samples comprised of 564 surgical nurses employed in a university hospital between July 2022 and June 2023. It was determined that a minimum of 229 surgical nurses should be reached by power analysis with 5% margin of error and 95% confidence interval. However, the data collection process was extended in the study and it was aimed to reach the entire population and the study was completed with 364 surgical nurses. The participation rate in the study was 64%.

Inclusion criteria;

- · Being a nurse,
- · Working in surgical department for at least 6 months,
- To be willing to participate in the Research.

Exclusion criteria;

• Surgical nurses who incompletely completed the data collection form were excluded.

Data Collection and Measures

The aim of the study was declared and the necessary consent was obtained within the scope of the Declaration of Helsinki. The questionnaire form created by the researchers was collected through Google Form.

Data Collection Tools

Individual information form, attitudes towards EBN scale, PSC scale were used for data collection. It took approximately 10 minutes to complete the data collection form.

Individual Information Form

The individual information form was prepared by analysing the relevant literature (1-8,13,14) and consisted of 12 questions questioning the socio-demographic characteristics of the individual and research-specific information.

Attitude Scale towards Evidence-Based Nursing (ATEBNS)

The scale was developed by Ruzafa-Martinez and coauthors (15). It's Turkish validity and reliability were examined by Ayhan and co-authors (16). It consists of 15 items, 3 sub-dimensions and 5-point Likert structure. Scores between 15 and 75 points can be obtained from the scale. The higher the score, the more positive the attitude towards EBN. While the alpha reliability coefficient of the scale developed in Turkish was 0.86, this value was 0.96 in this study.

Patients Safety Culture Scale (PSCS)

PSCS was developed by Türkmen and co-authors (17). The scale consists of 51 items, 5 sub-dimensions and a 4-point Likert scale. Scored between 1 and 4 points, the lower the score on the scale indicates a negative PSC and the higher the score indicates a positive PSC (17). The alpha reliability coefficient of the scale developed by Türkmen and co-authors was 0.97 and this value was calculated as 0.77 in this study.

Statistical Analysis

The study data were analysed using IBM SPSS version 23.0. Skewness and Kurtosis tests were performed, determining that the data adhered to a normal distribution. Independent two-group t test was employed to compare two independent groups while a one-way analysis of variance test was used for comparing more than two independent groups. Pearson correlation of scales and linear regression analysis was used for regression analysis. The level statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

Ethical Endorsement

Ethics committee approval was received from the Social and Human Sciences Ethics Committee at Adıyaman University on 16th February 2022 (Decision no: 218). After obtaining institutional and ethics committee approval, the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki were adhered to and the participants were informed on the first page of the Google Forms and their consent was obtained. They were informed that they could withdraw from the study at any point.

RESULTS

The mean age of the surgical nurses included in the study was 30.83±5.16, 54.9% were married, 79.7% were bachelor's degree, 75.8% had an income equal to their expenses, 71.2% lived in the city, 46.7% worked in surgical clinics, 39.6% had been working as a nurse for 0-5 years, 73.1% had been working in their current clinic for 0-5 years, 72% worked 40 hours per week, 81.9% worked in shifts (both day and night), 93.4% chose the nursing profession willingly (Table 1).

Table 1. Socio-demographic char				
Personal characteristics	(Mean±SD)	Min-Max	Patient safety culture	Evidence-based nursing practice
Age	30.83±5.16	22-50	r:094, p: 0.072	r:105, p: 0.054
	n	%	Mean±SD	Mean±SD
Gender				
Female	207	56.9	3.56±0.43	59.37±7.02
Male	157	43.1	3.66±0.28 t: -2.629, p: 0.009*	60.99±4.17 t: -2.736, p: 0.007*
Marital Status			t2.029, p. 0.009 **	t2.730, p. 0.007 **
Married	200	54.9	3.62±0.36	59.86±6.53
Single	164	45.1	3.58±0.39	60.32±5.31
			t: . 844, p: 0.399	t:733, p: 0.464
Education Level				
High school	26	7.1	3.63±0.32	61.73±3.09
Associate degree	20	5.5	3.42±0.55	57.35±9.38
Bachelor's degree	290	79.7	3.60±0.36	60.03±5.90
Post graduate	28	7.7	3.82±0.25	62.25±1.48
			F: 4.418, p: 0.005*	F: 3.513, p: 0.015 *
Economic Situation				
Income < expense	32	8.8	3.29±0.43	57.28±5.90
Income ≈ expense	276	75.8	3.63±0.38	60.25±4.06
Income > expenditure	56	15.4	3.64±0.25	60.80±6.01
			F: 12.481, p: 0.000 *	F: 4.051, p: 0.018 *
Where you lived with your family				
Village	30	8.2	3.54±0.46	60.26±5.65
Town	28	7.7	3.49±0.52	58.82±8.05
City	259	71.2	3.64±0.31	60.53±5.25
Metropolitan	47	12.9	3.50±0.52	58.17±8.15
Which surgical unit			F: 3.158, p: 0.250	F: 2.521, p: 0.058
Surgical clinics	170	46.7	3.74±0.20	62.44±1.07
Surgical intensive care units	133	36.5	3.53±0.44	58.41±8.26
Operating room	61	16.8	3.37±0.46	57.09±5.83
			F: 27.735, p: 0.000*	F: 29.808, p: 0.000 *
How many years have you been a	nurse?			
0-5 years	144	39.6	3.63±0.35	60.58±4.76
6-10 years	121	33.2	3.60±0.39	60.10±6.21
11 years and over	99	27.2	3.55±0.39	59.29±7.24
			F: 1.339, p: 0.263	F: 1.357, p: 0.259
How many years have you been w		ic?		
0-5 years	266	73.1	3.58±0.39	60.01±6.07
6-10 years	82	22.5	3.67±0.34	60.25±6.27
11 years and over	16	4.4	3.57±0.25	60.06±3.27
Wookly working time			F: 1.723, p: 0.180	F: .049, p: 0.953
Weekly working time 39 hours or less	45	10 /	2 71±0 25	61 75+0 05
40 hours or less	45 262	12.4 72.0	3.71±0.25 3.56±0.39	61.75±2.05 60.32±5.31
41 hours and over	57	15.6	3.60±0.39	60.43±6.01
	0,	10.0	F: 4.821, p: 0.009 *	F: 2.374, p: 0.095
Working times				, p. 61610
Continuous daytime	66	18.1	3.95±0.13	61.98±6.41
Shift (Both day and night)	298	81.9	3.52±0.37	59.65±3.03
			t: -15.516, p: 0.000*	t: -4.428, p: 0.000*
The status of choosing nursing w	villingly?			
Yes	340	93.4	3.64±0.33	60.77±4.78
No	24	6.6	3.02±0.49	50.16±11.11
			t: 6.137, p: 0.000*	t: 4.645, p: 0.000*
Min: minimum, Maks: maximum, S	SD: standart devia	tion, *p<0.05		

It was concluded that the mean scores of those who chose the nursing profession willingly were higher in both PS and EBN practices and were statistically significant (p<0.05). According to the educational status, it was seen that as the educational level increased, both PSC and EBN practices total scores increased and were statistically significant (p<0.05). According to the department, it was observed that nurses working in surgical clinics had higher attitudes towards both PSC and EBN practices compared to nurses working in intensive care units and operating rooms, and this was statistically significant (p<0.05). It was concluded that the mean score of PSC was higher and statistically significant in those whose weekly working hours were less than 39 hours (p<0.05). According to the working time, it was observed that the mean scores of both PSC and EBN practice were higher and statistically significant in continuous daytime workers compared to shift workers (p<0.05) (Table 1).

The results of the study display the mean scores for the total score and sub-dimensions of the PSCS and attitudes towards EBN scale, as well as the correlation analysis, which can be found in Table 2. The mean value of the total score of the PSCS was 3.60±0.38, with the highest mean score of 3.68±0.41 recorded in the sub-dimension of employee training. The mean score for attitudes towards EBN practices was 60.07±6.01, with the beliefs and expectations sub-dimension recording the highest mean score of 34.04±2.55 points (Table 2). The study revealed a strong positive correlation between EBN practices and PSC (r=0.705, p=0.000). In other words, adherence to EBN practices and their implementation in patient care by surgical nurses resulted in improved patient safety behaviours. Table 2 shows that there is a moderate positive relationship between the "employee behaviour" subcategory of PSCS and the EBN practices indicator (r=0.687, p=0.000) (Table 2).

tion analysis										
Mean±SD (Min-Max)	PSCS (Total)	Management and leadership	Employee behavior	Unexpected event and error reporting	Employee training	Maintenance environment	Attitude Towards Evidence- Based Nursing (EBN) Scale	Beliefs and expectations towards EBN	Emotions about EBN	EBN implementation intention
3.60±0.38 (2.14-4)	1									
3.54±0.39 (1.71-4)	.923**	1								
3.61±0.43 (1.79-4)	.963**	.850**	1							
3.63±0.45 (1.60-4)	.911**	.782**	.877**	1						
3.68±0.41 (1.57-4)	.870**	.705**	.808**	.801**	1					
3.64±0.40 (2-4)	.867**	.695**	.803**	.788**	.793**	1				
60.07±6.01 (28-63)	.705**	.631**	.687**	.667**	.669**	.573**	1			
34.04±2.55 (22-35)	.511**	.451**	.495**	.469**	.521**	.410**	.760**	1		
15.23±1.84 (7-16)	.556**	.522**	.537**	.496**	.551**	.406**	.684**	.755**	1	
15.88±2.29 (7-17)	.568**	.503**	.549**	.508**	.563**	.480**	.767**	.762**	.759**	1
	Mean±SD (Min-Max) 3.60±0.38 (2.14-4) 3.54±0.39 (1.71-4) 3.61±0.43 (1.79-4) 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) 3.64±0.40 (2-4) 60.07±6.01 (28-63) 34.04±2.55 (22-35) 15.23±1.84 (7-16) 15.88±2.29 (7-17)	Mean±SD (Min-Max) I 3.60±0.38 (2.14-4) 1 3.54±0.39 (1.71-4) .923** 3.61±0.43 (1.79-4) .963** 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) .911** 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) .911** 3.64±0.40 (2-4) .867** 3.64±0.40 (2-4) .867** 3.64±0.40 (2-4) .556** 34.04±2.55 (22-35) .511** 15.23±1.84 (7-16) .556** 15.88±2.29 (7-17) .568**	Mean±SD (Min-Max) Ipp SS Ipp SS Ipp SS 3.60±0.38 (2.14-4) 1 3.54±0.39 (1.71-4) .923** 1 3.61±0.43 (1.79-4) .963** .850** 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) .911** .782** 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) .911** .782** 3.63±0.45 (1.60-4) .911** .782** 3.63±0.41 (1.57-4) .867** .695** 3.64±0.40 (2-4) .867** .695** 60.07±6.01 (28-63) .705** .631** 15.23±1.84 (7-16) .556** .522** 15.88±2.29 (7-17) .568** .503**	Mean±SD (Min-Max)fig bisdig dig bisdig dig dig3.60±0.38 (2.14-4)1113.54±0.39 (1.71-4).923**13.61±0.43 (1.79-4).963**.850**13.63±0.45 (1.60-4).911**.782**.877**3.63±0.45 (1.60-4).911**.782**.877**3.63±0.45 (1.60-4).911**.782**.877**3.63±0.41 (1.57-4).867**.695**.803**3.64±0.40 (2-4).867**.695**.803**60.07±6.01 (28-63).705**.631**.687**34.04±2.55 (22-35).511**.451**.495**15.23±1.84 (7-16).556**.522**.537**	Mean±SD (Min-Max) Image: SD SC Image: S	Mean±SD (Min-Max)for b b b bfor b 	MeantSD (Min-Max)from SCfor basefor <br< th=""><th>MeantSD (Min-Max)IJost state<th>MeantSD (Min-Max)Index<t< th=""><th>Mean±SD (Min-Max) 1 2 3.60±0.38(2.144) 1 1 3.50±0.39(1.174) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 963* 850* 3.63±0.41(1.574) 961* 807* 3.63±0.41(1.674) 911** 782** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 961** 807** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 870* 3.64±0.40(24) 867** 3.64±0.40(24) 663** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(2</th></t<></th></th></br<>	MeantSD (Min-Max)IJost state <th>MeantSD (Min-Max)Index<t< th=""><th>Mean±SD (Min-Max) 1 2 3.60±0.38(2.144) 1 1 3.50±0.39(1.174) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 963* 850* 3.63±0.41(1.574) 961* 807* 3.63±0.41(1.674) 911** 782** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 961** 807** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 870* 3.64±0.40(24) 867** 3.64±0.40(24) 663** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(2</th></t<></th>	MeantSD (Min-Max)Index <t< th=""><th>Mean±SD (Min-Max) 1 2 3.60±0.38(2.144) 1 1 3.50±0.39(1.174) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 963* 850* 3.63±0.41(1.574) 961* 807* 3.63±0.41(1.674) 911** 782** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 961** 807** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 870* 3.64±0.40(24) 867** 3.64±0.40(24) 663** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(2</th></t<>	Mean±SD (Min-Max) 1 2 3.60±0.38(2.144) 1 1 3.50±0.39(1.174) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 923* 1 3.61±0.43(1.074) 963* 850* 3.63±0.41(1.574) 961* 807* 3.63±0.41(1.674) 911** 782** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 961** 807** 3.63±0.41(1.674) 870* 3.64±0.40(24) 867** 3.64±0.40(24) 663** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 611*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(24) 511*** 3.64±0.40(2

Min: minimum, Max: maximum, SD: standart deviation, *p<0.05

A simple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the impact of attitudes towards EBN practices on PSC, with statistically significant outcomes (F: 358.175, p: 0.000). The explanatory power of the model is determined by the R² value, which was calculated to be 0.497. As such,

the predictor variable attitude towards EBN practices elucidates almost 50% of the variability observed in the predicted variable of PSC (R^2 : 0.497). The beta coefficient of the predictor variable incorporated in the regression model was β : 0.705 as shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Regression analys	Table 3. Regression analysis results for the patient safety culture scale of th e evidence-based nursing practice scale									
Dependent variable	Independent variable	ß	t	р	F	Model (p)	R	Adjusted R ²		
Patient Safety Culture	Constant	0.916	6.410	0.000	358.175	0.000	0.705	0.497		
	Evidence Based Nursing Practices	0.045	18.926	0.000	338.173	0.000	0.705	0.497		

DISCUSSION

The use of EBN practices in nursing practices has a very important place in making decisions based on continuously updated scientific knowledge in the professionalisation process of the nursing profession (18). EBN provides continuous access to new scientific information, effective application of the latest research evidence on the patient and safe care delivery in PS (19). The results of the impact of the attitudes of nurses working in surgical clinics towards EBN practices on PSC were discussed in line with the literature.

According to the findings obtained, the average age of surgical nurses was 30.83±5.16 years, 56.9% were female, 54.9% were married, the majority of nurses are undergraduate graduates, 39.6% had been working as a nurse for 0-5 years, 73.1% had been working in the same clinic for 0-5 years, the majority of nurses are worked in shifts, 72% worked 40 hours per week, most nurses are chose the nursing profession willingly, and 79.9% did not follow EBN practices (Table 1). The data obtained are similar to the results of the studies published in the literature (20,21).

This study concluded that the attitudes of nurses working in surgical clinics towards EBN were at a high level with a score of 60.07±6.01 (Table 2). Considering the studies in the literature in which attitudes towards EBN were examined, Köse et al. found the total scores of the EBN practices scale to be 55.46±9.80 (22), Danacı et al. 62.90±8.90 (20), Doğan et al. 60.68±8.62 (23), Karakoç et al. 58.23±9.34 (18), Dikmen et al. 57.20±9.06 (24), Sen and Yurt 51.33±5.18 (13,18,20-25). The attitudes towards EBN examined in the literature were found to be similar to the findings of our study (13,18,20-25). However, in another study of nurses, which examined their attitudes towards the application of research findings in practice, the attitudes of nurses were found to be negative and it was concluded that the most important obstacle was lack of time (26). In a different study in the literature, it was reported that nurses' attitudes towards EBN practices were negative (27). Considering both our study and other recent studies, the studies concluded in recent years show that the attitude towards EBN has increased positively (13,18,20-25). It is thought that the presence of EBN courses in education curricula, the use of EBN research findings in in-service training, increased opportunities for post-graduate education, easier access to information and increased number of open access journals contribute to the attitude towards EBN over time. The utilization of evidence in nursing practice presents an opportunity to professionalise the nursing field as well as a vital aspect of enhancing society's health and implementing PS issues at a high level (28). Using the latest research findings that have evidence value in EBN practices contributes to the provision of more effective, more efficient and safer patient care (19).

surgical clinics was 3.60±0.38. The highest mean score obtained for the PSCS was 3.68±0.41 in the employee training sub-dimensions, whereas the lowest mean score was 3.54±0.39 in the management and leadership subdimensions. As seen in the description of the PSCS, when it is considered that the mean score approaching 4 is positive on PSC (17) the data obtained in this study show that PSC is at a high level (Table 2). When the studies on PSC in the literature were examined, Kapıkıran et al. found 3.36±0.21 (29), Karaca and Arslan found 3.09±0.38 and 2.86±0.69 (14), Ertürk et al. found 2.81±0.40 (30), Erdağı and Özer found the lowest 2.45±0.61 and the highest 2.68±0.54 (31) in their study conducted with nurses in two different hospitals. When reviewing other studies utilising diverse measuring tools in the literature, a positive attitude towards PS was observed among nurses who worked in surgical centres (32,33). It was observed that the findings of the studies on PSC examined in the literature were similar to the findings of this study (14,29-33) In the studies in the literature where PSC is analysed, it can be said that the mean PSC scores are higher among nurses working in surgical units (29,30). This situation can be explained by the fact that many of the parameters evaluated within the scope of PS in hospitals are actively fulfilled in surgical clinics. Surgical nurses who adhered to EBN practices and implemented them in patient care exhibited a greater degree of PSC attitudes ,according to observations (r=0.705, p=0.000) recorded in Table 2. In the literature, Seving Turag and Top concluded that EBN practices had a moderate (r=0.430) effect on PSC in their study on nurses (34). Sonğur et al. reported that EBN practices had a moderate (r=0.418) effect on PSC in their study on nurses (35). When the literature was examined, it was observed that the findings of the studies examining the effect of attitude towards EBN practices on PSC were similar to the findings of this study (34,35). However, it is suggested that the high Correlation coefficient found in the study as compared to literature may be attributed to the fact that the study was carried out exclusively in surgical clinics.

CONCLUSION

The attitudes of surgical nurses towards EBN practices and PSC were found to be positive. It was concluded that surgical nurses with high attitudes towards EBN practices had more positive attitudes toward surgical PSC. Although PSC is important for nurses working in all clinics, it is more important for nurses working in surgical clinics. Therefore, it is recommended that working conditions should be improved, training nurses who follow EBN practices up to date and in-service trainings should be planned in line with the latest evidence findings.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

In the study, the mean PSCS score for nurses working in

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was obtained from Adıyaman University Social and Human Sciences Ethics Committee (Date: 16.02.2022, Decision no: 218). The research was conducted in accordance with the principles of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki.

REFERENCES

- Erkuş Küçükkelepçe G, Arslan Şeker S. Factors affecting nurses' attitudes towards patient safety: systematic review. SHYD. 2022;9:334-48.
- World Health Organization. Patient safety. https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/patient-safety access date 11.08.2023.
- Yilmaz A, Duygulu S. Investigation of nurses' perceptions of patient safety culture and effective factors. SHYD. 2019;3:171-85.
- 4. Rızalar S, Büyük ET, Şahin R, et al. Patient safety culture and influencing factors of nurses. DEUHFED. 2016;9:9-15.
- 5. Adane K, Gizachew M, Kendie S. The role of medical data in efficient patient care delivery: a review. Risk Manag Healthc Policy. 2019;12:67-73.
- 6. Keshta I, Odeh A. Security and privacy of electronic health records: concerns and challenges. Egyptian Informatics Journal. 2021;22:177-83.
- Korkutan M, Kurt M. Current situation and the importance of patient safety culture in Turkey. Usaysad Derg. 2021;7:19-31.
- 8. Türk İ, Akgül S, Seçkin M, et al. A study on the patient safety culture: Example of training and research hospital. Health Care Acad J. 2018;5:25-34.
- 9. Vaismoradi M, Tella S, A Logan P, et al. Nurses' adherence to patient safety principles: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17:2028.
- 10. Wood C, Chaboyer W, Carr P. How do nurses use early warning scoring systems to detect and act on patient deterioration to ensure patient safety? A scoping review. Int J Nurs Stud. 2019;94:166-78.
- 11. Sandelin A, Kalman S, Gustafsson BA. Prerequisites for safe intraoperative nursing care and teamwork-Operating theatre nurses' perspectives: a qualitative interview study. J Clin Nurs. 2019;28:2635-43.
- 12. Jones RA, Merkle S, Ruvalcaba L, et al. Nurse-led mobility program: driving a culture of early mobilization in medicalsurgical nursing. J Nurs Care Qual. 2020;35:20-6.
- 13. Şen EŞ, Yurt S. Determining the attitudes of nurses towards evidence-based practices. DEUHFED. 2021;14:102-7.
- 14. Karaca A, Arslan H. A study for evaluation of patient safety culture in nursing services. SHYD. 2014:1:9-18.
- Ruzafa-Martínez M, López-Iborra L, Madrigal-Torres M. Attitude towards Evidence-Based Nursing Questionnaire: development and psychometric testing in Spanish community nurses. J Eval Clin Pract. 2011;17:664-70.
- Ayhan Y, Kocaman G, Bektaş M. The validity and reliability of attitude towards evidencebased nursing questionnaire for Turkish. Hemşirelikte Araştırma Geliştirme Dergisi. 2015;17:21-35.

- 17. Türkmen E, Baykal Ü, Seren Ş, Altuntaş S. Development of patient safety culture scale. Anadolu Hemşirelik ve Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi. 2011;14:38-46.
- Karakoç-Kumsar A, Polat Ş, Afşar-Doğrusöz L. Determining attitudes of nurses toward evidence-based nursing in a university hospital sample. Florence Nightingale J Nurs. 2020;28:268-75.
- 19. Stevens KR. The impact of evidence-based practice in nursing and the next big ideas. Online J Issues Nurs. 2013;18:4.
- Danacı E, Ağaçdiken Alkan S, Kavalalı Erdoğan T, et al. Hemşirelerin profesyonel otonomi düzeylerinin kanıta dayalı hemşireliği yönelik tutumları üzerine etkisi. EGEHFD. 2023;39:43-54.
- 21. Evcilli F, Kaya D. Determining attitudes of nurses toward evidence-based nursing. Journal of Health Sciences Institute. 2023;8:179-84.
- Köse S, Sis Çelik A, Kılıç D. Determining nurses' attitudes towards scientific research and evidence-based nursing and affecting factors. Ordu University J Nurs Stud. 2023;6:329-39.
- 23. Doğan ES, Cin A, Demirağ H, Uçan MD. Hemşirelerin kanıta dayalı hemşirelik uygulamalarına yönelik tutumlarının incelenmesi. Uluslararası Anadolu Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi. 2021;5:612-22.
- 24. Dikmen Y, Filiz NY, Tanrıkulu F, et al. Attitudes of intensive care nurses towards evidence-based nursing. International Journal of Health Sciences & Research. 2018;8:138-43.
- Erişen MA, Yeşildal M, Dömbekçi HA. Investigation of nurses' attitudes towards evidence-based nursing. Journal of Social And Humanities Sciences Research. 2019;6:3682-9.
- Breimaier HE, Halfens RJ, Lohrmann C. Nurses' wishes, knowledge, attitudes and perceived barriers on implementing research findings into practice among graduate nurses in Austria. J Clin Nurs. 2011;20:1744-56.
- 27. Grove SK, Gray JR, Burns N. Understanding nursing research building an evidence-based practice, 6th edition. Elsevier Inc, Amsterdam, 2015.
- 28. Arslan Yurumezoglu H, Kocaman G. Pilot study for evidencebased nursing management: improving the levels of job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and intent to leave among nurses in Turkey. Nurs Health Sci. 2012;14:221-8.
- Kapıkıran G, Cetin Y, Yayan EH. Relation between health quality perceptions and patient safety cultures of nurses working in surgical clinics. Online Turkish Journal of Health Sciences. 2023;8:53-8.
- Ertürk C, Dönmez P, Özmen D. Assessment of nurses' perceptions of patient safety culture in hospitals in Manisa city center. Ege Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Fakültesi Dergisi. 2016;32:19-33.
- Erdağı S, Özer N. Examining practice environments, patient safety culture perceptions and burnout status of nurses working in surgical clinics. Anadolu Hemşirelik ve Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi. 2015;18:94-106.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1374672

- 32. Rocha RC, Abreu IM, Carvalho REFL, et al. Patient safety culture in surgical centers: nursing perspectives. Cultura de segurança do paciente em centros cirúrgicos: perspectivas da enfermagem. Rev Esc Enferm USP. 2021;55:e03774.
- 33. Ünver S, Yeniğün SC. Patient safety attitude of nurses working in surgical units: a cross-sectional study in Turkey. J Perianesth Nurs. 2020;35:671-5.
- 34. Turaç İS. Hemşirelerin kanıta dayalı hemşireliğe yönelik tutumları ve bilgi güvenliğinin hasta güvenliği kültürü üzerine etkisi. Ph.D thesis, Hacettepe Üniversitesi, Ankara, 2022.
- 35. Sonğur C, Özer Ö, Gün Ç, Top M. Patient safety culture, evidence-based practice and performance in nursing. Systemic Practice and Action Research, Springer. 2018;31:359-74.





Gossypin Regulated Doxorubicin-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in H9c2 Cardiomyocyte Cells

Provide the second s

Kastamonu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, Kastamonu, Türkiye Kastamonu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Kastamonu, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Doxorubicin (DOX), an anthracycline, is widely used in chemotherapy due to its effectiveness in fighting many cancers. Experimental and clinical studies prove that this drug damages non-targeted tissues (including cardiomyocytes) and reduces patients' quality of life during and after DOX treatment. The discovery of potent compounds as a protective tool to slow cardiomyocyte damage during the use of anti-cancer drugs such as DOX is crucial for both more effective cancer treatment and to improve patient's quality of life. Gossypin (GOS) is a flavonoid with several important properties, such as anti-cancer, analgesic, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory. GOS shows supportive effects against oxidative stress and inflammation by activating antioxidant defense enzymes. **Material and Method:** For the study, four groups were formed from H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells as Control, DOX (1 µM, 48 h), GOS25 (25 µg/ml, 48 h), and GOS50 (50 µg/ml, 48 h). In the study, Total antioxidant and oxidant status (TAS and TOS), levels of the inflammatory cytokines IL 1 beta and 6, and TNF α, lipid peroxidation levels as malondialdehyde (MDA), glutathione peroxidase (GSHPx), and glutathione (GSH) levels in the H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells were determined.

Results: The results showed that DOX treatment caused cell toxicity in the embryonic cardiomyocyte cells and increased TOS, IL 1 beta and 6, TNF α, and MDA levels while decreasing TAS, GSH, and GSHPx levels. This situation improved with GOS treatment. **Conclusion:** As a result, it was determined that GOS treatment showed a protective effect in the DOX-induced cell toxicity model in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cell lines.

Keywords: Oxidative stress, inflammation, H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell, gossypin, doxorubicin

INTRODUCTION

Doxorubicin (DOX), an anthracycline and one of the most effective anti-cancer drugs since the 1960s, is widely used in chemotherapy and is effective against many types of cancer, including blood cancer, sarcoma, and cancer (1). However, experimental and clinical studies have shown that DOX is toxic to non-target organs and reduces the quality of life during and after treatment (2). Known harmful side effects such as myelosuppression, cardiotoxicity, brain, kidney, and liver toxicity, and alopecia limit the clinical use of this drug (3-5).

It is unknown which factors are involved in the mechanisms of cardio-toxicity induced by DOX. Reports in the literature suggest that oxidative stress and inflammation may be important mechanisms underlying cardiotoxicity (6,7). Increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been reported to cause lipid peroxidation, organelle damage, and cellular signaling imbalances in various cells, including cardiomyocytes (8-11). In addition, some reports that increased oxidative stress with DOX exposure increase the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin 1 beta (IL 1 beta) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) (6,12).

The discovery of potent compounds as a protective tool to slow down myocyte damage during the use of anti-cancer drugs such as DOX is crucial both for more effective cancer treatment and for improving patients' quality of life. Gossypin (GOS) is a flavonoid with various essential properties such as anticancer, analgesic, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory (13,14). GOS shows its supportive

CITATION

Yazgan Y, Yazgan B. Gossypin Regulated Doxorubicin-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in H9c2 Cardiomyocyte Cells. Med Records. 2024;6(1):44-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1383719

Received: 31.10.2023 Accepted: 06.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Yener Yazgan, Kastamonu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, Kastamonu, Türkiye

E-mail: yener8275@hotmail.com

effects against oxidative stress and inflammation by activating antioxidant defense enzymes (15). Although DOX is an effective chemo-therapeutic agent, cardiotoxicity is known to contribute to patient mortality (11). There are many experimental and clinical studies in the literature investigating how to reduce the cardio-toxic effects of DOX (10,11,16,17). Cardio-protective effects of GOS have been reported in a limited number of in vitro and in vivo experimental studies (13,18). However, whether GOS can ameliorate the cardio-toxic effects of DOX, which is widely used in many cancers, has not been investigated. Therefore, this study was designed to examine whether GOS has protective effects against DOX-induced cardiotoxicity in a dose-dependent manner in the H9c2 cell line. This cell line is a cardio-myoblast derived from embryonic rat heart tissue and is widely used in heart disease research (13,19,20).

In this study, we evaluated the protective effects of GOS on rat H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocytes by determining the oxidant/antioxidant status (TAS, TOS, GSHPx activation, GSH, and lipid peroxidation levels). In addition, we aimed to evaluate the inflammation status in myocytes by investigating inflammatory cytokines IL 1 beta and 6 and TNF α levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Chemicals and ELISA Kits

GOS (Cat; 652-78-8) was purchased from Sigma Aldrich C. (USA/St Louis). DOX (Cat; T1020) was purchased by TargetMol (Target Molecule Corp., USA). IL 6 (Sunred, Cat; SRB-T-83168), IL 1 beta (Sunred, Cat; SRB-T-83324), and TNF α (Sunred, Cat: SRB-T-82883) were purchased from SunRed Biotechnology Company (SRB) Ltd (Shanghai, China). Total Oxidant and Total Antioxidant Capacity (TOS and TAS) ELISA kit was obtained from Rel Assay (Gaziantep/Türkiye).

Cell Culture and Experimental Groups

A growth medium was prepared for the cells used in the research according to the instructions provided by the seller. FBS (cytiva Cat; SV30160.03) (10%) and penicillin/ streptomycin (biosera Cat: LM-A4118) (1%) were added to equivalent volumes of DMEM (biowest Cat; L0064) as arowth medium contents. Cells were cultured in 25 cm² culture flasks in an incubator at 37°C under a 5% CO2 atmosphere. H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cell lines were divided into four groups and incubated according to the experimental procedure. DOX and GOS were freshly prepared on the experimental days. The following incubation procedure was applied to the experimental groups. After the incubation period was completed, the cells were washed with fresh 1xPhosphate Buffered Saline (Biochrom/Germany), and 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich) was applied to separate the cells from the flask floor. After completing the experimental steps, analyses were performed for all groups.

For the study, H9c2 cardiomyocyte cells in the experiment

were divided into four groups as follows.

Control group (n=5), the cardiomyocyte cells were kept in a culture medium for 48 hours without treatment.

DOX group (n=5), the cardiomyocyte cells were incubated with DOX (1 μ M for 48 h) (11,21).

GOS25 group (n=5), cardiomyocyte cells in this group were pretreated with GOS (25 μ g/ml) 3 hours before DOX treatment and then incubated with DOX (1 μ M) for 48 hours (13).

GOS50 group (n=5), cardiomyocyte cells in this group were pretreated with GOS (50 μ g/ml) 3 hours before DOX treatment and then incubated with DOX (1 μ M) for 48 hours (13).

Preparation of Cells Homogenates

For each group, cells were transferred into separate sterile falcon tubes and centrifuged according to the kit procedure (1000 rpm and 20 min). After centrifugation, the supernatants on the top of the falcon tubes were removed with the help of an automatic pipette, the cells were suspended in PBS, and a cell suspension with a density of approximately 1×10⁶ cell/ml was obtained. The cell structure was lysed (PBS) by freeze-thaw repetition, and the mixture was centrifuged (4000 rpm, 10 min) after removal of cytoplasmic components. The supernatant remaining at the top of the falcon tubes was removed with pipettes and taken in Eppendorf tubes for analysis. The Bradford protein assay kit (Merck-Millipore) measured total protein levels in the groups.

Analyses

Measurement of Total Oxidant-Antioxidant and Inflammatory Cytokines Levels in the H9c2 Embryonic Cardiomyocyte Cells

TOS and TAS and inflammatory cytokines (IL 6 and 1 beta and TNF α) levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte supernatants were determined using ELISA kits. For the analyses, supernatants were first incubated (37°C, 60 min) by the protocols specified by the companies for commercial kits and then placed in 96-well plates with automatic pipettes. The supernatant and standard samples placed on the plate were incubated for 60 minutes, followed by washing steps, and then staining solutions were added and incubated (15 min). A stop solution was added at the end of all these procedures, and absorbance values were read on an ELISA (BioTek Epoch^M) microplate spectrophotometer (22).

Measurement of Glutathione/Glutathione Peroxidase and Lipid Peroxidation Levels in the H9c2 Embryonic Cardiomyocyte Cell

Lipid peroxidation activity, which is known as malondialdehyde (MDA) release in DOX-induced cell toxicity in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells, was determined by thiobarbituric acid (TBARS) reaction in a highly sensitive spectrophotometer (V-730 UV-Visible Spectrophotometer, Japan) according to the method of Placer et al. All cell groups were reconstituted with 1/9 (2.25 ml) TBARS solution. The experiment used a mixture of 0.25 ml phosphate buffer and 1/9 of TBARS as a blind. Samples and blind were kept in 100 °C water for 20 minutes (23,24). It was then cooled on ice and centrifuged (1000 g, 5 min). The upper pink liquid was taken with an automatic pipette and read against the blind in a spectrophotometer at 532 nm wavelength in a 1 cm light transmission cuvette. The standard was standard: 1, 1, 1, 3, 3 tetraethoxy propane solution prepared in the same proportions. Values were determined as µmol/g protein.

GSH levels of H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells were determined spectrophotometrically (412 nm) using the Sedlak and Lindsay method (25). H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells (10⁶ cells per mL) were transferred to sterile falcon tubes with the help of an automatic pipette and centrifuged to separate the proteins after mixing with 10% trichloroacetic acid. After centrifugation, 0.1 ml of the supernatant remaining on the falcon tube was taken and placed in a glass tube, 0.5 mL 5.5-dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid), 2 mL phosphate buffer (pH 8.4), and 0.4 mL distilled water were added. The resulting sample was read (412 nm) in a spectrophotometer. Values were determined as µmol/g protein.

GSHPx levels of H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells were determined spectrophotometrically at 412 nm by the method of Lawrence and Burk (26). GSHPx activity was expressed as international units (IU) oxidized glutathione/g protein.

Statistical Analysis

All data are expressed as mean±standard deviation in this study, and data analysis was performed by one-way ANOVA using SPSS. For all data with a statistically significant difference, the post-hoc Tukey test was used. $p \le 0.05$ was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Effect of Gossypin on TOS and TAS Levels in H9c2 Embryonic Cardiomyocyte Cells

It is shown in Figure 1 that GOS treatment modulated the decrease in TAS and increase in TOS levels as a result of DOX treatment in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells. A significant increase in TOS levels (Figure 1A) was observed in the DOX-treated group was compared to Control, GOS25, and GOS50 groups (p≤0.05), and in parallel, a significant decrease in TAS levels (Figure 1B) was observed in the DOX-treated group was compared to Control, GOS25, and GOS50 groups (p≤0.05). The decrease in TAS and increase in TOS levels after DOX treatment in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells were regulated by GOS treatment. Significant results were obtained in TAS and TOS levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells pretreated with 25 and 50 µg/ml of GOS. However, the 50 µg/ml of GOS further regulated the DOX-induced and disrupted oxidant/ antioxidant balance.



Figure 1. Effect of GOS on TOS (1A) and TAS (1B) levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells after DOX-induced cell toxicity (mean \pm SD). (°p \leq 0.05 vs Control group, °p \leq 0.05 vs DOX group, °p \leq 0.05 vs GOS25 group)

Effect of Gossypin on Inflammatory Cytokines Levels in H9c2 Embryonic Cardiomyocyte Cells After Doxorubicininduced Cell Toxicity

GOS treatment modulated DOX-induced IL 6 and 1-beta, and TNF α levels in the H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells are shown in Figure 2. When the DOX-induced treated group was compared to the Control, GOS25, and GOS50 groups between the groups, it was observed that the IL 1 beta, IL 6 (Figure 2A-2B), and TNF α (Figure 2C) levels increased considerably (p≤0.05). The increase in IL 1 beta and 6 and TNF α levels after DOX treatment in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells was regulated by GOS treatment. Significant results were obtained in IL 6 and 1 beta, and TNF α levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells pretreated with 25 and 50 µg/ml doses of GOS; however, the 50 µg/ml dose of GOS further regulated the DOX-induced and disrupted inflammation balance.



Figure 2. Effect of GOS on IL 1 β (2A), IL 6 (2B), and TNF a (2C) levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells after DOX-induced cell toxicity (mean±SD). (*p≤0.05 vs Control group, *p≤0.05 vs DOX group, *p≤0.05 vs GOS25 group)

The Gossypin Treatment Attenuated the Doxorubicininduced Changes in GSH, GSHPx, and MDA Levels

The changes in GSH, GSHPx, and MDA levels in cells against DOX-induced cell toxicity of GOS in the groups formed were measured with the spectrophotometrically (V-730 UV-Visible Spectrophotometer, Japan). It is shown in Figure 3 that GOS treatment modulated the increase in oxidative stress (MDA) and decrease in antioxidant (GSH and GSHPx) levels as a result of DOX treatment in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells. When the DOX-induced treated group was compared to the Control, GOS25, and GOS50 groups, it was observed that the GSH levels (Figure 3A) and GSHPx levels (Figure 3B) decreased considerably ($p \le 0.05$). MDA levels (Figure 3C) were significantly

increased between the groups when the DOX-induced treated group was compared to the Control, GOS25, and GOS50 groups ($p \le 0.05$). The decrease in GSHPx and GSH levels and increase in MDA levels after DOX treatment in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells were regulated by GOS treatment. Significant results were obtained in GSH, GSHPx, and MDA levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells pretreated with 25 and 50 µg/ml doses of GOS. However, the 50 µg/ml dose of GOS further regulated the DOX-induced and disrupted oxidant/antioxidant balance.



Figure 3. Effect of GOS on GSH (3A), GSHPx (3B), and MDA (3C) levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells after DOX-induced cell toxicity (mean±SD). (^{a}p ≤0.05 vs Control group, ^{b}p ≤0.05 vs DOX group, ^{c}p ≤ 0.05 vs GOS25 group)

DISCUSSION

DOX is a vital drug widely used in cancer treatment since the 1960s (1,7). However, its cardiotoxic effects limit its use. It has been emphasized that the cardio-toxic effects of DOX are multifactorial and cause functional disorders in cardiomyocyte cells (27). Based on the physiopathological mechanisms of DOX-induced cardio-toxicity, it may be possible to reduce the side effects of the drug. In this study, we investigated whether GOS administration is protective against the cardio-toxic effects of DOX. For this purpose, we applied GOS at two different doses (25 μ g/ml and 50 μ g/ml) in H9c2 cells. Our results showed that DOX treatment-induced cardiotoxicity in H9c2 cardiomyocytes and that GOS treatment ameliorated the cardiac damage at both doses, but to a greater extent at the 50 μ g/ml dose.

One of the most widely accepted damage mechanisms for DOX-induced cardio-toxicity is the activation of damage mechanisms due to increased oxidative stress (5,6,28). Shaker et al. reported a significant increase in lipid peroxidation and a reduction in TAS levels in the rat heart after DOX administration (6). Similarly, it has been reported that there is a decrease in GSH and GSHPx levels in rats administered DOX and that limonin, known for its antioxidant properties, is beneficial in preventing cardiac damage (29). In another study, Yıldızhan et al. found that DOX therapy caused a significant decrease in the levels of GSHPx and GSH in the serum and samples of heart tissue. In contrast, selenium administration with antioxidant effects caused a considerable increase in GSH and GSHPx levels (7). DOX treatment was shown to increase lipid peroxidation levels, particularly in heart tissue, in

another experimental study. However, it decreased GSH and GSHPx levels (30). In another in vivo and in vitro study, heart tissue from mice exposed to oxidative stress and an H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cell line showed a significant reduction in superoxide dismutase (SOD) and GSH activity (13). Our data showed that DOX treatment significantly increased lipid peroxidation and TOS levels and significantly decreased TAS levels in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells, consistent with previous studies. Similar to previous studies, the reduction in DOX-induced GSH and GSHPx activity demonstrated the depletion of cardiac antioxidant enzymes. Cinar and colleagues reported an increase in SOD activity and GSH levels in mice and H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells and a reduction in lipid peroxidation levels when GOS was administered in various dosages (13).

GOS is an essential flavonoid with potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (14). GOS shows its supportive effects against oxidative stress and inflammation by activating antioxidant defense enzymes (15). Cinar and colleagues reported that SOD activity and GSH levels increased and lipid peroxidation levels decreased in mice and H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells in a study testing the antioxidant effects of various doses of GOS (13). In the same study in which they applied GOS at doses of 25, 50, and 100 µg/ml, they found that the most effective amount of GOS in H9c2 cells was 50 and 100 µg/ml. In our study, we found that GSH, GSHPx, and TAS were significantly increased in the GOS25 and GOS50 groups compared to the DOX group. Furthermore, GOS25 and GOS50 significantly reduced lipid peroxidation and TOS levels compared to the DOX group. Thus, we found that GOS pre-treatment reduced DOX toxicity in myocytes at both doses (25 and 50 µg/ml).

We predict the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in cardiac tissue in the physiopathological process of DOX-induced cardio-toxicity. It has been demonstrated in clinical and experimental studies that DOX therapy causes myocardial inflammation (6,31-33). There have been important reports showing that DOX therapy induces the release of various pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF a, and causes several inflammatory responses in the myocardium (6,34). We demonstrated significant increases in cardiac IL 1 beta and 6 and TNF a in the DOX group compared to the control group, in line with these reports. The results of this study support the critical role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of DOX-induced cardio-toxicity. When these results are evaluated with the oxidative parameters obtained in this study, they suggest that increased inflammatory markers may be associated with impaired antioxidant capacity (low TAS, high TOS levels) and lipid peroxidation. Yıldızhan et al. reported increased IL 1 beta, TNF a, and ROS levels with significantly reduced GSH and GSHPx levels in the DOX group, consistent with the results of this study (7).

The anti-inflammatory effects of GOS have been reported in the literature (14,18). In a study investigating the

curative impact of GOS against gentamicin-induced nephron-toxicity in rats, inflammatory cytokines in renal tissues were reduced by (TNF α and IL 6) GOS therapy (15). In another study, IL 1 beta and TNF a mRNA expression induced by H₂O₂ in L929 fibroblast cells was significantly reduced with different doses of GOS treatment (25 and 50 µg/mL) (35). Our data showed that DOX treatment in an embryonic cardiomyocyte cell line caused a significant increase in IL 1 beta and 6 and TNF a. Against DOX toxicity, we found that GOS pre-treatment reduced these inflammatory cytokines. In our study, in the GOS25 and GOS50 groups, IL 1 beta and 6 and TNF a levels decreased significantly in a dose-dependent manner, more effectively in the GOS50 group than in the DOX group. This suggests that GOS treatment may have a beneficial effect on inflammation in heart muscle tissue.

Thus, we demonstrated the protective effect of GOS on heart tissue using an H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cell line. In conclusion, the findings in the literature and the results of this study emphasize that GOS, a potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agent, can be used as a cardio-protective agent against DOX toxicity.

CONCLUSION

It is known that the cardio-toxic effects of DOX, which is widely used in cancer treatment, are multifactorial and cause functional disorders in cardiac cells. Based on the physiopathologic mechanisms of DOX-induced cardiotoxicity, it is vital to find therapies to reduce the side effects of the drug.

This study demonstrated DOX-induced cellular toxicity in H9c2 embryonic cardiomyocyte cells by disrupting the oxidant/antioxidant balance and increasing the release of inflammatory cytokines. In addition, critical preclinical data were provided to the literature by determining the curative efficacy of GOS. While these data indicate the possibility of using natural substances such as GOS to reduce damage during cancer treatment, more preclinical research is needed.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The current study has no study with human and human participants. The study is not subject to ethics committee approval. Ethics Committee Approval is not required for cell culture studies.

REFERENCES

- Zhang J, Li W, Xue S, et al. Qishen granule attenuates doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity by protecting mitochondrial function and reducing oxidative stress through regulation of Sirtuin3. J Ethnopharmacol. 2023 Sep 13. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2023.117134. [Epub ahead of print].
- 2. Yildizhan K, Huyut Z, Altındağ F, Uçar B. Effect of selenium

and N-(P-Amylcinnamoyl) anthranilic acid on doxorubicininduced kidney injury in rats. Journal of Inonu University Health Services Vocational School. 2023;11:1181-91.

- 3. Anker MS, Hadzibegovic S, Lena A, et al. Recent advances in cardio-oncology: a report from the 'heart failure association 2019 and world congress on acute heart failure 2019'. ESC Heart Fail. 2019;6:1140-8.
- 4. Catanzaro MP, Weiner A, Kaminaris A, et al. Doxorubicininduced cardiomyocyte death is mediated by unchecked mitochondrial fission and mitophagy. FASEB J. 2019;33:11096-108.
- 5. Christidi E, Brunham LR. Regulated cell death pathways in doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Cell Death Dis. 2021;12:339.
- Shaker RA, Abboud SH, Assad HC, Hadi N. Enoxaparin attenuates doxorubicin induced cardiotoxicity in rats via interfering with oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol. 2018;19:3.
- Yıldızhan K, Huyut Z, Altındağ F. Involvement of TRPM2 channel on doxorubicin-induced experimental cardiotoxicity model: protective role of selenium. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2023;201:2458-69.
- Yazğan B, Yazğan Y, Nazıroğlu M. Alpha-lipoic acid modulates the diabetes mellitus-mediated neuropathic pain via inhibition of the TRPV1 channel, apoptosis, and oxidative stress in rats. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 2023;55:179-93.
- 9. Yazğan B, Yazğan Y. Regulatory role of phospholipase A2 inhibitor in oxidative stress and inflammation induced by an experimental mouse migraine model. J Cell Neurosci Oxid Stress. 2023;15:1147-56.
- Koçkar MC, Nazıroğlu M, Celik O, et al. N-acetylcysteine modulates doxorubicin-induced oxidative stress and antioxidant vitamin concentrations in liver of rats. Cell Biochem Funct. 2010;28:673-7.
- 11. Hsieh DJ, Tsai BC, Barik P, et al. Human adipose-derived stem cells preconditioned with a novel herbal formulation Jing Shi attenuate doxorubicin-induced cardiac damage. Aging (Albany NY). 2023;15:9167-81.
- 12. Abd El-Aziz TA, Mohamed RH, Pasha HF, Abdel-Aziz HR. Catechin protects against oxidative stress and inflammatory-mediated cardiotoxicity in Adriamycin treated rats. Clin Exp Med. 2012;12:233-40.
- 13. Cinar I, Yayla M, Tavaci T, et al. In vivo and in vitro cardioprotective effect of gossypin against isoproterenolinduced myocardial infarction injury. Cardiovasc Toxicol. 2022;22:52-62.
- 14. Song B, Shen X, Tong C, et al. Gossypin: a flavonoid with diverse pharmacological effects. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2023;101:131-7.
- 15. Katary M, Salahuddin A. Ameliorative effect of gossypin against gentamicin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Life Sci. 2017;176:75-81.
- 16. Zhang Q, Li J, Peng S, et al. Rosmarinic acid as a candidate in a phenotypic profiling cardio-/cytotoxicity cell model induced by doxorubicin. Molecules. 2020;25:836.
- 17. Werida RH, Elshafiey RA, Ghoneim A, et al. Role of alpha-

lipoic acid in counteracting paclitaxel- and doxorubicininduced toxicities: a randomized controlled trial in breast cancer patients. Support Care Cancer. 2022;30:7281-92.

- Cheng G, Zhang J, Jia S, et al. Cardioprotective effect of gossypin against myocardial ischemic/reperfusion in rats via alteration of oxidative stress, inflammation and gut microbiota. J Inflamm Res. 2022;15:1637-51.
- 19. Hu C, Zhang X, Song P, et al. Meteorin-like protein attenuates doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity via activating cAMP/ PKA/SIRT1 pathway. Redox Biol. 2020;37:101747.
- 20. Kuznetsov AV, Javadov S, Sickinger S, et al. H9c2 and HL-1 cells demonstrate distinct features of energy metabolism, mitochondrial function and sensitivity to hypoxia-reoxygenation. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1853:276-84.
- 21. Kanno SI, Hara A. Everolimus prevents doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in H9c2 cardiomyocytes but not in MCF-7 cancer cells: Cardioprotective roles of autophagy, mitophagy, and AKT. Toxicol In Vitro. 2023;93:105698.
- 22. Yazğan Y, Nazıroğlu M. Involvement of TRPM2 in the neurobiology of experimental migraine: focus on oxidative stress and apoptosis. Mol Neurobiol. 2021;58:5581-601.
- Yazğan B, Yazğan Y. Potent antioxidant alpha lipoic acid reduces STZ-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis levels in the erythrocytes and brain cells of diabetic rats. J Cell Neurosci Oxid Stress. 2022;14:1085-94.
- 24. Placer ZA, Cushman LL, Johnson BC. Estimation of product of lipid peroxidation (malonyl dialdehyde) in biochemical systems. Anal Biochem. 1966;16:359-64.
- 25. Sedlak J, Lindsay RH. Estimation of total, protein-bound, and nonprotein sulfhydryl groups in tissue with Ellman's reagent. Anal Biochem. 1968;24;25:192-205.
- Lawrence RA, Burk RF. Glutathione peroxidase activity in selenium-deficient rat liver. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1976;71:952-8.

- 27. Sheibani M, Azizi Y, Shayan M, et al. Doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity: an overview on pre-clinical therapeutic approaches. Cardiovasc Toxicol. 2022;22:292-310.
- 28. Saleh Ahmed AS. Potential protective effect of catechin on doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity in adult male albino rats. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2022;32:97-105.
- 29. Deng J, Huang M, Wu H. Protective efect of limonin against doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity via activating nuclear factor like 2 and Sirtuin 2 signaling pathways. Bioengineered. 2021;12:7975-84.
- 30. Ekinci Akdemir FN, Yildirim S, Kandemir FM, et al. Protective efects of gallic acid on doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity; an experimantal study. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2021;127:258-65.
- Broeyer FJ, Osanto S, Suzuki J, et al. Evaluation of lecithinized human recombinant super oxide dismutase as cardioprotectant in anthracycline-treated breast cancer patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;78:950-60.
- 32. Sun Z, Yan B, YanYu W, et al. Vitexin attenuates acute doxorubicin cardiotoxicity in rats via the suppression of oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis and the activation of FOXO3a. Exp Ther Med. 2016;12:1879-84.
- 33. He Y, Yang Z, Li J, Li E. Dexmedetomidine reduces the inflammation and apoptosis of doxorubicin-induced myocardial cells. Exp Mol Pathol. 2020;113:104371.
- 34. Sun Z, Lu W, Lin N, et al. Dihydromyricetin alleviates doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity by inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome through activation of SIRT1. Biochem Pharmacol. 2020;175:113888.
- 35. Çınar I. Evaluation of protective effects of gossypin against hydrogen peroxide damage in L929 fibroblast cells. Kafkas J Med Sci. 2020;10:15-23.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Accessory and Sesamoid Bones in the Body: A study on their Size and Presence

Muhammet Degermenci¹, DAli Aygun², Halil Yilmaz¹, Adem Tokpinar¹, Orhan Bas¹

¹Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Ordu, Türkiye ²Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, Ordu, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Aim: Accessory and sesamoid bones are hidden anatomical structures that fulfil a wide variety of functions in the human body. Therefore, studying the nature, formation and dimensions of these structures is of great importance for the medical literature. In our study, we aimed to measure the presence and area (size) of these ossicles.

Material and Method: Our study was performed retrospectively on the images of individuals who applied to Ordu University and whose radiological images were obtained. The presence of accessory and sesamoid ossicles (present/absent) and their sizes (measured using the PACS system) were evaluated on radiographs and Computed Tomography (CT) images. The results of the ossicles were divided into gender, age, and bilateral groups. Statistical analyzes were performed with the SPSS program.

Results: The most common and largest accessory ossicles in the foot were os peroneum (18.2%), os naviculare accessoria (17.4%), os trigonum (12.1%) and os intermetatarsarum (7.8%). Sesamoid ossicles at the level of the first metatarsophalangeal (mtp) joint of the foot and the first metacarpopgalangeal (mcp) joint of the hand were found to be 100% common. The second most common sesamoid bone in the hand and foot was at the fifth mtp (22.22%) and mcp (68.53%) joints. In the hand, the most common accessory ossicles were os triangulare (6.08%), os radiale externum (2.60%) and os centrale (1.73%). Accessory ossicles (fabella: 19%, cyamella: 17.5%) were found in 25.5% of the knee.

Conclusion: Accessory and sesamoid ossicles are most commonly found in the hand, foot, and knee. The presence and size of these ossicles can be both beneficial and harmful. Sesamoids provide mechanical benefit, whereas accessory ossicles can be mistaken for fractures and may lead to unnecessary medical conditions. Knowing the dimensions of these ossicles allows them to be clinically differentiated from avulsion fractures.

Keywords: Accessory ossicles, sesamoid ossicles, morphometry, radiograph

INTRODUCTION

Accessory bones in the body are variational bones that are formed by separation from the main bone during the development of the skeletal system and are of congenital origin. They are usually formed when the secondary ossification centre fails to join the primary ossification centre. They are usually round or oval in shape and have smooth edges. Although they do not cause pain under normal conditions, they may cause pain due to fractures, dislocations, bony deformities, irritation of soft tissues and overuse. Fractures and dislocations are the most common manifestations of disorders of these ossicles. In the presence of trauma, these bones may be misdiagnosed as avulsion fractures and may restrict movement. Therefore, the localization and dimensions of the accessory bones should be well known to avoid misdiagnosis. Misdiagnoses cause excessive workload, additional costs, and unnecessary treatment services (1,2).

Accessory bones around the foot and ankle are commonly seen. In the current literature, many accessory ossicles have been described in the foot. Some of these bones have not been adequately described or some of them have been described by many people. Musculoskeletal injuries in this region are commonly seen in patients presenting to the emergency department due to trauma. It is important for physicians to be aware of the presence of these bones and to differentiate them from fractures in radiographs or

CITATION

Degermenci M, Aygun A, Yilmaz H, et al. Accessory and Sesamoid Bones in the Body: A study on their Size and Presence. Med Records. 2024;6(1):50-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1358230

Received: 11.09.2023 Accepted: 04.11.2023 Published: 10.01.2024 Corresponding Author: Muhammet Degermenci, Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Ordu, Türkiye E-mail: mdegermenci@yahoo.com.tr tomography images taken in emergency departments or clinics. Therefore, knowing the normal and/or abnormal variations of bone structures in the lower extremity and various radiological pitfalls that may cause confusion is the primary objective of our study (1,3).

The most common accessory ossicles in the foot and ankle are os trigonum, os peroneum and os naviculare accessoria. The os trigonum is formed by the separation of the lateral posterior process of the talus and should not be confused with a fracture of this process (Shepherd's fracture). Os peroneum is located within the tendon of the peroneus longus muscle within the cuboid tunnel. Accessory navicular bone is formed by the separation of the tubercle of navicular bone in the medial part of the navicular bone (4-6).

Os intermetatarsarum is usually located dorsal to the bases of the first and second metatarsal bones. The secondary calcaneal bone is an accessory ossicle arising from the anterior process of the calcaneus. The os vesalianum pedis is formed by the separation of the secondary ossification centre of the fifth metatarsal bone and is located within the tendon of the peroneus brevis muscle (7).

The term sesamoid is derived from the Latin word 'sesamum' and means sesame. A sesamoid bone is a small round bone embedded in a tendon or joint capsule. Sesamoid bones are typically found where a tendon passes over a joint. They prevent friction between the tendon and the joint, protect the tendon and increase the biomechanical effect of the tendon by changing its direction of pull. Most sesamoid bones begin as cartilaginous nodules that undergo endochondral ossification in early to late childhood, between the ages of 3 and 12 years. Sesamoid bones are generally thought to result from an interaction between mechanical and biological factors (2,8,9). The number and size of these bones can vary from person to person and are of great importance for athletes, dancers and other people involved in physical activity.

The largest sesamoid bone is the patella and is located within the tendon of the quadriceps muscle. In the foot, there are usually two sesamoid bones (sometimes 2-3 in pieces) at the connection of the first metatarsal bone with the big toe. Both are located within the tendon of the flexor hallucis brevis muscle. One is located on the lateral side of the first metatarsal and the other on the medial side. Some people have only one sesamoid on the first metatarsal bone (10).

There is a sesamoid bone called fabella embedded in the tendon of the lateral head of the gastrocnemius muscle behind the lateral condyle of the femur behind the knee. It is found in 10-30% of humans. It can be single-parted or multi-parted. Cyamella is rarely seen in humans and is found in the tendon of the popliteus muscle. The presence of fabella and cyamella usually does not cause knee pain or

discomfort, but it can sometimes lead to knee problems in some athletes or individuals engaged in physical activity. Sesamoiditis, an inflammation of the sesamoid bones, is common in dancers and is caused by inflammation or irritation of the tendons surrounding these bones (11).

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethical approval was obtained from Ordu University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (2023/103) and Ordu Provincial Health Directorate. Computed Tomography (CT) and radiography images to be used in the study were obtained from Ordu University Training and Research Hospital PACS system. Individuals with fractures and chronic bone disorders in their extremities were not included in the study. Radiological images of the foot, ankle and knee were evaluated. The frequency of accessory and sesamoid bones (present/absence) and the size (area) of the bones with the cursor were calculated. The frequency of accessory and sesamoid bones according to age and gender and the bilateral differences were determined.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the data was performed with IBM SPSS 28. All the measurements are expressed as the Mean±SD, and the incidence of each type is described in terms of numbers and percentages. The homogeneity of variance was performed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Mann-Whitney U test was applied for gender comparison in nonparametric data. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Foot and ankle images (45 right foot, 30 left foot and 40 bilateral feet) of a total of 115 individuals were evaluated. The mean age of the individuals is 45.65±16.76 (14-86 years) and of these, 54 were male (47%) and 61 were female (53%). 55 patients had no accessory bone (47.82%), while 60 patients had at least one accessory bone (52.17%). In 16 bilateral feet (7 males, 9 females), no accessory bone was found (40%). No accessory bone was found in 25 right feet (55.55%) and 14 left feet (46.66%) in unilateral feet (Table 1).

On an individual basis, the most commonly identified accessory bones were os peroneum (18.2%), os naviculare accessoria (17.4%), os trigonum (12.1%) and os intermetatarsarum (7.8%). On a foot basis, os peroneum (14.83%), os naviculare accessoria (14.83%), os trigonum (9.03%) and os intermetatarsarum (0.64%) were the most common accessory bones (Figure 1). Accessory bones were found in 55.55% (30) of males and 50.81% (31) of females. The frequency of accessory bones in the foot is shown in Table 1.

In our study, in addition to the normal accessory ossicles reported in the literature, bipartite os trigonum* (2 feet) and bipartite os naviculare accessoria** (1 foot) were found. These pairs of bones are usually one large and one small (Figure 2).

Table 2 shows the dimensions of the accessory bones found in the foot, their minimum and maximum values according to gender and bilateral averages. The largest accessory bone was os trigonum (83.83 mm²), followed by os peroneum, os intermetatarsarum and os naviculare accessoria. Although accessory ossicles showed a steady increase with age, this increase was not found to be regular due to individual differences. The sizes of males were found to be larger than those of females (Graphic 1).

Table 1. Frequency of accessory bones in the foot											
	Genders (54 Men, 61 Women)										
Accessory barroo	Men	(36)	Wome	n (39)	Men (18)	Women (22)	Total (11E)				
Accessory bones	Right (21)	Left (15)	Right (24)	Left (15)	Bilate	ral (40)	Total (115)				
Os peroneum	5	3	5	6	1	1	21 (18.2%)				
Os naviculare accessoria	6	1	4	6	1	2	20 (17.4%)				
Os trigonum	2	4	7	1	-	-	14 (12.1%)				
Os intermetatarsarum	4	3	-	1	-	1	9 (7.8%)				
Os calcaneus secundarius	2	-	-	1	-	1	4 (3.5%)				
Os vesalianum pedis	-	1	1	1	-	-	3 (2.6%)				
Os supranaviculare	-	1	2	-	-	-	3 (2.6%)				
Os supratalare	-	-	-	1	1	-	2 (1.7%)				
Os cuboideum secundarium	1	-	-	1	-	-	2 (1.7%)				
Os subfibulare	-	-	1	-	-	-	1 (0.9%)				
Os talotibiale	-	1	-	-	-	-	1 (0.9%)				
Os infranaviculare	-	-	-	1	-	-	1 (0.9%)				
Os intercuneiforme	1	-	-		-	-	1 (0.9%)				
Os tuberis calcanei	-	-	-	1	-	-	1 (0.9%)				

Table 2. Areas (sizes) of accessory bones in the foot (mm²)

A		M	/len (54)		Wor	nen (61)
Accessory bones	Min	Max	Right - Left (means)	Min	Max	Right - Left (means)
Os peroneum	11.07	60.03	23.89-27.82	3.42	44.12	9.63-16.65
Os naviculare accessoria	5.27	58.10	21.78-15.19	2.68	40.12	13.26-13.77
Os trigonum	33.68	83.83	71.09-58.77	13.5	68.62	43.95-13.50
Os intermetatarsarum	3.75	59.87	24.62-13.43	3.95	32.85	30.11-18.40
Os calcaneus secundarius	16.34	22.48	19.41	2.91	34.42	17.78-18.66
Os vesalianum pedis	4.4	18	4.48	8.96	27.13	27.13-8.96
Os supranaviculare	10.	37	10.37	11.91	12.05	11.98
Os supratalare	9.98	10.11	10.11-9.98	4.5	54	4.54
Os cuboideum secundarium	3.3	35	3.35	7.3	37	7.37
Os subfibulare	-	-	-	29.	26	29.26
Os talotibiale	24.	77	24.77	-	-	-
Os infranaviculare	-	-	-	12.	48	12.48
Os intercuneiforme	3.99	3.99	-	-		-
Os tuberis calcanei					22.56	



Figure 1. The most widely found accessory ossicles and their sizes in our study on foot radiographs



Figure 2. Bipartite os trigonum and bipartite os naviculare accessoria on axial CT section



Graphic 1. Comparison of the sizes of the most common accessory ossicles according to age and sex

Sesamoid Ossicles in the Foot

Sesamoid bones are small ossicles located at the level of the metatarsophalangeal joints in the foot and increase the insertion angle of the joint and provide better movement. In our study, sesamoid bones at the level of the right (Rmtp) and left metatarsophalangeal joints (Lmtp) and sesamoid ossicles at the level of the interphalangeal (interp) joints were evaluated.

Sesamoid ossicles were found in the lateral (Lat) and medial (Med) parts of the first metatarsophalangeal joint (mtp1) in all 84 right and 69 left feet. In 7.14% of the right and 8.69% of the left feet, these medial ossicles were divided into proximal (Prox) and distal (Dis) ossicles. These ossicles have different sizes depending on the age, bone development and gender. Figure 3 shows the frequency and mean size (mm²) of sesamoid and accessory ossicles (mtp1, mtp2, mtp3, mtp4 and mtp5) in the foot. Accordingly, the largest sesamoid bone in the foot belonged to Rmtp1 Lat (97.84±26.47 mm²). This was followed by Rmtp1 Med, Lmtp1 Lat, and Lmtp1 Med. The largest sesamoid bone was found to be Rmtp1 Lat with 181.49 mm². The smallest sesamoid ossicle was Rmtp5 (3.26 mm²). The least common sesamoid ossicles were Rmtp3 (1.19%) and Rmtp4 (1.19%).

Figure 3. Frequency and size of the sesamoid bones commonly found in the foot (A and C: right foot; B and C: left foot) and of the sesamoid bones not commonly found (E, F and G).

Different from these sesamoid ossicles, we detected variational sesamoid ossicles including lateral and medial ossicles on the fifth metatarsophalangeal joint in 6 feet (Figure 3G), medial and lateral ossicles on the first interphalangeal joint in 3 feet (Figure 3E), proximal and distal separation of the lateral ossicle on the first metatarsophalangeal joint in 2 feet, lateral and medial ossicles on the fifth proximal interphalangeal joint in 1 foot (Figure 3F).



Figure 3. Frequency and size of the sesamoid bones commonly found in the foot (A and C: right foot; B and C: left foot) and of the sesamoid bones not commonly found (E, F and G)

Accessory Bones in the Knee

In our study, bilateral knees of 200 individuals were evaluated. Of these, 68 were male and 132 were female with a mean age of 52.56±15.79 years (14-88 years). The incidence and dimensions of primary accessory bones of fabella and cyamella in the knee were evaluated. 149 (74.5%) of 200 participants had no accessory bones in the knee.

Fabella was found in 38 (19%) right and 35 (17.5%) left knees. In bilateral evaluation, fabella was found only in the right knee of 4 participants and only in the left knee of 1 participant. In the bilateral evaluation of 200 individuals, cyamella were found in 11 right knees and 12 left knees. Only 1 individual had cyamella only on the left side.

The minimum, maximum and average dimensions of fabella and cyamella in the right and left knee are shown in Figure 4. As a result of the measurements, it was observed that fabella and cyamella accessory ossicles in the knee increased with age. In addition, the sizes of these bones were determined to be larger in male individuals and a statistically significant difference (*p<0.05) was found between men and women in cyamella bones (Graphic 2). These findings provide an important contribution to research on bone development and sex differences.



Figure 4. Accessory and sesamoid ossicles identified on lateral knee radiographs



Graphic 2. Comparison of accessory bones in the knee according to age and sex (F: fabella, C: cyamella)

Sesamoid Ossicles in the Hand

In our study, 143 hand images of a total of 115 individuals, including 45 right hands, 42 left hands and 28 bilateral hands, were evaluated. The mean age of the individuals is 43.50±19.06 (14-88 years) and of these, 49 were male (42.60%) and 66 were female (57.40%). Sesamoid ossicles on the metacarpophalangeal joint (mcp1, mcp2, mcp3, mcp4 and mcp5) and interphalangeal joint were analysed on the images. The lateral and medial sesamoid ossicles on the first metacarpophalangeal joint (mcp1=hallux sesamoids) were found in all hands. The largest sesamoid ossicle found in the right hand was the lateral sesamoid ossicle (Rmcp1 Lat) on the metacarpophalangeal joint (23.47±7.68 mm²). The average size of the sesamoid ossicles in the hand is shown in Figure 5B.



Figure 5. The frequency and mean size of sesamoid (B) and accessory (A) ossicles in the right and left hand

The most common sesamoid ossicles in the hand were mcp1 (100%), left mcp5 (72.85%), right mcp5 (64.38%) and right mcp2 (53.42%). When analysed individually, the largest sesamoid ossicle was found to be Lmcp1 lateral (49.40 mm²), and the smallest sesamoid ossicle was found to be left mcp4 (2.60 mm²). Table 3 shows the frequency of sesamoid ossicles in the hand and their minimum and maximum dimensions. Sesamoid ossicles in the hand increase significantly with age, but this increase is not large due to individual differences.

Accessory Bones in the Hand

The presence and dimensions of the accessory ossicles in the hand were evaluated and the most common accessory ossicle was os triangulare. Seven different accessory ossicles were found, os centrale (1.73%-11.13 mm²), os triangulare (6.08%-9.21 mm²), os radiale externum (2.60%-9.30 mm²), os epilunatum (0.86%-6.60 mm²), os vesalianum manus (0.86%-6.45 mm²), os epitrapezium (0.86%-1.27 mm²) and os trapezium secundarium (0.86% - 12.90 mm²) (Figure 5A).

Tablo 3. The frequency and minimum-maximum size of sesamoid ossicles in the hand										
	Frequency of	foccurrence	Minimum -	Maximum						
	Right hand	Left hand	Right hand	Left hand						
Mcp1 lateral	(73)-100%	(70)-100%	3.45-47.11	3.30-49.40						
Mcp1 medial	(73)-100%	(70)-100%	3.62-38.72	3.59-35.74						
Mcp2	(39)-53.42%	(31)-44.28%	3.69-31.45	6.11-27.56						
Мср3	(3)-4.10%	(3)-4.28%	2.84-7.68	4.57-6.03						
Мср4	-	(1)-1.42%	-	2.60						
Мср5	(47)-64.38%	(51)-72.85%	4.51-20.62	3.18-22.26						
Interp1	(24)-32.87%	(29)-41.42%	2.54-26.80	3.92-32.40						
Mcn: metacarpophalange	al ioint: intern1: first internhaland	eal								

Mcp: metacarpophalangeal joint; interp1: first interphalangeal

DISCUSSION

The accessory bones and sesamoid bones are notable for being mysterious anatomical structures that perform a wide range of functions in the human body. These bones are found in the body in unique shapes and have a variety of functions. It is therefore of great importance to the fields of medicine and biology to study the nature, occurrence, and dimensions of these important structures (9).

The functions of the accessory and sesamoid ossicles are primarily mechanical. Accessory ossicles often act as pulleys, changing the direction and magnitude of muscle forces, or as shock absorbers, protecting joints from excessive forces. Sesamoid ossicles reduce friction and increase the mechanical advantage of tendons, improving their ability to transmit force and maintain joint stability (12).

Although they are generally recognised as anatomical variations, their presence can have clinical implications. Understanding the anatomy, function and clinical significance of these ossicles is crucial for the accurate diagnosis and treatment of associated conditions. Further research in this area may shed more light on the prevalence and variability of accessory and sesamoid ossicles among populations. Although there are many studies in the literature measuring the presence of accessory and sesamoid bones, there are not studies examining the areas (sizes) covered by these ossicles and their distribution according to age and gender. In our study, we tried to fulfil this deficiency.

The first discovery of these structures was made by cadaver dissection, and later, many studies have been carried out with these ossicles with imaging. The prevalence of accessory bones in the foot varies considerably according to the population studied and ranges from 21% to 49.2% (9,13). In a study conducted in a Korean population, accessory ossicles were found in 49.2% of healthy, asymptomatic Korean adults. Although we reported a high rate of accessory ossicles in our study, we identified at least one accessory ossicle in 52.18% (60/115). In studies in the literature, this rate was reported as 18.3%, 26.1% and 40.2% with different rates (14-17).

Although there are approximately 40 accessory bones, os trigonum is one of the most common accessory ossicles. Os trigonum syndrome is the pathology of this ossicle. It may occur with hyperflexion of the ankle (18,19). As we found in our study, it may be bipartite in some individuals. This variation should be noted as it may have radiographic appearances similar to a fracture of the posterior talar process (20). Its frequency varies between 1-25% in the literature (7,14-17,21). Candan B. et al. evaluated the diameters of os trigonum on radiological images and showed its mean length as 10.21 mm and mean width as 6.53 mm.

Os peroneum was first described in the "Fabrica" of Andreas Vesalius and is found in 9% to 26% of the general population. It has an oval, triangular or round shape and can be bipartite or multipartite. It is one of the largest accessory bones (40 mm²) and its size range is very wide. In our study, a prevalence of 18.2% was found similar to the literature. In a study (22), the mean area was reported as 2.48mm² on the right and 2.70 mm² on the left, and the minimum area was found to be 3.42 mm² in our study.

Os naviculare accessoria, also called os tibiale externum, is the third most common accessory ossicle in our study. Its reported prevalence varies between 4 and 34% (23,24). Although it was found bilaterally in 3 patients in our study, it may be bilateral up to 50% according to some studies (5). According to Geist classification, it may be triangular or heart-shaped with dimensions ranging from 2 mm to 12 mm (25). In our study, it contains an area of approximately 2.70-58 mm².

In addition to these most common ossicles, other accessory ossicles: os intermetatarseum, os calcaneus secundarius, os vesalianum, os supranaviculare, os supratalare, os cuboideum secundarium, os subfibulare, os talotibiale, os infranaviculare, os intercuneiforme and os subtibiale are rarely reported in the literature (Table 4).

Table 4. The frequency of accessory bones in the foot reported in the literature								
	Our study (115)	Kır et al. (277)	Cıllı et al. (464)	Candan et al. (1651)	Kalbouneh et al. (1000)	Total range		
Accessory bones (Total)	52.17%	45.4%	18.3%	26.1%	40.2%	21%-49.2%		
Os peroneum	18.2%	16.6%	31.8%	5.8%	11.5%	9%-26%		
Os naviculare accessoria	17.4%	65.8%	28.2%	7.9%	13.7%	4%-34%		
Os trigonum	12.1%	11.9%	23.5%	9.8%	15.4%	7%-25%		
Os intermetatarsarum	7.8%	2.3%	1.2%	0.12%	0.2%	1%-7%		
Os calcaneus secundarius	3.5%	-	-	0.42%	0.3%	0.4%-11%		
)s vesalianum pedis	2.6%	7.1%	5.9%		1.1%	<1%		
)s supranaviculare	2.6%	-	3.5%	0.36%	0.7%	~1%		
Os supratalare	1.7%	-	2.4%	0.48%	0.3%	0.2%-2.4%		
)s cuboideum secundarium	1.7%	-	-	-	-	~0.1%		
)s subfibulare	0.9%	-	-	0.42%	0.6%	0.2%-6.6%		
Ds talotibiale	0.9%	3.9%	-	-	0.4%	<0.5%		
Os infranaviculare	0.9%		3.5%	-	0.3%			
Os intercuneiforme	0.9%	2.3%	-	-	-			
Os tuberis calcanei	0.9%							

Sesamoid bones provide mechanical advantage during flexion of the fingers by reducing friction and strengthening the adjacent soft tissues (4). The medial and lateral hallux sesamoids are embedded in the medial and lateral tendons of the flexor hallucis brevis tendon. The size and shape of the hallux sesamoids vary considerably. In our study, the mcp1 lateral sesamoid (93.01 mm²) was found to be larger than the medial (90.98 mm²), and in addition, medial hallux sesamoid being in two parts as proximal and distal, which is reported with a rate of 2.7% in the literature (1), was found in 6 individuals (8.69%) in our study. Since it is difficult to distinguish bipartite medial hallux sesamoid radiologically, size difference as we measured in our study will be the solution to this situation. The fractured medial hallux sesamoid will appear larger than the lateral one, but as we stated in our study, the lateral hallux sesamoid is larger than the medial one. Knowing the normal dimensions, especially at the first presentation to the hospital, will reduce the likelihood of fracture. The incidence of mtp2 (12.92%), mtp3 (0.68%), mtp4 (2.04%) and mtp5 (23.12%) sesamoid ossicles was similar to the literature (1,4,26).

In humans, most of the sesamoid ossicles begin to develop in early and late childhood. Dharap et al. (27) reported that ossification of the first finger starts at the age of 10-11 years and is completed at the age of 13-14 years. Sesamoid ossicles are known to have important functions, such as protecting the tendon from damage and, in some cases, increasing the efficiency or mechanical advantage of associated muscles. If we consider that the sesamoid bones in the foot are particularly useful in walking, the sesamoids in the hand may have benefits such as increasing the strength of hand movements and providing a benefit in grasping an object with the fingers.

The incidence and size of sesamoid bones in the hand may vary depending on factors such as race, sex, and region. In our study, lateral and medial sesamoid ossicles at the level of the metacarpophalangeal joint of the thumb were seen in all individuals (73, 100%). In the literature, this rate varies between 98-100% (8,27). Similar to mtp1 sesamoids in the foot, the lateral sesamoid ossicle was found to be larger in mcp1 (Rmcp1 Lat: 23.47 mm², Lmcp1 Lat: 22.10 mm²). In our study, the frequencies of mcp2, mcp3, mcp4 and mcp5 were 48.95%, 4.19%, 0.70% and 68.53%, respectively. Similar to our study, the frequency of mcp2 and mcp5 was reported as 42.3% and 41.1%, respectively, in the study by Amar E et al. (8).

Seki Y. et al. (28) reported the frequency of interp1 sesamoid ossicle as 67% in their study in which they analysed the sesamoid ossicles on the interphalangeal joint of the hand, while this rate was 37.06% in our study. In our study, os triangulare (6.08%) and os radiale externum (2.60%) were the most common accessory ossicles in the hand. Amar et al. (8) reported the most common os ulnostyloideum (1.13%) and os triangulare (0.67%).

The term 'Fabella' originated from the Latin term 'faba', meaning bean. In humans, it is more common in men than

in women, and in older individuals than in younger ones. Bilateral presence is more common and unilateral is less common, and in individual cases fabellae are equally likely to be found on the right or left knee. Fabella and cyamella are anatomically similar sesamoid ossicles. Akkoç et al. (29) reported its presence in 38.8% of Turkish population and found the thickness, width, and length of fabella to be 3.84 mm, 6.04 mm, and 6.23 mm, respectively. In our study, the incidence of fabella was similarly 36.5% and the mean size was 49.37 mm² on the right and 48.19 mm² on the left.

CONCLUSION

According to the results of our study, the frequency of accessory and sesamoid ossicles in the hand, foot and knee was found to be compatible with the literature. Accessory and sesamoid ossicles are first visualised on radiographs and CT scans in the hospital. In our study, we measured the size (area) of these ossicles to differentiate them from avulsion fractures. There is no similar study in the literature. The physician can predict that the fragment separated from the main bone may be an accessory bone or a fracture with the size values in our study. With these results in our study, we thought that we could help clinicians and contribute to the literature.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was obtained from Ordu University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (2023/103) and Ordu Provincial Health Directorate for obtaining radiographic images from the hospital PACS system.

REFERENCES

- Coskun N, Yuksel M, Cevener M, et al. Incidence of accessory ossicles and sesamoid bones in the feet: a radiographic study of the Turkish subjects. Surg Radiol Anat. 2009;31:19-24.
- Coughlin MJ. Sesamoid and accessory bones of the foot. In: Surgery of the foot and ankle. 8th edition. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2007;438-94.
- 3. Mespreuve M, Bosmans F, Waked K, Vanhoenacker FM. Hand, and wrist: a kaleidoscopic view of accessory ossicles, variants, coalitions, and others. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2019;23:511-22.
- Mellado JM, Ramos A, Salvadó E, et al. Accessory ossicles and sesamoid bones of the ankle and foot: imaging findings, clinical significance, and differential diagnosis. Eur Radiol. 2003;13:164-77.
- Nwawka OK, Hayashi D, Diaz LE, et al. Sesamoids and accessory ossicles of the foot: anatomical variability and related pathology. Insights Imaging 2013;4:581-93.
- 6. Fu X, Ma L, Zeng Y, et al. Implications of classification of os trigonum: a study based on computed tomography threedimensional imaging. Med Sci Monitor. 2019;25:1423-8.

- 8. Amar E, Rozenblat Y, Chechik O. Sesamoid, and accessory bones of the hand-an epidemiologic survey in a Mediterranean population. Clin Anat. 2011;24:183-7.
- 9. Chen W, Cheng J, Sun R, et al. Prevalence, and variation of sesamoid bones in the hand: a multi-center radiographic study. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8:11721-6.
- 10. White TD. Human Osteology. 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, 2000;257-61.
- 11. Reesink HL. Foal fractures: osteochondral fragmentation, proximal sesamoid bone fractures/sesamoiditis, and distal phalanx fractures. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. 2017;33:397-416.
- 12. Goldberg I, Nathan H. Anatomy, and pathology of the sesamoid bones. The hand compared to the foot. Int Orthop. 1987;11:141-7.
- Debnar M, Kopp L, Baba V, Rammelt S. Accessory bones at the foot and ankle: a comprehensive review. Fuß & Sprunggelenk. 2023;21:121-37.
- 14. Cilli F, Akcaoglu M. The incidence of accessory bones of the foot and their clinical significance. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2005;39:243-6.
- 15. Candan B, Torun E, Dikici R. The prevalence of accessory ossicles, sesamoid bones, and biphalangism of the foot and ankle: a radiographic study. Foot Ankle Orthop. 2022;7:24730114211068792.
- 16. Kalbouneh H, Alajoulin O, Shawaqfeh J, et al. Accessory ossicles in the region of the foot, and ankle: an epidemiologic survey in a Jordanian population. Medicina. 2021;57:1178.
- Kır H, Kandemir S, Olgaç M, et al. Ayaktaki aksesuar kemiklerin görülme sıklığı ve dağılımı. The Medical Bulletin of Şişli Etfal Hospital. 2011;45:44-7.
- Guo S, Yan YY, Lee SSY, Tan TJ. Accessory ossicles of the foot—an imaging conundrum. Emerg Radiol. 2019;26:465-78.

- 19. Kose O, Okan AN, Durakbasa MO, et al. Fracture of the os trigonum: a case report. J Orthop Surg. 2006;14:354-6.
- 20. Yan YY, Mehta KV, Tan TJ. Fracture of the os trigonum: a report of two cases and review of the literature. Foot Ankle Surg. 2016;22:e21-4.
- 21. Zwiers R, Baltes TPA, Opdam KTM, et al. Prevalence of Os trigonum on CT imaging. Foot Ankle Int. 2018;39:338-42.
- 22. Muehleman C, Williams J, Bareither ML. A radiologic and histologic study of the os peroneum: Prevalence, morphology, and relationship to degenerative joint disease of the foot and ankle in a cadaveric sample. Clin Anat. 2009;22:747-54.
- 23. Arslan S, Bakdik S, Oncu F, et al. Incidence and anatomical variability of accessory and sesamoid bones of the foot. Ann Med Res. 2018;25:420-5.
- 24. Huang J, Zhang Y, Ma X, et al. Accessory navicular bone incidence in Chinese patients: a retrospective analysis of X-rays following trauma or progressive pain onset. Surg Radiol Anat. 2014;36:167-72.
- 25. Miller TT, Staron RB, Feldman F, et al. The symptomatic accessory tarsal navicular bone: assessment with MR imaging. Radiology. 1995;195:849-53.
- 26. Koo BS, Song Y, Lee S, et al. Prevalence and distribution of sesamoid bones and accessory ossicles of the foot as determined by digital tomosynthesis. Clin Anat. 2017;30:1072-6.
- 27. Dharap AS, Al-Hashimi H, Kassab S, Abu-Hijleh MF. Incidence and ossification of sesamoid bones in the hands and feet: a radiographic study in an Arab population. Clin Anat. 2007;20:416-23.
- 28. Seki Y, Hoshino Y, Kuroda H. Prevalence of sesamoid bones in the interphalangeal joint of the thumb and fingers: a radiographic study. Clin Anat. 2013;26:823-6.
- 29. Akkoc RF, Aksu F, Emre E, et al. The morphology of fabella and its prevalence in Turkish society. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2022;26:1164-9.



The Effect of Uterocervical Angle on Treatment Efficacy in First-Trimester Pregnancy Terminations

Image: Barbar Bar Barbar B

¹Bursa İnegöl Public Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Türkiye

²Bursa Esentepe Private Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Türkiye

³Health Sciences University Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Türkiye ⁴VM Medical Park Bursa Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: We aimed to evaluate the effectiveness and usability of the uterocervical angle, which we examined ultrasonographically before misoprostol treatment, which we used in first-trimester pregnancy terminations, and its relationship with the abortion time.

Material and Method: This prospective study includes 207 pregnant women diagnosed with an ex-fetus in utero hospitalized for medical termination in a single center. These patients were divided into two groups patients whose treatment was completed in the first cycle and who needed additional cycles. The characteristics of all pregnant women, abortion times, and misoprostol doses used were compared with uterocervical angle and cervical length and analyzed between groups.

Results: The mean age of the patients in the entire study group was 30.1±6.3, the median uterocervical angle was 112 degrees, and the cervical length was 36 mm. Increasing cesarean number and increasing uterocervical angle degree were positively correlated with increasing abortion time. The number of cesarean sections and the degree of uterocervical angle differ significantly between the group whose treatment was completed in the first cycle and the groups that needed additional cycles. In the treatment groups with elevated uterocervical angle degrees, the first cycle was higher than the successful group. Additional dose and cycle requirements arise if the uterocervical angle is >110 degrees.

Conclusion: Evaluation of the uterocervical angle in first-trimester medical terminations may guide the clinician in the early completion of treatment. With this evaluation before medical treatment, the duration of hospitalization can be shortened, and the need for surgical intervention for patients can be reduced.

Keywords: Pregnancy, first trimester, prenatal diagnosis, misoprostol, abortion missed

INTRODUCTION

Abortion is among the most common complications in pregnancy. It is the most common cause of vaginal bleeding in the first and second trimesters (1). It can be evaluated into two groups spontaneous or induced abortion according to how it occurs. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) definition in 1977, The expulsion of a fetus and its appendages before the 20th gestational week or less than 500 grams out of the uterine cavity is abortion (2).

In clinical pregnancy follow-up, measurement of β -hCG and progesterone levels, abdominal/transvaginal ultrasound (tvusg) evaluation is performed. The threshold level of

 β -hCG, at which the intrauterine gestational sac should be strictly monitored, is called the "differential zone" (3). For transvaginal ultrasonography, β -hCG is 2000-3000 mlU/mL, while intrauterine gestational sac monitoring is expected (4). With transvaginal ultrasonography, the embryonic pole is seen from the sixth week. Crownrump length (CRL) is the measurement of the echogenic area between the embryonic head and rump poles. CRL increases by an average of 1 mm per day (5).

Spontaneous abortion, which has a wide range, is around 15-40%, and most of them occur before the 12th gestational week. Approximately 30-50% of conceptions and approximately 15% of clinically diagnosed pregnancies

CITATION

Akin HY, Cift T, Karasin SS, Toksoy Karasin Z. The Effect of Uterocervical Angle on Treatment Efficacy in First-Trimester Pregnancy Terminations. Med Records. 2024;6(1):58-63. DOI:1037990/medr.1379517

Received: 22.10.2023 Accepted: 22.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Suleyman Serkan Karasin, Health Sciences University Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Türkiye **E-mail**: sskarasin@icloud.com

result in miscarriage. Chromosomal abnormalities are present in 70 percent of pregnancy losses before 20 weeks (6,7). Medical abortion is the termination of pregnancy by using pharmaceuticals to induce a process similar to a miscarriage. Mifepristone (8), misoprostol (9), or combinations are frequently used globally in the medical approach.

In our clinical experience, we have applied a misoprostol regimen following the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) guidelines for many years, and we standardize the treatment protocols (10,11). The efficacy of misoprostol is affected by many factors such as gestational age, route of administration, dose, and dose range (12-15).

It is still controversial to apply direct dilatation & curettage or to wait for the medical treatment process in cases of missed abortion in the first trimester and early weeks. In this study, we aimed to measure the uterocervical angle (UCA) ultrasonographically to evaluate the effectiveness of misoprostol treatment for the termination of fetuses diagnosed in utero ex during the first trimester of pregnancy. With this pre-treatment evaluation, we can avoid possible side effects of the drug (diarrhea, vomiting, headache, fatigue, breast tenderness, and fever) and unnecessary medical treatment and increase patient comfort by reducing possible complications and length of hospital stay.

In this way, we aimed to evaluate the reliability and usability of the UCA and its relationship with the abortion time.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This research article was a prospective study at the Health Sciences University Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital Gynecology and Obstetrics department. Approved by the local ethics committee with the decision number 2011-KAEK-25 2020/09-06, it covers 207 pregnant women diagnosed with intrauterine ex fetus between 01 November 2020 - 30 April 2021 for a medical termination. Both written and verbal consent was obtained from all of our patients.

First trimester (under 13 weeks), pregnant women aged 20-40 years were included in the study. Under 20 and over 40 years of age, with any comorbidity (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, malignancies, impaired bleeding diathesis, etc.), with a history of uterine anomalies with signs of acute infection, and a fetus with anomaly were out of the study.

We added cervical length and UCA measurements in addition to traditional ultrasonographic measurements (gestational week, gestational sac, crown-rump Length, fetal cardiac activity, location of gestational sac, placentation measurements). The UCA is the segment measured between the lower uterine part and the cervical canal, generating a measurable angle as in the literature (16). The calipers were placed where the anterior and

posterior lips of the cervix connect the internal and external os along the endocervical canal. The first line was from the internal os to the external os. If the cervix was curved, the first line was also drawn from the internal os to the external os straight. Then, a second line was drawn to delineate the lower uterine segment. This line was traced up the anterior uterine segment to a distance allowed by the preloaded image. Ideally, the second line would reach 2-3cm up the lower uterine segment to show an adequate measurement. The anterior angle in between the two lines was measured with a protractor.

During the measurement, the patients were standardized, and the measurements were made on the same gynecological examination table and with the same ultrasound device. All dimensions were applied by an experienced sonographer (A.Y.H.) on the same ultrasound with a 5-MHz transabdominal transducer (Ultrasound System Voluson S6; Europe - EAGM). At the same time, the bladder and rectum were empty.

Misoprostol (200 micrograms per tablet) therapy is standardized and routinely used in our department, as well as recommended in World Health Organization (WHO) and FIGO 2017 clinical guidelines (10,17). Four tablets vaginal misoprostol were applied to the group without a previous cesarean section, three vaginal misoprostol was applied to those who had a previous cesarean section, and two vaginal misoprostol was administered to those who had a previous cesarean section. The first dose of misoprostol, determined after the ultrasonography procedure was completed, was applied to the patients on the gynecological examination table. Repeated doses were administered vaginally in the patient's bed to patients who did not abort within the first 8 hours.

The amount and doses of misoprostol used after the patients aborted were recorded in the case report forms and the hours from the patient orders. Curettage procedures were performed under sterile conditions and anesthesia by carmen cannulas for the patients who had an incomplete abortion in the control tvusg. After the procedure, the patients were discharged in good general condition and had no bleeding. The patient group included in the study was divided into 2. The first group of patients whose treatment was completed during the first 8 hours of treatment; The patients who needed additional cycles for treatment protocol, the patients were divided into three groups according to the aborted cycle at 8-hour intervals and reevaluated.

Statistical Analysis

Windows-based SPSS 24.0 statistical analysis program (SPSS Inc., USA) was used for appropriate statistical analysis. Variables were analyzed using visual (histograms, probability graphs) and analytical methods (Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov) to determine whether the data showed a normal distribution. Variables mean±standard deviation (X±SD), mean difference between groups, 95% confidence interval (95% CI), median (min-max), frequency (n) and percentage (%). Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare non-normally distributed variables in a twogroup analysis. Variables containing more than two groups were analyzed with Kruskal Wallis tests, as they did not show normal distribution. Spearman tests were performed to show the correlations between non-normally distributed variables. In the first cycle of successful prediction, binary logistic regression analysis analyzed independent predictors of misoprostol treatment. Model compatibility was found to be significant at p<0.05. The degree of UCA was found to have a higher predictive effect than the number of vaginal delivery parameters, and receiver curve characteristic analysis (ROC analysis), which could determine the cutoff value, was applied. However, we divided the volunteers into three groups according to their aborted cycle at 8-hour intervals. By multinomial regression analysis, the degree of UCA was significantly predictive in the groups that aborted in the first 8 hours compared to the groups that aborted after 16 hours.

RESULTS

The descriptive analysis showing the demographic and clinical characteristics of cases terminated with Misoprostol in first trimester pregnancies is shown in Table 1. The mean age in the entire study group was 30.1±6.3. According to the head-rump distance, the median number of pregnancies in the study group was 3, and the median gestational age was 55 days. The median value of the UCA degree, which we evaluated ultrasonographically, was 112 degrees and the cervical length was 36 mm, while the median abortion time of the patients was 10.4 hours. While the number of patients who aborted in the first 8-hour treatment cycle was 86 (40%), The number of patients whose treatment was not completed in the first two cycles and who required additional treatments was determined as 59 (28.5%). All of the findings are shown in Table 1.
 Table 1. Analyzes of demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants included in the study

Characteristics of pregnant women and	Participants (n=207)
clinical findings	Median (min-max)
Age (years)	30.1±6.3
Body mass index	26.2 (17.1-43)
Parity	2 (0-9)
Gestational sac diameter (mm)	33.5 (10-81)
Crown-rump length (mm)	15 (2-63.1)
Gestational age according to crown-rump length (days)	55 (40-90)
Cervical length (mm)	36 (10-52)
Uterocervical angle (degrees)	112 (32-172)
Misoprostol dosage (tablets)	6 (2-16)
Time to miscarriage (hours)	10.4 (2.5-30.1)
First cycle abortion (n; %)	86 (41.5%)
Abortion in the second cycle (n; %)	62 (30%)
Abortion in other cycles (n; %)	59 (28.5%)

mm: millimeter, n: number, min: minimum, max: maximum

First-trimester pregnant groups terminated with Misoprostol were divided into two groups according to the abortion time and analyzed in Table 2. Accordingly, the first group of the groups whose treatment was completed during the first 8-hour treatment period; The groups that needed additional cycles for treatment formed the second group. Accordingly, the number of cesarean section deliveries (p=0.004) and the degree of UCA (p=0.002) differed significantly between the two groups. As the degree of UCA increases, the need for additional misoprostol cycles increases statistically and clinically.

Table 2. Comparison of clinical findings according to additional dose misoprostol requirement							
	First cycle successful group (n=86)	Group requiring additional doses (n=121)					
	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)	р				
Age (years)	29±4.8	31±5.3	0.32				
Body mass index	26.6 (17-43)	25.6 (18.5-39.4)	0.31				
Parity	2 (0-9)	2 (0-8)	0.81				
Number of vaginal births	1 (0-8)	1 (0-8)	0.09				
Number of cesarean births	0 (0-2)	0 (0-2)	0.004				
Gestational sac (mm)	34 (15-81)	32.8 (10-81)	0.43				
Crown-rump length (mm)	16 (2-63)	14 (2.4-63.1)	0.52				
Gestational age (days)	57 (40-90)	55 (40-89)	0.47				
Cervical length (mm)	36 (10-46)	35 (21-52)	0.31				
Uterocervical angle (degrees)	110 (32-172)	115 (50-160)	0.002				

Descriptive analyzes are presented using mean±SD, median (min-max) and (n;%) for normally, non-normally distributed and categorical variables, respectively. Student's t test and Mann-Whitney U test p<0.05 was considered significant. mm: millimeter, n: number, min: minimum, max: maximum

Binary logistic regression analysis was evaluated between the two groups to determine the most compatible independent variable that could predict termination success in the first treatment cycle. Accordingly, the firstdose misoprostol successful group was accepted as the reference category. The UCA was significantly higher in the repeated dose groups than in the reference group (p=0.009). Each 1-degree increase in the UCA increases the need for additional cycles 1.02 times (Table 3). were created for the degree of UCA, which predicted successful termination with Misoprostol. The area under the curve (AUC), sensitivity (sen.), specificity (spe.), and Youden index were calculated. According to the first dose successful group, a cut-off value was determined for the UCA. Accordingly, if the UCA of the patient, which we evaluated ultrasonographically, is >110 degrees, additional dose and cycle requirements arise with a probability of 63%, a sensitivity of 60%, and a specificity of 55.5% (Table 4, Figure 1)

Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC curves)

Table 3. Logistic regression model for additional dose misoprostol requirement					
	В	Wald	Odds ratio	95% CI	р
Additional dose misoprostol requirement	0.018	6.850	1.018	1.005-1.032	0.009
•	-0.151	2.539	0.860	0.714-1.035	0.111

Cl (95%); confidence interval, Wald: test statistic value. Binary logistic regression was used because the dependent variable consisted of 2 groups. Enter method is used. The first cycle successful group was taken as the reference category. Variables that were found to be significant in the previous analysis and with a type 1 error margin level close to 0.05 were included in the analysis. Hosmer-Lemeshow model fit was found p<0.05

Table 4. ROC analysis table of uterocervical angle degree in terms of additional cycle needs in misoprostol treatment success						
Area under ROC curve (95% CI)	Р	Cut-off (Youden)	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV
0.633 (0.558-0.709)	0.001	110	60%	55.5%	55.6%	46.1%

CI: confidence interval, PPD: positive predictive value, NPV: negative predictive value



Figure 1. ROC analysis curve of uterocervical angle degree in terms of prolonged treatment in misoprostol treatment success

DISCUSSION

This study examined patients who were administered misoprostol for medical abortion. Our evaluations found that as the degree of UCA increased, higher doses of misoprostol were needed, and a more extended treatment period was required. The number of pregnancies and the number of previous cesarean sections were associated with the degree of UCA. It is seen that the UCA decreases as the gestational sac size and cervical length increase. Increasing cesarean section number and increasing UCA degree were positively correlated with increasing abortion time.

Epidemiologically, about 90% of recurrent pregnancy

losses are experienced in the first trimester. Among the causes of abortion, there are many reasons such as medical disorders, environmental factors, uterine or cervical anatomical problems (18).

The cervical length is the most commonly used ultrasonographically used parameter that gives information about the cervix. However, in recent years, the angle measurement between the lower uterine segment and the cervical canal has become popular in many subjects, especially in predicting birth and preterm labor (16,19).

The angulation (UCA) between the uterus and cervix during pregnancy due to structural changes and pressure can give information about labor. This measurement plays a decisive role in estimating the abortion period of the patients.

Depending on the angle of inclination in the pregnant uterus, the cervical canal closes with pressure at a narrow angle or opens with compression in case of a wide-angle (20). The relationship between this change in cervical angle and preterm birth may also be valuable for predicting first trimester abortions.

In a study conducted on multiparous women in the literature, UCA and cervical length were measured by transvaginal ultrasonography before treatment in secondtrimester pregnancy terminations. Later, an intracervical Foley catheter was placed in the patients, and then an oxytocin infusion was given. After the patients were aborted, the termination times were compared. It was found that the UCA had a significant effect in patients who aborted in the first 24 hours compared to those who

aborted in the first 48 hours (19).

In another study conducted on primiparous women, transvaginal ultrasonography before treatment in secondtrimester pregnancy terminations measured UCA and cervical length. Then, misoprostol treatment was applied to the patients, and the abortion times of the patients were compared. Patients who aborted in the first 24-hour period had higher UCAs than those who aborted late. In this study, groups with UCA >105 were given a shorter-term misoprostol treatment. Therefore, less medication was required, and it was shown that they aborted in a shorter time (21).

The fact that both cervical length and UCA can be measured with the same method or even from the same ultrasound image allows both to be evaluated simultaneously. Many studies on the advantages of UCA measurement have been published recently and continue to be published.

In a study by Pruksanusak et al.; The reliability of UCA and cervical length measurements were compared. The UCA and cervical length were measured separately by three specialists for the 16-24 weeks of pregnant women who participated in the study. Accordingly, UCA measurements showed less variability compared to cervical length measurements. It was stated that UCA measurement is more reliable than cervical length measurement (22).

In a prospective controlled study in which Sallam et al. investigated the measurement of UCA before embryo transfer, measuring the UCA with ultrasound prior to embryo transfer improves clinical pregnancy and implantation rates in patients undergoing in-vitro fertilization and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (23).

In a retrospective case-control study by Sochacki et al., UCA measurement was made and statistically evaluated in the first and second trimesters. A significant difference was found between the median UCA of women who gave birth preterm and the UCA of women who gave birth at term. It was observed that the probability of spontaneous preterm delivery increased in those with a wider angle, and the UCA increased as the gestational week progressed. Despite the limitations of this study, it showed that UCA measured in the first trimester might be a predictive parameter for spontaneous preterm delivery (20).

Our study has some limitations. The first of these is that the study was single-centered. The other one is interobserver variability, which cannot be evaluated because a single clinician performed ultrasonography during the study.

We excluded pregnant women with chronic diseases, uterine anomalies, signs of acute vaginal or cervical infection, previous pelvic surgery, and fetuses with anomalies. The fact that we excluded all pregnant women with non-standardization findings from the study constituted the study's strengths. At the same time, to standardize all patients, they were evaluated with the same ultrasound device on the same gynecological table while the bladder and rectum were empty. The relationship between UCA and abortion duration in second-trimester medical terminations has been investigated, and no comprehensive research has yet been conducted to evaluate UCA in first-trimester medical terminations. In this respect, our work is a candidate to be a valuable and preliminary work.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, evaluating the UCA for first-trimester medical terminations may guide the clinician, especially in terms of early completion of the treatment. With this evaluation before medical treatment, the duration of hospitalization can be shortened, and the need for surgical intervention for patients can be reduced. Evaluating UCA before medical treatment may be valuable for patients, we plan to terminate with misoprostol treatment.

In order to understand the clinical importance and role of the UCA and obtain more precise data, studies with larger patient groups are needed to support this study.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Approved by the local ethics committee with the decision number 2011-KAEK-25 2020/09-06.

REFERENCES

- 1. Farrell T, Owen P. The significance of extrachorionic membrane separation in threatened miscarriage. BJOG. 1996;103:926-8.
- Cunningham FG, Leveno KJ, Bloom SL, et al. In: Williams Obstetrics. 7th edition. Mcgraw-hill New York, NY, USA, 2014;28-1125.
- Ergün E. First trimester ultrasonography examination. Trd Sem. 2017;5:185-201.
- Morin L, Cargill YM, Glanc P. Ultrasound evaluation of first trimester complications of pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2016;38:982-8.
- 5. Callen PW. Ultrasonography in Obstetrics and Gynecology E-Book. Elsevier Health Sciences; 2011.
- Soler A, Morales C, Mademont-Soler I, et al. Overview of chromosome abnormalities in first trimester miscarriages: a series of 1,011 consecutive chorionic villi sample karyotypes. Cytogenet Genome Res. 2017;152:81-9.
- Romero ST, Geiersbach KB, Paxton CN, et al. Differentiation of genetic abnormalities in early pregnancy loss. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2015;45:89-94.
- 8. Creinin MD, Pymar HC, Schwartz JL. Mifepristone 100 mg in abortion regimens. Obstet Gynecol. 2001;98:434-9.
- 9. Ngoc NTN, Blum J, Raghavan S, et al. Comparing two early medical abortion regimens: mifepristone+misoprostol vs. misoprostol alone. Contraception. 2011;83:410-7.
- Nomura RMY, Nakamura-Pereira M, Brizot M de L, et al. Misoprostol use in obstetrics. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet. 2023;45:356-67.

- 11. Morris JL, Winikoff B, Dabash R, et al. FIGO's updated recommendations for misoprostol used alone in gynecology and obstetrics. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2017;138:363-6.
- 12. Zieman M, Fong SK, Benowitz NL, et al. Absorption kinetics of misoprostol with oral or vaginal administration. Obstet Gynecol. 1997;90:88-92.
- 13. Tang OS, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Ho PC. Misoprostol: pharmacokinetic profiles, effects on the uterus and side-effects. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99:160-7.
- 14. Meckstroth KR, Whitaker AK, Bertisch S, et al. Misoprostol administered by epithelial routes: drug absorption and uterine response. Obstet Gynecol. 2006;108:582-90.
- 15. Schaff EA, DiCenzo R, Fielding SL. Comparison of misoprostol plasma concentrations following buccal and sublingual administration. Contraception. 2005;71:22-5.
- 16. Dziadosz M, Bennett T-A, Dolin C, et al. Uterocervical angle: a novel ultrasound screening tool to predict spontaneous preterm birth. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;215:376-e1-7.
- 17. Beaman J, Prifti C, Schwarz EB, et al. Medication to manage abortion and miscarriage. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35:2398-405.
- El Hachem H, Crepaux V, May-Panloup P, et al. Recurrent pregnancy loss: current perspectives. Int J Womens Health. 2017;17:331-45.

- 19. Aslan Cetin B, Aydogan Mathyk B, Koroglu N, et al. The efficiency of the uterocervical angle in the prediction of second-trimester pregnancy terminations in multiparous women. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2019;32:3812-7.
- 20. Sochacki-Wojcicka N, Wojcicki J, Bomba-Opon D, Wielgos M. Anterior cervical angle as a new biophysical ultrasound marker for prediction of spontaneous preterm birth. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2015;46:377-8.
- 21. Cetin BA, Aydogan Mathyk B, Tuten A, et al. The predictive nature of uterocervical angles in the termination of second trimester pregnancy. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2019;32:1952-7.
- 22. Pruksanusak N, Sawaddisan R, Kor-Anantakul O, et al. Comparison of reliability between uterocervical angle and cervical length measurements by various experienced operators using transvaginal ultrasound. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020;33:1419-26.
- 23. Sallam HN, Agameya AF, Rahman AF, et al. Ultrasound measurement of the uterocervical angle before embryo transfer: a prospective controlled study. Hum Reprod. 2002;17:1767-72.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Bibliometric Analysis of Articles on Methanol Poisoning in Web of Science Database

Pelin Koca¹, DHanefi Ozbek

İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İzmir, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Methanol, which is a type of toxic alcohol, can cause poisoning through voluntary or involuntary exposure. It is known that the frequency of methanol poisoning has increased especially recently. The aim of this research is bibliometric analysis of scientific studies conducted on methanol poisoning in Web of Sciences (WoS) database.

Material and Method: Studies in Web of Science database including the words "methanol" or "methyl alcohol" in their title and the words "poisoning" or "poison" or "toxicity" or "toxic" or "overdose" as the topic were reviewed as of 21.08.2023. "Web of Science Categories", "Web of Science Index" and "Document Types" categories were used as filtering options. Language of article, year of publication, the journal in which it was published, the publishing company to which the journal is affiliated, authors of the article, institutions of authors, the country where the research was conducted, whether financial support was received and citation status of the research were analysed and evaluated.

Results: A total of 548 articles were included in the research. It was found that language of most of the studies were English (n=536; 97.8%) and they were published in journals that were in Science Citation Index-Expanded (SCI-E) (n=451; 82.3%) indices. It was found that the highest number of articles were published in 2020 and the country in which the highest number of articles was published was the United States of America (n=143; 22.7%).

Conclusion: The present research performs a bibliometric analysis of articles on methanol poisoning in WoS database. The data found in this research can be a valuable source for other researchers and a guide future studies.

Keywords: Methanol poisoning, bibliometric study, Web of Science

INTRODUCTION

Methanol, which is also known as methyl alcohol (CH3OH), is an industrial solvent and also an odorless, colorless, toxic alcohol found especially in bootleg, paint removers and antifreezes. It can lead to voluntary (suicide, illegal alcohol consumption) or involuntary poisoning (1,2). The incidence of methyl alcohol poisoning has increased dramatically in Iran, especially after 2018 (3).

Gastrointestinal absorption of methanol in the body is quick (shorter than 10 minutes) and its volume of distribution is large (0.7L/kg). It is metabolized in the liver and only 2-5% is excreted via the kidney. Methanol poisoning may occur after through oral, dermal or inhalation intake. Adults are intentionally abuse this substance by using methanol instead of ethyl alcohol (ethanol, C2H5OH) or they are

frequently exposed to methanol in window washer fluid for suicidal purposes. It is stated that especially alcoholic or suicidal individuals or young children who are just discovering their surroundings are at risk. Lethal dose of methanol has been indicated as approximately 30-240 mL or 1 gr/kg. Toxic effects of methanol occur 12-24 hours after exposure. Methanol is converted to formaldehyde and formic acid in the liver and causes various clinical symptoms and signs. While moderate methanol poisoning may cause non-specific symptoms such as abdominal pain, nausea and acidosis, severe methanol poisoning may cause multiple organ failure (acute renal failure, liver failure, dysrhythmias, coma), and papilledema (edema of the optic nerve), and especially visual disturbances such as appearance of snow, blurred vision or blindness. Methanol poisoning may result in coma, irreversible central system

CITATION

Koca P, Ozbek H. Bibliometric Analysis of Articles on Methanol Poisoning in Web of Science Database. Med Records. 2024;6(1):64-70. DOI:1037990/medr.1397127

Received: 28.10.2023 Accepted: 28.12.2023 Published: 10.01.2024 Corresponding Author: Pelin Koca, İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: pelinozkan19@gmail.com damage or death (2-6). It is difficult to diagnose methanol poisoning and requires highly suspicious anamnesis. Diagnosis is based on clinical signs and symptoms and supported by examining the serum methanol level, if available at the health institution. Symptomatic treatment is essential. Ethanol or fomepizol is used as antidote in methanol poisoning. Hemodialysis is an extracorporeal method that can be preferred to remove methanol and formic acid from the body (6,7).

For both scientists and the companies that provide financial support to them, it is very important how valuable a scientific research is. However, it is guite difficult to determine the value of a scientific research. Bibliometric analyses are important research methods that systematically assess scientific activity in a particular field of research over a specific time interval. Therefore, they provide both quantitative and qualitative information about the functioning of this field of research. Bibliometric analyses allow us to examine the impact of studies and to learn about new trends. Especially in the field of medicine, they also make some information about unusual symptoms or signs and rare diseases more accessible. Recent research has shown that with the development of interdisciplinary methodologies and increasing technological advances in analysing big data, bibliometric analyses have become more popular and are being performed more frequently than in the past (8-10).

Methanol poisoning is a preventable and important public health problem. There are no bibliometric studies conducted on methanol poisoning. The aim of this research is to access and bibliometrically analyse studies on methanol poisoning in Web of Sciences (WoS) database.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

In order to achieve the aim of the research, search engine of Web of Sciences (WoS) database was used and studies containing the words "methanol" or "methyl alcohol" in the title and at the same time having the words "poisoning", "poison" or "toxicity", "toxic" or "overdose" as the topic were analysed. Studies included in the WoS database related to methanol poisoning until 21.08.2023 were evaluated retrospectively.

The categories "Web of Science Categories", "Web of Science Index" and "Document Types" were used from the filtering options in WoS database. Articles in Science Citation Index (SCI), Science Citation Index-Expanded (SCI-E) and Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI) included in "toxicology", "pharmacology, pharmacy", "medicine general internal", "emergency medicine" or "medicine research experimental" categories were included in the research. The articles included in the research were evaluated by analysing the language of article, year of publication, the journal in which it was published, the publishing company to which the journal is affiliated, authors of the article, institutions of authors, the country where the research was conducted, whether financial support was received and citation status of the

research.

Statistical Analysis

The data obtained from WoS were transferred to Microsoft Office Excel and analysed with SPSS-18 (SPSS INC., Chicago, IL, USA) statistical package program. The results of descriptive analyses were presented as number (n) and percentage (%).

Ethics Committee Approval

Approval was obtained from İzmir Bakırçay University Non-interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with the decision number 2023/1182.

RESULTS

Among all studies included in the WoS database, all studies on methanol poisoning published until 21.08.2023 were researched. A total of 2.853 publications including any one of the words "poisoning" or "poison" or "toxicity" or "toxic" or "overdose" as the topic and those including "methanol" or "methyl alcohol" in the title were accessed. By using a filtering method, 548 articles were found in SCI, SCI-E, ESCI indices which were in "toxicology" or "pharmacology, pharmacy" or "medicine general internal" or "emergency medicine" or "medicine research experimental" categories (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Filtering method used on the WoS database

The language of publication of the articles included in the research were English (n=536; 97.8%), French (n=4; 0.7%) and Turkish (n=4; 0.7%), respectively. While the total number of citations to these publications was 5.334, average number of citations per publication was 17. The information for the top 10 articles that had the most citations is shown in Table 1. It was found that 373 (68.0%) of the articles included in the research received financial support from a total of 188 institutions during research and/or publication. It was found that among the institutions that provided financial support, United States Department of Health Human Services (HHS) (n=41; 10.9%), National Institutes of Health (NIH) (n=40; 10.7%), National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS) (n=25; 6.7%) were the institutions that supported the highest number of studies, respectively (Table 2).

Tabl	e 1. The most cited articles	
No	Articles	Total number of citations
1	Brent, J., McMartin, K., Phillips, S., Aaron, C., & Kulig, K. (2001). Fomepizole for the treatment of methanol poisoning. New England Journal of Medicine, 344(6), 424-429.	227
2	McMartin, K. E., Ambre, J. J., & Tephly, T. R. (1980). Methanol poisoning in human subjects: role for formic acid accumulation in the metabolic acidosis. The American journal of medicine, 68(3), 414-418.	203
3	Hovda, K. E., Hunderi, O. H., Tafjord, A. B., Dunlop, O., Rudberg, N., & Jacobsen, D. (2005). Methanol outbreak in Norway 2002–2004: epidemiology, clinical features and prognostic signs. Journal of internal medicine, 258(2), 181-190.	164
4	Paasma, R., Hovda, K. E., Tikkerberi, A., & Jacobsen, D. (2007). Methanol mass poisoning in Estonia: outbreak in 154 patients. Clinical toxicology, 45(2), 152-157.	150
5	Jacobsen, D., & McMartin, K. E. (1997). Antidotes for methanol and ethylene glycol poisoning. Journal of Toxicology: Clinical Toxicology, 35(2), 127-143.	143
6	Brent, J. (2009). Fomepizole for ethylene glycol and methanol poisoning. New England Journal of Medicine, 360(21), 2216-2223.	121
7	Paine, A. J., & Dayan, A. D. (2001). Defining a tolerable concentration of methanol in alcoholic drinks. Human & experimental toxicology, 20(11), 563-568.	119
8	Kasetti, R. B., Rajasekhar, M. D., Kondeti, V. K., Fatima, S. S., Kumar, E. G. T., Swapna, S., & Rao, C. A. (2010). Antihyperglycemic and antihyperlipidemic activities of methanol: water (4: 1) fraction isolated from aqueous extract of Syzygium alternifolium seeds in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 48(4), 1078-1084.	106
9	Johlin, F. C., Fortman, C. S., Nghiem, D. D., & Tephly, T. R. (1987). Studies on the role of folic acid and folate-dependent enzymes in human methanol poisoning. Molecular pharmacology, 31(5), 557-561.	104
10	Sejersted, O. M., Jacobsen, D., Øvrebø, S., & Jansen, H. (1983). Formate concentrations in plasma from patients poisoned with methanol. Acta Medica Scandinavica, 213(2), 105-110.	104

Table 2. Institutions providing financial support				
Institutions	Number (n)	Percentage (%)*		
1 United States Department Of Health Human Services (HHS)	41	10.9		
2 National Institutes Of Health (NIH)	40	10.7		
3 Nih National Institute Of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS)	25	6.7		
4 Ministry Of Health Czech Republic	13	3.5		
5 Canadian Institutes Of Health Research Cihr	9	2.4		
6 Charles University In Prague	7	1.9		
7 Department Of Science Technology India	6	1.6		
8 European Union Eu	5	1.3		
9 National Natural Science Foundation Of China Nsfc	5	1.3		
10 Nih National Eye Institute Nei	4	1.0		
Total	373	100.0		
* Organized by total number of supported articles				

*: Organized by total number of supported articles

It was found that 451 (82.3%) of the articles included in the research were published in journals indexed in SCI-E, while 97 (17.7%) were published in journals indexed in ESCI. When the journals in which articles were published were analysed, it was found that the highest number of articles (n=32; 5.9%) were published in Journal of Ethnopharmacology, which was followed by Clinical Toxicology (n=23; 4.3%), Human Experimental Toxicology (n=15; 2.8%) and Pharmaceutical Biology (n=15; 2.8%). The list of journals which published the highest number of articles on methanol poisoning according to WoS database is shown in Table 3. When the publishing companies to which these journals were affiliated were analysed, it was found that Elsevier (n=153; 27.9%), Taylor&Francis (n=66; 12.0%) and Wiley (n=43; 7.8%) stood out (Table 4). When the countries in which studies were conducted were analysed, it was found that the highest number of studies were conducted in the United States of America (n=143; 22.7%), followed by India (n=46; 7.3%), Türkiye (n=37; 5.9%) and Iran (n=35; 5.6%) (Table 5).

Tab	e 3. Publishing tools of articles		
Jou	rnals	Number (n)	Percentage (%)*
1	Journal of Ethnopharmacology	32	5.9
2	Clinical Toxicology	23	4.3
3	Human Experimental Toxicology	15	2.8
4	Pharmaceutical Biology	15	2.8
5	Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology	15	2.8
6	Journal of Toxicology Clinical Toxicology	13	2.4
7	Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research	12	2.2
8	Teratology	10	1.9
9	Toxicology	10	1.9
10	Basic Clinical Pharmacology Toxicology	8	1.5
Tota	ıl	536	100.0
Con	ference		
1	Annual Meeting of the North American Congress of Clinical Toxicology	2	13.3
2	10th International Symposium on Biological Monitoring Isbm	1	6.7
3	19th International Neurotoxicology Conference	1	6.7
4	35th Annual Meeting of the Society of Toxicology	1	6.7
5	3rd European Congress of Toxicologic Pathology	1	6.7
6	3rd International Conference on Innovations in Cancer Research and Regenerative Medicine	1	6.7
7	49th Annual Meeting of the Teratology Society	1	6.7
8	7th International Congress of Toxicology	1	6.7
9	Annual Meeting of the Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology	1	6.7
10	Meeting of The North American Congress of Clinical Toxicology	1	6.7
11	National Toxicology and Clinical Toxicology Symposium	1	6.7
12	North American Congress of Clinical Toxicology	1	6.7
13	Southeastern Regional Meeting of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine	1	6.7
14	Meeting of the North American Congress of Clinical Toxicology	1	6.7
Tota	al de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la const	15	100.0
Boo	ks		
	Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology	1	100.0
Tota	al de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la const	1	100.0
*: Ea	ach group was organized by the total number of articles within it		

*: Each group was organized by the total number of articles within it

Tabl	Table 4. Publishing companies to which the journals were affiliated				
	Publishing Companies	Number (n)	Percentage (%)*		
1	Elsevier	153	27.9		
2	Taylor & Francis	66	12.0		
3	Wiley	43	7.8		
4	Springer Nature	31	5.7		
5	Sage	20	3.6		
6	Marcel Dekker Inc	14	2.5		
7	Pharmacotherapy Group	12	2.2		
8	Lippincott Williams & Wilkins	11	2.0		
9	Mdpi	8	1.5		
10	Aves	7	1.3		
	Others	183	33.5		
Tota	1	548	100.0		
*: Or	ganized by total number of articles				

Table 5. Countries where studies are most frequently conducted				
Countries	Number (n)	Percentage (%)*		
1 United States of America	143	22.7		
2 India	46	7.3		
3 Türkiye	37	5.9		
4 Iranian	35	5.6		
5 Nigeria	33	5.2		
6 Canada	30	4.8		
7 Czech Republic	29	4.6		
8 Malaysia	21	3.3		
9 Norway	20	3.2		
10 Chinese	16	2.5		
Others	220	34.9		
Total	630	100.0		
*: Organized by total number of articles				

When the authors were analysed, it was found that Sergey Zakharov (n=24; 3.3%) was the author with the highest number of studies, followed by Tomas Navratil (2.5%) with 19 articles, Knut Erik Hovda (2.2%) with 16 articles, and Daniela Pelclova (2.08%) with 15 articles (Table 6). The institutions to which the authors were affiliated were

mostly from Charles University Prague (n=28; 3.7%) and General University Hospital Prague (n=28; 3.7%) (Table 7). It was found that the highest number of studies were conducted in 2020 (n=34; 6.2%) and 2021 (n=31; 5.6%) (Graphic 1).

Table 6. Number of articles published by authors				
Authors	Number (n)	Percentage (%)*		
1 Zakharov, S.	24	3.3		
2 Navratil, T.	19	2.6		
3 Hovda, K.E.	16	2.2		
4 Pelclova, D.	15	2.1		
5 Vaneckova, M.	14	1.9		
6 Diblik, P.	14	1.9		
7 Kotikova, K.	13	1.8		
8 Seidl, Z.	12	1.7		
9 Rogers, J.M.	10	1.4		
10 Nurieva, O.	9	1.2		
Others	575	79.9		
Total	721	100.0		
*: Organized by total number of articles				

Table 7. Institutions affiliated with the authors				
Institutions	Number (n)	Percentage *(%)		
1 Charles University Prague	28	3.7		
2 General University Hospital Prague	28	3.7		
3 University of Oslo	20	2.6		
4 Czech Academy of Sciences	19	2.5		
5 J Heyrovsky Institute of Physical Chemistry of The Czech Academy of Sciences	19	2.5		
6 United States Environmental Protection Agency	19	2.5		
7 University Of North Carolina	16	2.1		
8 Shahid Beheshti University Medical Sciences	15	2.0		
9 University Of North Carolina Chapel Hill	15	2.0		
10 Egyptian Knowledge Bank Ekb	12	1.6		
Others	573	74.8		
Total	764	100.0		
*: Organized by total number of articles				


Graphic 1. Number of articles by year

DISCUSSION

The aim of scientific research on methanol poisoning is to define the variety of clinical signs and symptoms that may occur in the patient and/or to decrease mortality and morbidity by increasing the success of treatment. The contribution of these studies to literature is evaluated by citations. A total of 548 articles were included in this research and the total number of citations to these articles were 5.334, while the average number of citations per article was 17. These values obtained with the increasing number of studies especially after 2010 show the contribution of studies conducted on methanol poisoning to literature.

It was found that 68.0% of the articles included in the research had received financial support from 10 institutions in total. The institutions that provided the most support were found as HHS, NIH, NIEHS, respectively. The fact that more than 2/3 of the studies conducted on methanol poisoning were financially supported by large institutions was considered to indicate that scientific research on methanol poisoning is given the required importance by these institutions. It can be said that if these studies continue to receive financial support, the number and quality of research to be conducted on the subject will increase and also the points that are not still fully explained in the process from diagnosis to treatment related to methanol poisoning will be enlightened.

As a result of the filters used in the research, it was found that a total of 548 articles were published on methanol poisoning from 1980 to 21.08.2023 and studies are published on the subject almost every year, although the number varies. Graph 1 shows a significant increase in the number of articles published especially in the last 10-13 years. It was found that the highest number of articles conducted was 34 (6.20%) in 2020, followed by 31 (5.66%) articles in 2021, 29 (5.29%) articles in 2022 and 29 (5.29%) articles in 2014.

When the journals in which the articles included in the research were published were examined; it was found that Journal of Ethnopharmacology (n=32, 5.9%), Clinical Toxicology (n=23, 4.3%) and Human Experimental Toxicology (n=15, 2.8%) were the journals the articles were most frequently published, while Elsevier (n=153, 27.9%), Taylor & Francis (n=66, 12.0%) and Wiley (n=43, 7.8%) were the publishing companies the journals were affiliated to. It can be said that these journals and the publishing companies they were affiliated to contributed

more to literature when compared with the other journals and publishing companies on methanol poisoning. Based on these data, it can be thought that the recognition and reputation of these journals and publishing companies in toxicology community is the reason of preference by authors.

When the countries from which articles on methanol poisoning were sent were examined, it can be seen that the countries which contributed most to this subject were the United States of America (n=143, 22.7%), India (n=46, 7.3%) and Türkiye (n=37, 5.9%). It can be said that a significant number of studies that contributed to literature are from Türkiye. Table 6 and Table 7 show the authors and the institutions of authors in studies. It was found that Zakharov, S. (n=24, 3.3%), Nevratil, T. (n=19, 2.6%) and Hovda, K.E. (n=16, 2.2%) were the authors who conducted the highest number of studies on methanol poisoning. When the institutions of authors were examined, the most frequent institutions were found as Charles University Prague (n=28, 3.7%), General University Hospital Prague (n=28, 3.7%) and University of Oslo (n=20, 2.6%). Considering the number of articles these authors and institutions contributed to literature, it can be thought that this situation may encourage other researchers and also institutions.

CONCLUSION

As a conclusion; with the analyses we conducted on methanol poisoning by using WoS database, we analysed the language, publication year, journal, publishing company of the journal, article authors, institution of the author, the country in which the research was conducted, whether financial support was received and citations. The present research is the first bibliometric research conducted on methanol poisoning by using WoS database. This research may be inspiring for bibliometric studies on other poisoning. It can be said that the data obtained from the research is a source of reference and compass for further studies to be conducted on methanol poisoning.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Approval was obtained from İzmir Bakırçay University Non-interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with the decision number 2023/1182.

REFERENCES

- 1. Becker CE. Methanol poisoning. J Emerg Med. 1983;1:51-8.
- 2. Tian M, He H, Liu Y, et al. Fatal methanol poisoning with different clinical and autopsy findings: case report and literature review. Leg Med (Tokyo). 2022;54:101995.
- 3. Najari F, Baradaran I, Najari D. Methanol poisoning and its treatment. International Journal of Medical Toxicology and Forensic Medicine. 2020;10:26639.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1397127

- 4. Kavalcı C, Sezenler E, Kavalcı G et al. Methanol poisoning case report. Akademik Acil Tıp Olgu Sunumları Dergisi. 2011;2:14-6.
- 5. Kruse JA. Methanol poisoning. Intensive Care Med. 1992;18:391-7.
- 6. Ashurst JV, Nappe T. Methanol toxicity. Treasure Island (FL). 2022, StatPearls Publishing.
- 7. Jangjou A, Moqadas M, Mohsenian L, et al. Awareness raising and dealing with methanol poisoning based on effective strategies. Environ Res. 2023;228:115886.
- 8. Ashraf K, Goodell JW, Hassan MK, Paltrinieri A. A bibliometric review of finance bibliometric papers. Finance Research Letters. 2022;47:9.
- 9. Cooper ID. Bibliometrics basics. J Med Libr Assoc. 2015;103:217-8.
- 10. Gupta SM, Naqvi WM, Mutkure KN, et al., Bibliometric analysis on bibliometric studies of case reports in the medical field. Cureus. 2022;14:e29905.





Is Post-COVID 19 Vaccination Antibody Level Related to Happiness and Stress Hormones?

©Cihat Ucar¹, [®]Faruk Disli², [®]Tugce Atcali³, [®]Sedat Yildiz²

¹Malatya Turgut Özal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Malatya, Türkiye ²İnönü University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Malatya, Türkiye ³Bingöl üniversity, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Physiology, Bingöl, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The level of antibody production in those vaccinated against coronavirus can be affected by many different situations. There is an important balance between immune response, stress and emotional state. However, it is not known how this situation affects antibody production after vaccination. This study aimed to investigate the correlation between the antibody response induced by the COVID-19 vaccine and the hormones cortisol, a marker of the stress axis, and serotonin, a marker of happiness.

Material and Method: Serum cortisol and serotonin levels were analyzed in those who tested positive (n=40) and negative (n=40) for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG induced by vaccination. Anti-SARS CoV 2 IgG, cortisol, and serotonin levels were determined by using the ELISA method. The data were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. The value of p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant. **Results:** Cortisol level (42.2±26.2 ng/ml) and serotonin level (414±246 ng/ml) were determined in subjects who tested positive for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG, while cortisol level (45.1±34.5 ng/ml) and serotonin level (372±209 ng/ml) were determined in subjects who tested negative for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG. There was no statistical difference or correlation between cortisol and serotonin levels in those with positive and negative levels of Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG (p>0.05).

Conclusion: Consequently, no effect of the stress parameter cortisol and the happiness parameter serotonin, was found in vaccineinduced immunization. It is considered that the different antibody responses in individuals may vary depending on other factors.

Keywords: COVID 19 vaccination, anti-SARS CoV 2 IgG, cortisol, serotonin

INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, a group of patients in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China, were identified with pneumonia of unknown cause. On 7 January, 2020, the Chinese Centers for Disease Control and Prevention identified a new betacoronavirus in lower respiratory tract samples from patients with pneumonia (1). This novel coronavirus was later named "severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2". (SARS-CoV-2). Unlike other coronavirus outbreaks, the virus is easily transmitted from person to person, primarily through inhalation, droplets, respiratory secretions, and direct contact. From the first day of its spread until 17 August 2021, the virus has infected more than 273 million people and caused 5.3 million fatalities (2).

A strong immunity develops after the COVID-19 infection.

This results in the formation of virus-specific antibodies. Vaccination is recommended for the formation of immunity in those, who have not been infected, and considered the only solution for disease prevention. Therefore, a better understanding of the development of humoral immunity in response to infection in individuals who have been exposed to disease or who have been vaccinated is required. This is because the development of an antibody response is affected by many factors. When the studies are reviewed, it is observed that the antibody response in individuals who have survived the disease or who have been vaccinated is different (3-5). It has been reported that an increase in Anti-SARS CoV-2 immunoglobulin-G (IgG) is proportional to the rise in the severity of the disease in infected individuals, while Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG is found to a lesser extent in asymptomatic/mild individuals and those who have been treated with immunosuppressive

CITATION

Ucar C, Disli F, Atcali T, Yildiz S. Is Post-COVID 19 Vaccination Antibody Level Related to Happiness and Stress Hormones?. Med Records. 2024;6(1):71-5. DOI:1037990/medr.1394973

Received: 27.10.2023 Accepted: 28.12.2023 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Cihat Ucar, Malatya Turgut Özal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Malatya, Türkiye

E-mail: ucarcht@gmail.com

medications (3,6). Different studies have also reported that antibody responses differ depending on age (7), gender (8), and hormones (9,10). Antibody responses have been found to be different between adults and children (11,12). Not only are different antibody responses evoked after SARS-CoV-2 infection, but different antibody responses are also elicited in vaccinated individuals who have not been infected. Vaccines approved by the World Health Organization are administered all over the world. In Türkiye, mRNA-based and inactivated vaccine forms are available. Vaccines have the ability to produce antibodies through different mechanisms. This difference may induce changes in the formation of antibodies in humans (4). Studies have shown that neutralizing antibodies against COVID-19 are produced after vaccination. However, it is not yet known how much these neutralizing antibodies are produced in each individual and how protective they are.

There is an important balance between the immune system, stress, and emotional state. A study reported that psychological stress is vital to the severity and recurrence of acute respiratory diseases (13). Long-term increases in stress hormones can trigger inflammatory responses by suppressing the cellular and humoral immune systems (14). Recent studies have reported differences in the immune responses of COVID-19 patients (15). Stress leads to activating the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and the autonomic nervous system (ANS) (16). As a result of HPA activation, the release of cortisol as an end product in the bloodstream increases (16). There is a bidirectional correlation between emotional state and serotonin. Increased serotonin hormone may affect the central nervous system and autonomic nervous system, leading to immune modulation (17). Peripheral serotonin is a potent immune modulator and affects various immune cells through its receptors (18). The hormone serotonin directly affects B lymphocytes through its receptors on B lymphocytes (18). However, the roles of serotonin hormone in immune cell functions or the formation of the immune response are not yet known.

This study aimed to investigate the correlation between the antibody response induced by the COVID-19 vaccine and the hormones cortisol, a marker of the stress axis, and serotonin, a marker of happiness.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design and Participants

The study protocol was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the scientific ethics committee (Protocol# 2022/3161). All written consent was obtained from the participants. 80 participants were included in the study. All participants were vaccinated with Sinovac/CoronaVac in two doses at 21-day intervals. Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG was measured from serum samples collected 21 days after the second dose. Two groups were formed: 40 people who tested positive for antibodies (antibody positive) and 40 people who tested negative for antibodies (antibody negative).

Cortisol and serotonin were then measured in the serum of all participants in both groups.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG

For the detection of anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG, a commercial enzyme-linked immunoassay (ELISA) test (QuantiCOR, Y Immunotek A.S.) was used. This test was approved for quantification of COVID 19 IgG antibodies in human sera by the Ministry of Health of Türkiye, General Directorate of Public Health, Department of Microbiology Reference Laboratories and Biological Products, which follows the criteria outlined by the World Health Organization (WHO). Optical density (OD) ratios were calculated by dividing the OD at 450 nm by the OD of the cut-off included in the kit. The calculated cut-off index (COI) was used as a relative measure for the titer of antibodies in serum. For IgG response, a COI of >1.0 was considered positive (19). Samples from both groups were studied on the same test plate.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for Cortisol

Following thawing, samples were centrifuged at 4000 g for 10 min and the supernatant was used for ELISA analyses as reported by Ozgocer et al. (20). Samples were diluted 5x with assay buffer and assayed in duplicate. Briefly, cortisol-BSA stock solution was diluted with carbonate buffer and added to a 96-well micro titer plate at 200 µL/ well. Following incubation overnight at +4°C and they were washed 5 times with wash buffer using eight-channel pipette. Binding sites not occupied by the coating antigen were blocked by the blocking buffer (200 µL/well) for 2 h at 37°C. Following washing steps (5 times), standard solutions or samples (40 µL/well) and diluted primer antibody (antiserum) (40 µL/well) were added in duplicate and incubated at 37°C for 45 min. Following washing 5 times, biotinylated anti-rabbit antibody was added (100 µL/well) and the plate was incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The plate was washed 5 times and the streptavidin peroxidase solution (100 µL/well) was added and the plate was incubated for 15 min at +4°C. Then, the plate was washed again for 5 times and the substrate solution (150 µL/well) was added and incubated in dark for 10 min. Following incubation, stop solution (50 µL/well) was added and the absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader. Samples from both groups were studied on the same test plate.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for Serotonin

Serotonin was measured using a test kit from DRG. Before running the test, serum was acylated and the samples were prepared. To do this, 25 ul of each of serum, control, and standards were added into 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes, and 500 ul of acylation buffer and 25 ul of acylation reagent were added into them and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature.

Pipette 25 ul of the acylated standartds, controls and samples into the appropirate wells of the serotonin microtiters strips. Pipette 100 ul of the serotonin

antiserum into all wells. Incubate 1 h at room temperate. Dsicard the contents of the wells. Wash the plate 3 x by adding 300 ul of wash buffer, discarding the content and blotting dry each time by tapping the inverted olate on absorbent material. Pipette 100 ul of the cojugate into all wells and incubate 15 minute at room temperate. Discard the contents of the wells. Wash the plate 3 x by adding 300 ul wash buffer, discarding the content and blotting dry each time by tapping the inverted olate on absorbent material. Pipette 100 ul of the substrate into all wells and incubate 15 minute at room temperate (avoid exposure to direct sunlight). Add 100 ul of the stop solution to each well. Read the absorbance of the solution in the wells within 10 minutes, using a microplate reader set to 450 nm. Samples from both groups were studied on the same test plate.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using Minitab program (MINITAB 19, PA, USA). The normal distribution of the data was evaluated with the Normality Test. Mann Whitney U test was used to compare groups.

The correlations were calculated with Spearman Rho coefficient. The data were presented as mean±standard deviation. p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Table 1 presents the results of Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG measured in those who were vaccinated with the COVID-19 vaccine and the cortisol and serotonin levels in the groups that tested positive and negative for IgG. There was no statistical difference in cortisol and serotonin levels in the groups that tested positive and negative for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG (p>0.05).

Table 2 shows the correlations between IgG, cortisol, and serotonin levels in the group that tested positive for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG. Table 3 presents the correlations between IgG, cortisol, and serotonin levels in the group that tested negative for Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG. There was no statistically significant correlation between Anti-SARS CoV-2 IgG, cortisol, and serotonin levels in both groups (p>0.05).

Table 1. Levels of anti SARS-CoV-2 IgG, cortisol and serotonin in participant					
	COVID 19 Ab (+) (n=40)	COVID 19 Ab (-) (n=40)	p value		
Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG	6.18±4.05	0.65±0.02	0.000		
Cortisol (ng/ml)	42.23±26.22	45.16±34.53	0.642		
Serotonin (ng/ml)	414±246	372.6±209.3	0.433		

Ab titer: antibody index, (serum/cutoff ratio) x10; positive >1.0. The data represents mean±standard deviation

Table 2. Correlations between Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG, cortisol and serotonin in COVID-19 Ab (+)					
Variables Cortisol (ng/ml) Serotonin (ng/ml)					
Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG	0.037 >0.05	0.244 >0.05			
Cortisol (ng/ml) -0.117 >0.05					

In each cell, upper value is R-squared, lower values is p

Table 3. Correlations between Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG, cortisol and serotonin in COVID-19 (-)					
Variables Cortisol (ng/ml) Serotonin (ng/ml)					
Anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG	0.058 >0.05	0.187 >0.05			
Cortisol (ng/ml) -0.120 >0.05					
In each cell, upper value is R-squared, lower values is p					

DISCUSSION

In this study cortisol and serotonin hormones were measured in those who were not infected with COVID-19 and who tested positive and negative for anti-SARS CoV 2 IgG with two doses of the Sinovac vaccine. Correlations between all parameters were also checked. No statistically significant difference was found between cortisol and serotonin levels in the subjects who tested positive for COVID-19 IgG and those who tested negative. No correlation was found between anti-SARS CoV 2 IgG, cortisol, and serotonin in both groups.

The COVID-19 pandemic has raised panic and anxiety all over the world. Our lifestyle and habits have dramatically changed. Unlike other viral infections, the COVID-19 pandemic has been depicted by the media as a peculiar hazard that heightens fear, tension, and anxiety. Such circumstances have profoundly affected both the immune system and the neuroendocrine system. The central nervous system, the endocrine system, and the immune system are interrelated. It is widely recognized that stress impairs the immune system (21). Evidence shows that high levels of chronic psychological stress reduce antibody responses to vaccination (22,23). Besides chronic stress, a lifestyle that fosters negative personality traits has also been associated with poor antibody responses in young and healthy individuals (24,25). Acute stress, on the other hand, has been reported to increase antibody responses. A pandemic such as COVID-19 increases anxiety in humans, which would inevitably have an effect on the generation of antibody responses. No correlation was detected between the antibody responses induced by the vaccine, and cortisol, which is considered a stress parameter in this study. Therefore, the correlation between stress and antibody responses seems to depend on other factors. Even if the vaccine was administered, the absence of an antibody response was not found to be correlated with cortisol.

Serotonin is associated with the state of happiness and is used as an anti-depressant (18). However, the correlation between serotonin and antibody responses has not yet been clarified. There is a serotonin receptor on B lymphocytes responsible for the antibody response (18). Therefore, there may be a possible correlation between serotonin and antibody responses. However, the literature includes no studies on the correlation between serotonin and antibody responses in humans. There are a few studies on animals in which serotonin does not affect (17), reduces (26), or increases the antibody response (27). The effect of the fear and anxious state induced by the COVID-19 pandemic on the antibody response has not been known. Therefore, this study analyzed the serotonin levels in individuals who were vaccinated but had different antibody levels. However, no difference was found in serotonin levels.

CONCLUSION

Consequently, no effect of the stress parameter cortisol and the happiness parameter serotonin on vaccineinduced immunization was found. It is considered that different antibody responses in individuals may vary depending on other factors.

Strength and limitation of the study: The time of collection of serum samples could not be standardized for all participants.

Financialdisclosures: The study was supported by İnönü Üniversity Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit with project number # TSG 2020-2190.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethicalapproval: Ethicalapprovalnumber 2022/3161 was received by İnönü University Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee.

REFERENCES

- Wiersinga WJ, Rhodes A, Cheng AC, et al. Pathophysiology, transmission, diagnosis, and treatment of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a review. JAMA. 2020;324:782-93.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2021) Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) weekly epidemiological update and weekly operational update. https://www.who.int/ emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/situationreports access date 27.12.2021
- 3. Carsetti R, Zaffina S, Piano Mortari E, et al. Different innate and adaptive immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 infection of asymptomatic, mild, and severe cases. Front Immunol. 2020;11:610300.
- Canedo-Marroquín G, Saavedra F, Andrade CA, et al. SARS-CoV-2: immune response elicited by infection and development of vaccines and treatments. Front Immunol. 2020;11:569760.
- 5. Imai K, Kitagawa Y, Tabata S, et al. Antibody response patterns in COVID-19 patients with different levels of disease severity in Japan. J Med Virol. 2021;93:3211-8.
- 6. Lu L, Zhang H, Zhan M, et al. Antibody response and therapy in COVID-19 patients: what can be learned for vaccine development?. Sci China Life Sci. 2020;63:1833-49.
- Yang HS, Costa V, Racine-Brzostek SE, et al. Association of age with SARS-CoV-2 antibody response. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4:e214302.
- Huang B, Cai Y, Li N, et al. Sex-based clinical and immunological differences in COVID-19. BMC Infect Dis. 2021;21:647.
- 9. Raza HA, Sen P, Bhatti OA, et al. Sex hormones, autoimmunity and gender disparity in COVID-19. Rheumatol Int. 2021;41:1375-86.
- 10. Mauvais-Jarvis F, Klein SL, Levin ER. Estradiol, progesterone, immunomodulation, and COVID-19 outcomes. Endocrinology. 2020;161:bgaa127.
- 11. Pierce CA, Preston-Hurlburt P, Dai Y, et al. Immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 infection in hospitalized pediatric and adult patients. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12:eabd5487.
- 12. Weisberg SP, Connors TJ, Zhu Y, et al. Distinct antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in children and adults across the COVID-19 clinical spectrum. Nat Immunol. 2021;22:25-31.
- 13. Xiang YT, Yang Y, Li W, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. Lancet Psychiatry. 2020;7:228-9.
- 14. Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts D, Doyle WJ, et al. Chronic stress, glucocorticoid receptor resistance, inflammation, and disease risk. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:5995-9.
- 15. Shi Y, Wang Y, Shao C, et al. COVID-19 infection: the perspectives on immune responses. Cell Death Differ. 2020;27:1451-4.
- 16. Uçar C, Bülbül M, Yıldız S. Cesarean delivery is associated with suppressed activities of the stress axes. Stress. 2022;25:67-73.

- 17. Mössner R, Lesch KP. Role of serotonin in the immune system and in neuroimmune interactions. Brain Behav Immun. 1998;12:249-71.
- 18. Shajib MS, Khan WI. The role of serotonin and its receptors in activation of immune responses and inflammation. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;213:561-74.
- 19. Ozgocer T, Dagli ŞN, Ceylan MR, et al. Analysis of long-term antibody response in COVID-19 patients by symptoms grade, gender, age, BMI, and medication. J Med Virol. 2022;94:1412-8.
- Ozgocer T, Yildiz S, Uçar C. Development and validation of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of cortisol in human saliva. J Immunoassay Immunochem. 2017;38:147-64.
- 21. Edwards KM, Burns VE, Reynolds T, et al. Acute stress exposure prior to influenza vaccination enhances antibody response in women. Brain Behav Immun. 2006;20:159-68.
- 22. Burns VE, Carroll D, Ring C, Drayson M. Antibody response to vaccination and psychosocial stress in humans: relationships and mechanisms. Vaccine. 2003;21:2523-34.

- 23. Cohen S, Miller GE, Rabin BS. Psychological stress and antibody response to immunization: a critical review of the human literature. Psychosom Med. 2001;63:7-18.
- 24. Miller GE, Cohen S, Pressman S, et al. Psychological stress and antibody response to influenza vaccination: when is the critical period for stress, and how does it get inside the body?. Psychosom Med. 2004;66:215-23.
- 25. Pressman SD, Cohen S, Miller GE, et al. Loneliness, social network size, and immune response to influenza vaccination in college freshmen. Health Psychol. 2005;24:297-306. Erratum in: Health Psychol. 2005;24:348.
- 26. Stefulj J, Cicin-Sain L, Schauenstein K, Jernej B. Serotonin and immune response: effect of the amine on in vitro proliferation of rat lymphocytes. Neuroimmunomodulation. 2001;9:103-8.
- 27. Jackson JC, Cross RJ, Walker RF, et al. Influence of serotonin on the immune response. Immunology. 1985;54:505-12.





Investigation of the Antiepileptic Effect of (R)-(-) and (S)-(+) Carvone in Penicillin-Induced Epileptiform Activity Model

Ozge Beyazcicek, OSumeyye Altun, Ersin Beyazcicek, Serif Demir

Düzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Düzce, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Aim: Epilepsy affects approximately 70 million people worldwide. While many drugs can prevent seizures, they have a limited impact on preventing or curing the disease. In this perspective, natural compounds, especially monoterpenes derived from medicinal plants, have been investigated in epilepsy models, such as carvone (CAR). The principal constituent of peppermint oil, (R)-(-)-carvone (R-CAR), and the primary component in cumin and dill seed oils, (S)-(+)-carvone (S-CAR), find diverse applications in cosmetics, food, and pharmaceutical formulations. This study aims to investigate the antiepileptic effects of the natural compounds S-CAR and R-CAR in penicillin (PEN)-induced experimental epilepsy model in rats.

Material and Method: In the research, 91 male Wistar rats were used. The rats were grouped into 3 main groups as common groups, pre-penicillin groups and post-penicillin groups. The main groups were divided into a total of 13 subgroups. Electrocardiogram recording was taken from rats. At the end of the experiment, the latency of the first epileptiform activity (EA), spike-wave frequency (SWF), and spike-wave amplitude (SWA) of the EA were analyzed.

Results: S-CAR and R-CAR administered before penicillin prolonged the latency to the onset of the first EA. S-CAR and R-CAR administered before penicillin decreased SWF. 100 mg/kg doses of S-CAR and R-CAR injected 30 minutes after penicillin administration decreased SWF. While 200 mg/kg dose of R-CAR administered before penicillin decreased SWA in a time-dependent manner, 100 mg/kg dose of S-CAR administered after penicillin decreased SWA.

Conclusion: These findings indicate that carvone could exhibit both protective and therapeutic effects in the management of epilepsy.

Keywords: Carvone, epilepsy, penicillin, rat

INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy stands as one of the prevalent neurological disorders, distinguished not only by recurring unprovoked seizures but also by frequent associated somatic and psychiatric comorbidities (1,2). Epilepsy has negative socioeconomic consequences not only for patients but also for families and society (1,3). Epilepsy affects 70 million people worldwide (4,5). Approximately 20-30% of epilepsy patients are resistant to current antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). Therefore, there demand for drugs that are effective against drug-resistant seizures, have a low negative side effect profile, have favorable side effect profiles, especially in terms of neurological and psychiatric effects, and are cost-effective (6).

Carvone (CAR) is mostly obtained from the essential oils of plants of the Mentha genus. CAR (C10H140), a ketone

monoterpene, is isolated in (R)-(-) and (S)-(+) isomeric forms (7). CAR, which has a wide range of uses, has become popular, especially in the pharmaceutical industry (8). Studies have reported the anti-inflammatory (9), antioxidant (10), antinociceptive (11), antispasmodic (12), and neuroprotective effects of CAR (13).

There is an increasing search for the development of effective drugs with a combined effect, aiming to overcome the problems of polypharmacy that are specific to multiple diseases. In this context, special attention is paid to natural compounds such as terpenoids, which can bind to different pharmacological targets in the body. Moreover, terpenoids and their derivatives enhance penetration by affecting the ordered structure of biological membranes (14,15).

Compounds found in essential oils such as CAR have

CITATION

Beyazcicek O, Altun S, Beyazcicek E, Demir S. Investigation of the Antiepileptic Effect of (R)-(-) and (S)-(+) Carvone in Penicillin-Induced Epileptiform Activity Model. Med Records. 2024;6(1):76-82. DOI:1037990/medr.1404966

Received: 14.12.2023 Accepted: 09.01.2024 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Ersin Beyazcicek, Düzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Düzce, Türkiye **E-mail**: beyazcicek13@gmail.com

pharmacological effects on molecules involved in the mechanism of epilepsy (NMDA, Glycine, GABA...) (16-18). In addition, they affect resting membrane potential dynamics by modulating voltage-gated sodium and calcium channels (19). In epilepsy treatment, the ability of target molecules to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is taken into consideration. Molecules smaller than 400 Da and lipophilic molecules easily cross the BBB (20). Therefore, CAR in essential oils also meets these criteria. This study aimed to electrophysiologically investigate the acute effects of S-CAR and R-CAR on penicillin-induced experimental epilepsy model in rats.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Animals

Rats were obtained from Abant Izzet Baysal University (AIBU) Experimental Animal Research and Application Center. Male Wistar rats (n=91) weighing 230 ± 30 g were kept in the laboratory at room temperature of 23° C, $60\pm5\%$ humidity and 12:12 light-dark cycle, with free food and

water intake. Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the AIBU Animal Research Local Ethics Committee with code number 2013/08.

Experimental Groups, Drugs, and Administration Routes

In the study, chemically purchased carvone (Sigma-Aldrich Missouri, USA) was administered intraperitoneally (i.p.) at doses of 100 mg/kg and 200 mg/kg. Urethane (Sigma-Aldrich Missouri, USA) at a dose of 1.25 g/kg i.p. was used as an anesthetic and 99% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Loba Chemie, India) was used as a solvent. Penicillin G potassium salt (I.E. Ulagay, Türkiye) used to induce epilepsy was administered intracortically (i.c.) at 500 IU in 2 µl volume. All drugs were prepared daily.

Rats were divided into 3 main groups: Common groups, pre-penicillin groups, and post-penicillin groups. The groups were then divided into subgroups as shown in Table 1. Only R-CAR, Only S-CAR, Sham, and DMSO groups were formed to determine whether the substances or surgical procedures caused any epileptic activity.

Table 1. Experimental groups, substances and routes of administration					
	Subgroups	Substance	Dose	Route	n
	Sham	-	-	-	7
	Only R-CAR	(R)-(-) CAR	200 mg/kg	i.p.	7
Common groups	Only S-CAR	(S)-(+) CAR	200 mg/kg	i.p.	7
	DMSO (Solvent)	DMSO	1 ml/kg	i.p.	7
	Penicillin (PEN)	PEN	500 IU	i.c.	7
	Pre-R-CAR100	(R)-(-) CAR+PEN	100 mg/kg +500 IU	i.p.+i.c.	7
Pre-penicillin groups	Pre-S-CAR100	(S)-(+) CAR+PEN	100 mg/kg+500 IU	i.p.+i.c.	7
Pre-penicinin groups	Pre-R-CAR200	(R)-(-) CAR+PEN	200 mg/kg +500 IU	i.p.+i.c.	7
	Pre-S-CAR200	(S)-(+) CAR+PEN	200 mg/kg+500 IU	i.p.+i.c.	7
	Post-R-CAR100	PEN+(R)-(-) CAR	500 IU+100 mg/kg	i.c.+i.p.	7
Doot popicillin groups	Post-S-CAR100	PEN+(S)-(+) CAR	500 IU+100 mg/kg	i.c.+i.p.	7
Post-penicillin groups	Post-R-CAR200	PEN+ (R)-(-)CAR	500 IU+200 mg/kg	i.c.+i.p.	7
	Post-S-CAR200	PEN+(S)-(+) CAR	500 IU+200 mg/kg	i.c.+i.p.	7

Surgical Procedure and Induction of Epileptiform Activity

In all groups, each animal was anesthetized with 1.25 g/kg urethane. The rats were then fixed to a stereotaxic frame (Harvard Instruments, MA, USA) in the supine position. Following the head shave, an incision was made along the midline of the scalp from front to back. Subsequently, the bony portion over the left cerebral cortex was delicately thinned with a drill and carefully removed. The penicillininduced EA model was established using a previously described method (20-22). In brief, epileptic activity was induced by administering 500 IU/2 μ I of penicillinintracortically at 2 mm lateral to the bregma line, 1 mm anterior, and 1.2 mm cortical depth using a Hamilton microsyringe (701N, Hamilton Co., Reno, NV, USA).

Electrophysiological Recordings

Two silver-silver chloride ball electrodes were placed in the somatomotor cortex area lateral to the Bregma line on the left hemisphere. The reference electrode was fixed to the right ear of the rats. Recording coordinates were set as follows: the first electrode was placed 1 mm anterior to the Bregma line and 2 mm lateral to the sagittal suture, and the second electrode was placed 5 mm posterior to the Bregma line and 2 mm lateral to the sagittal suture. After the electrodes were placed, electrocorticography (ECoG) recordings were obtained using the PowerLab/8SP system (ADInstruments Pty Ltd, NSW, Australia). A 5-minute baseline activity recording was taken after the electrodes were placed. Following the baseline activity recording, substances specified in Table 1 were administered intraperitoneally (i.p.) to all groups except for the postpenicillin groups. In the pre-penicillin groups, 30 minutes after substance administration, intracortical penicillin G application was performed, and ECoG recordings were taken for an additional 120 minutes. For the post-penicillin groups, after placing the electrodes, a 5-minute baseline

activity recording was obtained. Following the baseline activity recording, intracortical penicillin G application was performed. Thirty minutes after penicillin administration, substances specified in Table 1 were administered i.p. and ECoG recordings were taken for another 120 minutes.

Statistical Analysis

Recorded data from each animal were used to automatically calculate the onset latency of the first EA, spike-wave frequency, and spike-wave amplitude using software. Epileptiform activity recordings were analyzed after being segmented into ten-minute intervals. The initial onset time of EA, spike-wave frequency, and spikewave amplitude measurements were assessed for each interval. Data were presented as mean±SD. GraphPad Prism 8 was utilized for all statistical analyses. The normal distribution of the data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by LSD post-hoc test was employed for the evaluation of other data obtained from the groups. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Carvone Administration did not cause any EA in Groups not Induced Epilepsy with Penicillin

In the study, only (R)-CAR, Only (S)-CAR and DMSO administration did not have any EA effect on basal activity in the groups not stimulated with penicillin. Similarly, no discharge of epileptic activity was observed in the Sham group (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Representative samples of ECoG records from groups. 1A: PEN group; 1B: Sham group; 1C: DMSO groups; 1D: Pre-R-CAR100 group; 1E: Pre-S-CAR100 group; 1F: Pre-R-CAR200 group; 1G: Pre-S-CAR200 group; 1H: Only R-CAR200 group; 1I: Only S-CAR200 groups; 1J: Post-R-CAR100 group; 1K: Post-S-CAR100 group; 1L: Post-R-CAR200 group; 1M: Post-S-CAR200 group;

Carvone Prolongs Time to the Onset of the First EA

When the groups were compared according to the time of onset of the first EA, a statistical difference was detected between the groups (P<0.001) (Figure 2). When the groups were analyzed in more detail, the mean time to onset of the first EA in the Pre-R-CAR100, Pre-S-CAR100, PreR-CAR200, and Pre-S-CAR200 groups was statistically longer than that in the PEN groups (p<0.001, p=0.007, p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively). Similarly, the mean time to onset of the first EA in the Pre-R-CAR100, Pre-R-CAR200, and Pre-S-CAR200 groups was statistically higher than in the Pre-S-CAR100 group (p<0.001, p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively). The mean time to onset of the first EA in the Pre-S-CAR200 group was statistically higher than in the Pre-R-CAR100 group (p=0.040).



Figure 2. Latency of the first epileptiform activity in pre-penicillin groups (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001)

Carvone Administration Reduces the SWF

No EA was detected in ECoG recording measurements during the basal activity recordings obtained from the penicillin injection groups. After penicillin administration, a certain number of spike-wave frequency values were obtained in 12 different measurements taken in ten-minute periods (Figure 1A and Figure 3). The mean SWF values of the Pre-R-CAR100 and Pre-R-CAR200 groups were lower than the PEN group in 12 different time periods taken during 0-120 minutes of recording (p<0.05) (Figure 3A). Furthermore, the mean SWF values of the Pre-R-CAR200 group were less than Pre-S-CAR100 group (p<0.01). The mean SWF values of the Pre-R-CAR200 group were lower than the PEN group except for the time periods 11-20, 51-60, and 61-70 (p<0.05). Furthermore, the mean SWF values

of the Pre-S-CAR200 group were lower than the Pre-S-CAR100 group in the measurements taken between 0-80 minutes (p<0.05).

ECoG recordings obtained as a result of carvone administration 30 minutes after penicillin injection were analyzed for 120 minutes. The 120-minute recordings were divided into 12 different time periods of ten minutes. A statistically significant distinction was observed among the groups (p=0.004) (Figure 3B). The mean SWF values of the Post-R-CAR100 and Post-S-CAR100 groups were lower than the PEN group in 12 different time periods taken during 30-150 minutes of the recording (excluding 30-40, 101-110, 131-140, and 141-150 time periods) (p<0.05). In 81-90, 111-120, and 121-130 time periods, the mean SWF values of the Post-R-CAR200 groups were lower than the PEN group (p=0.020, p=0.040, and p=0.040, respectively). Moreover, the mean SWF values of the Post-S-CAR200 group were lower than the PEN group in the 41-50, 61-70, and 71-80 time periods (p=0.020, p=0.020, and p=0.020, respectively). In the 51-60 and 61-70 time periods, the mean SWF values of the Post-R-CAR100 group were lower than the Post-R-CAR200 group (p=0.049 and p=0.030).



Figure 3. Mean of the time-dependent spike-wave frequency of epileptiform activity (number/min) obtained from the recording of rats. **3A:** pre-penicillin groups and **3B:** post-penicillin groups. (*Significant compared to PEN group; #Significant according to Pre-S-CAR100 group; +Significant compared to the Pre-R-CAR100 group; Δ Significant compared to Pre-S-CAR200 group)

Effect of Carvone Administration on the Total SWF

The mean total spike wave frequency counts of the groups before penicillin injection were evaluated during 120 minutes of ECoG recording after penicillin administration. According to the results of the comparison of the groups in terms of the mean total SWF counts, a statistically significant distinction was observed among the groups (p<0.001) (Figure 4A). In terms of total SWF, the mean SWF values of the Pre-R-CAR100, Pre-R-CAR200, and Pre-S-CAR200 groups were lower than those of the PEN group (p=0.002, p<0.001 and p=0.002, respectively). Likewise, the mean SWF levels of the Pre-R-CAR100, Pre-R-CAR200, and Pre-S-CAR200 groups were lower than the Pre-S-CAR100 group (p=0.010, p<0.001 and p=0.009, respectively). However, there was no statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of total SWF value in ECoG recordings obtained as a result of carvone administration 30 minutes after penicillin injection (p=0.230) (Figure 4B).



Figure 4. Display of total spike-wave number of pre-penicillin groups (**4A**) and post-penicillin groups (**4B**) (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001)

Effect of Carvone Administration on SWA

Descriptive statistics of the SWA values measured at different times from ECoG recordings obtained from the groups before penicillin injection and the results of the comparison of the groups are given in Figure 5A. Except for the 0-10 time interval of the recording (p=0.051), the mean SWA values of the Pre-R-CAR200 group were statistically lower than the Pre-S-CAR100 group (p<0.05) in 12 different time intervals taken during 120 minutes of recording. In addition, the mean SWA values of the Pre-S-CAR100 group in the 31-40 and 61-70 time periods (p=0.040 and p=0.049). No statistically significant difference was found between the other groups (p>0.050).

ECoG recordings obtained as a result of carvone administration 30 minutes after penicillin injection were analyzed for 120 minutes. The 120-minute recordings were divided into 12 different time periods of ten minutes. A statistically significant distinction was observed among the groups (p<0.001) (Figure 5B). The mean SWA values of the Post-S-CAR100 group were lower than those of the PEN and Post-S-CAR200 groups in 12 different time periods taken during 30-150 minutes of the recording (p<0.05). The mean SWA values of the Post-S-CAR100 group were lower than the Post-R-CAR100 group in the time periods 61-80, 91-100, and 121-150 (p<0.05). In addition, the mean SWA values of the Post-S-CAR100 group were lower than the Post-R-CAR200 group in the time periods between 51-90 minutes (p<0.05).



Figure 5. Mean of the time-dependent spike-wave amplitude of epileptiform activity (mV) obtained from the recording of rats. **5A:** prepenicillin groups and **5B:** post-penicillin groups. (*Significant compared to PEN group; #Significant according to Pre-S-CAR100 group; +Significant compared to the Pre-R-CAR100 group; Δ Significant compared to Pre-S-CAR200 group; aSignificant compared to Pre-S-CAR200 group)

DISCUSSION

In this study, the antiepileptic effects of 100 and 200 mg/ kg doses of S-CAR and R-CAR were investigated in the penicillin-induced EA model. No EA was found in ECoG recordings taken for 120 minutes in the DMSO and Sham groups. These data are consistent with the literature (20-22). Similarly, no EA was observed in the only R-CAR and only S-CAR groups. This finding was not compared due to the lack of data in the literature.

In a study testing the effects of CAR on the latency of the first EA, it was reported that 200 mg/kg S-CAR prolonged the seizure onset time in PTZ and picrotoxin (PTX)-induced seizure models in mice, but 200 mg/kg R-CAR had no effect (23). In studies conducted with cyano-carvone (CC), a synthetic derivative of CAR, the protective effect of CAR was tried to be demonstrated. CC was investigated in the pilocarpine (PILO)-induced epilepsy model in mice. They reported that CC (25, 50, or 75 mg/kg) delayed the onset of the first epileptic seizure (24). In another similar study, the effects of CC against PILO, PTZ, and PTX-

induced seizures were investigated (25). They reported that CC prolonged the time to onset of the first EA in all three models. In another study with PTZ, it was reported that CAR prolonged latency (26). In the present study, both doses (100 and 200 mg/kg) of S-CAR and R-CAR administered before penicillin prolonged the latency to onset of the first EA. Especially 200 mg/kg S-CAR and R-CAR doses prolonged the latency to the onset of the first EA approximately two-fold compared to the PEN group.

In a few studies with CC, the effects of carvone on seizure frequency were investigated. Costa et al. reported that CC at doses of 25, 50, or 75 mg/kg reduced seizure frequency in a PILO-induced epilepsy model (24). In another study testing the effect of CAR in the PTZ model, they reported that 10 and 20 mg/kg doses significantly reduced seizure frequency (26). In the present study, S-CAR (200 mg/kg) and R-CAR (100 and 200 mg/kg) administered before penicillin reduced time-dependent SWF. Especially 200 mg/kg R-CAR dose decreased SWF the most. However, SWF values of 100 mg/kg S-CAR dose were similar to the PEN group. Both doses (100 and 200 mg/kg) of R-CAR administered before penicillin decreased total SWF. The 100 mg/kg doses of S-CAR and R-CAR injected 30 minutes after penicillin administration decreased SWF.

In this study, 200 mg/kg dose of R-CAR administered before penicillin decreased SWA over time, while 100 mg/ kg dose of S-CAR administered after penicillin decreased SWA. No comparison was made because there were no similar studies in the literature.

The induction of EA by penicillin is actively involved in cortical pyramidal cells. In the penicillin induced epilepsy, potentials relying on both GABAA and GABAB receptors play a role in the abrupt depolarization shifts observed in cells (27). Direct application of penicillin to the cortex inhibits GABA receptors, similar to the effect of bicuculline. Consequently, the suppressed GABA activity initiates EA that begins locally but progresses to generalize by disrupting the brain's inhibitory system. Research indicates that penicillin reduces intracellular Cl- influx by binding to subunits of GABAA receptors (28). Other studies have reported that penicillin binds to the chlorine receptor, preventing the channel from opening (29). Penicillin binds to the benzodiazepine binding site and causes convulsions (21). The primary target of penicillin is the β-subunit of the GABAA receptor, to which GABA binds. It is hypothesized that penicillin binds to the GABA binding site with a B-lactam ring, preventing GABA from binding to this site (30). While GABA levels in the brain were not investigated in this study, it has been demonstrated that CAR, administered at various doses, can reverse penicillin-induced EA. This suggests that CAR may act by increasing GABA levels in the penicillin-induced epilepsy model. It is conceivable that CAR not only affects GABAA receptors but also diminishes the release of excitatory neurotransmitters from excitatory neurons by acting on GABAB receptors. However, there is currently no literature available to corroborate this information.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, carvone inhibited epileptiform activity, possibly by modulation of the GABAergic system. These results suggest that carvone may have both protective and therapeutic effects in the treatment of epilepsy. However, additional studies are required to determine its clinical use.

Financial disclosures: This project is supported by Düzce University Research Fund Project Number: 2013.04.01.167.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the AIBUAnimal Research Local Ethics Committee with code number 2013/08.

REFERENCES

- 1. Christensen J, Dreier JW, Sun Y, et al. Estimates of epilepsy prevalence, psychiatric co-morbidity and cost. Seizure. 2023;107:162-71.
- 2. Wang J, Huang P, Yu Q, et al. Epilepsy and long-term risk of arrhythmias. Eur Heart J. 2023;44:3374-82.
- Gesche J, Antonson S, Dreier JW, et al. Social outcome and psychiatric comorbidity of generalized epilepsies – a casecontrol study. Epilepsia. 2021;62:1158-69.
- Thijs RD, Ryvlin P, Surges R. Autonomic manifestations of epilepsy: emerging pathways to sudden death?. Nat Rev Neurol. 2021;17:774-88.
- 5. Thijs RD, Surges R, O'Brien TJ, Sander JW. Epilepsy in adults. Lancet. 2019;393:689-701.
- Bahr TA, Rodriguez D, Beaumont C, Allred K. The effects of various essential oils on epilepsy and acute seizure: a systematic review. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2019;2019:6216745.
- Sabir SM, Singh D, Rocha JBT. In vitro antioxidant activity of S-carvone isolated from zanthoxylum alatum. Pharm Chem J+. 2015;49:187-91.
- Pina LTS, Serafini MR, Oliveira MA, et al. Carvone and its pharmacological activities: a systematic review. Phytochemistry. 2022;196:113080.
- Zhao M, Du J. Anti-inflammatory and protective effects of D-carvone on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced acute lung injury in mice. Journal of King Saud University - Science. 2020;32:1592-6.
- 10. Asle-Rousta M, Amini R, Aghazadeh S. Carvone suppresses oxidative stress and inflammation in the liver of immobilised rats. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2023;129:597-602.
- 11. Brosnan RJ, Cenani A, Costa LR, et al. Analgesic effect of the mint terpenoid L-carvone in sheep. Vet Anaesth Analg. 2023;50:459-65.
- Silva CMS, Wanderley CWS, Lima-Junior FJB, et al. Carvone (R)-(-) and (S)-(+) enantiomers inhibits upper gastrointestinal motility in mice. Flavour and Fragrance Journal. 2015;30:439-44.

- Abdullah, Alam W, Hussain Y, et al. Neuroprotective effect of essential oils. In: Khan H, Aschner M, Mirzaei H, eds. Phytonutrients and Neurological Disorders. Academic Press; 2023:305-33.
- 14. Nesterkina M, Barbalat D, Zheltvay I, et al. (2S,5R)-2-Isopropyl-5-methylcyclohexanone hydrazones. Molbank. 2019;2019:M1062.
- Kopečná M, Macháček M, Nováčková A, et al. Esters of terpene alcohols as highly potent, reversible, and low toxic skin penetration enhancers. Sci Rep. 2019;9:14617.
- Kessler A, Sahin-Nadeem H, Lummis SCR, et al. GABA(A) receptor modulation by terpenoids from Sideritis extracts. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2014;58:851-62.
- 17. López V, Nielsen B, Solas M, et al. Exploring pharmacological mechanisms of lavender (lavandula angustifolia) essential oil on central nervous system targets. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:280.
- Ullah I, Badshah H, Naseer MI, et al. Thymoquinone and Vitamin C attenuates pentylenetetrazole-induced seizures via activation of GABAB1 receptor in adult rats cortex and hippocampus. NeuroMolecular Med. 2015;17:35-46.
- 19. Huang C-W, Chow JC, Tsai J-J, Wu S-N. Characterizing the effects of Eugenol on neuronal ionic currents and hyperexcitability. Psychopharmacology. 2012;221:575-87.
- Ankaralı S, Beyazçiçek E, Ankaralı H, Demir Ş. The effect of rapamycin on penicillin-induced epileptiform activity in rats: an electrophysiological study. Anatolian Clin. 2016;21:197-206.
- Beyazcicek E. Investigation of the effect of propolis on penicillin induced epileptiform activity in rats. Med Records. 2023;5:97-103.
- 22. Beyazcicek E, Ankarali S, Beyazcicek O, et al. Effects of thymoquinone, the major constituent of Nigella sativa seeds, on penicillin-induced epileptiform activity in rats. Neurosciences (Riyadh). 2016;21:131-7.
- De Sousa DP, De Farias Nóbrega FF, De Almeida RN. Influence of the chirality of (R)-(-)- and (S)-(+)-carvone in the central nervous system: a comparative study. Chirality. 2007;19:264-8.
- 24. Costa DA, de Oliveira GAL, Lima TC, et al. Anticonvulsant and antioxidant effects of cyano-carvone and its action on acetylcholinesterase activity in mice hippocampus. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2012;32:633-40.
- 25. Marques THC, Marques MLBGCB, Medeiros J-VR, et al. Anticonvulsant effects of acute treatment with cyanecarvone at repeated oral doses in epilepsy models. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2014;124:421-4.
- 26. Alvi AM, Al Kury LT, Alattar A, et al. Carveol attenuates seizure severity and neuroinflammation in pentylenetetrazole-kindled epileptic rats by regulating the Nrf2 signaling pathway. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2021;2021:9966663.
- 27. Dichter MA, Ayala G. Cellular mechanisms of epilepsy: a status report. Science. 1987;237:157-64.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1404966

- 28. Erfanparast A, Tamaddonfard E. Effects of intracortical microinjection of vitamin B12 on penicillin-induced epileptiform activity in rats. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars). 2015;75:200-7.
- 29. Arık AE, Bağırıcı F, Sefil F, Marangoz C. Effect of levetiracetam on penicillin induced epileptic activity in rats. Acta Neurobiol

Exp (Wars). 2014;74:266-75.

 Hussein AM, Ghalwash M, Magdy K, Abulseoud OA. Beta lactams antibiotic ceftriaxone modulates seizures, oxidative stress and connexin 43 expression in hippocampus of pentylenetetrazole kindled rats. J Epilepsy Res. 2016;6:8-15. **MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal**

Research Article



Dexmedetomidine and Fentanyl in Endotracheal Intubation: A Comparative Analysis of Hemodynamic and Intubation Responses

[®]Aysegul Torun Goktas¹, [®]Feriha Temizel², [®]Gulten Arslan³, [®]Metin Ozseker³, [®]Husnu Suslu⁴, [®]Leyla Saitoglu⁵

¹Giresun Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anaesthesiology and Reanimation, Giresun, Türkiye

²İstanbul Ataşehir Avicenna Hospital, Anaesthesiology and Reanimation Clinic, İstanbul, Türkiye

³istanbul Kartal Lütfi Kırdar Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anaesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Türkiye

⁴Maltepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anaesthesiology and Reanimation, Istanbul, Türkiye

⁵Retired from İstanbul Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anaesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License

Abstract

Aim: Endotracheal intubation, a critical procedure in anaesthesia, can induce significant hemodynamic fluctuations, posing risks, especially to patients with cardiovascular concerns. This study compares the effects of dexmedetomidine and fentanyl, two agents commonly used to mitigate these responses, on endotracheal intubation conditions and associated hemodynamic changes.

Material and Method: Conducted at tertiary care training and research hospital, this study involved 60 patients aged 40-60, all classified American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) I-II, undergoing elective upper and lower extremity surgeries. Excluding patients with contraindicating conditions, the subjects were divided into two groups to receive either dexmedetomidine or fentanyl, along with propofol and vecuronium, for induction. Hemodynamic parameters were continuously monitored, and intubation conditions were assessed using the Cooper scoring system.

Results: The study found that both dexmedetomidine and fentanyl effectively stabilised hemodynamic parameters during intubation. However, the fentanyl group displayed significantly higher total scores on the Cooper intubation conditions scale, indicating more favourable conditions for endotracheal intubation in terms of ease and patient comfort.

Conclusion: While both dexmedetomidine and fentanyl are effective in maintaining hemodynamic stability during endotracheal intubation, fentanyl demonstrates a slight advantage in optimising intubation conditions. This distinction offers valuable insight for anesthesiologists in tailoring anaesthetic strategies and balancing patient safety with procedural efficiency in surgical settings.

Keywords: Dexmedetomidine, fentanyl, endotracheal intubation, hemodynamic responses, surgical anaesthesia

INTRODUCTION

Endotracheal intubation stands as a cornerstone procedure in anesthesiology, pivotal for maintaining patient airway patency during surgical interventions. This procedure, while routine, is not without its complexities and challenges, particularly in the context of hemodynamic stability (1). The act of intubation often triggers a cascade of physiological responses, primarily sympathetic activation, leading to fluctuations in heart rate and arterial pressure. These responses are not merely transient occurrences; they bear significant implications, especially for patients with pre-existing cardiovascular or cerebrovascular conditions (2). Thus, the quest for optimal anaesthetic agents that can mitigate these hemodynamic perturbations while ensuring effective and safe intubation conditions is a topic of ongoing clinical and academic interest.

In this background, dexmedetomidine and fentanyl emerge as two significant pharmacological agents. Dexmedetomidine, a selective $\alpha 2$ adrenoceptor agonist, is esteemed for its sedative, analgesic, and anxiolytic properties, with a notable feature of not depressing respiratory function (3). Its mechanism, centred around the $\alpha 2$ adrenoreceptors, offers a pathway to reducing sympathetic outflow, thus potentially stabilising hemodynamic responses during intubation (4,5). On the other hand, fentanyl, a potent opioid, is renowned for its analgesic efficacy. Beyond pain control, fentanyl's influence on the central nervous system translates into

CITATION

Torun Goktas A, Temizel F, Arslan G. Dexmedetomidine and Fentanyl in Endotracheal Intubation: A Comparative Analysis of Hemodynamic and Intubation Responses. Med Records. 2024;6(1):83-8. DOI:1037990/medr.1397044

Received: 30.11.2023 Accepted: 09.01.2024 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Aysegul Torun Goktas, Giresun Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anaesthesiology and Reanimation, Giresun, Türkiye

E-mail: aysegultorungoktas@yahoo.com

blunting of the stress response to intubation, which could yield benefits in terms of hemodynamic management (6). However, the selection between these two agents is not straightforward, as each brings its own profile of benefits and limitations.

Understanding the comparative effects of dexmedetomidine and fentanyl on endotracheal intubation conditions and hemodynamic responses is not just an academic pursuit; it has tangible implications for clinical practice. Anesthesiologists frequently grapple with the choice of these agents, seeking to balance efficacy with safety, particularly in patients with specific vulnerabilities. Therefore, this study aims to dissect and compare the impacts of dexmedetomidine and fentanyl when used in the context of endotracheal intubation. By doing so, it seeks to provide evidence-based insights that can guide clinical decision-making, ultimately enhancing patient outcomes in the diverse landscape of surgical anaesthesia.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study protocol was approved by the local ethics committee of Giresun Training and Research Hospital. Informed patient consent was waived due to the retrospective design of the study. This study was guided by the relevant ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki, revised in 2013. The study was conducted on 60 patients aged between 40 and 60, all in ASA I-II physical condition, at tertiary care training and research hospital for elective upper and lower extremity surgeries. Excluded from the study were patients with higher ASA classifications, complex intubation criteria, age outside 40-60, uncontrolled hypertension, cardiovascular or pulmonary diseases, hepatic or renal dysfunctions, psychiatric treatments, chronic opioid use, hypersensitivity to opioids or propofol, and liver or kidney failure. Dexmedetomidine and fentanyl groups were created with data obtained from patient file records of anesthesiologists who used only one of these drugs. Each patient was evaluated and consented to a day before surgery. In the operating room, they received a 20 gauge intravenous line with 0.9% NaCl infusion and underwent noninvasive monitoring without premedication. After preoxygenation, patients were divided into two groups for administering either fentanyl or dexmedetomidine, followed by propofol and vecuronium for induction. Anesthesia was maintained with a mix of N20, oxygen, and sevoflurane. Intubation conditions were assessed using Cooper scoring (Table 1). Vital signs were continuously monitored and recorded at various stages of the procedure. After surgery, intravenous tramadol was administered, and anaesthetic gases were replaced with 100% oxygen. Neostigmine and atropine were used postoperation to reverse the effects of muscle relaxants.

Table 1. Cooper scoring system					
Score	Jaw relaxation	Vocal cords	Response to intubation		
0	Poor (impossible)	Closed	Severe coughing or bucking		
1	Minimal (difficult)	Closing	Mild coughing		
2	Moderate (fair)	Moving	Slight diaphragmatic movement		
3 Good (easy) Open None					
Total score: Excellent (8-9), Good (6-7), Fair (3-5), Poor (0-2)					

Statistical Analysis

Number Cruncher Statistical System (NCSS) 2007 & PASS 2008 Statistical Software (Utah, USA) programs were used for statistical analyses. In addition to descriptive statistical methods (Mean, Standard deviation), the Student t-test was used to compare parameters with normal distribution between two groups, and the Whitney U test was used to compare parameters without normal distribution between two groups. Paired sample t-test was used for intra-group comparisons of normally distributed parameters. The chi-square test was used to compare qualitative data. Significance was evaluated at p<0.05 level.

RESULTS

The study was conducted with 60 patients, 30 in the Dexmedetomidine group and 30 in the Fentanyl group, who were to undergo upper and lower extremity surgery. The ages of the patients ranged between 40 and 60 years, with a mean age of 50.3 ± 7.4 years. 61.7% (n=37) of the patients were female and 38.3% (n=23) were male. There is no statistically significant difference between age, weight, height, ASA and gender (p>0.05) (Table 2).

There was no statistically significant difference between the systolic arterial blood pressure (SABP) levels before induction, before intubation, 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation (p>0.05). In the dexmedetomidine group, statistically significant decreases were observed in SABP levels at the 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation compared to pre-induction SABP levels (p<0.05). In the fentanyl group, statistically significant decreases were observed in SABP levels before intubation, 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation compared to SABP levels before induction (p<0.05) (Table 3).

In the dexmedetomidine group, statistically significant decreases were observed in diastolic arterial blood pressure (DABP) levels before intubation, 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation compared to pre-induction DABP levels (p<0.05). In the fentanyl group, there was no statistically significant change in DABP levels at 1st min after intubation compared to pre-induction DABP levels, and statistically significant decreases were observed in DABP levels at 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation compared to pre-induction DABP levels at 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation compared to pre-induction DABP levels (p<0.05) (Table 4).

Table 2. Comparison of characteristics of patients between two groups						
Determined allowed at the		Dexmedetomi	Dexmedetomidine (n: 30)		Fentanyl (n: 30)	
Patients chara	Patients' characteristics		%	Number	%	р
Gender ^{x²}	Female	9	30.0	14	46.7	0.184
Gender* Male	21	70.0	16	53.3	0.184	
	I	17	56.7	18	60	0.793
ASA ^{x²}		13	43.3	12	40	0.793
		Mean	Mean	±SD		
Aget		50.4±	50.4±8.4		50.3±6.4	
Weight ^t		73.3±1	73.3±10.5		73.1±12.3	
Height		162±9	162±9.6		162.6±23.4	
ta 20.05 that 20.01 w? Chi aquere test (Catagorical data) to student T test Mady madian SD; standart deviation						

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, x²: Chi-square test (Categorical data), t: student T test, Med: median, SD: standart deviation

Table 3. Evaluation of SABP according to groups						
CARD (mm Hz)	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)	_			
SABP (mm Hg)	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	р			
Before induction	138.1±7.0	135.1±4.9	0.065			
Before intubation	121.3±14.2	117.5±8.8	0.211			
1st min after intubation	127.6±9.7	131.8±10.7	0.118			
3rd min	125.7±10.5	123.0±9.2	0.292			
5th min	128.0±6.8	124.5±6.8	0.053			
10th min	127.9±7.2	124.4±6.6	0.059			
15th min	128.0±6.5	123.5±10.9	0.057			
p value	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)				
Before induction – before intubation	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 1st min after intubation	0.001*	0.048*				
Before induction – 3rd min	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 5th min	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction - 10th min	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 15th min	0.001*	0.001*				
*p<0.05. t; student T test, SD; standart deviation, r	nin: minute					

*p<0.05, t: student T test, SD: standart deviation, min: minute

Table 4. Evaluation of DABP according to groups

	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)	
DABP (mm Hg)	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	р
Before induction	86.3±8.4	82.7±7.4	0.065
Before intubation	73.6±9.5	72.2±7.8	0.547
1st min after intubation	79.0±7.0	82.7±7.4	0.055
3rd min	74.5±7.6	75.6±7.5	0.588
5th min	77.6±7.9	74.0±8.3	0.093
10th min	77.8±7.5	74.2±7.9	0.080
15th min	78.4±6.0	75.1±7.7	0.071
p value	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)	
Before induction – before intubation	0.001*	0.001*	
Before induction – 1st min after intubation	0.001*	0.754	
Before induction – 3rd min	0.001*	0.001*	
Before induction – 5th min	0.001*	0.001*	
Before induction - 10th min	0.001*	0.001*	
Before induction – 15th min	0.001*	0.001*	
*p<0.05, t: student T test, SD: standart deviation, min:	minute		

85

There was no statistically significant difference between the pre-induction, pre-intubation, and post-intubation 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes mean arterial blood pressure (MABP) levels between the groups (p>0.05). In the dexmedetomidine group, statistically significant decreases were observed in the pre-intubation, postintubation 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th and 15th minutes MABP levels compared to the pre-induction MABP levels (p<0.05) (Table 6). In the fentanyl group, no statistically significant change was observed in the MABP levels at the 1st minute after intubation compared to the pre-induction MABP levels. Statistically, significant decreases were observed in the MABP levels at the 3rd, 5th, 10th and 15th minutes after intubation compared to the pre-induction MABP levels (p<0.05) (Table 5).

There was no statistically significant difference between the groups in pre-induction, pre-intubation, and postintubation 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes peak heart rate (PHR) levels (p>0.05). In the dexmedetomidine group, statistically significant decreases were observed in preintubation, post-intubation 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes PHR levels compared to pre-induction PHR levels (p<0.05). In the fentanyl group, statistically significant decreases were observed in PHR levels at 1st, 3rd, 5th, 10th, and 15th minutes after intubation compared to preinduction PHR levels (p<0.05) (Table 6).

Table 5. Evaluation of MABP according to groups					
DABP (mm Hg)	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)			
	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	р		
Before induction	86.3±8.4	82.7±7.4	0.065		
Before intubation	73.6±9.5	72.2±7.8	0.547		
1st min after intubation	79.0±7.0	82.7±7.4	0.055		
3rd min	74.5±7.6	75.6±7.5	0.588		
5th min	77.6±7.9	74.0±8.3	0.093		
10th min	77.8±7.5	74.2±7.9	0.080		
15th min	78.4±6.0	75.1±7.7	0.071		
p value	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)			
Before induction – Before intubation	0.001*	0.001*			
Before induction – 1st min after intubation	0.001*	0.754			
Before induction – 3rd min	0.001*	0.001*			
Before induction – 5th min	0.001*	0.001*			
Before induction – 10th min	0.001*	0.001*			
Before induction – 15th min	0.001*	0.001*			
*n<0.05 t: ctudent T test SD: standart doviation n	nin: minuto				

*p<0.05, t: student T test, SD: standart deviation, min: minute

Table 6. Evaluation of PHR according to groups						
DUD (hoote (min)	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)	_			
PHR (beats/min)	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	р			
Before induction	80.9±10.1	80.4±6.8	0.824			
Before intubation	68.3±9.8	72.8±8.2	0.077			
1st min after intubation	70.8±5.7	74.0±8.7	0.105			
3rd min	68.8±8.3	72.8±8.9	0.077			
5th min	69.5±9.0	72.5 ±8.3	0.182			
10th min	72.5±8.4	73.5±6.6	0.612			
15th min	72.3±8.7	73.2±6.8	0.658			
p value	Dexmedetomidine (n=30)	Fentanyl (n=30)				
Before induction – before intubation	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 1st min after intubation	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 3rd min	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 5th min	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 10th min	0.001*	0.001*				
Before induction – 15th min	0.001*	0.001*				
to a OE to atudant T toot CD; atondart doviation mi	in: minuto					

*p<0.05, t: student T test, SD: standart deviation, min: minute

Oxygen saturation (SPO2) levels maintained stability throughout the operation in both groups, with no significant changes observed across different time intervals (p>0.05). Additionally, end-tidal carbon dioxide (etCO2) levels remained consistent and did not show statistically significant differences in either group at any observed time intervals (p>0.05).

One notable finding was in the assessment of intubation conditions using Cooper scoring. The Fentanyl group displayed statistically significantly higher total intubation conditions scores compared to the Dexmedetomidine group (p<0.05). This suggested a higher proportion of patients in the Fentanyl group experienced excellent intubation conditions, while the Dexmedetomidine group predominantly had good intubation conditions.

DISCUSSION

The intricate relationship between anaesthetic agents and their physiological impact during endotracheal intubation is a focal area in anesthesiology, underscored by our study's findings. Though a routine procedure, endotracheal intubation often elicits a sympathoadrenergic response, leading to cardiovascular stress (7). This phenomenon, particularly critical in patients with cardiac ischemia or cerebrovascular conditions, has been well-documented, as in studies by Saitoh et al., highlighting the imperative for effectively managing these hemodynamic changes (8).

Our research, focusing on dexmedetomidine and fentanyl, contributes to this area by providing a comparative analysis of their effects on hemodynamic responses during intubation. Dexmedetomidine's efficacy, as evidenced in our study, aligns with the growing body of literature advocating for its use in anaesthetic practice due to its minimal respiratory depression and stabilising influence on hemodynamics, as supported by findings from Özköse et al., Dyck et al., and Başar et al. (9-11). Meanwhile, fentanyl's effective suppression of hemodynamic responses without significant side effects, resonating with the work of Salihoğlu et al. and Myless et al., underlines its utility in surgical anaesthesia (12,13).

Methodologically, our study faced limitations such as a confined demographic range and a specific surgical context, which may influence the generalizability of the findings. Future research could expand on these aspects, exploring varied patient populations and surgical settings to validate and extend our results.

Clinically, the insights from this study have profound implications. The nuanced understanding of how dexmedetomidine and fentanyl modulate cardiovascular responses could guide anesthesiologists in selecting the most appropriate agent, particularly in patients with preexisting cardiovascular conditions (14). The preference for fentanyl in scenarios demanding smoother intubation processes, as suggested by our findings, could enhance patient comfort and procedural efficiency.

The field would benefit from further research exploring the long-term outcomes of using these agents, their interactions with other medications, and their effects in more diverse patient cohorts. Such studies would enrich our understanding and help develop more refined anaesthetic protocols.

Study Limitations

This research, while insightful, has its limitations. The study's sample size and demographic concentration may limit the extrapolation of results to a broader population, as it was conducted within a single medical centre and possibly lacked diversity in patient profiles. The focus on short-term hemodynamic and intubation responses also means that the longer-term effects of the anaesthetic agents were not explored. Additionally, the study design did not incorporate blinding, potentially introducing bias in assessing outcomes. High-risk patients and those with complex medical histories were excluded, which might restrict the applicability of our findings to these patient groups. The reliance on specific drugs for induction and maintenance alongside dexmedetomidine and fentanyl could have influenced the results, and variability in intubation techniques may have introduced additional outcome variability. Lastly, the absence of a comparative analysis with other anaesthetic agents limits the scope of understanding the relative efficacy of dexmedetomidine and fentanyl in a wider anaesthetic context.

CONCLUSION

This study demonstrates that both dexmedetomidine and fentanyl effectively manage hemodynamic and intubation conditions during endotracheal intubation, with fentanyl slightly outperforming in terms of intubation conditions. These findings guide anesthesiologists in choosing suitable agents, highlighting the need for tailored approaches in anaesthesia to optimise patient safety and outcomes within the study's limitations.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration principles and was approved by our Corporate Ethics Committee, Giresun Training and Research Hospital (2023/ KAEK-164).

REFERENCES

- 1. Davis L, Cook-Sather SD, Schreiner MS. Lighted stylet tracheal intubation: a review. Anesth Analg. 2000;90:745-56.
- 2. Sneyd JR. Recent advances in intravenous anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2004;93:725-36.
- 3. De Wolf AM, Fragen RJ, Avram MJ, et al. The pharmacokinetics of dexmedetomidine in volunteers with severe renal impairment. Anesth Analg. 2001;93:1205-9.

- 4. Hsu YW, Cortinez LI, Robertson KM, et al. Dexmedetomidine pharmacodynamics: part I: crossover comparison of the respiratory effects of dexmedetomidine and remifentanil in healthy volunteers. Anesthesiology. 2004;101:1066-76.
- 5. Ebert TJ, Hall JE, Barney JA, et al. The effects of increasing plasma concentrations of dexmedetomidine in humans. Anesthesiology. 2000;93:382-94.
- 6. Kreuer S, Schreiber JU, Bruhn J, Wilhelm W. Impact of patient age on propofol consumption during propofol-remifentanil anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2005;22:123-8.
- Aho M, Lehtinen AM, Erkola O, et al. The effect of intravenously administered dexmedetomidine on perioperative hemodynamics and isoflurane requirements in patients undergoing abdominal hysterectomy. Anesthesiology. 1991;74:997-1002.
- Saitoh N, Mikawa K, Kitamura S, et al. Effects of trimetaphan on the cardiovascular response to tracheal intubation Br J Anaesth. 1991;66:340-4. Erratum in: Br J Anaesth 1992;68:228.
- 9. Ozkose Z, Demir FS, Pampal K, Yardim S. Hemodynamic and anesthetic advantages of dexmedetomidine, an alpha 2-agonist, for surgery in prone position. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2006;210:153-60.

- 10. Dyck JB, Maze M, Haack C, et al. The pharmacokinetics and hemodynamic effects of intravenous and intramuscular dexmedetomidine hydrochloride in adult human volunteers. Anesthesiology. 1993;78:813-20.
- 11. Basar H, Akpinar S, Doganci N, et al. The effects of preanesthetic, single-dose dexmedetomidine on induction, hemodynamic, and cardiovascular parameters. J Clin Anesth. 2008;20:431-6.
- 12. Salihoglu Z, Demiroluk S, Demirkiran, Kose Y. Comparison of effects of remifentanil, alfentanil and fentanyl on cardiovascular responses to tracheal intubation in morbidly obese patients. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2002;19:125-8.
- 13. Myles PS, Hunt JO, Fletcher H, et al. Remifentanil, fentanyl, and cardiac surgery: a double-blinded, randomized, controlled trial of costs and outcomes. Anesth Analg. 2002;95:805-12.
- 14. Uzümcügil F, Canbay O, Celebi N, et al. Comparison of dexmedetomidine-propofol vs. fentanyl-propofol for laryngeal mask insertion. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2008;25:675-80.



Investigation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Apoptosis Caused by Malachite Green-Mediated Sonodynamic Therapy in HL60 Cells

OMetin Caliskan¹, OSercin Ozlem Caliskan², OGulsen Bayrak³

¹Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biology, Uşak, Türkiye ²Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, Uşak, Türkiye ³Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Uşak, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Sonodynamic antitumor therapy is a promising, novel method for the treatment of cancer. To determine the effects of malachite green (MG) in the presence of ultrasound (US), MG was tested in vitro on HL60 cells at different concentrations as a sonodynamic compound. We investigated cell viability, morphology, and the occurrence of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress after MG-mediated sonodynamic therapy (SDT) in HL60 cells.

Material and Method: Four groups were formed, including a control group, a group subjected to ultrasound (US) only, a group treated with various concentrations of MG, and a group treated with US using the same concentrations. The cells were treated with 1MHz ultrasound at 2 W/cm² for 3 minutes. The assessment of cell viability was conducted 24 hours post-treatment through the utilization of the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. Cell morphology and apoptotic index were determined using Giemsa staining, while GRP78 and PERK expressions were determined through immunocytochemistry staining.

Results: The cell cytotoxicity of HL60 cells significantly increased after MG-mediated sonodynamic therapy. After treatment, apoptotic cells with micronuclei were observed morphologically. Significant levels of GRP78 and PERK expression were observed in all groups, except for PERK expression in the US group, compared to the control group.

Conclusion: The induction of ER stress, accompanied by intense apoptosis and a marked decrease in cell viability, demonstrates the potential of MG-mediated sonodynamic therapy in cancer treatment. Investigating ER stress as a molecular target may contribute to improving the treatment method.

Keywords: HL60 cells, malachite green, sonodynamic therapy, apoptosis, ER stress

INTRODUCTION

Surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy are classic treatment methods for cancer. Targeted therapy, hormonal therapy, and immunotherapy are alternative methods reported in cancer treatment. Even though these treatments had clinical success, they also have side effects and disadvantages. Chemotherapeutic drugs may cause side effects such as liver damage, gastrointestinal toxicity, and immunosuppression, while radiotherapy may have toxic effects on normal tissue. Surgical procedures may cause trauma and tumor metastasis. Therefore, noninvasive, effective, non-toxic, and reproducible cancer treatment methods are necessary (1,2).

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) has been utilized as a nontoxic and non-invasive method for tumor treatment in recent years. The mechanism of action of PDT is based on the activation of a photosensitizer that selectively accumulates in tumor tissue when exposed to light of an appropriate wavelength. This activation initiates a series of biochemical events that can potentially cause damage and lead to the death of the target tissue (3). Numerous studies have shown that PDT is an effective alternative treatment method for various cancers. Nevertheless, its effectiveness in the treatment of deep tumors is limited due to the shallow depth of penetration of light (4).

CITATION

Caliskan M, Bayrak G, Caliskan SO. Investigation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Apoptosis Caused by Malachite Green-Mediated Sonodynamic Therapy in HL60 Cells. Med Records. 2024;6(1):89-94. DOI:1037990/medr.1395057

Received: 27.11.2023 Accepted: 23.12.2023 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Sercin Ozlem Caliskan, Uşak University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, Uşak, Türkiye **E-mail**: srn.ozlem@gmail.com

Sonodynamic therapy (SDT) emerged after Yumita and Umemura discovered in 1989 that hematoporphyrin, a photosensitizer, could be activated by ultrasound (US) and kill tumor cells (5). SDT refers to the process in which a sonosensitizer is activated by US, resulting in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (6-9). The mechanism of SDT remains unclear. The mechanisms reported in the literature are the ultrasound-induced cavitation effect and the ROS formation. The predominant mechanism widely acknowledged involves the generation of ROS induced by pyrolysis or sonoluminescence. Ultrasound is a mechanical wave that has many advantages, including high-level concentrated energy, directability, and longdistance propagation. SDT has significant potential in the treatment of deep-seated tumors due to its ability to penetrate deep tissues and cause minimal damage to surrounding normal tissues (10,11).

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is a central organelle that is primarily responsible for protein synthesis, folding, and modification, and it controls various cellular functions, including intracellular Ca2+ balance and maintenance of cellular homeostasis (12). Sonodynamic treatment causes abundant ROS production, which leads to an increase in ER stress and the induction of apoptosis if this stress cannot be tolerated (13,14). The accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER after sonodynamic treatment leads to the induction of Glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78), which acts as a chaperone and master regulator of the Unfolded Protein Response (UPR) (15). PERK is a transmembrane protein localized in ER. Under normal conditions, PERK is inactive and is complexed with ER chaperone immunoglobulin binding proteins. The complex is disrupted when ER stress occurs, and PERK inactivates eIF2, which is required for protein synthesis, by phosphorylating it, thereby suppressing translation and reducing ER stress (16).

The effectiveness of sonodynamic therapy largely depends on the efficacy of the sonosensitizer. Malachite green (MG) is a cationic dye with a triphenylmethane structure derived from dimethyl aniline and benzaldehyde (17). Due to the structural properties of triacyl methane dyes, their selective localization ability attracts attention as antimicrobial and anticancer agents (18). The literature lacks studies on the efficacy of sonodynamic treatment using MG, which stands out as a photosensitizer. The present study investigated the effects of MG-mediated SDT on cell viability, morphology, apoptosis, and ER stress in HL60 acute promyelocytic leukemia cells.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

HL60 Cell Culture

The human acute promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL60 was cultured in RPMI 1640 with L-glutamine medium (CEGROGEN, Biotech, Germany), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 μ g/mL

streptomycin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA).

Preparation of Stock Solutions of Malachite Green

MG stock solution (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was prepared in PBS at a concentration of 50 μ M. MG dilutions of 3.12, 1.56, 0.78, 0.39, 0.19, and 0.09 μ M were prepared from the stock MB solution using RPMI 1640 medium. An equal amount of fresh medium containing 1x10⁵ cells was added to the prepared dilutions.

Experimental Groups

Group 1: (Control) The control group is composed of control untreated cells.

Group 2: (US) Only ultrasound was performed on the cells at a frequency of 1 MHz with an intensity of 2 W/cm² and a distance of 2 cm for 3 minutes

Group 3: (MG) Cells were exposed to MG at doses of 3.12, 1.56, 0.78, 0.39, 0.19, and 0.09 μ M for one hour at 37°C, then the free MG was removed.

Group 4: (MG+SDT) Cells were incubated with MG doses of 3.12, 1.56, 0.78, 0.39, 0.19, and 0.09 μ M MG for one hour at 37°C, then the free MG was removed. Finally, ultrasound was performed on the cells at a frequency of 1 MHz with an intensity of 2 W/cm² and at a distance of 2 cm for 3 minutes.

Determination of in Vitro Efficacy of Sonodynamic Therapy

The experimental setup for MG-mediated SDT is shown in Figure 1. HL60 cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min after being exposed to various doses of MB for 1 h, as in our previous studies (19). PBS was added to the precipitate. This process was repeated 3 times, and then the free MG was removed. The BTL 4710 Sono dualfrequency ultrasound therapy device (BTL, CZ) was used to apply ultrasound to cells. Cells were transferred to 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and exposed to ultrasound at a frequency of 1 MHz, from a distance of 2 cm, and at an intensity of 2 W/cm² for 3 minutes (20) in water. To prevent the thermal effect of ultrasound, the water was changed, and the temperature of the application environment was kept under control. Subsequent to the ultrasound treatment, fresh medium was added to the samples, and the samples were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours.



Figure 1. Experimental setup for MG-mediated SDT

MTT Analysis

Following the incubation period, cell viability was evaluated in the Control, US, MG, and MG mediated SDT groups using the MTT. The samples were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4 h using 10µl of MTT solution for each well in a 96well microplate. Absorbance values were measured using a spectrophotometer at 570 nm (Multiskan Sky Microplate Spectrophotometer, Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Determination of Cell Morphology and Apoptotic Index Using Giemsa Staining

Three preparations were made for the control, US, MG, and MG mediated SDT groups. A certain amount of cells were taken from each group, spread on a slide, and allowed to dry. The dried cells were fixed by methanol. Giemsa stain, prepared in a one-to-one ratio with sterile distilled water, was dropped onto the slides with the preparations and left for 5 minutes. Subsequently, after washing off excess stain from the preparations, cell morphologies and apoptotic indices were examined under a light microscope. Cells containing condensed chromatin and micronuclei were considered apoptotic. The apoptotic index was determined by counting 100 cells in each group preparation, both apoptotic and non-apoptotic, at a magnification of 1000X.

Determination of ER Stress Markers GRP78 and PERK by Immunostaining

After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed, and the resulting precipitate was evenly distributed onto a slide. After the preparation dried, it was fixed with methanol. After PBS washing, it was incubated in a 3% H₂O₂ solution for 10 minutes to inhibit endogenous peroxidase activity. After washing with PBS again, normal goat serum (Invitrogen-50062Z) was applied for inhibition and left for 8 minutes. It was then incubated overnight with primary antibodies at +4°C: Anti-GRP78 BiP/HSPA5 (1:100, PB9640; Boster) and Anti-PERK (1:100, bs2469R; Bioss). After the incubation period, a rabbit anti-IgG secondary antibody (1/200, Thermo Scientific, 65-6140) was added to the preparations, and it was incubated for 30 minutes. Subsequently, the preparations were washed with PBS.

Horseradish peroxidase (HRP, 1/200, Thermo Scientific, 43-4323) was then added and incubated for 10 min. The reaction was further enhanced using the chromogen diaminobenzidine (DAB, Abcam, ab64238). After washing the preparations with distilled water, they were covered with Entellan and examined under a light microscope (Olympus BX50). Images were recorded using the attached camera. Immunocytochemical scoring was conducted by counting 100 cells in four different fields at 400X magnification. The staining intensities of these cells were scored as follows: strong (++++), moderate (+++), weak (+), and absent (+). The staining intensity score generally consists of four categories: negative (1), weak (2), moderate (3), and strong (4). The H-score, All red-score, and Immunoreactive score are regarded as the 'gold standard' in combined scoring

systems for evaluating and presenting IHC data. These scoring systems employ different categories to assess the proportion of stained tissues or cells (21).

Statistical Analysis

All experiments were repeated at least three times in triplicate wells. The data were analyzed using the SPSS 25.0 software, and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Paired Sample t-test were employed for data analysis. Results with a p-value <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Effect of Malachite Green and Malachite Green-Mediated SDT on HL-60 Cell Viability

The results showed that SDT significantly reduced cell viability at all concentrations of MG compared to the control group, and cell death increased as concentrations of MG increased (p<0.001). Cell viability percentages of the Control, US, and MG mediated SDT groups, from low to high concentration, respectively, were determined as 99.7%±0.5, 97.5%±1.35, 95.6%±4.47, 94.4%±0.86, 86.6%±0.48, 75.6%±0.47, 52.3%±1.05, and 43.9%±2.28. No significant difference was observed between the control and US groups in terms of cell viability (p>0.05). In the MG group, cell viability percentages were determined as 98.2%±1.7, 99%±0.41, 99.95%±0.95, 97.7%±0.47, 88.6%±0.47 and 72.5%±1.15, respectively, from low concentration to high. It was observed that concentrations lower than 1.56 µM of MG did not significantly affect the viability of HL60 cells, while a concentration of 1.56 µM MG did have a small impact on viability and resulted in the death of approximately half of the cells when combined with US (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Evaluation of cytotoxicity after treatment with Control, Ultrasound, MG and MG-mediated SDT. The data represent the means±standard deviations (SDs) of 3 independent experiments. * indicates statistically significance compared to control group; Error bars 95% confiedence interval

Determination of the Morphology and Apoptotic Index of HL60 Cells using Giemsa Staining

Morphological changes in cells are crucial for the determination of cell apoptosis. Figure 3A-G shows the

morphological findings of the control group and the MG treatment group at various concentrations. Typical morphological characteristics of HL60 cells in the control group were observed as large, round-nucleated, and cytoplasmic (Figure 3G). An increase in apoptotic cells with micronuclei was observed in the MG-only treated groups towards low to high concentrations (Figure 3A-F).

Figure 3I-O presents microscopic images of cells treated with US and MG-mediated SDT, after Giemsa staining. MG-mediated SDT groups showed irregular changes in morphology, including cell membrane shrinkage. It was observed that the number of apoptotic cells increased significantly as the MG concentration increased, and more apoptotic bodies were formed compared to the control. Apoptotic cells with irregular cytoplasmic contours, chromatin condensation, decreased nucleocytoplasmic ratio , and micronuclei were identified, particularly at high concentrations (Figure 3I-N). In the US-only group, typical morphological features were observed, although a few cells showed apoptotic cells with micronuclei (Figure 30).

Apoptotic index values at the end of the 24-hour experimental period were calculated as $2.11\pm1.05\%$ for the control group, $5.77\pm0.66\%$ for the US group, $63.11\pm1.16\%$, $40.88\pm0.6\%$, $32.11\pm0.92\%$, $24.88\pm0.78\%$, $16.88\pm1.36\%$, and $8.22\pm1.31\%$ for the 3.125μ M, 1.56μ M, 0.78μ M, 0.39μ M, 0.19μ M, and 0.09μ M MG-treated experimental groups, respectively, and $72.11\pm1.16\%$, $50.88\pm0.78\%$, $42.55\pm1.13\%$, $37.66\pm0.7\%$, $29.11\pm1.16\%$, and $11.88\pm0.78\%$ for the MG+SDT group in the same MG concentration order (Figure 4).



Figure 3. Morphology of the MG and MG mediated SDT group: 3.12 μ M MG (3A), 1.56 μ M MG (3B), 0.78 μ M MG (3C), 0.39 μ M MG (3D), 0.19 μ M MG (3E), 0.09 μ M MG (3F), Control (3G), 3.12 μ M MG mediated SDT (3I), 1.56 μ M MG mediated SDT (3J), 0.78 μ M MG mediated SDT (3K), 0.39 μ M MG mediated SDT (3L), 0.19 μ M MG mediated SDT (3M), 0.09 μ M MG mediated SDT (3N), US-Control (3O) Apoptotic cells with micronuclei (black arrow). Magnification X400

Apoptotic index (%) of MG & MG+SDT



Figure 4. Apoptosis indices of control, US, MG and MG SDT groups.The data represent the means±standard deviations (SDs) of 3 independent experiments. *indicates statistically significance compared to control group; Error bars 95% confiedence interval

Determination of ER Stress Markers GRP78 and PERK Expressions by Immunocytochemistry

GRP78 and PERK expressions in all groups were analyzed by examining the changes in immunocytochemistry staining. Compared to the control group, significant levels of GRP78 and PERK expression were observed in all groups (p<0.001) (Figure 5-7), except for PERK expression in the US group (Figure 6G). The expression of both proteins increased in both the MG group (Figure 5A-F and Figure 6A-F) and the MG-mediated SDT group (Figure 5I-N and Figure 6I-N) as the MG concentration increased.



Figure 5. GRP78 immunostaining of MG and MG mediated SDT groups. 3.12 μ M MG (**5A**), 1.56 μ M MG (**5B**), 0.78 μ M MG (**5C**), 0.39 μ M MG (**5D**), 0.19 μ M MG (**5E**), 0.09 μ M MG (**5F**), Control (**5G**). 3.12 μ M MG mediated SDT (**5I**), 1.56 μ M MG mediated SDT (**5J**), 0.78 μ M MG mediated SDT (**5K**), 0.39 μ M MG mediated SDT (**5L**), 0.19 μ M MG mediated SDT (**5M**), 0.09 μ M MG mediated SDT (**5N**), US-Control (**5O**). Strong staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrow), absent staining (white arrow). All photos imagination X400



Figure 6. PERK immunostaining of MG and MG mediated SDT groups. 3.12 μ M MG (**6A**), 1.56 μ M MG (**6B**), 0.78 μ M MG (**6C**), 0.39 μ M MG (**6D**), 0.19 μ M MG (**6E**), 0.09 μ M MG (**6F**), US (**6G**). 3.12 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6I**), 1.56 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6J**), 0.78 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6K**), 0.39 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6L**), 0.19 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6K**), 0.39 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6L**), 0.19 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6M**), 0.09 μ M MG mediated SDT (**6N**), US-Control (**6O**). Strong staining (black arrowhead), medium staining (white arrowhead), weak staining (black arrow), absent staining (white arrow). All photos imagination X400



Figure 7. Statistical analysis of GRP78 MG Group (**7A**), GRP78 MG mediated SDT Group (**7B**), Statistical analysis of PERK MG groups (**7C**), PERK MG mediated SDT Group (**7D**). *** & °Significance according to the control groups

DISCUSSION

The combination of sensitizers and ultrasound has been reported to decrease cell viability and induce apoptosis in numerous studies in the literature. Li et al. reported that PpIX-mediated ultrasound treatment in the human leukemia cell line U937 significantly decreased cell viability, caused severe damage in cell morphology, DNA, and mitochondria. Furthermore, they noted that intracellular ROS were also involved in this process (22). In another study, Li et al. demonstrated that Ce6-mediated SDT suppressed the growth of K562 cells, increased intracellular ROS production, and triggered mitochondria and caspase-dependent apoptosis (23). Yumita et al. reported that the ATX-70 sonosensitizer does not cause cell damage when administered alone on HL60 cells, whereas cell damage occurred when

activated with ultrasound (24). They showed in another study that apoptosis was induced by cell shrinkage, DNA fragmentation, and caspase 3 activation following fullerene-mediated SDT in HL60 cells (25). In their study on HL60 cells, Su et al. reported that protoporphyrin IXmediated SDT increased the cytotoxicity of cells, HL-60 cell apoptosis was significantly induced, and intracellular ROS production increased significantly after SDT (26). In another study on U937 cells, they showed that Ce6mediated SDT decreased cell viability, whereas treatment with Ce6 and US-only did not have an effect on cell viability, and that U937 cell apoptosis significantly increased after Ce6-mediated SDT (27). Trendowski et al. hypothesized that Cytochalasin B, a cytokinesis inhibitor that selectively enlarges and multinucleates malignant cells in U937 cells, may have significant therapeutic potential when combined with SDT (28).

According to our morphological results, the morphological features observed in the groups subjected to MGmediated SDT include chromatin condensation, apoptotic cells with micronuclei, and cell shrinkage. Although a few cells with micronucleated apoptotic features were observed in groups treated only with MG and US, typical morphological characteristics were evident. These findings were consistent with apoptotic index results. In groups subjected to MG-mediated SDT, the apoptotic index ratio was found to be higher compared to the control, US, and MG-only groups.

Our results indicate that MG caused a significant decrease in cell viability starting at a concentration of 1.56 uM. However, when combined with ultrasound at this concentration, it resulted in the death of approximately half of the cells. At concentrations equal to or below this concentration, SDT is expected to have a beneficial effect. We observed that ultrasound alone did not affect cell viability, yet it caused a significant increase in GRP78 expression. We suggest that GRP78 (15), which plays a crucial role in the initial response to the increase in unfolded proteins and the triggering of the UPR, increases its expression in response to ultrasound-induced stress, This stress is tolerated by the cell without causing cell death, and viability remains unaffected. We conclude that PERK expression increases at advanced stages when ER stress becomes excessive, and naturally, no significant change occurs in its expression when exposed to the tolerable stress caused by ultrasound treatment.

CONCLUSION

All of our results indicate that MG-mediated SDT has a significant cytotoxic effect on cancer cells, accompanied or caused by significant ER stress when administered at the appropriate concentration. Further studies to elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying this effect would contribute to the establishment of targeted therapies and the development of this alternative treatment more effectively. Our future perspective is to focus on the potential molecular mechanisms of this treatment and to investigate its similar or superior effects in other types of cancer. **Financial disclosures:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Since the methodological structure of the study is a "cell culture study", it does not require ethics committee approval in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research on Humans".

REFERENCES

- 1. Miller KD, Nogueira L, Devasia T, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics. Cancer J Clin. 2022;72:409-36.
- 2. Zou L, Wang H, He B, et al. Current approaches of photothermal therapy in treating cancer metastasis with nanotherapeutics. Theranostics. 2016;6:762-72.
- 3. Correia JH, Rodrigues JA, Pimenta S, et al Photodynamic therapy review: principles, photosensitizers, applications, and future directions. Pharmaceutics. 2021;13:1332.
- Qian X, Zheng Y, Chen Y. Micro/nanoparticle-augmented sonodynamic therapy (SDT): breaking the depth shallow of photoactivation. Adv Mater. 2016;28:8097-129.
- Yumita N, Nishigaki R, Umemura K, Umemura S. Hematoporphyrin as a sensitizer of cell-damaging effect of ultrasound. Jpn J Cancer Res.1989;80:219-22.
- Gong F, Cheng L, Yang N, et al. Ultrasmall oxygen-deficient bimetallic oxide MnWO_x nanoparticles for depletion of endogenous GSH and enhanced sonodynamic cancer therapy. Adv Mater. 2019;31:1900730.
- Son S, Kim JH, Wang X, et al. Multifunctional sonosensitizers in sonodynamic cancer therapy. Chem Soc Rev. 2020;49:3244-61.
- Chen H, Zhou X, Gao Y, et al. Recent progress in development of new sonosensitizers for sonodynamic cancer therapy. Drug DiscovToday. 2014;19:502-9.
- Yu J, Guo Z, Yan J, et al. Gastric acid-responsive ROS nanogenerators for effective treatment of helicobacter pylori infection without disrupting homeostasis of intestinal flora. Adv Sci.2023;10:e2206957.
- Liang S, Deng X, Ma PA, et al. Recent advances in nanomaterial-assisted combinational sonodynamic cancer therapy. Adv Mater. 2020;32:e2003214.
- 11. Canavese G, Ancona A, Racca L, et al. Nanoparticle-assisted ultrasound: A special focus on sonodynamic therapy against cancer. Chem Eng J. 2018;340:155-72.
- Araki K, Nagata K. Protein folding and quality control in the ER. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2011;3:a007526. Erratum in: Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4:a015438.
- Li D, Li L, Li P, et al. Apoptosis of HeLa cells induced by a new targeting photosensitizer-based PDT via a mitochondrial pathway and ER stress. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;8:703-11.

- 14. Lin S, Yang L, Shi H, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum-targeting photosensitizer Hypericin confers chemo-sensitization towards oxaliplatin through inducing pro-death autophagy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2017;87:54-68.
- 15. Firczuk M, Gabrysiak M, Barankiewicz J, et al. GRP78targeting subtilase cytotoxin sensitizes cancer cells to photodynamic therapy. Cell Death Dis. 2013;4:e741.
- Ron D, Walter P. Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8:519-29.
- Sun XF, Wang SG, Liu XW, et al. Biosorption of malachite green from aqueous solutions onto aerobic granules: kinetic on equilibrium studies. Bioresour Technol. 2008;99:3475-83.
- Montes de Oca MN, Vara J, Milla L, et al. Physicochemical properties and photodynamic activity of novel derivatives of triarylmethane and thiazine. Arch Pharm (Weinheim). 2013;346:255-65.
- Caliskan-Ozlem S, Duran ÖF, Aslan C, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of malachite green-based photodynamic therapy in acute myeloid leukemia. J Contemp Med. 2023;13:305-11.
- 20. Yumita N, Iwase Y, Nishi K, et al. Involvement of reactive oxygen species in sonodynamically induced apoptosis using a novel porphyrin derivative. Theranostic. 2012;2:880-8.
- 21. Cizkova K, Foltynkova T, Gachechiladze M, et al. Comparative analysis of immunohistochemical staining intensity determined by light microscopy, Image J and QuPath in placental hofbauer cells. Acta Histochem Cytochem. 2021;54:21-9.
- Li Y, Su X, Wang X, et al. Cytotoxic effect of protoporphyrin IX to human leukemia U937 cells under ultrasonic irradiation. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2014;33:1186-96.
- Li Y, Wang P, Wang X, et al. Involvement of mitochondrial and reactive oxygen species in the sonodynamic toxicity of chlorin e6 in human leukemia K562 cells. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2014;40:990-1000.
- 24. Yumita N, Okudaira K, Momose Y, Umemura S. Sonodynamically induced apoptosis and active oxygen generation by gallium-porphyrin complex, ATX-70. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2010;66:1071-8.
- 25. Yumita N, Watanabe T, Chen FS, et al. Induction of apoptosis by functionalized fullerene-based sonodynamic therapy in HL-60 cells. Anticancer Res. 2016;36:2665-74.
- 26. Su X, Wang X, Zhang K, et al. Sonodynamic therapy induces apoptosis of human leukemia HL-60 cells in the presence of protoporphyrin IX. Gen Physiol Biophys. 2016;35:155-64.
- 27. Su X, Wang P, Wang X, et al. Involvement of MAPK activation and ROS generation in human leukemia U937 cells undergoing apoptosis in response to sonodynamic therapy. Int J Radiat Biol. 2013;89:915-27.
- 28. Trendowski M, Yu G, Wong V, et al. The real deal: using cytochalasin B in sonodynamic therapy to preferentially damage leukemia cells. Anticancer Res. 2014;34:2195-202.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Improving Phlebotomy Practices Through Small-Volume Blood Tubes: A Survey-Based Study

Image: Construction of the image is a set of the image is a se

¹İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, İzmir, Türkiye

²Akçakale Public Hospital, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Şanlıurfa, Türkiye

³Çiğli Training and Research Hospital, Quality Directorate, İzmir, Türkiye

⁴Çiğli Training and Research Hospital, Health Care Services, İzmir, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License

Abstract

Aim: The blood collection for laboratory tests has been frequently performed due to evidence-based medicine. We aimed to conduct a survey on phlebotomy among phlebotomists and patients and to reduce unnecessary blood loss by using small-volume blood collection tubes.

Material and Method: A survey among phlebotomists and patients was conducted to gather their opinions. Phlebotomists received training on the importance of the preanalytical process. The blood volume required for laboratory tests was reduced by 33.3%-50.0% in children and adults, and 63.0%-84.0% in newborns. Following this intervention, we investigated its effects on the blood transfusion ratio in the neonatal and adult intensive care unit (NICU and ICU) and the amount of laboratory medical waste generated.

Results: A majority of phlebotomists (91.8%) reported difficulties in drawing blood from newborns, pediatric, oncology, hematology, and geriatric patients. Additionally, 68.9% of phlebotomists and 57.1% of patients expressed an opinion for reduced blood volume. Despite an increase in the number of laboratory tests (28.4%) and samples (15.7%), we observed a 17.8% reduction in the amount of laboratory medical waste. Although the number of patients in NICU increased statistically significant, the increase in transfusion rates was not significant. Although the number of patients in ICU increased, transfusion rates decreased, but neither was found to be statistically significant.

Conclusion: Post-graduation, phlebotomists should be educated regularly about the preanalytical process. Based on the opinions of both phlebotomists and patients, using small-volume tubes in patients with difficult blood collection may increase their satisfaction. Generally, laboratory medical waste may be reduced.

Keywords: Laboratory testing, blood collection tube, iatrogenic anemia, patient satisfaction, personnel satisfaction, laboratory medical waste

INTRODUCTION

Patient Blood Management (PCM) is a multidisciplinary diagnostic and therapeutic approach that focuses on the rational use of blood components, reducing unnecessary blood loss. Minimizing iatrogenic blood loss is an important part of PBM (1). The most common cause of iatrogenic anemia is recurrent blood draws for laboratory tests (2,3). latrogenic anemia is frequently seen in intensive care unit (ICU) patients (4). On the second day of admission to the ICU, more than 70% of adults have anemia and more than half of them require a blood transfusion (5). In the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), the low body weight of patients exacerbates iatrogenic anemia. It is estimated that 15-30% of blood volumes are lost due to blood draw

during the first six weeks of an infant's life in the NICU (6).

Minimum pipetted serum/dead volume should be 1-35 μ L/100-500 μ L, plasma/dead volume 10-50 μ L/200 μ L or whole blood/dead volume 40-80 μ L/200 μ L for each test in our laboratory. According to these data, it is thought that blood is drawn more than the required blood volumes to be analyzed. It has been reported that only 9% of blood in standard blood collection tubes is used for laboratory tests (7). Laboratories accredited by the College of American Pathologists recorded blood collection tube size/volume and analytic/discard volume for complete blood cell count and electrolyte panel in ICU patients (8). The 2.76 mL of blood was more than the analytic volume of complete blood cell counts, and 1.75 mL of blood was

CITATION

Arslan FD, Oncel Van T, Alpsen C, et al. Improving Phlebotomy Practices Through Small-Volume Blood Tubes: A Survey-Based Study. Med Records. 2024;6(1):95-101. DOI:1037990/medr.1404771

Received: 14.12.2023 Accepted: 09.01.2024 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Tugba Oncel Van, Akçakale Public Hospital, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Şanlıurfa, Türkiye **E-mail**: tubaoncel@hotmail.com

more than the analytic volume of routine electrolytes. The discard volume was 2.84 mL per tube for complete blood cell counts and 2.02 mL per tube for electrolyte panels. Specimen collection tube size was directly associated with overcollections and discard volumes (8).

Recently, microtubes (small-volume tubes) preassembled with carrier tubes (13x75 mm) can be included in the autoanalyzer without manual process, and thus laboratory worker safety can be increased.

For this purpose, the phlebotomist was trained on the importance of phlebotomy in preanalytical processes and its contribution to PBM in order to reduce unnecessary blood loss and to popularize small-volume blood collection tubes. A survey of the employees and patients was conducted regarding their experiences and opinions regarding phlebotomy. In accordance with their opinions, the blood collection volume for laboratory tests was reduced in our hospital. The effects of this intervention on the blood transfusion ratio in ICU/NICU and the amount of laboratory medical waste were evaluated.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Local ethical approval was obtained (the date/number of decision, 29.12.2021/468) and subjects gave informed consent.

Training and Survey of Phlebotomists

In January 2022, phlebotomists (n=388) who draw blood in our hospital were trained by a biochemistry specialist on preanalytical processes, especially blood collection tube volume and filling ratio, and a survey was conducted. The personnel's experience with phlebotomy in the 1st and 2nd questions and the knowledge on phlebotomy in the 3rd and 4th questions were evaluated. In the 5th question, the opinion of the personnel on the blood collection volume was asked.

Survey of Patients

In January 2022, adult and pediatric patients were surveyed on phlebotomy in outpatient and inpatient clinics. The survey was conducted with the help of parents or relatives of pediatric patients. In the 1st, 2nd and 3rd questions, the patient's experience with phlebotomy was evaluated. In the 4th and 5th questions, the opinion of the patient on the blood collection volume was asked. Blood test to be "once a week and once a month" was accepted as "often", "once or twice a year" as "sometimes" and "other" as "rarely".

Reducing the Blood Collection Volume for Phlebotomy

In January 2022, the blood volumes required to be drawn from newborn, pediatric and adult patients for laboratory tests were reduced at a certain ratio in our hospital (Table 1). Sedimentation, blood type test, crossmatch test and blood gas analysis were excluded. Venous blood samples were taken into 1.0 mL (MiniCollect[®] Complete, 9NC Sodium Citrate 3.2%, 13x75 mm, GBO GmbH, Austria), 2.5 and 5.0 mL tubes (Vacusera[®], Serum Gel and Clot Activator, 13x75 mm, Diseara, İzmir, Türkiye). Capillary blood samples were taken into 0.8 mL (MiniCollect[®] Complete, CAT Serum Seperator, 13x75 mm, GBO GmbH, Austria) and 0.5 mL (MiniCollect[®] Complete, K2E/K2EDTA, 13x75 mm, GBO GmbH, Austria) tubes.

Table 1. Blood volumes to be drawn in neonatal, pediatric and adult patients					
Laboratory tests	2021	2022	Reduced rate of blood volume (%)		
	Blood volumes to be drawn i	n pediatric and adult patients			
Biochemical tests	5.0 mL	2.5 mL	50.0		
Hormonal tests	5.0 mL	2.5 mL	50.0		
Coagulation tests	2.7 mL	1.8 mL	33.3		
Serological tests	5.0 mL	2.5 mL	50.0		
	Blood volumes to be dra	awn in neonatal patients			
Biochemical tests	5.0 mL	0.8 mL	84.0		
Hormonal tests	5.0 mL	0.8 mL	84.0		
Coagulation tests	2.7 mL	1.0 mL	63.0		
Serological tests	5.0 mL	0.8 mL	84.0		
Complete blood count	2.0 mL	0.5 mL	75.0		
Hemoglobin A1c	2.0 mL	0.5 mL	75.0		

The quality indicators through twelve months in 2021 and 2022 years [the number of laboratory tests and samples, the amount of laboratory medical waste, the number of patients hospitalized in NICU/ICU, the number of erythrocyte transfusions (ET) (unit) per patient and the ratio of patients transfused in NICU/ICU] were obtained from the hospital information system. Laboratory medical wastes included blood collection tubes, gloves, cultures, urine containers and cuvettes in microbiology and biochemistry laboratory.

Statistical Analysis

Minitab software (version 15.1.20.0; Minitab, Inc., State College, PA) was used for statistical analysis. The mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range of data for quality indicators in the years 2021 and 2022 were calculated. The percentage change between 2021 and 2022 was calculated using the formula: 100*(average of 2022 - average of 2021) / average of 2021. The difference in averages over twelve months between 2021 and 2022

years was analyzed by the Wilcoxon test. In addition, the relationship between the answers to the survey was analyzed by the Chi-Square test. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Evaluation of the Survey Conducted to Phlebotomist

62.9% (n=244) of phlebotomists who trained participated in the survey. Demographic characteristics and questions/ answers of the phlebotomist are presented in Table 2. Phlebotomists were mostly nurses (68.0%) and female (89.8%), and had a license degree (86.9%). The mean age of phlebotomists was 35.4±9.5.

91.8% of the phlebotomists had difficulty drawing blood

from newborn, pediatric, oncology, hematology and geriatric patients (Question 1). Only 30.8% of personnel who had difficulty drawing blood from these patients and 45.0% of those who had no difficulty were able to fully fill the blood collection tubes (p=0.060). 70.1% of personnel who had difficulty drawing blood and 55.5% of those who had no difficulty preferred to reduce the amount or volume of blood collected (p=0.156).

88.9% of the phlebotomists draw the necessary amount of blood into blood collection tubes with gel (Question 3). In addition, 77.5% of the personnel could fill the necessary blood in the collection tubes including anticoagulants (Question 4). The personnel want to reduce the amount/ volume of blood was 68.9% (Question 5).

Tab	le 2. Demographic characteristics and questi	ions/answers in survey of health personnel (n=244)	
Der	nographic characteristics		
Ag	e, mean±standard deviation	35.4±9.5	n (%)
		Female	219 (89.8)
Gei	nder, n (%)	Male	25 (10.2)
		Nurse	166 (68.0)
Do	nition n (%)	Trainee Nurse	33 (13.5)
P0:	sition, n (%)	Midwife	31 (12.7)
		Laboratory technician	14 (5.7)
		Adult inpatient service	110 (45.1)
		Adult intensive care	54 (22.1)
M-		Emergency room	23 (9.4)
vvo	rkplace, n (%)	Pediatric outpatient service	22 (9.0)
		Adult outpatient service	21 (8.6)
		Blood collection unit	14 (5.7)
		License degree	212 (86.9)
Edι	ucation, n (%)	Associate degree	23 (9.4)
		High school	9 (3.7)
Qu	estions	Answers	n (%)
1.	Which patients do you have difficulty drawing blood?	Newborn, pediatric, oncology, haematology, or geriatric patients	224 (91.8)
		None	20 (8.2)
2.	Can you fill the blood collection tubes	Yes	78 (32.0)
	completely if you have difficulty drawing	Partially	151 (61.9)
	blood?	No	15 (6.1)
3.	Is it necessary to draw the recommended	Yes	217 (88.9)
•••	amount of blood in blood collection tubes	No idea	20 (8.2)
	with gel?	No	7 (2.9)
		I pay attention	189 (77.5)
4.	Do you pay attention to the drawn blood amount into blood tubes with anticoagulants?	l ignore it if I have difficulty drawing blood in some patients	54 (22.1)
		I don't pay attention	1 (4.0)
5.	Would you like the amount/volume	Yes	168 (68.9)
9.	of blood drawn into each tube to be	It doesn't matter	46 (18.9)
	reduced?	No	30 (12.3)

Evaluation of the Survey Conducted to the Patients

Demographic characteristics and questions/answers of the patients (n=140) are presented in Table 3. 34.8% of patients with chronic diseases and 13.8% of those without chronic diseases had blood tests "often" (p<0.05). 26.6% of adult patients have frequent blood testing, while only 15.8% of pediatric patients stated that they do (p<0.05) (Question 1). The ratio of difficult blood collection in adult patients was 34.1%, while this ratio (55.2%) was higher in children (p<0.05) (Question 3). The blood drawing in adult inpatients was more difficult than in outpatients (48.0% vs. 12.8%, p<0.05) and in pediatric inpatients more difficult than outpatients (16.0% vs. 53.8%, p<0.05) (Question 3). The ratio of pediatric inpatients, who stated that the blood volume is excessive, had higher compared to those of outpatients (42.3% vs. 16.0%, p<0.05). Similarly, the ratio of adult inpatients, who stated that the blood volume is excessive, had higher compared to those of outpatients (32.0 vs. 10.3%, p<0.05) (Question 4).

37.3% of the patients who do not think the drawing blood volume was excessive and 90.3% of the patients who think it was excessive, wanted to reduce blood volume (p<0.001) (Question 5).

Table 3. Demographic characteristics and survey of patients					
Demographic characteristics		n (%)			
	Pediatric blood collection unit	50 (35.7)			
Clinics	Child inpatient service unit	26 (18.6)			
Clinics	Adult blood collection unit	39 (27.9)			
	Adult inpatient service unit	25 (17.9)			
	Pediatric	76 (54.3)			
Age group	Adult	64 (45.7)			
Any meantatendered deviation	Pediatric	6.6±5.2			
Age, mean±standard deviation	Adult	55.6±17.6			
Gender	Female	67 (47.9)			
Gender	Male	73 (52.1)			
Chronic disease	Yes	46 (32.9)			
Chronic disease	No	94 (67.1)			
Questions	Answers	n (%)			
	Often	29 (20.7)			
1. How often do you have blood tests?	Sometimes	83 (59.3)			
	Rarely	28 (20.0)			
	1-2	55 (39.3)			
2. How many blood collection tubes are used	3-4	70 (50.0)			
when you have a blood test?	5 or more	7 (5.0)			
	l don't know	8 (5.7)			
	Yes	39 (27.9)			
3. Has the health personnel difficulty drawn blood from you?	Sometimes	25 (17.9)			
	No	76 (54.3)			
	Yes	31 (22.1)			
4. Do you think the amount/volume of blood drawn from you was excessive?	Partially	26 (18.6)			
,	No	83 (59.3)			
5. If less blood was needed for lab tests,	Yes	80 (57.1)			
would you like to reduce the amount/volume	Doesn't matter	35 (29.3)			
of blood drawn?	No	17 (13.6)			

Effect on Quality Indicators of Reduced the Blood Collection Volume

Compared to the pre-intervention, the blood volume needed from each patient for laboratory tests was reduced by 33.3%-50.0% in pediatric and adult patients, and by 63.0%-84.0% in newborn patients.

The quality indicators of hospital for 2021 and 2022 years are shown in Table 4. Although there was an increase in

the number of samples (15.7%) and tests (28.4%) in the laboratory in 2022, a decrease (17.8%) was found in the amount of laboratory medical waste. However, the cost of laboratory medical waste increased by 47.6%. While there was an increase in the number of patients hospitalized in the NICU, no significant increase was found in the ICU. No statistically significant change was observed in the amount of ET (unit) per patient and the ratio of patients transfused in the ICU/NICU.

Table 4. Quality indicators of hospital in 2021 and 2022 years					
	2021	2022			
Indicators	Mean±SD Median (IQ)	Mean±SD Median (IQ)	Change (%)	P value	
The number of laboratory tests (n)	363,354±62,036	466,514±60,119	28.4	0.002	
The number of laboratory tests (ii)	384,200 (307,572-412,640)	456,722 (424,458-517,920)	20.4	0.002	
The number of laboratory samples (n)	133,118±19,732	154,013±15,645	15.7	0.004	
The number of laboratory samples (ii)	139,698 (116,440-147,124)	154,294 (143,823-162,610)	15.7	0.004	
The emount of loboratory waste (kilogram)	1,903±164	1,564±284	-17.8	0.005	
The amount of laboratory waste (kilogram)	1,933 (1,779-2,014)	1,531 (1,350-1,741)	-17.8	0.005	
The cost of loberatory wests (TL)	5,899±509	8,710±1,773	47.6	0.000	
The cost of laboratory waste (TL)	5,992 (5,514-6,247)	8,647 (7,102-9,908)	47.0	0.002	
The number of patients in ICU (n)	267±21	272±27	1.87	0.505	
The number of patients in ICO (n)	265 (256-274)	283 (246-292)	1.87	0.505	
	49.8±10.1	63.3±7.4	07.1	0.021	
The number of patients in NICU (n)	45.5 (44.0-57.2)	66.0 (55.5-70.0)	27.1		
The number of erythrocyte transfusions (ET)	2.80±0.41	2.62±0.32	-7.42	0 500	
per patient (unit) in ICU	2.72 (2.46-3.09)	2.61 (2.36-2.87)	-7.42	0.530	
The number of erythrocyte transfusions (ET)	0.92±0.91	1.71±1.25	05.0	0.104	
per patient (unit) in NICU	1.00 (0-1.92)	1.50 (1.00-2.36)	85.9	0.194	
The notice of a stight through a dia 1011 (%)	23.4±3.2	22.7±4.6	0.00	0.754	
The ratio of patients transfused in ICU (%)	22.0 (21.3-26.5)	23.2 (19.0-26.2)	-2.99	0.754	
	2.32±2.59	3.12±1.39	04.5	0.000	
The ratio of patients transfused in NICU (%)	1.85 (0-4.38)	3.21 (2.87-3.69)	34.5	0.388	

ET: erythrocyte transfusion, ICU: adult intensive care unit, IQ: interquartile, NICU: neonatal intensive care unit, SD: standard deviation, TL: Turkish lira

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, our study is the only research in which phlebotomists and patients were surveyed about blood collection and tube volume. According to the survey of phlebotomists, it was determined that most of them had difficulty drawing blood in newborn, pediatric, oncology, hematology or geriatric patients. Based on the answers to the 3rd and 4th questions, it was concluded that the majority of personnel do not lack knowledge. However, while most phlebotomists demonstrated attention and sufficient knowledge regarding tube bloodfilling volume, it doesn't necessarily guarantee their ability to consistently fill the tubes to the desired blood volume. When compared to personnel without difficulty, those who had difficulty drawing blood had a lower rate of fully filling the blood collection tubes and a higher rate of wanting a reduction in the blood volume. Therefore, small-volume tubes can enhance personnel satisfaction when working with neonatal, pediatric, oncology, hematology, or geriatric patients.

According to the survey conducted on our patients, blood draws were frequently performed in adults and patients with chronic diseases. It was stated that blood collection was more difficult in pediatric patients. Both adult and pediatric inpatients compared to outpatients stated that blood was drawn with more difficulty and excessive volume.

59.3% of the patients did not find the drawn blood volume

excessive, and 54.3% of the patients did not experience difficulty during blood draws. The patients' responses made the researchers consider that these patients might not have clear information about the effects of phlebotomy. Patients readily accepted the amount of blood to be drawn for laboratory tests without a doubt. However, most patients with a high awareness of blood collection volume preferred a reduction in blood volume compared to those who were not as aware (90.3% vs. 37.3%, respectively).

We aimed to improve preanalytical processes by training personnel in our hospital and to contribute to PBM and laboratory waste management by using small-volume blood collection tubes based on the opinions of both patients and personnel. Reduced blood volumes (specific percentages mentioned) were found to be sufficient for various types of tests, and the results could be reliably produced with less blood volume without requiring changes in laboratory processes. Adequate serum and plasma levels were available for additional tests due to the request of clinicians or repeated tests due to various reasons, such as analytical errors or device malfunctions. Much of the blood drawn for laboratory tests is discarded. Sanchez-Giron et al. found that 91% of blood in standardvolume tubes remained and 74% of blood in small-volume tubes remained when the analysis was completed (7).

About 25.0% of total medical waste in hospitals (including cafeterias, operating rooms, laboratories, emergency rooms, ambulance service and facilities) and 27.8%

of total disposable cost have been produced from laboratories (9). It was stated that most of the plastic wastes in hospital laboratories were blood collection tubes (70.0%) and gloves/lab wares (20.0%). Thus, in our study, other laboratory medical wastes such as cultures, gloves, urine containers and cuvettes were regretted. Although the number of laboratory tests (28.4%) and samples (15.7%) increased, it was determined that the amount of medical waste significantly decreased (17.8%). Although the average unit cost of medical waste in our laboratory increased by 80.6%, the increase in monthly cost was less (47.6%). Additionally, the phlebotomy tubes used can cause huge environmental impacts (10). All the plastic waste from phlebotomy tubes can't be recycled and must be incinerated, causing additional emissions of greenhouse gases and pollution (11). The use of one-size smaller tubes for pediatric and adult patients may reduce the amount of hazardous waste, and simplify the purchase and storage of tubes (8).

Systematic research conducted in 2022 showed that the use of pediatric-sized blood collection tubes in adult intensive care patients can significantly reduce the daily blood drawn (12). Using small-volume tubes reduced blood loss by 73%, the risk of severe anemia (hemoglobin <7.0 g/dL) by more than half, and the unit of packed red blood cells transfused per patient by 27% (7,13,14). Foulke et al. found that blood loss was reduced by 33%, and the percentage of patients who had at least one transfusion was reduced by 10% after using smallvolumes (pediatric phlebotomy tubes, reduced syringe volumes) for the laboratory tests (15). It has been stated that the daily reported losses from blood sampling may contribute to post-operative hemoglobin fall resulting in blood transfusion (16). Matzek et al. have stated that hemoglobin concentrations declined with the intensity of phlebotomy during hospitalization in the ICU and each 100 mL of phlebotomy volume during hospitalization was associated with an increase of 1.15 multiplied in red blood cell units transfused (17).

Despite a statistically significant increase in the number of patients hospitalized in the NICU, there was no statistically significant increase in the ratio of transfused patients and the number of ET (unit) per patient. Before the use of small-blood volume tubes, blood gas analysis by capillary tube or non-invasive measurements has already been preferred for parameters such as glucose, creatinine, electrolytes, bilirubin, hemoglobin, and lactate. Although the number of patients hospitalized in the ICU increased, the ratio of transfused patients and the number of ET (unit) per patient decreased. However, these changes were not statistically significant. As a limitation of our study, transfusion indications for intensive care patients were not considered. We did not have information on when the transfusions occurred, and the frequency and amount of phlebotomy on days following the patient's hospitalization. It may be possible to reveal its effect on transfusion rates with further studies that include clinical diagnosis and follow-up information of the patients.

Small-volume blood collection tubes, point-of-care tests, closed sampling systems, capillary samples, and noninvasive analysis methods can be preferred to improve preanalytical processes and reduce iatrogenic anemia caused by phlebotomy. Integrated systems that can run multiple tests on a single blood sample can be used. Training can be given to phlebotomists and clinicians on reducing test requests and on blood collection techniques that reduce blood loss. Local governments can develop hospital quality indicators and policies on practices that reduce blood loss.

CONCLUSION

As a result, to improve preanalytical processes and reduce iatrogenic anemia and the amount/cost of laboratory waste, small-volume blood collection tubes can be preferred. As an alternative to small-volume blood collection tubes, point-of-care tests closed blood sampling systems, capillary samples, noninvasive analysis methods, and integrated systems that can run multiple tests on a single blood sample can be used. Training can be given to phlebotomists and clinicians on reducing test requests and on blood collection techniques that reduce blood loss. Local governments can develop hospital quality indicators and policies on practices that reduce blood loss.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Local ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of İzmir Bakırçay University (the date/number of decision, 29.12.2021/468) and subjects gave informed consent.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank Ozlem Ozkan, who is responsible for the blood transfusion center for their valuable contributions.

REFERENCES

- Choorapoikayil S, Zacharowski K, Füllenbach C, Meybohm P. Patient blood management in critically III. In: Shander A, Corwin HL, eds, Hematologic challenges in the critically III. Springer International Publishing. 2018;407-23.
- 2. Martin ND, Scantling D. Hospital-acquired anemia: a contemporary review of etiologies and prevention strategies. J Infus Nurs. 2015;38:330-8.
- Eaton KP, Levy K, Soong C, et al. Evidence-based guidelines to eliminate repetitive laboratory testing. JAMA Intern Med. 2017;177:1833-9.
- Kaushansky K, Lichtman MA, Prchal J, et al. Williams Hematology, 9th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Education; 2016.
- 5. Corwin HL, Gettinger A, Pearl RG, et al. The CRIT study: anemia and blood transfusion in the critically ill-current clinical practice in the United States. Crit Care Med. 2004;32:39-52.
- 6. Widness JA. Pathophysiology of anemia during the neonatal

period, including anemia of prematurity. Neoreviews. 2008;9:e520.

- Sanchez-Giron F, Alvarez-Mora F. Reduction of blood loss from laboratory testing in hospitalized adult patients using small-volume (pediatric) tubes. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2008;132:1916-9.
- Dale JC, Ruby SG. Specimen collection volumes for laboratory tests: A College of American Pathologists study of 140 laboratories. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2003;127:162-8.
- Lee BK, Ellenbecker MJ, Moure-Eraso R. Analyses of the recycling potential of medical plastic wastes. Waste Manag. 2002;22:461-70.
- Duan X, Shao W, Jiang W, et al. Status of phlebotomy tube utilization at a major medical center. Are we using too many phlebotomy tubes?. Heliyon. 2023;9:e15334.
- McAlister S, Barratt AL, Bell KJ, Mcgain F. The carbon footprint of pathology testing. Med J Aust. 2020;212:377-82.

- 12. Helmer P, Hottenrott S, Steinisch A, et al. Avoidable blood loss in critical care and patient blood management: scoping review of diagnostic blood loss. J Clin Med. 2022;11:320.
- Dolman HS, Evans K, Zimmerman LH, et al. Impact of minimizing diagnostic blood loss in the critically ill. Surgery. 2015;158:1083-7.
- 14. Kurniali PC, Curry S, Brennan KW, et al. A retrospective study investigating the incidence and predisposing factors of hospital-acquired anemia. Anemia. 2014;2014:634582.
- 15. Foulke GE, Harlow DJ. Effective measures for reducing blood loss from diagnostic laboratory tests in intensive care unit patients. Crit Care Med. 1989;17:1143-5.
- 16. Lennox S, Bench S. Blood sampling in adult critical care: a mixed methods study. Int J Orthop and Trauma Nurs. 2022;45:100923.
- Matzek LJ, LeMahieu AM, Madde NR, et al. A contemporary analysis of phlebotomy and iatrogenic anemia development throughout hospitalization in critically ill adults. Anesth Analg. 2022;135:501-10.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Quality Assessment of YouTube Videos on Avascular Necrosis of the Femoral Head: An Analysis of Content, Reliability, and Educational Value

OAli Ihsan Kilic¹, OGokhan Sayer², OMehmet Akdemir³

¹İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir, Türkiye ²Bursa City Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Bursa, Türkiye ³Ekol Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: Videos related to avascular necrosis of the femoral head are no exception, and so the aim of this study is to evaluate the educational quality of YouTube videos on this topic.

Material and Method: A standardized video search was performed on YouTube using the terms "avascular necrosis of the hip", "osteonecrosis of the hip" and "avascular necrosis of the femoral head". The top 50 videos were then analyzed, and the characteristics and content of the videos were recorded. The Journal of American Medical Association criteria, The DISCERN score, The Global Quality Score and the new YouTube 'Avascular Necrosis of the Femoral Head Score" were all used to assess the reliability and accuracy of the videos.

Results: The median video duration of the 50 videos was 10.85±19.17 minutes. The median number of views was 10,866 (range 221 to 278,174). According to the video content, 60% of the videos contained information about the disease, 10% were about patient experience, and the remaining 30% related to surgical technique or approach. Physicians were the primary uploader on YouTube for this topic. The rate of low-quality videos was determined as following according to the different evaluative systems: 68% according to the newly defined YouTube Avascular Necrosis of the Femoral Head Score, 60% according to the DISCERN score, and 56% according to The Global Quality Score. The Journal of the American Medical Association, The Global Quality Score, and DISCERN score were significantly correlated with video duration, while the New YouTube Avascular Necrosis of the Femoral Head Score significantly correlated with video duration, time since upload, number of views, and like rate.

Conclusion: Most of the popular YouTube videos about avascular necrosis are of a low quality.

Keywords: YouTube, avascular necrosis, femoral head, social media

INTRODUCTION

Avascular necrosis (AVN) of the hip is a major orthopaedic problem which is characterized by tissue death caused by reduced or complete cessation of blood flow to the femoral head (1). This condition usually affects young and active individuals and can lead to possibly serious problems of restricted mobility, severe pain, and loss of function (1,2).

Although the pathogenesis of AVN of the hip is not fully understood, several risk factors, such as corticosteroid use, alcohol abuse, trauma, rheumatologic diseases, as well as some genetic factors, are thought to play a role in the occurrence of this condition and the development of AVN. However, in many cases, the exact cause cannot be determined and the development of AVN can be said to have a complex etiology (2,3).

Internet and social media platforms have provided access to an extensive range of information (4). One valuable source is the popular video-based platform, YouTube, which has more than one billion users, representing one third of all Internet users (5). Patients have increasingly turned to YouTube in recent years to learn about their medical conditions and treatment options (6).

However, many of the health-related posts on YouTube have not been expertly reviewed and do not contain author or source information. This means that because the platform is open access, some videos do not have a

CITATION

Kilic Al, Sayer G, Akdemir M. Quality Assessment of YouTube Videos on Avascular Necrosis of the Femoral Head: An Analysis of Content, Reliability, and Educational Value. Med Records. 2024;6(1):102-6. DOI:1037990/medr.1403917

Received: 12.12.2023 Accepted: 15.01.2024 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Ali Ihsan Kilic, İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir, Türkiye

E-mail: ali.ihsan.88@gmail.com

scientific basis or contain false information. Users can therefore experience real difficulty in accessing accurate information, especially on health-related issues (7-10).

Although there are studies in the literature which investigate the quality of videos on YouTube on topics such as Anterior cruciate ligament injury (11), hallux valgus (12), and hip arthroscopy (13), no study has been located which evaluates the quality of videos related to avascular necrosis of the femoral head. The aim of this study is therefore to fulfil this perceived need by evaluating the quality of YouTube videos on femoral head AVN. The working hypothesis is that there are low quality YouTube videos on this topic.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Before conducting the research, approval was obtained from the local ethics committee (IRB No: 1209). On December 1, 2022, a standard video search was performed using Google Chrome, but without a personal YouTube account, using the terms "avascular necrosis of the hip", "osteonecrosis of the hip" and "avascular necrosis of the femoral head". Videos in English with a primary topic of avascular necrosis of the femoral head were included in the search, while repetitive videos that contained only audio or video, videos with a language other than English, and videos not related to AVN of the femoral head, were excluded. Only one of the repetitive videos was included in the study, and no restriction was placed on video duration. After the exclusion criteria had been applied, the 50 most popular videos were analyzed.

All of the videos in the study were listed by title, upload time, video duration, time since video upload, number of likes, number of dislikes, number of views, video source, content type, and view ratio (the number of views/times since video upload). The videos' origin and uploaders were classified into distinct categories; 1: academic (affiliated with research institutions, universities, or colleges), 2: physician, 3: other healthcare professionals (excluding licensed physicians), 4: exercise trainers, 5: medical sources (content or animations from healthcare websites), 6: patients, and 7: commercially produced videos. The content was categorized based on its focus; 1: exercise training, 2: providing information about diseases, 3: sharing patient experiences, 4: detailing surgical techniques or approaches, 5: discussing non-surgical management options, and 6: advertising.

Criteria listed in The Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA) were used for the reliability and accuracy of the videos (14). The DISCERN score was used to assess educational quality (10,12,14), and The Global Quality Score (GQS) (15,16) was employed to obtain a newly defined YouTube femoral head avascular necrosis score (FHAVNS). This value was produced with consideration of the current YouTube scores previously available in the literature (12,15-17). In the 14-parameter scoring system, video quality was categorized as being (0-4) poor, (5-8) fair, (8-11) good, or (12-14) excellent (Table 1). The scoring systems used for video reliability and quality were evaluated by two different observers and the average was recorded.

Table 1. Femoral Head Avascular Necrosis Score (FHAVNS) parameters
Patient profile	Point
Disease description	1
Symptoms	1
Epidemiology/affected patient group	1
Risk factors	1
Pathophysiology	1
Physician assessment	
Examination findings	1
Differential diagnosis	1
X-ray findings	1
MR findings	1
Staging	1
Treatment	
Conservative treatment	1
Surgical treatment	1
Complications of surgical treatment	1
Prognosis	1
Total	14 points

Statistical Analysis

The data IBM SPSS 22 program was used for evaluation, with mean, median values and categorical data, percentage (%) and frequency values all being considered. Conformity of the numerical data to normal distribution was ensured by the Shapiro-Wilk test, while the Spearman test was used to determine correlation in the numerical data. A correlation coefficient ranges from -1 to 1, with -1 suggesting the strongest opposite relationship, 0 indicating no relationship, and 1 signifying the strongest direct relationship.

The 'interclass correlation coefficient' (ICC) value for agreement between two observers was used to assess video quality (95% CI (confident interval)). The strength of an ICC is typically measured on a scale of 0 to 1, where 0 indicates no agreement and 1 indicates perfect agreement.

RESULTS

The mean video duration was 10.85±19.17 minutes (range, 0.32-99.52 minutes). The median number of views was 10,866 (range 221-278,174), the median view rate was 7.81 (range 0.10-1618.55), the median time since upload was 1141 (range 20-4123) days, the median number of likes was 78.50 (range 1-1300), the median number of dislikes was 3 (range 0-54) and the median like rate was 96.80 (range 87.17-100). The JAMA median value was 2 (range 1-2.5), the DISCERN median value was 40.5 (range 16-73.5), the GQS median value was 6 (range 1-13.5).

When classified according to video sources, 3 (6%) academic, 23 (46%) physician, 22 (44%) medical, 1 (2%) patient, 1 (2%) commercial videos were determined. When classified according to video content, there were 30 (60%) information about the disease, 5 (10%) about patient experience, and 15 (30%) about surgical technique or

approach videos.

Inter-observer agreement was assessed as being good for JAMA and excellent for GQS, DISCERN score and FHAVNS (Table 2). According to FHAVNS, 14 (28%) of the videos were very poor, 20 (40%) were fair, 9 (18%) were good, and 7 (14%) were excellent; according to DISCERN score 11(22%) were very poor, 19 (38%) were poor, 13 (26%) were fair, 6 (12%) were good, and 2 (4%) were excellent. According to GQS, 56% of the videos scored 2 or less and

were evaluated as being low quality. There were significant correlations between GQS and JAMA, DISCERN and JAMA, DISCERN and GQS, FHAVNS and JAMA, FHAVNS and DISCERN, and FHAVNS and GQS (Table 3).

Scores for JAMA, GQS, and DISCERN criteria were significantly correlated with the duration of the videos. FHAVNS score, on the other hand, exhibited significant correlations with multiple factors: video duration, time since upload, rate of likes, and number of views (Table 4).

Table 2. Inter-Observer Agreement for JAMA, GQS, DISCERN Score, and FHAVNS							
	Observer	Mean	SD	Median	Min.	Max.	ICC (95% CI)
JAMA	1	1.92	0.488	2.00	1	3	0.056 (0.720.0.010)
	2	1.82	0.388	2.00	1	2	0.856 (0.739-0.919)
202	1	2.54	1.054	2.50	1	5	0.966 (0.932-0.982)
GQS	2	2.40	0.990	2.00	1	4	0.900 (0.932-0.982)
DISCERN	1	40.92	15.890	41.00	16	75	0.984 (0.877-0.995)
DISCERN	2	38.96	15.191	39.50	16	72	
FHAVNS	1	6.80	3.574	6.00	1	14	0.006 (0.002 0.007)
	2	6.78	3.448	6.00	1	13	0.996 (0.992-0.997)

JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association benchmark criteria, GQS: The Global Quality Score, FHAVNS: Femoral Head Avascular Necrosis Score, In terms of interclass correlation coefficient; an ICC (95% CI) of <0.500 is considered poor, 0.500 to 0.750 moderate, 0.750 to 0.900 good, and >0.900 as excellent

Table 3. Correlation Analysis of GQS, JAMA, DISCERN, and FHAVNS					
Criteria		JAMA	GQS	DISCERN	
GQS	r	0.480			
	р	<0.001			
DISCERN	r	0.535	0.947		
	р	<0.001	<0.001		
FHAVNS	r	0.369	0.868	0.905	
	р	0.008	<0.001	<0.001	

JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association benchmark criteria, GQS: The Global Quality Score, FHAVNS: Femoral Head Avascular Necrosis Score, In the Spearman correlation test, r values of 0.00-0.19 indicates very weak correlation, 0.20-0.39 weak correlation, 0.40-0.59 moderate correlation, 0.60-0.79 strong correlation, and 0.80-1.0 very strong correlation. Negative values indicate reverse correlation

Table 4. Correlation of JAMA number of views	, gqs,	, DISCERN scores with video	duration and FHAVNS with	n video duration, time since	upload, rate of likes, and
		JAMA	GQS	DISCERN	FHAVNS
Length of video	r	0.287	0.516	0.565	0.466
	р	0.043	<0.001	<0.001	0.001
Number of views	r	0.136	-0.148	-0.147	-0.422
	р	0.345	0.305	0.308	0.002
Time elapsed after loading	r	-0.33	-0.233	-0.261	-0.380
	р	0.822	0.103	0.067	0.006
Viewing rate	r	0.171	-0.035	-0.030	-0.235
viewing fale	р	0.235	0.811	0.835	0.101
Number of dislikes	r	0.198	-0.210	-0.054	-0.267
Number of uislikes	р	0.168	0.884	0.711	0.061
Rate of likes	r	-0.101	0.134	0.160	0.293
Rate of likes	р	0.486	0.352	0.267	0.039

JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association benchmark criteria, GQS: The Global Quality Score, FHAVNS: Femoral Head Avascular Necrosis Score, In the Spearman correlation test, r values 0.00-0.19 indicates very weak correlation, 0.20-0.39 weak correlation, 0.40-0.59 moderate correlation, 0.60-0.79 strong correlation, and 0.80-1.0 very strong correlation correlation. Negative values indicate reverse correlation
DISCUSSION

The most important finding of this study is that videos about femoral head AVN on YouTube are, according to all of the scoring systems, of a low quality and are therefore of concern in terms of credibility. This result is consistent with other studies in the literature (14,18-20). One of the reasons for this poor result may be that only 3% of the located videos are academic. It is therefore suggested that academic publications should not only be produced as a result of meetings and congresses, but that academic staff should provide more video content on YouTube and similar platforms. This would ensure that patients were provided with better quality and safer information.

Some studies in the literature found that videos containing surgical methods are not preferred by patients and have low educational value (11,21). Yüce A. et al. observed a high rate of surgical method videos in their study and concluded that videos containing surgical methods may not be of interest to patients since the target audience of the videos is orthopedic surgeons, not patients (14). In this study, 30% of the videos described surgical method. Since such videos are difficult for patients to understand, and the content of these videos is usually concerned with only one surgical method, such videos may not provide quality information about the disease and other treatment options to patients and may therefore be considered of a low quality.

Various studies in the literature employ a wide range of scoring systems designed to evaluate video quality (11,12,22,23). The system developed and used in this study for this purpose was FHAVNS. Significant correlation with other scoring systems, and excellent agreement between observers, indicate that this scoring system is less influenced by personal interpretations in the assessment of video quality. In future studies, FHAVNS may help researchers to create their own scoring systems.

Celik H. et al. showed that video duration was positively correlated with DISCERN, JAMA score and their own scoring system RCSS (rotator cuff specific score) (19). Mert A. et al. also demonstrated a positive correlation with video duration in JAMA, DISCERN and GQS (24). In this study, in line with the literature, video duration was positively correlated with JAMA score, GQS, DISCERN and FHAVNS. In addition, FHAVNS was negatively correlated with the time since the video was uploaded and the number of views, and positively correlated with the like rate. This may be due to the fact that more recent videos contain more comprehensive information than older videos. Specific video characteristics of the nature of the video content might be more time-sensitive and experience a sharp decline in views and engagement after their initial popularity wanes. In addition, the fact that these videos have been on YouTube for a shorter time than other videos may explain the negative correlation between the number of views and their quality. It is also expected that the like rate increases with the quality of the video.

Limitations of this study include the fact that only Englishlanguage videos were evaluated and only videos available on the YouTube platform were considered. It should also be noted that the scoring systems used to evaluate the videos has a subjective component. However, this particular limitation is considered to have a minimal effect due to the high inter-observer agreement.

CONCLUSION

It was concluded that the videos on YouTube about FHAVN are of low quality. Dissemination of incomplete information via such videos may cause confusion among FHAVN patients. Moreover, the incomplete information that patients will learn from these sites may have a negative effect on the trust relationship between the patient and the physician, as well as being a possible cause of disruption in the treatment process. It may therefore be an option in the preparation of video content to obtain consultancy services from academic staff. This should lead to the creation of more comprehensive videos, instead of merely descriptions of surgical techniques. Patients should also be directed to such higher quality content.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Before conducting the research, approval was obtained from the İzmir Bakırçay University local ethics committee (IRB No: 1209).

REFERENCES

- Petek D, Hannouche D, Suva D. Osteonecrosis of the femoral head: Pathophysiology and current concepts of treatment. EFORT Open Rev. 2019;4:85-97.
- Guggenbuhl P, Robin F, Cadiou S, Albert JD. Etiology of avascular osteonecrosis of the femoral head. Morphologie. 2021;105:80-4.
- Mont MA, Salem HS, Piuzzi NS, et al. Nontraumatic osteonecrosis of the femoral head: where do we stand today? A 5-year update. J Bone Jt Surg. 2020;102:1084-99.
- 4. Diaz JA, Griffith RA, Ng JJ, et al. Patients' use of the internet for medical information. J Gen Intern Med. 2002;17:180-5.
- Tang K, Azhar U, Babar M, et al. Assessing the quality of YouTube videos on adhesive capsulitis. Cureus. 2022;14:e27406.
- Desai T, Shariff A, Dhingra V, et al. Is content really king? An objective analysis of the public's response to medical videos on YouTube. PLoS One. 2013;8:e82469.
- 7. Koller U, Waldstein W, Schatz KD, Windhager R. YouTube provides irrelevant information for the diagnosis and treatment of hip arthritis. Int Orthop. 2016;40:1995-2002.
- 8. Murray E, Lo B, Pollack L, et al. The impact of health information on the Internet on health care and the physicianpatient relationship: national U.S. survey among 1.050 U.S. physicians. J Med Internet Res. 2003;5:e17.

- Macleod MG, Hoppe DJ, Simunovic N, et al. YouTube as an information source for femoroacetabular impingement: a systematic review of video content. Arthroscopy. 2015;31:136-42.
- Akpolat AO, Kurdal DP. Is quality of YouTube content on Bankart lesion and its surgical treatment adequate? J Orthop Surg Res. 2020;15:78.
- 11. Cassidy JT, Fitzgerald E, Cassidy ES, et al. YouTube provides poor information regarding anterior cruciate ligament injury and reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2018;26:840-5.
- 12. Uzun M, Cingoz T, Duran ME, et al. The videos on YouTube[®] related to hallux valgus surgery have insufficient information. Foot Ankle Surg. 2022;28:414-7.
- Jildeh TR, Abbas MJ, Abbas L, et al. YouTube is a poorquality source for patient information on rehabilitation and return to sports after hip arthroscopy. Arthrosc Sport Med Rehabil. 2021;3:e1055-63.
- 14. Yüce A, İğde N, Ergün T, Mısır A. YouTube provides insufficient information on patellofemoral instability. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2022;56:306-10.
- Özbek EA, Armangil M, Karaca MO, et al. Evaluation of the reliability and quality of information in carpal tunnel syndrome shared on YouTube. J Wrist Surg. 2022;11:295-301.
- Etzel CM, Bokshan SL, Forster TA, Owens BD. A quality assessment of YouTube content on shoulder instability. Phys Sportsmed. 2022;50:289-94.

- Oztermeli A, Karahan N. Evaluation of YouTube video content about developmental dysplasia of the hip. Cureus. 2020;12:e9557.
- Kwak D, Park JW, Won Y, et al. Quality and reliability evaluation of online videos on carpal tunnel syndrome: a YouTube video-based study. BMJ Open. 2022;12:e059239.
- 19. Celik H, Polat O, Ozcan C, et al. Assessment of the quality and reliability of the information on rotator cuff repair on YouTube. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2020;106:31-4.
- 20. Springer B, Bechler U, Koller U, et al. Online videos provide poor information quality, reliability, and accuracy regarding rehabilitation and return to sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction.Arthroscopy. 2020;36:3037-47.
- Tekin SB, Bozgeyik B. Quality and content analysis of hallux valgus videos on YouTube[®]. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2023;62:85-90.
- 22. Mathur S, Shanti N, Brkaric M, et al. Surfing for scoliosis: the quality of information available on the internet. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2005;30:2695-700.
- Lock AM, Baker JF. Quality of YouTube videos for three common pediatric hip conditions: developmental hip dysplasia, slipped capital femoral epiphysis and Legg-Calve-Perthes disease. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2022;31:546-53.
- 24. Mert A, Bozgeyik B. Quality and content analysis of carpal tunnel videos on YouTube. Indian J Orthop. 2022;56:73-8.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Inhibition of Autophagy on Melatonin-Induced Apoptosis in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 Cell Lines

Image: Construction of the second

¹Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Kayseri, Türkiye

²Erciyes University, Genome and Stem Cell Center, Kayseri, Türkiye

³Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Kayseri, Türkiye

⁴Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiation Oncology, Kayseri, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License

Abstract

Aim: We looked at the connection between autophagy and apoptosis after our prior research indicated that melatonin could cause MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells in the present study.

Material and Method: In order to investigate the autophagy inhibition's effect on the melatonin-induced BC cells' apoptosis, melatonin and/or 3-methyladenine (3-MA, autophagy inhibitor) have been utilized. Melatonin was applied to the cells following a 5-mM 3-MA pre-cultivation. Then, apoptosis was detected by the TUNEL method. The technique for double immunofluorescence labeling was used to identify the molecular alterations in Bax/Bcl-2 expression. To evaluate the cell viability, the MTT test was used.

Results: When an autophagy inhibitor, 3-MA, and melatonin treatment were co-administered in MCF-7 cells, apoptosis was decreased, compared to melatonin treatment alone, but it was not significant. In addition, 3-MA application downregulated Bax expression compared with melatonin alone treatment. Combined therapy markedly elevated apoptosis and significantly up-regulated Bax protein in MDA-MB-231 cells.

Conclusion: Taken together, in MCF-7 cells, autophagy's inhibition contributes to the downregulation of apoptosis, whereas increased apoptosis is seen in MDA-MB-231 cells. Inhibiting autophagy in these cells treated with melatonin could serve as a self-defense mechanism, and This might be a good strategy for breast cancer adjuvant treatment.

Keywords: Autophagy, breast cancer, melatonin, 3-MA

INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer (BC) has been categorized in two ways: as expressed carcinoma that expresses the receptor 2 for human epidermal growth factor and as BC that expresses the estrogen receptor (ER) or progesterone receptor (PR), respectively (1,2). Triple-negative BC is still challenging to treat due to its aggressive characteristics and few therapeutic choices (3). The most aggressive type of BC is called triple-negative BC, and it is more likely to spread among women and is challenging to treat. Few therapy options and a poor prognosis for triple-negative BC patients make it urgently necessary to develop novel therapeutics (4). In the search for treatments for BC, the focus is on testing curative agents for their effectiveness against cancer cell proliferation using diversified cell lines. MCF-7 is a BC cell line that is ER-positive and PRpositive (5). MDA-MB-231 cells are negative for ER, PR,

and HER2, so they are called triple-negative BC cells. Both MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells have epithelial characteristics. They came from carcinoma cells in the mammary gland. MCF-7 is BC's luminal type histologically, while MDA-MB-231 is a basal type. MDA-MB-231 cells are characterized by a high rate of metastasis, a poor prognosis, a propensity for relapse, and an insensitivity to therapy (6-10).

Serotonin is used for the production of melatonin, which is the pineal gland's primary hormone. Also, a number of peripheral tissues and immune cells produce melatonin (11). It possesses cytoskeleton modulatory and oncostatic capabilities, capable of reducing tumor growth and cancer cells' invasiveness (12). The mechanisms underlying melatonin's anticancer actions have been thought to be its antioxidant effects (13,14) and triggering apoptotic pathways in cancer cells. (15). The morphology

CITATION

Onder GO, Bayram A, Yildiz OG, Yay A. Inhibition of Autophagy on Melatonin-Induced Apoptosis in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 Cell Lines. Med Records. 2024;6(1):107-14. DOI:1037990/medr.1400485

Received: 05.12.2023 Accepted: 10.01.2024 Published: 23.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Gozde Ozge Onder, Erciyes University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Kayseri, Türkiye, Erciyes University, Genome and Stem Cell Center, Kayseri, Türkiye **E-mail**: gozdeozgekorkmaz@hotmail.com

of cells can be used to distinguish between two main kinds of cell death: autophagy- and apoptosis-cell death. Under normal physiological conditions, apoptosis acts as a targeted removal of undesirable or dangerous cells (16,17). Autophagy degrades damaged organelles and/or proteins and recycles them to maintain cellular components' quality. It is an evolutionarily preserved catabolic process (18). Autophagy's role in cancer is arguable because, depending on the tumor's form and stage, it may be able to operate as either a tumor promoter or a tumor suppressor (19).

3-MA is one of the autophagy inhibitors. It has been noted to suppress the event of PI3-kinase and stop autophagic vacuoles from forming (20). The studies showed that treatment with specific autophagy inhibitors, such as 3-MA, may increase the apoptotic effectiveness of chemotherapeutic drugs in lung cancer (21), prostate (22), colon (23), HeLa (24), and BC cells (25). Because of this, the therapeutic potential of possible drug candidates may be increased by identifying their apoptotic molecular targets as well as their autophagic responses. Therefore, this study's purpose was to determine how autophagy inhibition affects melatonin-induced apoptosis in both BC cell lines.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Cell Culture

The Genome and Stem Cell Center in Kayseri is where the BC cells were bought. At 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO₂, BC cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Sigma Aldrich, USA), supplemented with 1% L-glutamine (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco, South America), and 1% antibiotics (penicillin/streptomycin, Capricorn Scientific, Germany).

Chemicals

To dissolve melatonin, Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma Aldrich, USA) was used. 5 mM stock solution a prepared. This was then kept in the dark. The DMSO content was 1% at the end. The autophagy inhibitor used was 3-MA (Sigma Aldrich, USA). Before use, 3-MA is freshly prepared as a 50 mM stock solution in dH2O. Melatonin and 3-MA were afterwards diluted in DMEM medium to reach the appropriate concentration. Melatonin concentrations for MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells were 3.5 and 4 mM, respectively, as previously determined (26).

Autophagy Inhibition

On a circular coverslip, $5x10^4$ cancer cells from each of the two BC cells were planted into 12-well plates. To induce autophagy in both BC cell lines, the media were switched out for FBS serum-free medium for 24 hours. Thus, autophagy was activated in the cells. Then, to determine 3-MA's autophagy inhibition dose, different doses of 3-MA (1, 5, and 10 mM) were applied for 24 hours to the cells. The autophagy markers Beclin-1 (Novus Biologicals, Littleton, USA), LC3 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, USA) and p62 (Novus Biologicals, Littleton, USA) were examined using the immunofluorescence staining method

as previously published (26). As a result, the dose at which inhibition occurred was determined.

Treatment

Using the aforementioned experiment, cells were plated. After 24 hours of incubation, drugs were added by the experimental groups. Six groups were created for the experiment: control (no drug intervention), 3-MA (5 mM 3-MA treatment alone), melatonin (melatonin treatment alone), DMSO (DMSO treatment alone), 3-MA and MEL combined (3-MA and melatonin were added simultaneously), and 3-MA and DMSO combined (3-MA and DMSO were added simultaneously). Cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ and humidity for a full day. Then, immunocytochemical assays were carried out on BC cells to verify apoptosis and the Bax and Bcl-2 protein's expression. In addition, the MTT method was also used to assess the effect of combining 3-MA and melatonin on cell viability.

Apoptosis Detected by TUNEL

According to the six experimental groups, The twelvewell plates were seeded with 5x10⁴ cells in each well and pretreated with 3-MA, melatonin, or DMSO for 24 hours. 10% formaldehyde was used to fix the cells. Cell apoptosis was assessed using the EMD Millipore's apoptosis detection kit (Darmstadt, Germany), named ApopTag Fluorescein (26). After successfully staining with a mixture of TUNEL reactions, the cells were immediately detected using a fluorescent microscope.

Analysis of the Expression of Bax and Bcl-2

To verify Bax (Novus Biologicals, Littleton, USA) and Bcl-2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, USA) expression profiles, a double immunofluorescence staining method was carried out (26). For the quantification of the proteins' expression, 10 images at 400x magnification were randomly obtained from microscopic fields. The immunoreactivity intensity was calculated using the Image J software program.

Cell Viability Assay

The dose-dependent effects of 3-MA, melatonin, and DMSO on BC cells were investigated using a colorimetric (3-(4.5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2.5-diphenyl-MTT assav tetrazolium bromide, Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA). In 96well plates, 1x104 cells were seeded of per well, and drugs were added by the experimental groups. 10 μ l of MTT (5 mg/ml in PBS) was added after cells had been exposed to the relevant drug combinations and doses, and the cells were then incubated at 37°C for 4 hours in order to enable mitochondrial enzymes to convert the MTT to formazan crystals. The medium was aspirated after the allotted time had passed, and for each well 100 µl DMSO was added. An ELISA reader (Promega Glomax Multireader, Wisconsin, ABD) was used to measure 570 nm absorbance.

Statistical Analysis

The total immunoreactivity intensity of each antibody was measured using the Image J software program while analyzing the immunofluorescence staining results. For every group, pictures were captured from ten different microscopic fields at a magnification of 400X. The data that was obtained was analyzed statistically with GraphPad Prism 8.0.2.. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests were used to assess how much the data conformed to a normal distribution. The values were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test based on drugs, dose groups, and percent viability. When comparing more than two groups, Kruskal-Wallis tests and one-way analysis of variance were used. The Tukey and Dunn-Bonferroni tests were applied for multiple comparisons. The significance limit of p<0.05 was accepted.

RESULTS

Inhibition of Autophagy

To determine the dose at which 3-MA inhibited autophagy, 1 mM, 5 mM, and 10 mM 3-MA were applied to cell lines

after exposure to serum-free medium for 24 hours. After the Beclin-1, LC3, and p62 expression analysis of these cells, the inhibition dose for both was determined to be 5 mM.

Cell Death in BC Cells Induced by 3-MA and Melatonin Treatment

To examine the apoptotic effect of 3-MA and melatonin on human BC cells, TUNEL assays were used. In MCF-7 cells, MEL induces nuclear shrinkage and fragmentation. Compared to the control group, DNA fragmentation was reduced in MCF-7 cells with the addition of 3-MA and MEL (Figure 1).

In MEL-treated MDA-MB-231 cells, apoptotic cell immunoreactivity was increased. In the 3-MA+MEL group, apoptotic cell immunoreactivity was observed to increase according to the MEL group (Figure 2).



Figure 1. TUNEL images of the experimental groups using the MCF-7 cell line following the application of 3-MA and MEL. Apoptotic bodies that have formed in cells can be noticed as green fluorescent reflections under a fluorescent microscope (400X)



Figure 2. TUNEL images of the experimental groups using the MDA-MB-231 cell line following the application of 3-MA and MEL. Apoptotic bodies that have formed in cells can be noticed as green fluorescent reflections under a fluorescent microscope (400X)

The analysis of statistics of the immunoreactivities of apoptotic cells following 3-MA and MEL administration in the BC cell lines is shown in Table 1 according to experimental groups. It was found that the 3-MA group resembled the control group in MCF-7 cells and that between them, no statistically significant difference was seen. (>0.9999). The statistical significance of the difference between the MEL and the control group was determined (p=0.0061). TUNEL+apoptotic cell density was found to be lower in the 3-MA+MEL group than in the MEL group. In terms of statistics, there was no difference between them (>0.9999). When the experimental groups were examined, it was found that the control group's TUNEL+ cell immunoreactivity was the lowest in MDA-MB-231 BC cells. The MEL group demonstrated a statistically significant increase in comparison to the control group (p<0.0001). Comparing the 3-MA+MEL group to the MEL group, A statistically significant increase was observed (p=0.0029).

Table 1. TUNEL statistical analysis results of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines treated with 3-MA and melatonin

	Groups						
	CONTROL	3-MA	MEL	DMSO	3-MA+MEL	3-MA+DMSO	р
MCF-7	(7.03±1.00)ª	(7.04±1.00)ª	(11.05±1.00) ^b	(6.18±1.05)ª	(10.09±1.01) ^{bc}	(7.15±1.03) ^{ac}	.0003
MDA-MB-231	(4.41±0.10)ª	(6.8±0.10) ^b	(11.5±0.62)°	(5.56±0.15) ^{ab}	(13.62±1.00) ^d	(5.73±0.11) ^{ab}	<0.0001

Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation. The same lowercase letters on the same line indicate similarity between groups, and different letters indicate difference. (3-MA: 3-methyl adenine, MEL: melatonin, DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide)

Effects of MEL with or without 3-MA on Bax/Bcl-2 Protein Expression

The double immunofluorescence staining protocol was done to examine the effect of administering MEL with or without 3-MA on the Bax and Bcl-2 proteins' expression in both BC cell lines. Figure 3 shows images of the MCF-7 cell line, and Figure 4 exhibits images of the MDA-MB-231 cell line.

Comparing the MEL group to the control group, an important increase was observed when the Bax expression profile was compared between groups in MCF-7 BC cells (p<0.0001). Comparing the 3-MA+MEL group to the MEL group, it was

found that there was an increase (p=0.0002). This rise was not statistically significant. A statistically insignificant change (p<0.05) was found when Bcl-2 expressions were analyzed (Table 2). In MDA-MB-231 BC cells, an increase in the MEL group relative to the control group was seen when the Bax expression profile was examined between groups. There was no statistically significant growth in this (p=0.0708). Comparing the 3-MA+MEL group to the MEL group, there was a statistically significant increase in Bax expression (p=0.0034). A statistically insignificant change (p<0.05) was found when Bcl-2 expressions were analyzed (Table 2).



Figure 3. Expressions of Bax/Bcl-2 in the 3-MA- and melatonin-treated MCF-7 cell line Bax expression is demonstrated by bright green reflections in the first column, and Bcl-2 expression is displayed by bright red fluorescent reflections in the second column (400X)



Figure 4. Expressions of Bax/Bcl-2 in the 3-MA- and melatonin-treated MDA-MB-231 cell line. Bax expression is demonstrated by bright green reflections in the first column, and Bcl-2 expression is displayed by bright red fluorescent reflections in the second column (400X)

Table 2. Statistical analysis results of Bax/Bcl-2 expression in the MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line treated with 3-MA and melatonin									
		Control	3-MA	MEL	DMSO	3-MA+MEL	3-MA+DMSO	р	
NOT 7	Bax	(0.51±0.10)ª	(0.62±0.11)ª	(1.40±0.10) ^b	(0.51±0.10)ª	(0.80±0.10)ª	(0.63±0.11)ª	.0001	
MCF-7	Bcl-2	(0.42±0.11)ª	(0.51±0.10)ª	(0.42±0.11)ª	(0.32±0.10)ª	(0.23±0.11)ª	(0.23±0.11)ª	.0355	
MDA-MB-231	Bax	(0.42±0.11) ^a	(0.62±0.10)ª	(0.75±0.13) ^{ac}	(0.50±1.10) ^a	(1.23±0.11) [♭]	(1.03±0.11) ^{bc}	<0.0001	
IVIDA-IVIB-23 I	Bcl-2	(0.19±0.01)ª	(0.30±0.10)ª	(0.33±0.11)ª	(0.16±0.05)ª	(0.19±0.01)ª	(0.18±0.02) ^a	.0325	

Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation. The same lowercase letters on the same line indicate similarity between groups, and different letters indicate difference. (3-MA: 3-methyl adenine, MEL: melatonin, DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide)

Effects of MEL with or without 3-MA on Cell Viability

After the experimental groups were formed, the effect of the application of MEL with or without 3-MA on cell viability was demonstrated by applying MTT. The findings obtained after MTT analysis in MCF-7 cells are shown in Figure 5A. Examining the graph, it was discovered that the MEL group's cell viability was lower than the control group (p=0.0003). It was found that the cell viability in the 3-MA+MEL and MEL groups was similar (p>0.9999).

The findings were obtained after MTT analysis in MDA-MB-231 BC cells (Figure 5B). When the graph was examined, it was observed that cell viability decreased in the MEL group according to the control group. This result was statistically significant (p<0.001). Compared to the MEL group, The results showed a statistically significant decrease in cell viability in the 3-MA+MEL group (p=0.0004).



Figure 5. A. The MCF-7 cell lines cell viability after combined administration of 3-MA and MEL. **5B.** Cell viability of the MDA-MB-231 cell line after combined administration of 3-MA and MEL (ns: non-significant p>0.999, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

DISCUSSION

It is yet unknown how autophagy affects cancerous cell death or survival. According to studies, autophagy helps cancer cells survive by protecting them from hypoxia, malnutrition, and oxidative stress and by making established tumors resistant to chemotherapy (27-29). On the other hand, some studies have shown that apoptosis and autophagy can work together to induce cancer cells to die (30). However, it is currently uncertain what molecular switch or process determines whether a cell will survive through autophagy. Furthermore, the numerous processes of autophagy might be influenced by different cell types, the environment around the tumor, and the length of the period of therapy. The effectiveness of the associated drug in cancer cells, however, depends on studies into the connection between apoptosis and autophagy. In this study, the aim was to investigate the molecular pathways involved in the relationship between autophagy and apoptosis in BC cells following melatonin administration.

Suppression of autophagy by autophagy inhibitors demonstrates functional autophagy's importance in cancer cells (23,25). The effect of 5-FU and 3-MA's combination on apoptosis has been studied in a study using HT 29 and colon 26, two colon cancer cell lines. It has been showing that suppression of autophagy with

3-MA can increase the level of apoptosis caused by 5-FU. Therefore, it has been determined that autophagy occurs as a resistance mechanism to apoptosis, and when autophagy is inhibited, 5-FU increases its effectiveness on cancer cells (23). In a study with the MCF-7 cancer cell line, the effect on apoptosis and autophagy was investigated by applying oridonin treatment after autophagy inhibition with 3-MA. Consequently, it was found that autophagy contributed to the rise in apoptosis since autophagy inhibition reduced the level of apoptosis (25). Tran et al., in their study, investigated the anticarcinogenic effect of Tocomin, which contains tocopherols, on MCF-10A, MCF-7, and MDA-MB-231 cells. They stated that it potentiated apoptosis induced by Tocomin (31). In their research on BC, Chen et al. pre-treated both BC cells with wortmannin and 3-methyladenine, which are autophagy inhibitors, before anlotinib therapy to demonstrate the function of autophagy in anlotinib-induced death. Their research showed that anIotinib promoted autophagy in both cells, which at least partially, if not completely, caused apoptosis (32). Han et al. determined the anticancer specificity of myricetin in human BC SK-BR-3 cell lines. In cells treated with myricetin, 3-MA was used to assess the connection between autophagy and cell viability. The study's conclusions showed that inhibiting autophagy causes apoptosis and reduces cell viability. In addition, co-treatment with 3-MA and myricetin has been demonstrated to stimulate BC cell apoptosis (33). In the current study, we evaluated apoptosis, proapoptotic Bax, and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 expressions after autophagy inhibition to show how the combined administration of 3-MA and melatonin affected BC cells. After all, it was shown that, when co-treatment with 3-MA, and melatonin treatment were co-administered in MCF-7 cells, there was no significant change in apoptosis compared to melatonin treatment alone. Nevertheless, it was shown that pro-apoptotic Bax expression was downregulated. The expression of Bcl-2 did not significantly differ from the other groups. On the other hand, it was determined that co-administration with 3-MA and melatonin, as opposed to melatonin therapy alone, notably enhanced the apoptotic cell numbers in MDA-MB-231 cells. Additionally, it was shown that Bax was upregulated. Bcl-2 expression among the other groups did not differ significantly.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, according to these data, in MCF-7 cells, autophagy inhibition did not affect apoptosis triggered by melatonin, suggesting that the two processes proceed independently of each other. Also, it was determined that autophagy inhibition with 3-MA increased apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells; therefore, autophagy suppressed apoptosis in treatment with melatonin. As a result, it was suggested that melatonin treatment evaded MDA-MB-231 cells from cell death through autophagy.

Financial disclosures: This study has received financial support from Health Sciences Research Support Group (SBAG) of TÜBİTAK, Türkiye (TÜBİTAK, 220S879). **Conflict of interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The existence of an ethics committee is not necessary.

REFERENCES

- 1. Gluz O, Liedtke C, Gottschalk N, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer-current status and future directions. Ann Oncol. 2009;20:1913-27.
- 2. Murphy CG, Dickler MN. Endocrine resistance in hormone responsive breast cancer: mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23:R337-52.
- 3. Wang C, Kar S, Lai X, et al. Triple negative breast cancer in Asia: an insider's view. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;62:29-8.
- La porta E, Welsh J. Modelling vitamin D in triple negative/ basal likebreast cancer-Review. J Steroid Biochem Mol Bio. 2014;144:65-73.
- 5. Comsa S, Cimpean AM, Raica M. The story of MCF-7 breast cancer cell line: 40 years of experience in research. Anticancer Res. 2015;35:3147-54.
- 6. Theodossiou TA, Ali M, Grigalavicius M, et al. Simultaneous defeat of MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 resistances by a hypericin PDT-tamoxifen hybrid therapy. NPJ Breast Cancer. 2019;5:13.
- 7. Yin L, Duan JJ, Bian XW, Yu SC. Triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtyping and treatment progress. Breast Cancer Res. 2020;22:61.
- da Silva JL, Cardoso Nunes NC, Izetti P, et al. Triple negative breast cancer: a thorough review of biomarkers. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2020;145:102855.
- Reis-Filho JS, Pusztai L. Gene expression profiling in breast cancer: Classification, prognostication, and prediction. Lancet. 2011;378:1812-23.
- González-Martínez S, Pérez-Mies B, Carretero-Barrio I, et al. Molecular features of metaplastic breast carcinoma: an infrequent subtype of triple negative breast carcinoma. Cancers. 2020;12:1832.
- 11. Acuña-Castroviejo D, Escames G, Venegas C, et al. Extrapineal melatonin: sources, regulation, and potential functions. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014;71:2997-3025.
- 12. Luchetti F, Canonico B, Betti M, et al. Melatonin signaling and cell protection function. FASEB J. 2010;24:3603-24.
- 13. Sainz RM, Mayo JC, Tan DX, et al. Melatonin reduces prostate cancer cell growth leading to neuroendocrine differentiation via a receptor and PKA independent mechanism. Prostate. 2005;63:29-43.
- Sainz RM, Mayo JC, Tan DX, et al. Antioxidant activity of melatonin in Chinese hamster ovarian cells: changes in cellular proliferation and differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;302:625-34.
- Bizzarri M, Proietti S, Cucina A, Reiter RJ. Molecular mechanisms of the pro-apoptotic actions of melatonin in cancer: a review. Expert Opin Therap Targets. 2013;17:1483-96.

- Juhasz G, Sass M. Hid can induce, but is not required for autophagy in polyploid larval Drosophila tissues. Eur Cell Biol. 2005;84:491-502.
- 17. Wu Z, Wu LJ, Li LH, et al. p53- mediated cell cycle arrest and apoptosis induced by shikonin via a caspase-9-dependent mechanism in human malignant melanoma A375-S2 cells. J Pharmacol Sci. 2004;94:166-76.
- Mizushima N, Levine B, Cuervo AM, Klionsky DJ. Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. Nature. 2008;451:1069-75.
- 19. Han X, Mo J, Yang Y, et al. Crucial roles of LncRNAs-mediated autophagy in breast cancer. Int J Med Sci. 2022;19:1082-92.
- Petiot A, Ogier-Denis E, Blommaart EFC, et al. Distinct classes of phosphatidylinositol 30 kinases are involved in signaling pathways that control macroautophagy in HT-29 cells. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:992-8.
- 21. Pan X, Zhang X, Sun H, et al. Autophagy inhibition promotes 5-fluorouraci-induced apoptosis by stimulating ROS formation in human non-small cell lung cancer A549 cells. PLoS One. 2013;8:e56679.
- 22. Kumar D, Shankar S, Srivastava RK. Rottlerin induces autophagy and apoptosis in prostate cancer stem cells via PI3K/Akt/ mTOR signaling pathway. Cancer Lett. 2013;343:179-89.
- 23. Li J, Hou N, Faried A, et al. Inhibition of autophagy by 3-MA enhances the effect of 5-FU-induced apoptosis in colon cancer cells. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:761-71.
- 24. Cui Q, Tashiro S, Onodera S, Ikejima T. Augmentation of oridonin-induced apoptosis observed with reduced autophagy. J Pharmacol Sci. 2006;101:230-9.
- 25. Cui Q, Tashiro S, Onodera S, et al. Autophagy preceded apoptosis in oridonin-treated human breast cancer MCF-7 cells. Biol Pharm Bull. 2007;30:859-64.
- 26. Onder GO, Sezer G, Ozdamar S, Yay A. Melatonin has an inhibitory effect on MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cell lines by inducing autophagy and apoptosis. Fund Clin Pharmacol. 2022;36:1038-56.
- 27. Kroemer G, Jaattela M. Lysosomes and autophagy in cell death control. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5:886-97.
- 28. Kondo Y, Kondo S. Autophagy and cancer therapy. Autophagy. 2006;2:85-90.
- 29. Kroemer G, Levine B. Autophagic cell death: the story of a misnomer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008;9:1004-10.
- 30. Eisenberg-Lerner A, Bialik S, Simon HU, Kimchi A. Life and death partners: apoptosis, autophagy and the cross-talk between them. Cell Death Differ. 2009;16:966-75.
- Tran AT, Ramalinga M, Kedir H, et al. Autophagy inhibitor 3-methyladenine potentiates apoptosis induced by dietary tocotrienols in breast cancer cells. Eur J Nutr. 2015;54:265-72.
- Chen S, Gao Y, Zhu P, et al. Anti-cancer drug anlotinib promotes autophagy and apoptosis in breast cancer. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2022;27:125-38.
- Han SH, Lee JH, Woo JS, et al. Myricetin induces apoptosis through the MAPK pathway and regulates JNK-mediated autophagy in SK-BR-3 cells. Int J Mol Med. 2022;49:54-65.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Evaluation of Publishing Status of Doctoral Theses of Faculty of Medicine Department of Anatomy in Scientific Journals

Sibel Atesoglu Karabas¹, Selma Solgun Dag²

¹Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye ²İnönü University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Malatya, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: The aim of this study was to evaluate the publication status of doctoral theses conducted by the anatomy departments of medical faculties in scientific journals.

Material and Method: In this descriptive, cross-sectional study, data were obtained retrospectively from the internet database of the National Thesis Center in the High Education Board (YÖK). A total of 148 doctoral dissertations published between 2009-2019 in the anatomy department of medical faculty were included in the study.

Results: Of the 148 theses, 82 (55.4%) were published in a journal and 66 (44.6%) were unpublished. Of the published theses, 53 (35.8%) were published in SCI/SCI-E, 3 (2%) in TÜBİTAK/Ulakbim TR index and 26 (17.6%) in other international indexes (p=.0001). **Conclusion:** It was observed that the publication rate of doctoral dissertations in the anatomy department of medical faculty in Türkiye and the rate of publication as articles in journals in SCI/SCI-E were quite high.

Keywords: Anatomy, doctoral thesis, medicine of faculty

INTRODUCTION

Anatomy is the branch of science that examine the structure of the human body, organs, the location and neighborhood of these organs. The term anatomy is derived from Greek words "ana" meaning inside and "tome" meaning cutting. In Latin, it means dissection and is mostly used to mean examining a cadaver by cutting it into pieces (1). The main purpose of anatomy education is to provide the basic knowledge and skills needed (2.3). A good anatomy basis is very important for the diagnosis and treatment of diseases in the clinic. Because in order to distinguish what is pathological, it is necessary to know what is normal first. The purpose of anatomy research is to determine the standards of structures considered normal (4). Since Vesalius, who is considered the founder of anatomy, the importance of anatomy has increased and continued to develop. In parallel with the developing technology, many diversities have been provided in anatomy study areas and subjects and considerable progress has been made (5).

In addition to the contributions of these advances of science, access to education has also become easier.

Postgraduate education has become widespread and has a large place in formal education (6). It is necessary to meet certain conditions to be admitted to doctoral programs, which represent the highest degree in education. Doctoral programs constitute the biggest step taken in academic terms and enable the transition to becoming a faculty member. The aim of doctoral education is to train scientists who can produce and use knowledge and solve existing problems with a productive way of thinking (3,7). Doctoral candidates are obliged to participate in a number of educational activities and write a doctoral thesis in order to achieve these determined goals. Doctoral education consists of 2 years of lesson phase and 2 years of thesis preparation. A doctoral thesis is an obligation that synthesizes information with research, interprets data, and demonstrates people's achievements (8). Thesis preparation aims to provide doctoral students with many earnings. For example, forming a hypothesis, planning a study, collecting and analyzing data, interpreting the results, and writing a scientific text are some of these purposes. It is important to convert theses into publications in terms of academic promotion and making significant contributions to

CITATION

Atesoglu Karabas S, Solgun Dag S. Evaluation of Publishing Status of Doctoral Theses of Faculty of Medicine Department of Anatomy in Scientific Journals. Med Records. 2024;6(1):115-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1407646

Received: 22.12.2023 Accepted: 12.01.2024 Published: 23.01.2023

Corresponding Author: Selma Solgun Dag, İnönü University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Malatya, Türkiye **E-mail**: slmslgn@hotmail.com

science (9-12). According to our literature review, we have not found any study evaluating the publication of anatomy doctoral theses in our country in scientific journals.

This study aims to evaluate the publication status of doctoral theses published in scientific journals by the Anatomy Departments of medical faculties in our country between 2009 and 2019.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study is a descriptive and cross-sectional study and is an original research. Ethics committee approval was received for the study from Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University Medical Research Ethics Committee on 08.02.2022 (protocol number 2022/06, decision number 07). The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki.

There are 148 articles published between 2009 and 2019 in the National Thesis Center internet database of the High Education Board (YÖK) (https://tez.yok.gov. tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/), entered into the system by the anatomy departments of all medical faculties in our country. Doctoral theses from the department of anatomy at the faculty of medicine were retrospectively examined and included. Exclusion criteria include not being able to access the full or abstract of the thesis, it being published before 2009 or after 2019, being published by an institution other than the anatomy departments of the faculty of medicine in our country, and being a master's thesis or medical specialty thesis.

The publication status of the thesis was taken from PubMED Central (PMC) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed) and Google academic (https://scholar. google.com.tr/) databases. The author of the thesis was determined by comparing the name-surname of the thesis advisor, the Turkish and English versions of the thesis title, the article title and the article summary with the title. subject and summary of the thesis. The journals in which the theses are published are from Science Citation Index (SCI), Science Citation Index-Expanded (SCI-E), Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), other international fields (PubMED, Medline, Scopus, Index Copernicus etc.), Ulakbim TR databases. It was determined by evaluating the websites of these databases and journals in which one they were included. The study topics of theses are divided into categories as animal experiments, cadaver, anthropometry, radiology and others. The institutions where the authors of the theses currently work and their titles were determined by an internet search via Google. Apart from these, the gender of the thesis authors, the number of names in the thesis article, the academic title of the current advisor during the thesis process, whether the thesis is prospective/retrospective, the publication status of the article and the publication period if published, and the national or international indexes in which the article was scanned were evaluated.

Analysis of Data

IBM SPSS version 25 (IBM SPSS for Windows version 25, IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, United States)

software was used to evaluate the data. Mean and standard deviation were determined for numerical data, and number and percentage values were determined for categorical data. Chi-square test was used for group comparisons, and p<0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

148 medical faculty anatomy department doctoral theses recorded in the YÖK national thesis center internet database between 2009 and 2019 were included in the study. Of the thesis writers included in the study 69 (46.6%) were women and 79 (53.4%) were men. 111 (75%) of the thesis advisors are professors, 32 (21.6%) are associate professor (assoc. prof.) and 5 (3.4%) are assistant professor (asst. prof.).

82 (55.4%) of the theses were published in a journal, while 66 (44.62%) were not published. Of the published theses, 53 (35.8%) were published in SCI/SCI-E, 3 (2%) in TÜBİTAK/ Ulakbim TR index and 26 (17.6%) in other international indexes (P=.0001; Table 1).

40 (48.78%) of the published studies of women, 25 are in SCI/SCI-E, 1 is in TÜBİTAK-Ulakbim TR index, and 14 are in other international indexes; It was determined that 28 of the 42 (51.22%) publications belonging to men were published in SCI/SCI-E, 2 in the TÜBİTAK-Ulakbim TR index, and 12 in other international indexes. There is no statistically significant difference between where theses written by men and women were published (p=.738). It was observed that 62 (75.60%) of the 82 studies that were published were supervised by professors, 18 (21.95%) were assoc. prof., and 2 (2.45%) were an asst prof. The advisors of the 66 studies that did not turn into publications consisted of 49 (74.24%) professors, 14 (21.21%) assoc. prof., and 3 (4.55%) an asst. prof. (p=.779; Table 1).

148 doctoral theses, 40 (27%) were retrospective and 108 (73%) were prospective (p=.0001). When the methods of these thesis studies are evaluated, 40 (27%) are experimental animal models, 33 (22.3%) are cadaver studies, 11 (7.4%) are anthropometric studies, 50 (33.8%) are radiological studies and 14 (9.5%) consisted of other studies (Table 1).

111 (75%) of the theses whose advisors were professors, 32 (28.82%) were experimental, 23 (20.75%) were cadaver, 7 (6.30%) were anthropometric, and 39 (35.13%) were radiological and 10 (9%) are other studies. 32 (21.6%) of the studies whose advisor was an assoc. prof., 6 (18.76%) were experimental, 9 (28.12%) were cadaveric, 4 (12.5%) were anthropometric, and 9 (28.12%) were radiological and 4 (12.5%) were other studies. 5 (3.4%) of the studies whose advisor was an asst. prof., 2 (40%) were experimental, 1 (20%) was cadaveric, and 2 (40%) were radiological studies (p=.781).

The average time for theses to become published was determined as 2.62±1.63 (min=1, max=7) years. Of the 82 published theses, 27 (18.2%) were published after one year, 20 (13.5%) were published after two years, 12 (8.1%) were published after three years, and 10 (6.8%) were published

after four years, 8 (5.4%) after five years, 3 (2%) after six years, and 2 (1.4%) after seven years.

The average number of authors in published articles was 5.24 ± 1.90 (min=1, max=10). Among these, 1 (7%) with one author, 5 (3.4%) with two authors, 7 (4.7%) with three authors, 17 (11.5%) with four authors, 19 (12.8%) with five authors, 10 (6.8%) with six authors, 16 (10.8%) with seven authors, 3 (2%) with eight authors, 1 (7%) with nine authors, and 3 (2%) publications with ten authors. When we look at the author's name in the published articles, 79 (53.4%) were the first name, 2 (1.4%) were the second name, and 1 (7%) was the third name.

148 of the doctoral thesis writers, 104 (70.3%) were formerly academics, 44 (29.7%) were not academics, currently 119 (80.4%) are still academics, 29 (19.6%) of them did not continue as academics.

Considering the undergraduate graduation information of the thesis owners, 17 (11.5%) were from the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department, 17 (11.5%) were from the nursing department, 52 (35.1%) were from the faculty of medicine, 17 (11.5%) were from the veterinary medicine, 35 (23.6%) were from the biology department and 10 (6.8%) were from other departments graduated.

Table 1. Evaluation of anatomy doctoral theses						
Parameters		Published theses n (%)	Unpublished theses n (%)	р		
Gender	Man	42 (53.16)	37 (46.84)	667		
	Woman	40 (57.97)	29 (42.03)	.557		
	Professor doctor	62 (75.60)	49 (74.24)			
Supervisor	Associate professor	18 (21.95)	14 (21.21)	.779		
	Assistant professor	2 (2.45)	3 (4.55)			
	Cadaver	21 (63.63)	12 (36.37)			
	Radiology	29 (58)	21 (42)			
Study topics	Animal experiment	21 (52.5)	19 (47.5)	.497		
	Anthropometry	6 (54.54)	5 (45.46)			
	Others	5 (35.71)	9 (64.29)			
	SCI/SCI-E	53 (35.8)	-			
Type of journal	TÜBİTAK/Ulakbim TR Index	3 (2)	-	.0001		
	Another International Index	26 (17.6)	-			
*001-0-i	aday, COLE, Caise as Ottation Inday Evenen.					

*SCI: Science Citation Index, SCI-E: Science Citation Index-Expanded, n: number, p<0.05

DISCUSSION

A good anatomy infrastructure is the basis for patient examinations in clinics, diagnosing diseases and the most accurate treatment practices. Because detect what is pathological, it is necessary to know what is normal first. Research in the field of anatomy primarily aims to reveal normally accepted standards. Thus, it will be easier to distinguish pathological ones in clinics (4). Students studying in the field of anatomy must also complete a thesis in order to fulfill these goals and graduate successfully. This study is the first to evaluate the publication of doctoral theses in the anatomy department of the faculty of medicine published in our country in scientific journals. In our study, the publication rate of theses written between 2009 and 2019 in scientific journals was determined as 82 (55.4%), and the non-publication rate was 66 (44.6%).

When the thesis studies in different fields that have been done so far are examined, it has been determined that the results evaluating the time it takes for the theses to be published vary (9,10). On the one hand, it is stated that a period of eleven years must pass from the completion date of the thesis to the publication date. On the other hand, it has been reported that this period should not exceed five years (13). Kalcioğlu et al., they found that this period was on average three and a half years (14). When we look at the studies evaluating medical specialty theses in different branches, it takes 3.15 years in the department of ear, nose and throat (ENT), 3.20 years in the department of medical pharmacology, 3.02 years in the department of medical physiology, 2.83 years in the department of psychiatry and 3.37 years in the department of anatomy (15-19). In our study, it was determined to be 2.62 years. Our results show that anatomy department doctoral theses are published earlier than specialty theses.

When the publication rates of specialty theses in different branches are evaluated, 35.6% of 368 ENT theses in 2017, 57.3% of 87 medical physiology theses in 2019, 37.4% of 910 psychiatry theses in 2020, 10.7% of 309 medical microbiology theses, 56.5% of 108 medical pharmacology theses and 64.9% of 57 anatomy theses in 2022 were published in a journal (9,15-18). In our study, 55.4% of theses, similar to physiology, pharmacology and anatomy specialty theses, were published in a journal. It was determined that the results in our study were in the middle compared to the results determined in different areas in our country.

When we examine where the specialty thesis studies in different fields published in scientific journals are published, 35.6% ENT publications of 21.4% are in international journals, 14.1% are in national journals, 11.5%

family medicine publications of 0.8% are in SCI journals, 3.1% in SCI-E journals and 7.6% in national journals, 56.5% medical pharmacology publications of 77% are in SCI/SCI-E, 14.8% in other international directories, 4.9% in the TÜBİTAK/Ulakbim TR index, 3.3% are in national peerreviewed journals, 57.3% physiology publications of 18.3% are in SCI journals, 20.7% are in SCI-E journals, 11% are in other international indexes, 6.1% in TÜBİTAK/Ulakbim TR index, 1.2% in national peer-reviewed journals, 54.4% of anatomy publications in SCI/SCI-E, 8.8% in TÜBİTAK-Ulakbim TR index and 1.8% in other international indexes (15-17,19,20). In our study, 35.8% of the theses were published in SCI/SCI-E, 2% in TÜBİTAK/Ulakbim TR index and 17.6% in other international indexes. In our study, it is seen that the publication status of anatomy doctoral theses in SCI/SCI-E is quite high compared to family medicine, guite low compared to medical pharmacology, and similar compared to other departments.

Due to the mobility inherent in the education process, different education models are needed to keep up with the times. Successful results of changes in the education process can only be achieved if the applied education model is correct and appropriate (21). Academic research conducted in relevant departments also changes in parallel with the changes in the educational process. In a study where 57 anatomy specialty thesis topics were evaluated, it was determined that 29.7% were radiological studies, 37.8% were cadaver studies, 27% were animal experiments studies and 5.4% were anthropometry studies (19). In our study, 27% consists of experimental animal models, 22.3% cadaver study, 7.4% anthropometric study, 33.8% radiological study and 9.5% other studies. Our results show that, unlike the study conducted, radiological studies are preferred most, followed by animal experiment studies.

Many components such as the research fields of the individual receiving training, the facilities of the institution he/she studies at, and the thesis advisor he/she works with are effective in determining a thesis topic, its guality, and its transformation into publication. When the publication status of the studies according to the thesis advisors is evaluated, in a study on psychiatry specialty theses, 40.1% of 438 theses whose advisor was a professor, 31.4% of 261 theses whose advisor was an assoc. prof., 67.2% of 122 theses whose advisor was an asst. prof. It has been observed that the works of those whose thesis advisors are asst. prof.. are more likely to be published (p<.05) (18). In another study conducted on anatomy specialty theses, 64.3% of the theses whose advisor was a professor, 64.3% of the theses whose advisor was an assoc. prof., and all of the theses whose advisor was an asst. prof. were published (20). In our study, 75.60% of the theses whose advisor was a professor, 21.95% of theses whose advisor was an assoc. prof., and 2.45% of theses whose advisor was an asst. prof. were converted into publications. In our study, unlike studies in other fields, the advisor of the studies that turned into publications was the professor.

CONCLUSION

As a result, it has been observed that the publication rates of doctoral theses in the anatomy department of medical faculties in our country are similar to other branches of science. Most of these studies are published in SCI/SCI-E. Radiological studies are the most preferred thesis subject.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval was received for the study from Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University Medical Research Ethics Committee on 08.02.2022 (protocol number 2022/06, decision number 07).

REFERENCES

- 1. Arifoğlu Y, ed. Her yönüyle anatomi. 1st. edition. İstanbul Tıp Kitabevleri. İstanbul, 2017;15-6.
- 2. Sevinç B. Türkiye'de lisansüstü eğitim uygulamaları, sorunlar ve öneriler. AÜEBFD. 2001;34:125-37.
- 3. Karaman S, Bakırcı F. Postgraduate study in Turkey: problems and proposed solutions. SBAD. 2010;5:94-114.
- 4. Özbağ D, ed. İnsan anatomisi. 1st. edition. İstanbul Medikal Yayıncılık. İstanbul, 2019;1-2.
- Tellioğlu AM, Karakaş S, Polat AG. A survey of scientific publications in the field of anatomy conducted in Turkey during 2000–2014. Meandros Med Dent J. 2015;16:1-3.
- Karakütük K. Lisansüstü öğretimde örgütlenme modelleri ve Türkiye'deki uygulamalar. 6. Ulusal Sosyal Bilimler Kongresi; 17-19 November 1999. Ankara, Türkiye, 15.
- Sagiroglu A, Meker M, Karaca I, et al. An overview of postgraduate students at the anatomy department of Erciyes University school of medicine. Journal of Health Sciences. 2013;23:210-5.
- 8. Balcı A. Doctorate programme: Some implications for doctorate programmes of Turkish universities. Journal of Educational Sciences Research. 2013;3:1-20.
- Ögrenci A, Eksi MS, Özcan Eksi EE, Koban O. From idea to publication: publication rates of theses in neurosurgery from Turkey. Neurol Neurochir Pol. 2016;50:45-7.
- Sipahi OR, Caglayan Serin D, Pullukcu H, et al. Publication rates of Turkish medical specialty and doctorate theses on medical microbiology, clinical microbiology and infectious diseases disciplines in international journals. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2014;48:341-5.
- 11. Salmi LR, Gana S, Mouillet E. Publication pattern of medical theses, France, 1993-98. Med Educ. 2001;35:18-21.
- Özgen Ü, Eğri M, Aktaş M, et al. Publication pattern of Turkish medical theses: analysis of 22.625 medical theses completed in years 1980-2005. Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci. 2011;31:1122-31.
- 13. Scherer RW, Dickersin K, Langenberg P. Full publication of results initially presented in abstracts. A meta-analysis. JAMA. 1994;272:158-62.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1407646

- 14. Kalcioglu MT, Ileri Y, Karaca S, et al. Research on the submission, acceptance and publication times of articles submitted to international otorhinolaryngology journals. Acta Inform Med. 2015;23:379-84.
- Çetin A, Boran C, Erdağ TK. Do the otorhinolaryngology specialization thesis turn into publications?. Kulak Burun Bogaz İhtis Derg. 2017;27:185-93.
- 16. Eser N. Publication status of pharmacology specialty theses in scientific journals in Turkey. J Surg Med. 2020;4:507-10.
- Akkeçeçi NS. Publication of physiology theses in scientific journals: Analysis of the status from Turkey. J Surg Med. 2019;3:235-8.

- Erim BR, Petekkaya S. Retrospective analysis of psychiatry specialization theses made between 1981-2018 in Turkey. Turk Psikiyatri Derg. 2020;31:1-8.
- 19. Ateşoğlu Karabaş S, Yoldaş A, Demir M. Evaluation of the publication status of dissertations of the faculty of medicine anatomy department in scientific journals. Ann Med Res. 2022;29:329-33.
- Üçer H, Keten HS. Aile hekimliği alanında yapılan tipta uzmanlik tezleri bilimsel makale olarak yayınlanıyor mu?. KSU Tıp Fak Der. 2016;11:22-5.
- 21. Sehirli US, Saka E, Sarikaya O. Attitudes of Turkish anatomists toward cadaver donation. Clin Anat. 2004;17:677-81.



Availability of Mean Platelet Volume and Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio in Control of Helicobacter Pylori Eradication

Description Provide the International Content of Con

Adıyaman University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Adıyaman, Türkiye



Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License

Abstract

Aim: The most common chronic bacterial infection in humans is Helicobacter pylori (HP) and has been proven to cause gastritis, recurrent peptic ulcers, duodenal ulcers, and gastric cancer. We investigated the neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and the mean platelet volume (MPV) in the control of HP infection eradication success.

Material and Method: Patients with HP infection in endoscopic biopsy performed due to dyspeptic complaints were included in this retrospective analysis. Quadruple antibiotic eradication therapy was given to the patients for 14 days. Pre- and post-treatment complete blood count parameters of 217 patients whose eradication treatment was successful were evaluated.

Results: There was a statistically significant decrease in the neutrophil count after treatment compared to before treatment (p<0.001). NLR after treatment was significantly lower than before treatment (p=0.002). MPV value after treatment showed a statistically significant increase compared to before treatment (p<0.001).

Conclusion: In our study, a significant difference was observed between pre-/post-treatment neutrophil value, neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio, and MPV value.

Keywords: Helicobacter pylori, mean platelet volume, gastritis, neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio

INTRODUCTION

Marshall and Warren have identified the stomach bacterium in 1982 and cultured Campylobacter pyloridis, which was later reclassified as Helicobacter pylori (HP) (1). In developing countries, it is more common than in developed ones. The prevalence of HP in our country was found to be 71-80% (2,3). Low socioeconomic level, poor nutrition, poor hygiene conditions and living in crowded environments pose a risk for the disease (4,5). The prevalence of HP was found to be 82.5% with the urea breath test. Most of the cases have asymptomatic chronic inflammation (6).

During inflammation, neutrophils and lymphocytes interact with the microenvironment and tumor cells. The release of neutrophil chemotactic factors from inflammatory and malignant tissues causes the number of neutrophils to increase in peripheral blood (7-10).

The tissue damage caused by HP is originated from immune response and increased inflammatory mediators due to platelet activation. The bacterium facilitates T cell activation through antigenic molecules such as urease, lipopolysaccharide, and HP heat shock protein. The increase in T cells induces the secretion of cytokines. It causes the accumulation of platelets in the gastric mucosa (11). The HP infection alleviates the concentration of eicosanoids such as prostaglandin F and derives concomitant increase in thromboxane A2 (TXA2) with lipid peroxidation. This details the high platelet count and is also supported by increased mean platelet volume (MPV), platelet distribution width (PDW), thrombocyte (PCT) in routine laboratory examinations (12).

Vascular endothelial growth factors, tumor necrosis factor, and other cytokines that contribute to cancer progression are secreted by neutrophils. Increased neutrophils lead to lymphocytopenia or decreased lymphocyte function (13). Increased levels of cytokines and inflammatory markers were observed in gastric biopsies and serum samples of HP-positive patients (10). An increase in neutrophils and a decrease in lymphocytes occurs. Therefore, the Neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is a sensitive marker for inflammation (11). While the MPV provides information about platelet activity, systemic inflammation can also vary (12).

CITATION

Kacmaz H, Caliskan AR. Availability of Mean Platelet Volume and Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio in Control of Helicobacter Pylori Eradication. Med Records. 2024;6(1):120-3. DOI:1037990/medr.1406157

Received: 17.12.2023 Accepted: 16.01.2024 Published: 30.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Ali Riza Caliskan, Adıyaman University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Adıyaman, Türkiye

E-mail: komamir308@gmail.com

Study Hypothesis

An increase in the number of neutrophils and a decrease in the number of lymphocytes are observed in physiological stress. The ratio of these two subgroups to each other is used as a sensitive indicator of inflammation. MPV levels have been associated with chronic inflammation and higher MPV values indicate that platelets participate in proinflammatory and prothrombotic events (12,13).

Non-invasive, easily accessible and cost-effective tests are needed for the eradication control of HP due to the emerging prevalence of infection. We aimed to investigate the NLR and MPV in post-treatment eradication control of HP.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Patients with HP infection detected in the endoscopic biopsy performed due to dyspepsia at the Gastroenterology clinic of Adıyaman Training and Research Hospital between January 2020 and June 2021 were included. The ethics committee approval has been granted on 18/05/2021 and protocol number: 2021/05-18. The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki and informed consent has been obtained from all participants.

Database were collected from patients' medical and laboratory records. Hemogramme, coagulometric and biochemical tests were performed in all patients before endoscopy. Endoscopies were performed under general anesthesia (Propofol 1% 10 g/20 ml, Midazolam 50 mg/10 ml) after an 8-hour fast under the supervision of an anesthesiologist.

Patients who used proton pump inhibitors within one month, patients with infection, malignancy, hematological, chronic kidney disease, and patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy were excluded from the study. Patients with gastrointestinal bleeding, gastric ulcer, portal hypertensive gastropathy, on endoscopy also were excluded from the study. To detect the presence of HP, two biopsies were taken from the gastric antrum region with biopsy forceps. Mucosal samples were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Mucosal samples were evaluated with the Sydney classification for HP positivity or negativity (13). Cases with atrophy, intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia or malignancy were not included in the study.

HP antigen in the stool was evaluated eight weeks after the end of treatment. Negative detection was considered successful eradication (7). The NLR was calculated by dividing the number of neutrophils by the number of lymphocytes. Patients who did not complete the course of antibiotics were excluded from the analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were presented by calculating frequency, percentage, mean, standard deviation, median, 25%-75% percentile (Q1-Q3) values. The assumption of normality was checked using the Shapiro-Wilk test by examining the histogram, q-q plot, skewness and kurtosis values. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test was used to distribute the groups that did not fit the normal distribution in the comparison of two dependent measures. Results with a P value of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Analyzes were made with the SPSS 23.0 package program.

RESULTS

Descriptive statistics of the patients were presented in Table 1. Almost half the (44.2%) of the subjects were male (n=96), 55.8% were female (n=121). The average age of the patients was 40.7 \pm 14.35 years. The endoscopy finding of 63.6% of the patients was antral gastritis (AG) (n=138), and 36.4% of them were pangastritis (PG) (n=79).

The pre-and post-treatment measurements of the patients were compared in Table 2. According to the Wilcoxon Peer Test results, the neutrophil value after treatment showed a statistically significant decrease compared to before treatment (p<0.001).

After treatment, there was a statistically significant decrease in the NLR compared to before treatment (p=0.002). MPV value showed a statistically significant increase after treatment compared to before (p<0.001).

The parameters of AG and PG groups before and after treatment were compared. While a decrease in neutrophil values was observed in the AG group after treatment (p=0.001), the decrease was not statistically significant in the PG group (p=0.052). Although the lymphocyte value did not change in the AG group (p=0.811), there was a decrease in the PG group (p=0.001). The NLR decreased in the AG group (p=0.003) but it did not change in the PG group. MPV value increased in both AG (p=0.006) and PG groups (p<0.001) (Table 3).

The difference values (delta) of the pre-treatment and posttreatment measurements of the groups were compared. According to the Mann Whitney U test, it was found that there was a difference between the groups only in MPV measurement, and a higher increase was observed in the PG group (p=0.03). In other measurements, the difference values did not change according to the groups (p>0.05).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the patients							
Variable	Category	n	%	Median (SD)	Median (Q1-Q3)		
Orandan	Male	96	44.2				
Gender	Female	121	55.8				
Endessenv findings	AG	138	63.6				
Endoscopy findings	PG	79	36.4				
Age		217		40.7±14.35	41 (28-50)		

Table 2. Time-bound changes					
Variables	n	Median (SD)	Median (Q1-Q3)	z	р
Pre-treatment Neutrophil value	217	4.63±1.85	4.3 (3.3-5.4)	-3.80	<0.001
Post-treatment Neutrophil value	217	4.2±1.7	3.9 (3.2-4.9)	-3.00	<0.001
Pre-treatment Lymphocyte value	217	2.32±0.68	2.2 (1.8-2.7)	-0.34	0.731
Post-treatment Lymphocyte value	217	2.31±0.64	2.2 (1.8-2.7)	-0.34	0.731
Pre-treatment NLR	217	2.14±1.17	1.85 (1.5-2.58)	-3.04	0.002
Post-treatment NLR	217	1.95±1.15	1.75 (1.38-2.2)	-3.04	0.002
Pre-treatment MPV	217	8.26±1.47	8.1 (7.3-8.9)	-4.73	<0.001
Post-treatment MPV	217	8.58±1.33	8.5 (7.8-9.2)	-4.75	<0.001

Table 3. Antral gastritis and pangastritis parameters of groups before and after treatment were compared

	Antral gastritis				I	Pangastritis		
	n	Mean (SD)	Median (Q1-Q3)	Test	n	Mean (SD)	Median (Q1-Q3)	Test
Pre-treatment Neutrophil value	138	4.74±1.83	4.55 (3.4-5.7)	z=-3.23	79	4.45±1.88	4 (3.3-5)	z=-1.94
Post-treatment Neutrophil value	138	4.27±1.55	3.9 (3.2-5.1)	p=0.001	79	4.08±1.94	3.7 (2.9-4.5)	p=0.052
Pre-treatment Lymphocyte value	138	2.35±0.64	2.2 (1.9-2.7)	z=-2.39	79	2.27±0.75	2.1 (1.7-2.8)	z=-0.942
Post-treatment Lymphocyte value	138	2.37±0.61	2.3 (1.9-2.8)	p=0.811	79	2.2±0.69	2.1 (1.7-2.6)	p=0.001
Pre-treatment NLR	138	2.15±1.23	1.91 (1.5-2.63)	z=-2.96	79	2.12±1.06	1.74 (1.5-2.5)	z=-1.03
Post-treatment NLR	138	1.91±0.89	1.75 (1.35-2.23)	p=0.003	79	2.03±1.51	1.7 (1.39-2.18)	p=0.303
Pre-treatment MPV	138	8.41±1.54	8.15 (7.5-9.1)	z=-2.75	79	8±1.31	7.9 (7.1-8.7)	z=-4.0
Post-treatment MPV	138	8.65±1.45	8.4 (7.7-9.4)	p=0.006	79	8.46±1.07	8.5 (7.8-9.1)	p<0.001

DISCUSSION

NLR and platelet-lymphocyte ratio (PLR) are parameters that are cost-effective, easily obtainable, and correlate with the prognosis of systemic inflammatory diseases. MPV is an indicator of platelet functions, which play an important role in immunological and inflammatory processes (13,14).

NLR was significantly higher in the HP positive group compared to the HP negative group. In addition, posttreatment NLR in the HP positive group after successful eradication was significantly lower than pre-treatment (15). We detected a significantly higher NLR after treatment than before treatment.

NLR was found to be significantly higher in the HPpositive group than in the negative group (16). According to a research from Iran, NLR was found to be higher in HPpositive patients with peptic ulcers than in asymptomatic HP-positive patients. In the same study, NLR was found to be higher in asymptomatic HP-positive patients compared to the HP-negative control group (11). Kondo et al. reported that after a successful HP eradication therapy, a significant decrease was observed in peripheral blood leukocyte, neutrophil and monocyte values compared to pre-treatment (17). Farah et al. stated a significant increase in NLR in the HP (+) group compared to the HP (-) group. An increase in NLR was observed in proportion to HP severity (18). In addition, it was observed that NLR improved after HP eradication treatment (13).

Ümit et al. found a significantly higher MPV rate in the HP (+) group than in the HP (-) group (19). We found that the pre-treatment MPV rate was significantly higher than the post-treatment MPV rate. Sahin et al. conducted a study in a pediatric patient group of 153 HP (+) and 211 individuals. No statistically significant difference was observed between groups in terms of NLR and MPV. No significant difference was observed in terms of NLR and MPV after treatment compared to before treatment (20).

Kaplan et al. examined the relationship between PLR, NLR, PDW, PCT and have found increased values in all these parameters. They also published that alleviated platelet count due to HP infection and reduced platelets with ongoing eradication therapy espcially in women (21). On the other hand Sahwa et al. reported higher MPV, lower PDW and platelet count (22).

In this study, we have observed a significant difference between NLR and MPV before and after treatment. It is assumed that NLR reflects the balance between activation of the inflammatory pathway and anti-tumor immune function. However, there are certain downsides of NLR calculation. Any surgical operation causes certain stress thus elevating NLR and changing the course of inflammation (23). Additionally, cardiovascular diseases and infection, or medication have an important effect on NLR. Detection of HP positivity by biopsy in the entire study population was one of the strengths of our analysis. The comparison of NLR and MPV before and after treatment was also favorable compared to previous literature. Further trials with many patients as multicenter prospective studies are needed for comprehensive data.

CONCLUSION

Regarding the results of this study one can conclude that post-treatment neutrophil lymphocyte ratio significantly decreased compared to pre-treatment period. On the contrary post-treatment MPV value showed a statistically significant increase compared to pre-treatment. Regarding the results of this study one can conclude that NLR and MPV can be utilized in the eradication success of HP infection as easy to obtain markers that are routinely obtained in daily practice.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The ethics committee approval has been granted on 18/05/2021 and protocol number: 2021/05-18. The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki and informed consent has been obtained from all participants.

Acknowledgement: We would like to thank Yunus Baydede for his contribution to the study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Cave DR. Transmission and epidemiology of Helicobacter pylori. Am J Med. 1996;100:12-7.
- 2. Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'morain C, et al. Management of helicobacter pylori infection—the Maastricht V/Florence consensus report. Gut. 2017;66:6-30.
- 3. Goodwin CS, Worsley BW. Microbiology of Helicobacter pylori. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 1993;22:5-19.
- Marshall BJ, Warren JR. Unidentified curved bacilli in the stomach of patients with gastritis and peptic ulceration. Lancet. 1984;1:1311-5.
- 5. Hunt R, Sumanac K, Huang JQ. Review article: should we kill or should we save Helicobacter pylori?. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2001;15:51-9.
- Ozaydin N, Turkyilmaz SA, Cali S. Prevalence and risk factors of helicobacter pylori in Turkey: a nationally-representative, cross-sectional, screening with the 13 C-Urea breath test. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:1215.
- Chey WD, Wong BC; Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. American College of Gastroenterology guideline on the management of Helicobacter pylori infection. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:1808-25.
- Fagoonee S, Pellicano R. Helicobacter pylori: molecular basis for colonization and survival in gastric environment and resistance to antibiotics. A short review. Infect Dis (Lond). 2019;51:399-408.

- 9. Ernst P, Jin Y, Reyes V, Crowe S. The role of the local immune response in the pathogenesis of peptic ulcer formation. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 1994;205:22-8.
- 10. Han S, Liu Y, Li Q, et al. Pre-treatment neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio is associated with neutrophil and T-cell infiltration and predicts clinical outcome in patients with glioblastoma. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:617.
- 11. Jafarzadeh A, Akbarpoor V, Nabizadeh M, et al. Total leukocyte counts and neutrophil-lymphocyte count ratios among Helicobacter pylori-infected patients with peptic ulcers: independent of bacterial CagA status. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health. 2013;44:82-8.
- Kim TJ, Pyo JH, Lee H, et al. Lack of association between helicobacter pylori infection and various markers of systemic inflammation in asymptomatic adults. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2018;72:21-7.
- 13. Farah R, Khamisy-Farah R. Association of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio with presence and severity of gastritis due to Helicobacter pylori infection. J Clin Lab Anal. 2014;28:219-23.
- 14. McColl KE. Clinical practice. Helicobacter pylori infection. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:1597-604.
- 15. Asil M, Dertli R. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is increased in chronic helicobacter pylori infection and returns to normal after successful eradication. J Turgut Ozal Med Cent. 2016;23:409-13.
- Ferhatoğlu MF, Şenol K, Kartal A, et al. Importance of neutrophil/ lymphocyte ratio is important in helicobacter pylori eradication treatment follow-up. Med J Ankara Tr Res Hosp. 2019;52:38-42.
- 17. Kondo Y, Joh T, Sasaki M, et al. Helicobacter pylori eradication decreases blood neutrophil and monocyte counts. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2004;20:74-9.
- Davì G, Neri M, Falco A, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection causes persistent platelet activation in vivo through enhanced lipid peroxidation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25:246-51.
- 19. Umit H, Umit EG. Helicobacter pylori and mean platelet volume: a relation way before immune thrombocytopenia. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2015;19:2818-23.
- 20. Sahin Y, Gubur O, Tekingunduz E. Relationship between the severity of Helicobacter pylori infection and neutrophil and lymphocyte ratio and mean platelet volume in children. Arch Argent Pediatr. 2020;118:e241-5.
- 21. Kaplan M, Ates I, Yuksel M, et al. The role of the PLR-NLR combination in the prediction of the presence of helicobacter pylori and its associated complications.Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2018;24:294-300.
- 22. Ali SA, Gaufri NEAM. Platelet characterization in helicobacter pylori patients. Open Access Library Journal. 2017;4:e3637.
- 23. Dolan RD, McSorley ST, Horgan PG, et al. The role of the systemic inflammatory response in predicting outcomes in patients with advanced inoperable cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2017;116:134-46.



Turkish Version of Caregiver Difficulties Scale for the Children with Cerebral Palsy: A Study of Validity and Reliability

^{(D}Hatice Adiguzel¹, ^{(D}Zekiye Ipek Katirci Kirmaci², ^{(D}Suat Erel³, ^{(D}Nevin Ergun³

¹Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye ²Gaziantep Islam, Science and Technology University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziantep, Türkiye ³Pamukkale University, School of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Denizli, Türkiye

⁴SANKO University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziantep, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The purpose of this study is to evaluate the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Caregiver Difficulties Scale (CDS). **Material and Method:** The CDS was translated into Turkish (TR-CDS) and 116 caregivers of children with Cerebral Palsy (CP) (mean age: 37.20±10.36 years) completed the TR-CDS. Impact on Family Scale (IPFAM), World Health Organization Quality of Life–Brief Form (WHOQOL-BREF), Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS), Nottingham Health Profile (NHP), Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II), and subscales and total impact score of TR-CDS were used for the construct validity. The internal consistency was assessed using Cronbach's alpha, and the test-retest reliability was assessed using the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC).

Results: For construct validity, all subscales of TR-CDS showed negative correlation with the WHOQOL-BREF and showed positive correlation with the IPFAM, FSS, NHP, and BDI-II. ICC the results of test-retest reliability analysis were for TR-CDS (total)=0.879, impact on self (CDS-IS)=0.843, support for caregiving (CDS-SC)=0.759, social and economic difficulties (CDS-S&E)=0.827, and concern for the child (CDS-CC)=0.707. A value of 0.936 was found for internal consistency.

Conclusion: It was revealed that the TR-CDS was a valid and reliable tool for the caregivers of children with CP.

Keywords: Caregiver difficulties scale, cerebral palsy, caregivers, reliability, validity

INTRODUCTION

Cerebral Palsy (CP) is the most prevalent, non-progressive pediatric disease and a disturbance of movement, tone, and posture with a frequency of 2-3/1000 among live births (1). While motor dysfunctions differ in terms of clinical types, behavioral and sensory issues, speech impairments, and cognitive issues accompanies (1,2).

The family plays a central role in the lives of both the children and the team, contingent on the children's needs and dependency levels (1,3). The major goal of CP children's therapy is to help them become more adept at improving their adaptive abilities. Since the family plays a crucial role in ensuring that these children participate actively in life, family-centered approaches to CP rehabilitation are leading the field in this regard (4). Because of this, ensuring family engagement and identifying and addressing their needs and issues during interdisciplinary treatments is essential to the effectiveness of rehabilitation. Depending

on how inadequate their physical skills are, people with CP may require assistance with Activities of Daily Living (ADL) at different degrees (2). Widespread concern, money issues, time constraints, and limitations in social and cultural activities are all faced by caregivers of children with CP (2,5,6). While some families adjust to this circumstance quite well, others find it difficult to cope and make the necessary modifications. As a result, the caregivers' quality of life and life satisfaction decline, and their general wellbeing deteriorates. Therefore, assessing caregivers with physical, psychological, or social issues, as well as in terms of a lower quality of life for individuals with CP is crucial (4). Considering important caregivers, especially mothers, is one of the best ways to manage a children with CP and their handicap (6). These children live longer, and as a result, their families face more material, spiritual, physical, and social challenges. Eventually, family members eventually have behavioral and psychological difficulties. Due to the restricted availability of basic amenities and care services for the disabled, families in

CITATION

Adiguzel H, Katirci Kirmaci ZI, Erel S, Ergun N. Turkish Version of Caregiver Difficulties Scale for the Children with Cerebral Palsy: A Study of Validity and Reliability. Med Records. 2024;6(1):124-31. DOI:1037990/medr.1375252

Received: 15.10.2023 Accepted: 24.01.2024 Published: 30.01 2024

Corresponding Author: Hatice Adiguzel, Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye **E-mail**: fzthatis@gmail.com

developing nations are increasingly vulnerable to the detrimental effects of providing care (7).

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health-Children and Youth (ICF-YH) acknowledges that the family's functioning is a fundamental environmental aspect that might impact the child's health and functionality (8). The ICF defines "participation" in life and highlights the importance of coping mechanisms for both adults and children who have incapacitating conditions (3). But caregivers are one of the most vulnerable groups in society which negatively affects caregivers and children with disabilities and makes it difficult to receive primary assistance and institutions in developing nations (9). As a result, family-centered and compassionate approaches to family membersparticularly mothers-have a big influence on legislators, support organizations, campaigners, and others who support the rights of kids with disabilities. But, caregivers' accountability additionally plays a part in this role (9). In order to give caregivers access to chances and accurate support, it is required to measure the duties of care. This can only be done by employing questionnaires that assess a suitable caregiver's challenges in order to comprehend the family burden (9). It's very common practice to assess caregivers using questionnaires. The Caregiver Difficulties Scale (CDS) has gained prominence recently (10). It assesses all duties that are unique to caregivers of children with CP and covers them completely. Some of the scales like Zarit Caregiver Burden Scale (ZCBS) and Impact on Family Scale (IPFAM) can be used to evaluate the distress experienced by caregivers of children with CP (11,12). ZCBS scale was developed to assess the level of stress and impact of the disease in caregivers of elderly or dependent individuals. This scale was developed for relatives of Alzheimer's patients. The items of ZCBS generally address the social and emotional domains. The IPFAM was designed to measure the impact of pediatric chronic health conditions on family. Also it is longer than CDS, and scoring of the IPFAM is difficult. But CDS is a questionnaire designed to be completed by the principal caregiver of children with CP. Each subscale represents a major area of caregiver concerns and a high cumulative score obtained for a particular subscale is usually indicative of the area needing interventions. Sinhalese version of CDS showed that a high CDS score (above 42) is predictive of caregiver psychological problems. Therefore, CDS will also be useful as a potential screening tool for identification of caregivers who are at risk of psychological problems such as stress, depression and anxiety in Türkiye. This study aimed to develop the TR-CDS and to examine whether it is a valid and reliable tool for assessing the impact of having a child with CP.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design

This study is a methodological research.

Translation Procedures

The questionnaire was translated into Turkish and culturally adjusted as the first stage of the study. The validity and

reliability analysis was the second phase. The concepts of Beaton et al. and Guillemin et al. were applied during the cultural adaptation process (7,13). Two independent physical therapists (PT) who knew English and were native Turkish speakers translated the questionnaire into Turkish. Together, these two PTs with clinical backgrounds in working with caregivers of children with CP, developed the TR-CDS. Two native English speakers who were unaware of the first form of the questionnaire translated it back into English. In a follow-up discussion, two translators and two physiotherapists decided to employ the Turkish translation in the pilot program. To that end, 15 caregivers were invited to fill out the questionnaire and explain the challenges they encountered with each item. Consequently, the questionnaire's final form was made.

Individuals

The study included the caregivers of children with CP who were enrolled in outpatient rehabilitation centers and underwent physiotherapy and rehabilitation, were 1-18 ages and have any other neurological or systemic diseases. The caregivers of children with CP were between the ages of 17 and 65 (n=116). Caregivers who were on neuroleptic and antidepressant medication, could not speak Turkish, or were caregivers with a documented or treated mental illness who were judged unable to complete the questionnaire were excluded from the study. All of the comorbidities, parental risk factors (diabetes, blood pressure, heart disease, and smoking), surgeries, and applications of botulinum toxin (Btx) of CP children were noted, along with the demographic information of the caregivers and the children (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Flowchart of the study

Primary investigator administered the TR-CDS to caregivers of children with CP (10). The caregivers were also asked to fill in the World Health Organization Quality of Life-Brief Form (WHOQOL-BREF), Impact on Family Scale (IPFAM), Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II), Nottingham Health Profile (NHP), and Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS) for the validity of TR-CDS (14-17). CDS's subscales consist of support for caregiving, impact on self, social and economic strain, and concerns for the

child. The CDS is similar to the IPFAM survey in terms of its subparameters. However, CDS is also predictive of caregiver psychological problems. In this respect, the BDI-II was used for the validity of the TR-CDS. NHP shows the quality of life in relation to their health, however the WHOQOL-BREF is as a valid and reliable alternative for the assessment of the quality of life people with long-term mental health conditions. Considering CDS questionnaire and subparameters, WHOQOL-BREF and NHP tests were used because they were thought to be related to the caregivers' quality of life. FSS was used because it shows caregivers' long-term effects on the disease in terms of fatigue levels which shows impact on self.

Two weeks later, the same caregivers were given the TR-CDS questionnaire once more for the reliability.

The caregivers were given all of the surveys to complete at the same time. All of the questionnaires took an average of forty-five minutes.

Prior to the data collection, every caregiver signed an informed consent form. The SANKO University Clinical Research Ethics Committee granted the study ethical permission (2019/01). The study registered with the clinical trial number of NCT04037137.

Measurements

Caregiver Difficulties Scale (CDS): One multifaceted instrument that can be utilized on its own is the CDS. It has 25 items (CDS-T). There are four subscales made out of the items: support for caregiving (CDS-SC) (5), impact on self (CDS-IS) (7), social and economic strain (CDS-S&E) (5), and concerns for the child (CDS-CC) (8). A total score between 0 and 100 is obtained by adding the scores of each item, which are rated on a 5-point scale (0–4) that represents the frequency and intensity of each caring encounter as reported by the caregivers. A high score indicates that the caregiver was over burden (10).

Impact on Family Scale (IPFAM): The impact of the burden on caregivers was measured using the Turkish version of the IPFAM. The 33-item IPFAM inventory takes ten to fifteen minutes to finish. A score of 4 (strongly agree) to 1 (strongly disagree) is assigned to each item. Six items assess the impact of the impaired child on siblings, while 27 items gauge the overall effect on the family. The IPFAM subscales include financial support (IPFAM-FS), coping (IPFAM-C), disruption of social relationships (IPFAM-SR), and overall impact (IPFAM-TI). Low impact is indicated by low scores (11). The validity and reliability (ICC=0.95) of this questionnaire are shown in the Turkish version (11).

Nottingham Health Profile (NHP): NHP evaluated the caregivers' quality of life in relation to their health. The NHP is a subjective measure of health that assesses suffering in the following subgroups: social isolation (5), mobility (8), pain (8), emotional reactions (9), sleep (5), and energy (3). Every subgroup has a score ranging from 0 to 100. NHP's validity and reliability (ICC=0.87) are demonstrated in the Turkish version (18,19).

Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS): Nine items make up the FSS. The individuals was asked to indicate how much they agreed with each statement by selecting between 1 and 7. One score denotes a strong disagreement, while seven denotes a strong agreement. Severe weariness is often indicated by a score of 4 or higher. Nine is the lowest score while 63 is the best. A high score denotes a high level of weariness severity. Armutlu et al. carried out the validity and reliability assessment of the scale in Türkiye. Testretest reliability exists for patients with multiple sclerosis (ICC=0.81), fibromyalgia (ICC: 0.94) and the scale's internal consistency was determined to be good (16,20).

Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II): The Turkish version of the BDI- II was used. A general depressive state's associated behavior and emotions are measured with the 21-item Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (ICC=0.90) (21).

World Health Organization Quality of Life-Brief Form (WHOQOL-BREF): Both the short version of WHOQOL-BREF and the long version of WHOQOL were employed; the WHOQOL-BREF is particularly helpful for clinical and service evaluations. Quality of life is defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as "individuals' perceptions of their positions in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and regarding their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns." This definition forms the basis of this measurement. The WHOQOLBREF is a legitimate and trustworthy substitute for the evaluation of individuals with chronic mental illnesses. It comprises a total of 26 questions with four categories: psychological, physical, social interactions, and environment. It is rated from 1 to 5 on a Likert-type scale, where higher numbers denote a higher quality of life. Every sub-parameter has a score between 0 and 100, where 100 represents the highest guality of life and 0 the lowest. Internal consistency, reliability, and construct validity (ICC=0.34) of the Turkish version of the measure are all rather good (22).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using the IBM SPSS 24 package application (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). When post-hoc power analysis was carried out, the link between CDS and IPFAM, one of the study's data, indicated that the study's power was 0.99 (G*Power 3.1, Düsseldorf, Germany). The correlation between the TR-CDS and NHP, FSS, IPFAM, BDI-II, and WHOQOL-BREF was used to assess the construct validity. Correlation coefficient values fall between -1.0 to 1.0. A computed value that is more than 1.0 or less than -1.0 indicates that the correlation measurement had an error. The total negative correlation is indicated by a correlation of -1.0, and whereas the perfect positive correlation is shown by a correlation of 1.0. Testretest reliability and internal consistency were used to assess the reliability of the questionnaire. The Cronbach a value was used to assess internal consistency, and the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and comparison of measurement scores at various times were used to assess test-retest reliability. An ICC score of less than

0.5 indicates poor reliability, a value between 0.5 and 0.75 indicates moderate reliability, a value between 0.75 and 0.9 indicates high dependability, and a value greater than 0.90 indicates outstanding reliability. For all statistical studies, the p value was evaluated at the 0.05 significance level. Based on the knowledge that the sample size should be at least 5-10 times of the number of surveys' items in validity and reliability studies, it was aimed to reach a sample size of 125 caregivers for the current study (23,24). But some of the caregivers didn't attend the questionnaires 2 weeks later. So the test-retest part of the study completed with the 116 caregivers of children with CP.

RESULTS

In this study, caregivers (n=116) were 94 (81%) female and 22 (19%) male, with a mean age of 37.20 ± 10.36 years. The children were 59 (50.9%) female and 57 (49.1%) male, with a mean age of 7.10 ± 5.08 years. Table 1 shows the sociodemographic information for each caregivers (Table 1).

Variablenember March Marc	Table 1	. Sociodemograp	phic information of	the individuals in the study
Age (year) Children 7.10±5.08 (1-18) Weight kg) Parents 72.60±18.10 (4-113) Children 31.77±22.26 (6-82) Height (cm) Parents 159.98±24.41 (165-185) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Caregiver n (%) Kother 90 (77.6%) Caregiver n (%) Father 18 (15.5) Children 18 (15.5) 0thers Seconda 8 (6.9) 8 (6.9) Caregiver n (%) Yes 36 (68.96) Seconda 94 (81) 94 (81) Male n (%) Parents 94 (81) Female n (%) Parents 95 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Female n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) Female n (%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) 16 (13.8) Female n (%) Secondary 34 (29.31%) Juitersity 16 (13.8) 16 (13.8) Guadriparetic 37 (31.89%)	Variabl	es		. ,
Number of the status Children 7.10±5.08 (1-18) Weight (kg) Parents 72.60±18.10 (4-113) Children 31.77±22.26 (6-82) Height (cm) Parents 159.98±24.41 (165-185) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Caregiver n (%) Father 18 (15.5) Caregiver's working status Mother 90 (77.6%) Sea 8 (6.9) 8 (6.9) Caregiver's working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) 80 (31.03) Sea Female n (%) 94 (81) Female n (%) Parents 22 (19) Male n (%) Parents 94 (81) Female n (%) 94 (81) 94 (81) Male n (%) Parents 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Parents 59 (50.9) High 21 (18.1) 10 University 16 (13.8) 10 Father in the inparetic 34 (29.31%) 10 Fermine revel of condary 25 (21.55%) 10 Male n (%) Male n(%) </th <td></td> <td></td> <td>Parents</td> <td>37.20±10.36 (17-65)</td>			Parents	37.20±10.36 (17-65)
Weight (kg) Children 31.77 ± 22.26 (6-82) Height (cm) Parents 159.98 ± 24.41 (165-185) Children 118.68 ± 34.63 (130-175) Children 118.68 ± 34.63 (130-175) Caregiver n (%) Mother 90 (77.6%) Father 18 (15.5) 0 (18.103) Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) Sex Male n (%) Parents 22 (19) Female n (%) Parents 94 (81) Male n (%) Education 57 (49.1) Male n (%) Female n (%) 59 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Secondary 27 (23.3%) 16 (13.8) Education Ieigaretic 34 (29.31%) University 16 (13.8) 16 (13.8) Fungaretic 34 (29.31%) 16 (13.89%) Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) 17 (14.65%)	Age (ye	edi)	Children	7.10±5.08 (1-18)
Children 31.77±22.26 (6-82) Height (cm) Parents 159.98±24.41 (165-185) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Caregiver n (%) Father 90 (77.6%) Caregiver n (%) Father 18 (15.5) Others 8 (6.9) Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) Sex Male n (%) Parents 22 (19) Female n (%) Parents 94 (81) Male n (%) Parents 95 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 37 (31.89%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)	Woight	(ka)	Parents	72.60±18.10 (4-113)
Height (cm) Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Caregiver n (%) Father 90 (77.6%) Caregiver n (%) Father 18 (15.5) Others 8 (6.9) Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) Male n (%) Parents 94 (81) Sex Female n (%) 57 (49.1) Male n (%) Children 59 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Piparetic 37 (31.89%) Olparetic 37 (31.89%)	weight	. (Kg)	Children	31.77±22.26 (6-82)
Children 118.68±34.63 (130-175) Mother 90 (77.6%) Father 18 (15.5) Others 8 (6.9) Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) 80 (31.03) Female n (%) Parents 94 (81) Sex Female n (%) Othidren 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Parents 94 (81) Maie n (%) Parents 94 (81) Female n (%) Parents 94 (81) Education level of caregivers n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) University 16 (13.8) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%)	Height	(cm)	Parents	159.98±24.41 (165-185)
Caregiver n (%) Father 18 (15.5) Others 8 (6.9) Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) Male n (%) Parents 22 (19) Female n (%) Male n (%) 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Children 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 37 (31.89%) 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%) 17 (14.65%)	neight	(cm)	Children	118.68±34.63 (130-175)
Others 8 (6.9) Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) Male n (%) Parents 94 (81) Female n (%) 6 (40.9) 94 (81) Male n (%) Children 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Children 59 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Diparetic			Mother	90 (77.6%)
Caregivers' working status Yes 36 (68.96) No 80 (31.03) 80 (31.03) Male n (%) Parents 22 (19) Female n (%) 94 (81) 94 (81) Male n (%) Children 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregiverse n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 37 (31.89%) 25 (21.55%)	Caregi	ver n (%)	Father	18 (15.5)
Setatus No 80 (31.03) Male n (%) Parents 94 (81) Male n (%) Parents 94 (81) Male n (%) Children 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Children 59 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University University 16 (13.8) Fungaretic 37 (31.89%) Oparetic 27 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)			Others	8 (6.9)
Male n (%) Parents 22 (19) Sex Female n (%) 94 (81) Male n (%) Female n (%) 57 (49.1) Female n (%) Children 59 (50.9) Female n (%) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 37 (31.89%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)	Caregi	vers' working	Yes	36 (68.96)
Female n (%) Male n (%) Female n (%) Parents 94 (81) Male n (%) Female n (%)	status		No	80 (31.03)
Female n (%) 94 (81) Male n (%) 57 (49.1) Female n (%) 59 (50.9) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Type of CP Quadriparetic 37 (31.89%) 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%) 17 (14.65%)		Male n (%)	Paranta	22 (19)
Male n (%) 57 (49.1) Female n (%) 59 (50.9) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Pemiparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)	Sev	Female n (%)	Parents	94 (81)
Female n (%) 59 (50.9) Primary 52 (44.8) Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Pemiparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)	Sex	Male n (%)		57 (49.1)
Education level of caregivers n (%) Secondary 27 (23.3%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Hemiparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)		Female n (%)	Children	59 (50.9)
Caregivers n (%) High 21 (18.1) University 16 (13.8) Hemiparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)			Primary	52 (44.8)
University 16 (13.8) Hemiparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)	Educat	ion level of	Secondary	27 (23.3%)
Hemiparetic 34 (29.31%) Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)	caregiv	vers n (%)	High	21 (18.1)
Diparetic 37 (31.89%) Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)			University	16 (13.8)
Type of CP Quadriparetic 25 (21.55%) Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)			Hemiparetic	34 (29.31%)
Dyskinetic 17 (14.65%)			Diparetic	37 (31.89%)
	Туре о	f CP	Quadriparetic	25 (21.55%)
Mixt 3 (2.58%)			Dyskinetic	17 (14.65%)
			Mixt	3 (2.58%)

n:number, %: percent, X: mean, SD: standard deviation, min: minimum, max: maximum, CP: cerebral palsy, kg: kilograms, cm: centimeters

Table 2 shows the mean of the sub-parameters for all tests as well as the mean of the test-retest of the TR-CDS sub-parameters (Table 2).

Table 2. Ave BREF (SR), a			IPFAM, NHP, WHOQOL-
	Number of Items	Test X±SD (min-max)	Retest X±SD (min-max)
CDS (CC)	8	18.06±7.64 (2-30)	17.79±9.85 (2-79)
CDS (IS)	7	12.12±6.66 (0-27)	11.44±6.85 (0-26)
CDS (SC)	5	8.51±4.5 (0-20)	8.06±4.72 (0-20)
CDS (S&E)	5	8.49±4.19 (0-19)	8.35±4.54 (0-19)
CDS (T)	25	47.19±17.53 (3-83)	45.66±19.65 (3-129)
			Fest min-max)
IPFAM (FS)		8.12±2	.61 (3-12)
IPFAM (GI)		25.5 5±	6.52 (7-47)
IPFAM (SR)		22.49±6	5.61 (9-42)
IPFAM (C)		7.54±5	.60 (3-61)
IPFAM (TI)		48.25±12	2.55 (20-87)
NHP (P)		30.44±	32 (0-100)
NHP (ER)		28.64±29	9.46 (0-100)
NHP (S)		25.58±32	2.29 (0-100)
NHP (SI)		20.96 ±2	9.22 (0-100)
NHP (PA)		21.67±23	.46 (0-88.46)
NHP (E)		43.39±37	7.84 (0-100)
NHP (T)		169.23±13	35 (0-510.59)
FSS		4.15±2	.39 (0-21)
WHOQOL-BF	REF (GH)	50.29±21	1.63 (0-100)
WHOQOL-BF	REF (PH)	61.54±20	0.85 (0-100)
WHOQOL-BF	. ,		3.09 (0-100)
WHOQOL-BF			5.74 (0-100)
WHOQOL-BF	REF (E)		3 (9.37-106.25)
BDI-II			0.79 (0-47)

CDS (CC): Caregiver Diffuculties Scale (CDS)-concerns for the child, CDS (IS): CDS-Impact on self, CDS (SC): CDS-Support for caregiving, CDS (S&E): CDS-Social&Economic strain, CDS (T): CDS total, IPFAM (FS): IPFAM financial support, IPFAM (GI): IPFAM general impact, IPFAM (SR): IPFAM disorders of social relationship, IPFAM (C): IPFAM coping, IPFAM (TI): IPFAM total impact, NHP (P): Nottingham Health Profile (NHP)-pain, NHP (ER): NHP-emotional reactions, NHP (S): NHPsleep, NHP (SI): NHP-social isolation, NHP (PA): NHP-physical activity, NHP (E): NHP-Energy, NHP (T): NHP-total, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, WHOQOL-BREF (GH): World Health Organization Quality of Life–Brief Form general health, WHOQOL-BREF (PH): Physical health, WHOQOL-BREF (PS): Psychological score, WHOQOL-BREF (SR): Social relationships, WHOQOL-BREF (E): Environment, BDI-II: BeckDepression Inventory- II

Strong construct validity was proven by the TR-CDS scale, as shown by the significant correlations with NHP, FSS, IPFAM, WHOQOL-BREF, and BDI-II as well as between total score (TR-CDS -T) and its subscales. There were no significant correlations found between the total score of TR-CDS and any of its subscales and IPFAM (C) (Table 3). TR-CDS (T) and IPFAM (TI) showed a moderately strong positive correlation (r=0.454, p=0.000); TR-CDS (IS) and BDI-II showed a moderately significant positive correlation (r=0.555, p=0.000); CDS (S&E) and IPFAM (FS) and IPFAM (SR) showed a moderately strong positive correlation (r=0.534, p=0.000); and NHP (SI) showed a significant

and good correlation (r=0.308, p=0.001). TR-CDS (T) and TR-CDS (IS) showed a moderate, significant, negative correlation (r=-0.390 p=0.001), as did WHOQOL-BREF (GH) (r=-0.467 p=0.000). And moderate strong positive correlation (r=0.481 p=0.000) was found between NHP (ER) and TR-CDS (T). Also moderate strong positive correlation (r=0.483 p=0.000) between TR-CDS (IS) and NHP (ER).

Strong moderate correlation was found between TR-CDS (T) and NHP (T) (r=0.588, p=0.000) (Table 3).

Cronbach's alpha for the TR-CDS total impact score was determined to be 0,936 (Table 4). The good test-retest reliability for the CDS subscales (ICC=0.707-0.879) were shown in Table 4.

Table 3. Spearman Corre	elation Coefficients Betw	een TR-CDS and IPFAM,	NHP, FSS, WHOQOL-BRE	F, BDI-II in caregivers of c	hildren with CP (n=116)
	CDS (CC)	CDS (IS)	CDS (SC)	CDS (S&E)	CDS (T)
	p (r)	p (r)	p (r)	p (r)	p (r)
IPFAM (FS)	p<0.001* (0.433)	p<0.001* (0.391)	0.058 (0.177)	p<0.001* (0.534)	p<0.001* (0.511)
IPFAM (GI)	p<0.001* (0.325)	p<0.001* (0.382)	0.041* (0.190)	p<0.001* (0.496)	p<0.001* (0.454)
IPFAM (SR)	p<0.001* (0.426)	p<0.001* (0.452)	0.125 (0.143)	p<0.001* (0.550)	p<0.001* (0.526)
IPFAM (C)	0.721 (0.034)	0.970 (-0.004)	0.5 (-0.063)	0.608 (0.048)	0.928 (0.009)
IPFAM (TI)	p<0.001* (0.337)	p<0.001* (0.399)	0.158 (0.132)	p<0.001* (0.507)	p<0.001* (0.454)
NHP (P)	p<0.001* (0.320)	p<0.001* (0.457)	0.006* (0.255)	p<0.001* (0.396)	p<0.001* (0.474)
NHP (ER)	0.001* (0.313)	p<0.001* (0.483)	0.011* (0.235)	p<0.001* (0.422)	p<0.001* (0.481)
NHP (S)	p<0.001* (0.378)	p<0.001* (0.438)	0.3 (0.097)	p<0.001* (0.448)	p<0.001* (0.463)
NHP (SI)	0.124 (0.144)	0.001* (0.308)	p<0.001* (0.371)	0.001* (0.292)	p<0.001* (0.345)
NHP (PA)	0.019* (0.217)	0.001* (0.311)	0.110 (0.149)	0.001* (0.306)	p<0.001* (0.325)
NHP (E)	p<0.001* (0.325)	p<0.001* (0.446)	0.013* (0.230)	p<0.001* (0.404)	p<0.001* (0.467)
NHP (T)	p<0.001* (0.394)	p<0.001* (0.556)	0.001* (0.308)	p<0.001* (0.526)	p<0.001* (0.588)
FSS	0.005* (0.262)	0.001* (0.293)	0.347 (0.088)	0.079 (0.164)	0.002* (0.287)
WHOQOL-BREF (GH)	p<0.001* (-0.325)	p<0.001* (-0.390)	0.001* (-0.300)	p<0.001* (-0.423)	p<0.001* (-0.467)
WHOQOL-BREF (PH)	0.010* (-0.240)	p<0.001* (-0.326)	0.481* (-0.066)	0.019* (-0.218)	0.001* (-0.297)
WHOQOL-BREF (PS)	0.020* (0.216)	p<0.001* (-0.450)	0.004* (-0.268)	0.007* (-0.250)	p<0.001* (-0.393)
WHOQOL-BREF (SR)	0.036* (-0.196)	0.001* (-0.238)	p<0.001* (-0.382)	p<0.001* (-0.354)	p<0.001* (-0.358)
WHOQOL-BREF (E)	p<0.001* (-0.349)	p<0.001* (-0.349)	p<0.001* (-0.411)	p<0.001* (-0.410)	p<0.001* (-0.488)
BDI-II	p<0.001* (0.356)	p<0.001* (0.555)	p<0.001* (0.322)	p<0.001* (0.447)	p<0.001* (0.554)

Pearson correlation, *p<0,05, r: correlation coefficient, CDS (CC): Caregiver Diffuculties Scale (CDS)-concerns for the child, CDS (IS): CDS-Impact on self, CDS (SC): CDS-Support for caregiving, CDS (S&E): CDS-Social&Economic strain, CDS (T): CDS total, IPFAM (F): IPFAM financial support, IPFAM (GI): IPFAM general impact, IPFAM (SR): IPFAM disorders of social relationship, IPFAM (C): IPFAM coping, IPFAM (TI): IPFAM total impact, NHP (P): Nottingham Health Profile (NHP)-pain, NHP (ER): NHP-emotional reactions, NHP (S): NHP-sleep, NHP (SI): NHP-social isolation, NHP (PA): NHP-physical activity, NHP (E): NHP-Energy, NHP (T): NHP-total, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, WHOQOL-BREF (GH): World Health Organization Quality of Life-Brief Form general health, WHOQOL-BREF (PH): Physical health, WHOQOL-BREF (PS): Psychological score, WHOQOL-BREF (SR): Social relationships, WHOQOL-BREF (E): Environment, BDI-II: Beck Depression Inventory-II

Table 4. Internal consistency and test-retest reliability results of the TR-CDS

	2 assessments on 2	Caregivers			
n=116	sessions with 15day interval	Number of Items	Cronbach's Alpha	ICC*	95% CI
	CDS1-2 (CC)	8	0.828	0.707	0.603-0.787
	CDS1-2 (IS)	7	0.915	0.843	0.781-0.889
Test-Retest Reliability	CDS1-2 (SC)	5	0.863	0.759	0.670-0.827
	CDS 1-2 (S&E)	5	0.905	0.827	0.759-0.877
	CDS 1-2 (T)	25	0.936	0.879	0.830-0.915

*Two-way mixed-effect model on average measures with absolute agreement definition. CI: confidence interval, ICC: intra-class correlation coefficient, CDS1 (CC): first assessment of caregiver diffuculties scale (CDS)-concerns for the child, CDS2 (CC): second assessment of the CDS-concerns for the child, CDS1 (IS): first assessment of the CDS-Impact on self, CDS2 (IS): second assessment of the CDS- Impact on self, CDS1 (SC): first assessment of the CDS-Support for caregiving, CDS2 (SC): second assessment of the CDS-Support for caregiving, CDS1 (S&E): first assessment of the CDS-Social&economic strain, CDS2 (S&E): second assessment of the CDS-Social&economic strain, CDS1 (T): first assessment of the CDS total, CDS2 (T): second assessment of the CDS total

DISCUSSION

The CDS, which assesses the challenges faced by caregivers of children with CP, was translated into Turkish in the current study, and the TR-CDS was also found to be valid and reliable in the Turkish population. Additionally, this study demonstrated the consistency and potential for measuring similar properties among all TR-CDS subscales.

Despite the fact that a lot of researches has been investigated the social, emotional, and financial implications of caring for children with CP, it was found that the majority of caregiver burden questionnaires were English. This is why the current study aimed to have the TR-CDS questionnaire first. This questionnaire was used in this study without any modifications, and it was determined that the Turkish population could easily interpret the questionnaire. Furthermore, TR-CDS is considered to be a useful screening tool for identifying caregivers who might be at risk for psychological problems such as stress, anxiety, and depression.

Establishing the validity of the Turkish version of the scale, which assesses the burden of caring for children with CP, was another important goal of the current study. Based on previous studies, factors such as a family's financial situation, educational level, the number of family members, age of the child, and the amount of time that caregivers spend with their children, raise stress levels, and increases the caregivers' burden (5,8,25). No relationship was found between the age of the children and any of the sub-parameters, specifically financial support in the current study. Nonetheless, the current study examined how the disease affected caregivers using five subscales. The construct validity of the TR-CDS was also established by using the correlation of the IPFAM total score. We can therefore state that IPFAM has good validity, with the exception of coping and total effect. The relationship found between the overall score of IPFAM and the total effect score of TR-CDS indicates that having a children with CP can serve as a good predictor of the caregiver's burden. It has also been demonstrated that when using comparable screening scales, the impact of children with CP on their caregivers can lead to parallel findings in terms of caregiver burden. The highest relationships between the IPFAM and TR-CDS subscales were seen in the IPFAM social relations, financial support, and IPFAM total effect, and TR-CDS total effect, and TR-CDS social or economic challenges. These results demonstrated the need for further in-depth research on the family's employment situation, level of financial assistance, and interpersonal relationships. There was no correlation between the TR-CDS subscales and IPFAM coping score. We think that the absence of questions about coping in the TR-CDS led to this result. CDS scale consists of the 4 subscales called concerns for the child, impact on self, Support for caregiving, social & economic strain. This result shows where CDS and IPFAM differ from each other. The IPFAM survey examines the family's ability to cope with the

problems, as well as the family's impact on the child's illness. Farajzadeh et all stated that all subscales of the CDS were positively correlated with the caregiver burden scale (CBS), BDI-II and FSS and negatively correlated with the WHOQOL-BREF similar to our study (9).

The strong correlations seen between the NHP total score, the TR-CDS subscales, and the overall score point to a detrimental effect on caregivers' health condition as caregiver burden rises. Analogous research has demonstrated a decline in health-related quality of life with an increase in caregiver burden (26).

The need for psychosocial support platforms to be developed in order to evaluate these people's depression levels is indicated by the strong correlations found between the BDI-II and the individual effect score and overall score of the TR-CDS subscales. These findings were discovered to be consistent with findings from other research investigations in the literature (27-29).

Compared to healthy groups, having a dependent kid and playing the role of caregiver to children with CP puts mothers and children under stress and increases the likelihood that depression may develop. The WHOQOL-BREF and TR-CDS domains displayed moderate, strong, and negative correlationon, in line with previous research. It was discovered that these outcomes agreed with both the initial research of Carona et al. It was found to be similar to the results with this study. Carone et al. showed that quality of life was impacted by the stress of giving care in both direct and indirect ways. Caregivers experience a profound decline in their psychological and physical wellbeing and quality of life as the demands and challenges of providing care grow, leaving them feeling hopeless. Our findings support those of previous research, which found a connection between quality of life and caregiver burden of care (9,28,30,31). This demonstrated how caregivers' quality of life declined as their workload rose. With the exception of the psychological parameter, a negative connection was found between the overall scores for the WHOQOL-BREF domains and TR-CDS subscales. This finding demonstrated that psychological warfare and survival skills developed along with the child's caregivers' worry levels.

Cronbach's alpha values were found to be consistent and equivalent to the internal consistency values of the other versions of the CDS in terms of reliability results of the TR-CDS study (9,10). Cronbach a value for the total scale of TR-CDS was 0.911 similar to our study (0.936) (10). Cronbach a of 0.68-0.84 in all subscales indicated satisfactory internal consistency within each subscale (10). But our results in the current study had higher internal consistency levels within each subscale (0.828-0.915). Farajzadeh et al. was found the Cronbach a values of TR-CDS between 0.743-0.887 in total score and subscales (9). These results was similar to our study. It shows a quite satisfactory that these internal consistency results are higher for each subscale and total score of the

TR-CDS.

Test-retest reliability measures the questionnaire's stability over time by administering the same TR-CDS to the same subjects twice. Two-week interval was used in this research. Similar studies have noted that test-retest reliability measurements were obtained using parent interviews over a two-week interval (5,8,9,25). Test-retest reliability was assessed twice using the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC). Our study's results demonstrated excellent test-retest reliability, matching that of the CDS versions from Iran (9). ICC values was 0.743–0.848 in the Iranian version which is similar to our study (ICC=0.707-0.879). The results related to the reliability of this study were consistent with the results of the Iranian version of this scale.

For a global understanding of the measuring properties of these questions, it is imperative that the questionnaires be translated and validated into multiple languages. These investigations make it possible to safely administer the same questionnaires in cross-cultural comparison studies and in various cultural contexts (32-35). According to us, the TR-CDS can be used to evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of social services that help families transition to community life and support their children's rehabilitation process by measuring the stress experienced by caregivers of children with CP.

We think that this useful and simple-to-use questionnaire is crucial for assessing the burden that caregivers bear in relation to the anxiety of their children, their own effects, the care they receive, and social and economic challenges. It also helps to pinpoint the areas that require additional support for families.

A constraint of our research was that it was limited to four distinct Turkish cities that housed rehabilitation clinics. In this regard, it is thought that assessing the caregiver burden in cities with varying socio-cultural levels will more accurately represent Türkiye. Other cities and caregivers from different socioeconomic backgrounds could be included to help determine the caregiver burden profile and establish social support programs in Türkiye. Even though the caregivers in the rehabilitation center in this study were selected at random and satisfied the minimal requirements outlined by Fidell and Tabachnick (36), it is advised that more extensive sampling studies be carried out nationwide. Our study was further limited by the small number of fathers who provided primary care.

CONCLUSION

The present study's findings demonstrated the validity and reliability of the TR-CDS as a tool for assessing the diffuculties that families and caregivers of children with CP bear. Test-retest scores, validity assessments, and total-sub-questionnaire correlations all demonstrate the usefulness of the TR-CDS as a family effect measurement instrument.

As the first study on the burden of care among Turkish

caregivers of children with CP, the current study revealed the TR-CDS scale's "good-excellent" psychometric qualities. TR-CDS can be used as a particular assessment instrument to evaluate the burden before planning some treatments to identify the requirements of caregivers of children with CP in Turkey and to minimize the caregivers burden. But further study is needed to determine the scale's applicability to other groups. Finding the responsibilities and challenges brought on by their size and care is one method to help these people live better lives. To calculate the care burden, a method that measures the dimensions of the weight of obligation is needed. Because of this, it can be a helpful tool in identifying caregiver issues due to its excellent psychometric qualities when combined with the TR-CDS 4 subscale.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The SANKO University Clinical Research Ethics Committee granted the study ethical permission (2019/01). The study registered with the clinical trial number of NCT04037137.

REFERENCES

- Ones K, Yilmaz E, Cetinkaya B, Caglar N. Assessment of the quality of life of mothers of children with cerebral palsy (primary caregivers). Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2005;19:232-7.
- Park, E-Y, Nam SJ. Time burden of caring and depression among parents of individuals with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2019;41:1508-13.
- 3. Vogts N, Mackey AH, Ameratunga S, Stott NS. Parentperceived barriers to participation in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy. J Paediatr Child Health. 2010;46:680-5.
- 4. Basaran A, Karadavut KI, Uneri S, et al. The effect of having a children with cerebral palsy on quality of life, burn-out, depression and anxiety scores: a comparative study. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2013;49:815-22.
- 5. Schaible B, Colquitt G, Caciula MC, et al. Comparing impact on the family and insurance coverage in children with cerebral palsy and children with another special healthcare need. Child Care Health Dev. 2018;44:370-7.
- 6. Tuna H, Unalan H, Tuna F, Kokino S. Quality of life of primary caregivers of children with cerebral palsy: a controlled study with Short Form-36 questionnaire. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2004;46:647-8.
- Beaton DE, Bombardier C, Guillemin F, Ferraz MB. Guidelines for the process of cross-cultural adaptation of self-report measures. Spine. 2000;25:3186-91.
- 8. Majnemer A, Shevell M, Law M, et al. Indicators of distress in families of children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2012;34:1202-7.
- 9. Farajzadeh A, Amini M, Maroufizadeh S, Wijesinghe CJ. Caregiver difficulties scale (CDS): translation and psychometric evaluation among iranian mothers of cerebral palsy children. Occup Ther Health Care. 2018;32:28-43.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1375252

- Wijesinghe C, Fonseka P, Hewage C. The development and validation of an instrument to assess caregiver burden in cerebral palsy: caregiver difficulties scale. Ceylon Med J. 2013;58:162-7.
- 11. Bek N, Simsek IE, Erel S, et al. Turkish version of impact on family scale: a study of reliability and validity. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2009;7:4.
- 12. Seng BK, Luo N, Ng WY, et al. Validity and reliability of the zarit burden interview in assessing caregiving burden. Ann Acad Med Singap. 2010;39:758-63.
- 13. Guillemin F, Bombardier C, Beaton D. Cross-cultural adaptation of health-related quality of life measures: literature review and proposed guidelines. J Clin Epidemiol. 1993;46:1417-32.
- 14. Akvardar Y, Akdede BB, Özerdem A, et al. Assessment of quality of life with the WHOQOL-BREF in a group of Turkish psychiatric patients compared with diabetic and healthy subjects. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2006;60:693-9.
- 15. Alonso J, Anto JM, Moreno C. Spanish version of the Nottingham Health Profile: translation and preliminary validity. Am J Public Health. 1990;80:704-8.
- 16. Armutlu K, Korkmaz NC, Keser I, et al. The validity and reliability of the Fatigue Severity Scale in Turkish multiple sclerosis patients. Int J Rehabil Res. 2007;30:81-5.
- 17. Storch EA, Roberti JW, Roth DA. Factor structure, concurrent validity, and internal consistency of the beck depression inventory—second edition in a sample of college students. Depress Anxiety. 2004;9:187-9.
- 18. Yildiz N, Topuz O, Gungen GO, et al. Health-related quality of life (Nottingham Health Profile) in kee osteoarthritis: correlation with clinical variables and self-reported disability. Rheumatol Int. 2010;30:1595-600.
- 19. Kucukdeveci AA, McKenna SP, Kutlay S, et al. The development and psychometric assessment of the Turkish version of the nottingham health profile. Int J Rehabilitation Res. 2000;23:31-8.
- 20. Gencay-Can A, Can SS. Validation of the Turkish version of the fatigue severity scale in patients with fibromyalgia. Rheumatol Int. 2012;32:27-31.
- 21. Uslu RI, Kapci EG, Oncu B, et al. Psychometric properties and cut-off scores of the Beck Depression Inventory-II in Turkish adolescents. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2008;15:225-33.
- 22. Eser E, Fidaner H, Fidaner C, et al. Psychometric properties of the WHOQOL-100 and WHOQOL-BREF. J Psychiatry Psychol Psychopharmacol. 1999;7:23-40.
- 23. Buyukozturk S. Factor analysis: basic concepts and using to development scale. Kuram Ve Uygulamada Eğitim Yönetimi. 2002;32:470-83.

- 24. Mishel MH. Methodological Studies: Instrument Development. In: Brink PJ, Wood MJ, eds, Advenced design in nursing research, 2nd edition, New Delhi: SAGE Publications, 1998;235-86.
- 25. Wijesinghe CJ, Cunningham N, Fonseka P, et al. Factors associated with caregiver burden among caregivers of children with cerebral palsy in Sri Lanka. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2015;27:85-95.
- 26. Simsek IE, Simsek TT, Erel S, Atasavun Uysal S. Factors affecting health related quality of life and depression levels of mothers in families having children with chronic disabilities. HK J Paediatr (New Series). 2020;25:71-8.
- 27. Garip Y, Ozel S, Tuncer OB, et al. Fatigue in the mothers of children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2017;39:757-62.
- 28. Khanna AK, Prabhakaran A, Patel P, et al. Social, psychological and financial burden on caregivers of children with chronic illness: a cross-sectional study. Indian J Pediatr. 2015;82:1006-11.
- 29. Pinquart M, Sorensen S. Associations of stressors and uplifts of caregiving with caregiver burden and depressive mood: a meta-analysis. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2003;58:112-28.
- Carona C, Silva N, Crespo C, Canavarro MC. Caregiving burden and parent-child quality of life outcomes in neurodevelopmental conditions: the mediating role of behavioral disengagement. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2014;21:320-8.
- Dambi JM, Jelsma J, Mlambo T, et al. An evaluation of psychometric properties of caregiver burden outcome measures used in caregivers of children with cerebral palsy: a systematic review protocol. Syst Rev. 2016;5:42.
- Angold A, Costello EJ. The child and adolescent psychiatric assessment (CAPA). J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2000;39:39-48.
- Aybay C, Erkin G, Elhan AH, et al. ADL assessment of nondisabled Turkish children with the WeeFIM instrument. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;86:176-82.
- 34. Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Pistorio A, et al. Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation. Cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric evaluation of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) and the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ) in 32 countries. Review of the general methodology. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19:S1-9.
- Schmidt S, Bullinger M. Current issues in cross-cultural quality of life instrument development. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;84:S29-34.
- 36. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS, Ullman JB. Using multivariate statistics (Vol. 5): Pearson Boston, MA. 2007.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Inflammation Severity in Radicular Cysts and Its Relationship with Age and Gender

Image: Book and the second

¹Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Ordu, Türkiye

²Ordu Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pathology, Ordu, Türkiye

³Firat University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Ordu, Türkiye

⁴Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Ordu, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: In this study, in radicular cyst cases in our department; It was aimed to evaluate the severity of inflammation (active and chronic inflammation) and to investigate its relationship with age and gender.

Material and Method: Radicular cyst cases between 01.01.2013 and 31.01.2022 in Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology were included in the study. Ethical approval was taken from Ordu University Medical School, Clinical Trials Ethical Committee (2022/82). Preparations of the cases were found from the archive and examined microscopically to score the severity of inflammation. To examine any relationships that existed between categorical variables, Chi-square test was used. To determine any relationships between the score variables, correlation analysis was done.

Results: A statistically significant moderate negative correlation was observed between age and chronicity in women (r=0.410, p=0.013). A statistically significant moderate positive correlation was observed between activity and chronicity scores in men (r=0.592, p<0.001). When all patients were considered, weakly significant negative correlation was found between activity and chronicity (r=0.312, p<0.001). While one was increasing, the other was increasing.

Conclusion: In radicular cyst cases, the severity of inflammation may differ from case to case. In our study, the severity of chronic inflammation was observed as high-grade (grade 3) in most of the cases, acute inflammation was found to be mild (grade 1) in most of the cases. It is thought that determining the severity and type of inflammation in the histopathological evaluation may be beneficial for diagnosis and treatment.

Keywords: Radicular cyst, odontogenic cyst, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Odontogenic cysts are generally divided into inflammatory and developmental types according to their etiology. cysts; Developmental includes dentigerous cyst, primordial cyst, eruption and gingival cysts. Inflammatory odontogenic cysts include lateral periodontal cysts and radicular cysts (RC) (1). Inflammatory periapical lesions constitute 63.24% of the material examined in the oral pathology department (2). Apical inflammatory lesions are generally thought to occur with the progression of dental caries causing pulp necrosis (3). Ramachandran Nair et al. detected 39 (15%) of 256 periapical lesions as apical cysts (4).

RC is a subtype of apical lesions, and its prevalence varies

between various studies. In a study by Johnson et al., it was reported that RC were observed with a rate of 54.6% among odontogenic cysts (5). Cystic lesions are partially or completely (true cyst) covered by epithelial lining and these lesions are defined as pathological cavity associated with damaged tooth apex (6,7). Microscopically, the capsule consists of cystic epithelium supported by connective tissue; stratified squamous epithelial tissue consists of several layers of cells (8,9).

RC are common lesions in daily dental practice. Histologically, the lumen of the cyst is lined by stratified squamous epithelium, which originates in the epithelial remnants of Malassez. The cyst wall consists of fibrous connective tissue containing a chronic infiltrate of

CITATION

Akcay Celik M, Erdem H, Salman FG, et al. Inflammation Severity in Radicular Cysts and Its Relationship with Age and Gender. Med Records. 2024;6(1):132-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1389641

Received: 27.11.2023 Accepted: 24.01.2024 Published: 30.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Muruvvet Akcay Celik, Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Ordu, Türkiye **E-mail**: drmakcaycelik@gmail.com

inflammatory cells. Intense bone resorption by active osteoclasts contributes to the intraosseous expansion of the RC growing within the periapical bone tissue. However, the mechanisms related to cavity enlargement and epithelial lining formation are not fully known (10).

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Radicular cyst cases between 01.01.2013 and 31.01.2022 in ODU Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology were included in the study. Preparations of the cases were found from the archive. Hematoxylin&eosin (HE) stained preparations were examined microscopically to score the severity of inflammation. RC cases were divided into 3 grades according to the severity of inflammation. Each preparation is graded at 200X magnification. All samples were graded for inflammatory status in three consecutive microscopic fields. For inflammation, examination was performed starting from the epithelial-connective tissue border and extending to the lamina propria.

Grade I: Inflammatory cells, less than 1/3 per area,

Grade II: Inflammatory cells, 1/3 to 2/3 per area

Grade III: inflammatory cells scored more than 2/3 per area (10).

Data Analysis

Chi-square test was used to examine any relationships that existed between categorical variables. In the test, Likelihood ratio test statistic was used instead of Pearson's test statistic when the expected counts were <5 in the crosstabs. To determine relationships between the activity, Chronicity, and age, Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was calculated. The type I error rate was taken into account as 5%. IBM SPSS v28 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) was used as a statistical program.

RESULTS

Frequency analysis of the data was performed and a total of 70 patients, 51.4% female and 48.6% male, between 2013-2021 were included in the study. 36 patients were female, 34 patients were male. The mean age was found to be 36.64±15.52.

According to Table 1, RC was observed more frequently in the mandible (57.1%) as localization.

 Table 1. Distribution of samples according to localizations and activity and chronicity scores

		n	%
	Maxilla anterior	9	12.9
	Maxilla right	9	12.9
Localization	Maxilla left	12	17.1
Localization	Mandible anterior	5	7.1
	Mandible right	18	25.7
	Mandible left	17	24.3
	0	28	40.0
Activity score	1	33	47.1
Activity score	2	7	10.0
	3	2	2.9
	1	12	17.1
Chronicity score	2	23	32.9
	3	35	50.0

The relationships between age, activity and chronicity are shown in Table 2. The activity score did not change with increasing age in women and there was no significant relationship between them (r=-0.156, p=0.363). The chronicity score showed an inverse relationship with age, and a moderately significant negative correlation was determined between age and chronicity (r=-0.410, p=0.013). There was no significant relationship between activity and chronicity scores (r=0.312, p=0.064).

The relationship between age and activity in men was not statistically significant (r=-0.154, p=0.386). Similarly, there was no significant relationship between age and chronicity (r=-0.243, p=0.167). A moderately significant positive correlation was observed between activity and chronicity scores (r=0.592, p<0.001).

Considering all the patients, there was no statistically significant relationship between age and chronicity (r=-0.183, p=0.128), but there was a moderately significant negative correlation between age and chronicity (r=-0.354, p=0.003). A weakly significant positive correlation was also observed between activity and chronicity (r=0.312, p<0.001), while one was increasing, the other was increasing too.

Table 2. Relationship between age, activity and chronicity								
			Age		Act	ivity		
		n	r	р	r	р		
Female	Activity	36	-0.156	0.363	0.312	0.064		
rendle	Chronicity	36	-0.410	0.013	0.312	0.004		
Male	Activity	34	-0.154	0.386	0.592	<0.001		
wide	Chronicity	34	-0.243	0.167	0.392	<0.001		
Tetal	Activity	70	-0.183	0.128	0.401	.0.001		
Total	Chronicity	70	-0.354	0.003	0.481	<0.001		
r: Spearman's	rho correlation coefficient							

r: Spearman's rho correlation coefficient

According to Chi-square test, there was no significant relationship between localization and activity score (p=0.380). The activity score did not differ according to localizations (Table 3).

According to Chi-square test, there was no significant correlation between localization and chronicity score

(p=0.599). The chronicity score did not differ according to localizations (Table 4).

According to the Chi-square test, the activity score did not differ significantly according to localization (p=0.207). The chronicity score also did not change according to localization (p=0.380) (Table 5).

Table 3. Relationship between localization and activity score											
	Activity										
	0		1			2		3		Total	
Localization	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Maxilla anterior	4	44.4	2	22.2	2	22.2	1	11.1	9	100.0	
Maxilla right	2	22.2	7	77.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	9	100.0	
Maxilla left	4	33.3	5	41.7	2	16.7	1	8.3	12	100.0	
Mandible anterior	2	40.0	3	60.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	5	100.0	
Mandible right	6	33.3	10	55.6	2	11.1	0	0.0	18	100.0	
Mandible left	10	58.8	6	35.3	1	5.9	0	0.0	17	100.0	
Total	28	40.0	33	47.1	7	10.0	2	2.9	70	100.0	
р				0.380 (X ²	=16.037)						

 χ^2 : Chi-square test

Table 4: Relationship between localization and chronicity score

		Chronicity								Tatal	
	0		1		2		3		Total		
Localization	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Maxilla anterior	3	33.3	2	22.2	4	44.4	9	100.0	9	100.0	
Maxilla right	0	0.0	4	44.4	5	55.6	9	100.0	9	100.0	
Maxilla left	3	25.0	3	25.0	6	50.0	12	100.0	12	100.0	
Mandible anterior	1	20.0	3	60.0	1	20.0	5	100.0	5	100.0	
Mandible right	3	16.7	5	27.8	10	55.6	18	100.0	18	100.0	
Mandible left	2	11.8	6	35.3	9	52.9	17	100.0	17	100.0	
Total	12	17.1	23	32.9	35	50.0	70	100.0	70	100.0	
р				0.599 (X	² =8.307)						

 \mathcal{X}^2 : Chi-square test

Table 5. Relationship between localization and activity, chronicity score

			Loca	tion	Total		р	
		Ма	xilla	Mar	Mandible		TOLAI	
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
	0	10	33.3	18	45.0	28	40.0	0.207
	1	14	46.7	19	47.5	33	47.1	(X ² =4.561)
Activity	2	4	13.3	3	7.5	7	10.0	
	3	2	6.7	0	0.0	2	2.9	
	Total	30	100.0	40	100.0	70	100.0	
	1	6	20.0	6	15.0	12	17.1	0.827
Chronisity	2	9	30.0	14	35.0	23	32.9	(X ² =0.380)
Chronicity	3	15	50.0	20	50.0	35	50.0	
	Total	30	100.0	40	100.0	70	100.0	
χ^2 : Chi-square	e test							

134

According to Chi-square test, there was a significant correlation between activity and chronicity score (p<0.001). Activity score varied according to chronicity score (Table 6). The distributions of those with a chronicity score of 1, 2, and 3 in those with an activity score of 0 were 35.7%, 42.9%, and 21.4%, respectively. This ranking is 3.0%, 30.3% and 66.7% for those with an Activity score1, and 0.0%, 14.3% and 85.7% for those with an Activity score2, and 50.0%, 0.0%, and 50.0% in those with an Activity score3. Among

those with an activity score of 0, those with chronicity 2 had the highest frequency (42.9%), those with activity scores 1 and 2 had a higher frequency of those with chronicity 3 (66.7% and 85.7%, respectively). In those with an activity score of 3, the patient with a chronicity score of 2 was never seen and half of the patients had a chronicity score of 1 (50.0%) and the other half had a chronicity score of 3 (50.0%). Chronic inflammatory cell infiltration is observed in figures 1 and 2.

Table 6. Relationship between activity and chronicity score									
		Chronicity							
		1		2		3	Total		
Activity	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
0	10	35.7	12	42.9	6	21.4	28	100.0	
1	1	3.0	10	30.3	22	66.7	33	100.0	
2	0	0.0	1	14.3	6	85.7	7	100.0	
3	1	50.0	0	0.0	1	50.0	2	100.0	
Total	12	17.1	23	32.9	35	50.0	70	100.0	
р				<0.001 (X	² =25.405)				

 \mathcal{X}^2 : Chi-square test



Figure 1. HEx200, Grade II score and cholesterol clefts



Figure 2. HEx200, Grade III score

DISCUSSION

RC's are common lesions in daily dental practice. RC's are defined as inflammatory odontogenic cysts of endodontic origin The cyst wall consists of fibrous connective tissue containing a chronic infiltrate of inflammatory cells (11).

Gutmann et al. observed a lack of standardization in naming apical lesions of endodontic origin (12). Johnson et al. found that RC are the most common odontogenic cyst, followed by dentigerous cyst and keratocystic odontogenic tumor (when classified as a cyst). They observed the rate of RC as 54.6% among odontogenic cysts (5). According to studies in the literature, RCs account for 6% to 57.69% of all periapical lesions. This variation can be attributed to differences in the definition of this cyst type (13,14).

In this study, it was aimed to evaluate the severity of inflammation in RC (active and chronic inflammation) and its relationship with age and gender. Histopathological evaluation is required to score the severity of inflammation.

According to Tsai et al., most of the inflammation in a radicular cyst is predominantly lymphocytic cell infiltration, they found in their study 16.7% grade I (mild inflammation), 30.0% grade II (moderate inflammation), and 53.3% grade III (severe inflammation) (10). According to Santos et al., chronic inflammatory infiltrate is predominantly observed in radicular cyst cases. In their study, 49.3% intense inflammation, 30.1% discrete inflammation, 20.5% moderate infiltrate are observed. Acute inflammation characterized by the presence of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (7 out of 73 cases) and mixed inflammation (2 cases) were observed at a very low rate (15). In a study in the literature, the intensity of the inflammatory infiltrate in periapical lesions was observed to be variable.

All periapical lesions examined by light microscopy displayed a large number of infiltrating inflammatory cells characteristic of the chronic granulomatous inflammatory process. Inflammatory infiltrate consisting of plasma cells, lymphocytes, macrophages and rarely polymorphonuclear (PMN) leukocyte accumulation was observed (16).

In Cohen's study, the epithelium of RC is predominantly infiltrated by neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes, also the connective tissue capsule is predominantly infiltrated by chronic inflammatory cells (17). Consistent with other studies, one study found plasma cells and lymphocytes associated with the fibrous capsule (13). Although intense inflammation was observed in the studies, the intensity of the inflammatory infiltrate showed differences. Proliferative activity in epithelial cells is though to affect the degree of inflammation in RCs (18). According to Domingues et al., there is chronic infiltration of inflammatory cells, lymphocytes and plasma cells in RCs (8).

In our study, chronic inflammation was severe in 50.0% of the cases, moderate in 32.9%, and mild in 17.1%. Active inflammation was mild in 47.1%, moderate in 10.0%, intense in 2.0%, and active inflammation grade 0 was detected in 40.0% of the cases. These findings were evaluated in accordance with the literature. In the literature, there are generally studies on detecting the intensity of chronicity. Chen et al. found radicular cyst cases to be 57.3% in women and 42.7% in men in their study.

In our study, 51.4% of the cases were female and 48.6% were male. This finding was consistent with the literature. The incidence of RS is high among third-decade patients and male gender (19). According to Lin et al., RS is most commonly found in the third to sixth decades and, it has a slight male disposition (20). In one study, the mean age of RC was 40.5 years (cases ranged from 13 to 78 years).

Lesions were mostly detected in the 3rd and 5th decades of life (50.0% of the total cases) and were observed as 18.5% in the 4th and 14.2% in the 6th decade (21). In our study, the mean age was found to be 36.64. In the study of Lin et al., approximately 60% of RCs were found in the maxilla, which tends to the anterior maxillary teeth (20). According to Suarez et al., 60.0-80.0% of RCs are in the upper jaw and preferably include anterior teeth (22). In the study of Chen et al., 86.6% of the cases were found in the maxilla and 13.4% in the mandible (21).

Anatomically, apical cysts are seen in all tooth-bearing sites of the jaw, but they are more common in maxillary teeth than mandibular teeth (19). In our study, the majority of the cases were located in the mandible, 30 of them were located in the maxilla and 40 of them were located in the mandible. This finding was not consistent with the literature.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, radicular cysts are usually detected incidentally on routine radiographs. They may not cause

symptoms and clinical signs unless they are infected. Therefore, they are an entity that should be considered in the clinic. RCs may show different histopathological findings in the same lesion, suggesting morphological variations of RCs.

Variations in cyst diagnosis can be attributed to differences in the definition of this cyst type. In RC cases, the severity of inflammation may differ from case to case.

In our study, the severity of chronic inflammation was observed as high-grade (grade 3) in most of the cases, acute inflammation was found to be mild (grade 1) in most of the cases. It is thought that determining the severity and type of inflammation in the histopathological evaluation may be beneficial for diagnosis and treatment.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was taken from Ordu University Medical School, Clinical Trials Ethical Committee (2022/82).

REFERENCES

- Chindia ML. Pathogenesis of odontogenic cysts: an update. East Afr Med J. 1991;68:276-82. Erratum in: East Afr Med J 1991;68:591-2.
- Mendez M, Carrard VC, Haas AN, et al. A 10-year study of specimens submitted to oral pathology laboratory analysis: lesion occurrence and demographic features. Braz Oral Res. 2012;26:235-41.
- 3. Nair PN. On the causes of persistent apical periodontitis: a review. Int Endod J. 2006;39:249-81.
- 4. Ramachandran Nair PN, Pajarola G, Schroeder HE. Types and incidence of human periapical lesions obtained with extracted teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1996;81:93-102.
- Johnson NR, Gannon OM, Savage NW, et al. Frequency of odontogenic cysts and tumors: a systematic review. J Investig Clin Dent. 2014;5:9-14.
- 6. Garcia CC, Sempere FV, Diago MP, et al. The post-endodontic periapical lesion: histologic and etiopathogenic aspects. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2007;12:E585-90.
- 7. Nair PN. New perspectives on radicularcysts: do they heal? Int Endod J. 1998;31:155-60.
- 8. Lin LM, Rosenberg PA, Ricucci D, et al. Chapter 2. Inflammatory odontogenic cysts. Cysts: Causes, Diagnosis and Treatment Options. New York: Nova Science Publishers, 2012.
- 9. Soares J, Santos S, Silveira F, Nunes E. Nonsurgical treatment of extensive cyst-like periapical lesion of endodontic origin. Int Endod J. 2006;39:566-75.
- Tsai CH, Weng SF, Yang LC, et al. Immunohistochemical localization of tissue-type plasminogen Activator and type I plasminogen activator inhibitor in radicular cysts. J Oral Pathol Med. 2004;33:156-61.

- 11. Bernardi L, Visioli F, Nör C, Rados PV. Radicular cyst: an update of the biological factors related to lining epithelium. J Endod. 2015;41:1951-61.
- 12. Gutmann JL, Baumgartner JC, Gluskin AH, et al. Identify and define all diagnostic terms for periapical/periradicular health and disease states. J Endod. 2009;35:1658-74.
- 13. Ricucci D, Pascon EA, Ford TR, et al. Epithelium and bacteria in periapical lesions. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101:239-49.
- Sharifian MJ, Khalili M. Odontogenic cysts: a retrospective study of 1227 cases in an Iranian population from 1987 to 2007. J Oral Sci. 2011;53:361-7.
- 15. Santos LCS, VilasBôas DS, Oliveira GQV, et al. Histopathological study of radicular cysts diagnosed in a Brazilian population. Braz Dent J. 2011;22:449-54.
- Martín-González J, Carmona-Fernández A, Pérez-Pérez A, et al. Expression and immunohistochemical localization of leptin in human periapical granulomas. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2015;20:e334-9.

- 17. Cohen MA. Pathways of inflammatory cellular exudate through radicular cyst epithelium: a light and scanning electron microscope study. J Oral Pathol. 1979;8:369-78.
- Altini M. Vacuolated cells and mucous metaplasia in the epithelial linings of radicular and residual cysts. J Oral Pathol Med. 1995;24:309-12.
- 19. Tandri SB. Management of infected radicular cyst by surgical decompression. J Conserv Dent. 2010;13:159-61.
- 20. Lin HP, Chen HM, Yu CH, et al. Clinicopathological study of 252 jaw bone periapical lesions from a private pathology laboratory. J Formos Med Assoc. 2010;109:810-8.
- Chen JH, Tseng CH, Wang WC, et al. Clinicopathological analysis of 232 radicular cysts of the jaw bone in a population of southern Taiwanese patients. Kaohsiung J Med Sci. 2018;34:249-54.
- 22. Suarez C, Gil-Carcedo LM, Marco J, et al. Tratado de Otorrino laringología y Cirugía de Cabeza y Cuello. 2nd edition. Editorial Medica Panamericana, Buenos Aires, 2008;10:237.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



The Effect of Bilateral Intravitreal Ranibizumab Administration on Pain in Diabetic Retinopathy

Mehmet Coskun

Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Karabük, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: To investigate the effect of bilateral intravitreal ranibizumab (IVR) on pain in diabetic patients. Material and Method: Of the 42 patients who underwent bilateral IVR for diabetic retinopathy and macular edema, 42 eyes injected

first were considered as group 1 and 42 eyes injected second were considered as group 2. During the injection, pain was assessed using a numerical scale (NS) and a verbal category scale (VCS).

Results: The mean age of 20 male (47.7%) patients in the groups was 59.90 ± 6.03 years, and the mean age of 22 female (52.3%) patients was 60.72 ± 3.88 years (p=0.52). In Group 1, the NS was 3.78 ± 1.11 , while in Group 2 it was 4.14 ± 1.37 , the difference was statistically significant (p=0.01). In group 1, VCS was 2.30 ± 0.71 , while in group 2, VCS was 2.73 ± 0.93 , the difference was statistically significant (p=0.01).

Conclusion: In diabetic patients who underwent bilateral IVR in the same session, pain sensation in the first injected eye was found to be less. This should be taken into consideration in bilateral IVR application.

Keywords: Ranibizumab, pain, intravitreal injection

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a disease that causes serious morbidity and mortality, affecting approximately 246 million people worldwide according to the International Diabetes Federation. The prevalence of DM among all age groups was approximately 2.8% as of 2000, and this rate is expected to increase to 4.4% in 2030. Diabetic retinopathy (DR) and cataract are complications of DM that affect vision. DR is a frightening disease as it leads to irreversible loss of vision (1).

Ranibizumab (Lucentis; Genentech, South San Francisco, CA/Roche, Basel, Switzerland, introduced in 2006) is an officially licensed agent containing the Fab fragment of a monoclonal antibody effective on all VEGF-A subtypes, with increased affinity, prepared for intravitreal injection (2).

According to the International Organisation for the Study of Pain, pain is an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience accompanying or identifiable with existing or potential tissue damage (3). One-dimensional scales used in pain assessment are directly aimed at measuring pain intensity and the patient makes the assessment himself/ herself. They are used in the evaluation of acute pain. Onedimensional scales include verbal category, numerical and visual comparison scale. The numerical scale (NS) is a method for determining the intensity of pain and aims to explain the patient's pain with numbers. Numerical scales start with the absence of pain (0) and reach up to the level of unbearable pain (10). The verbal category scale (VCS) is also called simple descriptive scale and is based on the patient's selection of the most appropriate word to describe the pain condition. Pain intensity is ranked from mild to unbearable (4,5).

In bilateral intravitreal ranibizumab (IVR) application, between the first injected eye and the second injected eye The pain sensation may be different, this should not be ignored during the injection.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Eighty-four eyes of 42 patients who underwent bilateral IVR for DR and macular oedema in the ophthalmology

CITATION

Coskun M. The Effect of Bilateral Intravitreal Ranibizumab Administration on Pain in Diabetic Retinopathy. Med Records. 2024;6(1):138-40. DOI:1037990/medr.1405514

Received: 15.12.2023 Accepted: 28.01.2024 Published: 30.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Mehmet Coskun, Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Karabük, Türkiye

E-mail: mdmehmetcoskun@gmail.com

department of Karabük University Medical Faculty Training and Research Hospital were evaluated with the approval of the ethics committee. Forty-two eyes of the patients who were injected first were considered as group 1 and 42 eyes who were injected afterwards were considered as group 2. Patients who underwent previous intravitreal injection, underwent any ocular surgery and were not able to co-operate were excluded from the study. During the injection, pain was assessed using a NS (Figure 1) and a VCS (Figure 2).



Mild	Disturbing	Severe	Very Severe	Unbearable	

Figure 2. Verbal Category Scale (Melzack a Katz 1992)

All injections were performed by the same surgeon using the same type of blepharostat. Following topical anaesthesia, ocular surface cleaning was performed with 10% povidone iodine. Following the application of sterile drape and blepharostat, IVR 0.5 mg/0.05 ml was injected using a 30 G syringe tip, marking 3.5 mm from the limbus, without dripping topical anaesthetic again. There was no loss of light sensation in any patient. Following the injection, the entry site was massaged with ear cotton. Patients were asked to evaluate the pain using NS and VCS.

Ethics committee approval was received with the decision of Karabük University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee No. 2020/155.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 16.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois, USA). p values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant. In the normal distribution test (Kolmogorov Smirnov test) performed before the analysis, it was seen that the variables fit the normal distribution. Mean and standard deviation values of the groups were calculated. Paired t test was used to compare the numerical variables of two groups.

RESULTS

The mean age of 20 male (47.7%) patients in the groups was 59.90 ± 6.03 years, and the mean age of 22 female (52.3%) patients was 60.72 ± 3.88 years (p=0.52). In Group 1, the NS was 3.78 ± 1.11 , while in Group 2 it was 4.14 ± 1.37 , the difference was statistically significant (p=0.01). In group 1, VCS was 2.30 ± 0.71 , while in group 2, VCS was 2.73 ± 0.93 , the difference was statistically significant (p=0.01) (Table 1).

Table 1. NS v	e VCS values in group	Table 1. NS ve VCS values in groups							
	Group 1	Group 2	P value						
NS	3.78±1.11	4.14±1.37	0.01						
VCS	2.30±0.71	2.73±0.93	0.01						

DISCUSSION

Since intravitreal injections require repeated doses, it is important that the procedure is painless and easy in terms of patient compliance. If there is severe pain, subsequent injections may not be desired by the patients. Although intravitreal drug administration is one of the most common intraocular procedures, there is no consensus on which anaesthesia technique should be used for the procedure (6). There are anaesthesia studies for intravitreal injections with needles of different diameters (27-30 G) (7). It has been reported that pain will decrease as the needle tip width decreases (7). In all patients in our study, a 30 G needle was used and pain between the two eyes was evaluated independently of the needle diameter.

The ideal intravitreal injection should be fast, effective, safe, easy, cost effective and as painless as possible. There is a consensus on what should be done to reduce the risk of infection in intravitreal injections, but there is no consensus on which anaesthetic technique should be chosen to reduce the pain felt during injection. Studies have suggested that topical anaesthesia is preferable for intravitreal injections because it is fast, inexpensive and easy to administer (7). In our study, we applied topical anaesthesia to all patients because of these advantages.

One-dimensional scales are self-assessment methods that directly measure the severity of pain. In our study, bilateral IVR was performed in the same session. We asked the patient to compare the procedures performed on both eyes using the numerical scale and verbal categorisation scale, which are one-dimensional scales.

In the literature, 162 patients were compared with visual analogue scale (VAS) and no difference was found between aflibercept ranibizumab and dexamethasone implant in terms of pain (8). Pain was found to be less in cases of advanced age, male gender and pseudophakic (8). Patients undergoing eye surgery were not included in our study and we aimed to eliminate the effect of age and gender on pain assessment by comparing two eyes of the same patient in the same session.

In previous studies, most patients who underwent repeated injections reported that they felt that the pain was similar to the pain experienced during the previous injection or that it was reduced. However, increased waiting time may also be associated with increased discomfort in repeated injections (9,10). We excluded patients with previous injections from our study and tried to reduce the factors that may have an effect on pain as much as possible by performing bilateral injections in the same session.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, in our study, pain in the later eye was found

to be higher in patients who received injection in two eyes in the same session. We believe that within the same individual, during a single session, assessing the pain in both eyes before and after injection will make a valuable contribution to the existing literature. Although the pain is slightly higher, we think that injection in two eyes in the same session should not be avoided.

Although only two eyes were compared, the limitations of our study are that we did not evaluate parameters such as gender and age and the number of patients was not larger.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval was received with the decision of Karabük University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee No. 2020/155.

REFERENCES

 Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, et al. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1047-53.

- Küçükerdönmez C, Gelisken F, Yoeruek E, et al. Switching intravitreal anti-VEGF treatment in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2015;25:51-6.
- 3. Raj PP Ağri Taksonomisi. In: Erdine S, ed., Ağrı. Nobel Tıp Kitabevleri, İstanbul. 2000;12-9.
- 4. Black JM, Matasarrin-Jacobs E. Medical-surgical nursing, 4th edition, WB Saunders Co., London 1993;313-58.
- 5. Boccard E, Garbior JL. Pain and its expression in six European Countries: a survey. Pain Clin. 1996;9:77-88.
- 6. Aiello LP, Brucker AJ, Chang S et al. Evolving guidelines for intravitreous injections. Retina. 2004;24:S3-19.
- 7. Cintra LP, Lucena LR, Da Silva JA et al. Comparative study of analgesic effectiveness using three different anesthetic techniques for intravitreal injection of bevacizumab. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging. 2009;40:13-8.
- 8. Ertan E, Duman R, Duman R. Comparison of pain during intravitreal dexamethasone, ranibizumab and aflibercept injection. Clin Exp Optom. 2020;103:630-3.
- Shin SH, Park SP, Kim YK. Factors associated with pain following intravitreal injections. Korean J Ophthalmol. 2018;32:196-203.
- 10. Georgakopoulos CD. Tsapardoni F, Makri OE. Effect of bromfenac on pain related to intravitreal injections: a Randomized Crossover Study. Retina. 2017;37:388-95.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



The Evaluation of Gastric Polyps Detected During Upper Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

I Riza Caliskan, Huseyin Kacmaz

Adıyaman University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Adıyaman, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: Management of gastric polyps depends on the clinical condition of the patient and the malignant potential of the detected polyps. This study aimed to evaluate the frequency of polyps detected during the gastroscopy procedure, the demographic characteristics of patients diagnosed with gastric polyp, the endoscopic and histopathological characteristics of polyps, other endoscopic findings accompanying polyps, and treatment methods.

Material and Method: A total of 177 patients diagnosed with gastric polyp via endoscopy were enrolled in this retrospective analysis. Patients' age, gender, upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, and epicrisis reports were obtained from the hospital's electronic database. The histopathological characteristics of gastric polyps detected during endoscopy and polypectomy were evaluated.

Results: There was no statistically significant difference in the number of polyps and polyp size according to the gender of the patients. It was observed that there was no statistically significant relationship in terms of the anatomical localization of the polyp and the polyp pathology groups. No statistically significant difference was found in the number of polyps according to the age groups of the patients. Still, a statistically significant difference was observed in the size of the polyps (p<0.05). As a result of the Mann Whitney U test with Bonferroni correction, which was performed to determine which age group this difference originates from, it was determined that the difference arises from the 18-50 age group and the over 65 age group. It was observed that there was no statistically significant localization of the polyp and the pathology of the polyp according to age groups.

Conclusion: Due to the prevalence of nonspecific findings, upper endoscopic examination should be performed in patients with these complaints, especially those over fifty. When detected, excision or follow-up with a biopsy of the polyp and surrounding tissue is required if this is not possible.

Keywords: Gastric polyps, endoscopy, gastroscopy, malignancy, polypectomy

INTRODUCTION

A gastric polyp (GP) is a sessile or stalked lesion from the mucosa or submucosa that protrudes into the lumen. GP is detected in 0.3%-6% of all upper gastrointestinal endoscopy patients. Nowadays, this rate is increasing with the widespread use of endoscopic examination. Although GPs are usually detected incidentally during an endoscopy performed for another reason, they may also present with gastric bleeding, pyloric stenosis, iron deficiency anemia, and abdominal pain (1).

GPs are most commonly located in the antrum and corpus and are generally divided into two groups: epithelial and non-mucosal intramural polyps. While the majority are hyperplastic (HP) and located in the fundus (FGP), a small portion consists of adenomatous polyps (AP) and other polyps. Although most GPs are non-neoplastic, the fact that some have the potential for malignant transformation increases the importance of diagnosing and treating GPs (2). GPs are usually detected incidentally, and their frequency and histopathological types may vary depending on the population examined. Gastric polyps were reported to be more common in women. However, this is a controversial issue (3).

Although most GPs are single in the literature, multiple GPs have been reported between 8.2% and 58.7%. Additionally, 64.1%-87% of GP sizes are below 10 mm in the literature. Studies defining the location of GPs elaborated on various locations. While some studies reported that GPs were

CITATION

Caliskan AR, Kacmaz H. The Evaluation of Gastric Polyps Detected During Upper Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. Med Records. 2024;6(1):141-5. DOI:1037990/medr.1404187

Received: 13.12.2023 Accepted: 19.01.2024 Published: 30.01.2024

Corresponding Author: Ali Riza Caliskan, Adıyaman University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Adıyaman, Türkiye

E-mail: komamir308@gmail.com

most frequently localized in the antrum (40.7%-51%), others said the most common localization was in the corpus (36.4%-64%). FGP and HP are the most common gastric polyps. HPs have been reported between 36.2% and 88% and are thought to trigger chronic inflammation (2-4).

Management of gastric polyps depends on the clinical condition of the patient and the malignant potential of the detected polyps. If possible and safe, all detected polyps should be removed endoscopically (5). This study aimed to evaluate the frequency of polyps detected during the gastroscopy procedure, the demographic characteristics of patients diagnosed with GP, the endoscopic and histopathological characteristics of polyps, other endoscopic findings accompanying polyps, and treatment methods.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Patients who underwent endoscopic polypectomy in our clinic between January 2016 and October 2023 were included in the study. A total of 177 patients diagnosed with gastric polyp via endoscopy were enrolled in this retrospective analysis. Patients whose all-stomach segments were evaluated and whose polypectomy material was evaluated by pathology were included in the study. Endoscopy procedures performed for emergencies and patients whose polypectomy material was not evaluated by pathology were excluded from the study. All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008. Ethics committee approval has been granted from our institution with protocol number 2023/3-9, and informed consent has been obtained from all participants.

Patients' age, gender, upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, and epicrisis reports were obtained from the hospital's electronic database. The histopathological characteristics of gastric polyps detected during endoscopy and polypectomy were evaluated.

Statistical Analysis

Patient data collected within the scope of the study were analyzed with the IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) package program. Frequency and percentage for categorical data and mean and standard deviation for continuous data were given as descriptive values. For comparisons between groups, the "Independent Sample T-test" was used for two groups, and the "Pearson Chi-Square Test" was used to compare categorical variables. The results were considered statistically significant when the p-value was less than 0.05.

RESULTS

Within the scope of the study, 177 patients aged between 18 and 99 were evaluated. Regarding gender, 36.2% (n=64) of the patients were male, and 63.8% (n=113) were female. The mean age of the patients was 59. The baseline demographic and clinical findings are denoted in Table 1.

Table 1. Distribution of demographic and clinic	cal findings of the patients		
Variable (N=177)	n (%)	Mean±SD	Median (Min-Max)
Age (years)		59±15.3	59 (18-99)
18-50 years old	48 (27.1)		
50-65 years old	66 (37.3)		
Over 65 years old	63 (35.6)		
Gender			
Male	64 (36.2)		
Woman	113 (63.8)		
Anatomical localization of the polyp			
Antrum	65 (36.7)		
Fundus	35 (19.8)		
Cardia	26 (14.7)		
Corpus	51 (28.8)		
Size of polyp (mm)		6.2±5.1	5 (1-30)
Number of polyps		1.5±1.1	1 (1-8)
Pathology of the polyp			
Fundic gland polyp	38 (21.5)		
Hyperplastic	129 (72.9)		
Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia	7 (4.0)		
Neuroendocrine tumor	3 (1.7)		
HP status	n=141		
Negative	83 (58.9)		
Positive	58 (41.1)		

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1406157

The number and size of polyps, anatomical localization, and their distribution in terms of pathology according to gender are elaborated in Table 2. When the table was examined, there was no statistically significant difference in the number of polyps and polyp size according to the gender of the patients. It was observed that there was no statistically significant relationship in terms of the anatomical localization of the polyp and the polyp pathology groups.

Table 2. The characteristics of gastric polyps with respect to gender							
Variables (N=177)		Gender					
	Male (n=64)	Female (n=113)	p-value				
Number of polyps			0.958				
Mean SD	1.5±0.9	1.5±1.2					
Median (Min-Max)	1 (1-4)	1 (1-8)					
Polyp size (mm)			0.854				
Mean SD	6.3±5.2	6.2±5.1					
Median (Min-Max)	5 (1-30)	5 (1-30)					
Anatomical localization of the polyp, n (%)			0.331				
Antrum	29 (45.3)	36 (31.9)					
Fundus	10 (15.6)	25 (22.1)					
Cardia	9 (14.1)	17 (15)					
Corpus	16 (25)	35 (31)					
Pathology of the polyp, n (%)			0.066				
Fundic gland polyp	7 (10.9)	31 (27.4)					
Hyperplastic	54 (84.4)	75 (66.4)					
Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia	2 (3.1)	5 (4.4)					
Neuroendocrine tumor	1 (1.6)	2 (1.8)					

The number and size of polyps, anatomical localization, and their distribution in terms of pathology according to the age groups are shown in Table 3. When the table was examined, no statistically significant difference was found in the number of polyps according to the age groups of the patients. Still, a statistically significant difference was observed in the size of the polyps (p<0.05). As a result of the Mann Whitney U test with Bonferroni correction, which was performed to determine which age group this difference originates from, it was determined that the difference arises from the 18-50 age group and the over 65 age group. It was observed that there was no statistically significant relationship between the anatomical localization of the polyp and the pathology of the polyp according to age groups.

Table 3. The characteristics of gastric polyps with respect to age groups								
Variable (N=177)	Age group							
	18-50 age ¹ (n=48)	50-65 age² (n=66)	65≤ age³ (n=63)	p-value	Difference *			
Number of polyps				0.663				
Mean SD	1.6±1.2	1.6±1.2	1.4±0.7					
Median (Min-Max)	1 (1-6)	1 (1-8)	1 (1-4)					
Polyp size (mm)				<0.001	1-3			
Mean SD	4.3±3.5	6±4.5	8±6.2					
Median (Min-Max)	3 (1-20)	5 (2-20)	6 (2-30)					
Anatomical localization of the polyp, n (%)				0.533				
Antrum	15 (31.3)	23 (34.8)	27 (42.9)					
Fundus	11 (22.9)	14 (21.2)	10 (15.9)					
Cardia	5 (10.4)	9 (13.6)	12 (19)					
Corpus	17 (35.4)	20 (30.3)	14 (22.2)					
Pathology of the polyp, n (%)				0.567				
Fundic gland polyp	10 (20.8)	15 (22.7)	13 (20.6)					
Hyperplastic	33 (68.8)	47 (71.2)	49 (77.8)					
Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia	3 (6.3)	3 (4.5)	1 (1.6)					
Neuroendocrine tumor	2 (4.2)	1 (1.5)	0 (0)					
*Mann Whitney U test with Bonferroni correc	ction							

DISCUSSION

The most important clinical features of polyps are that they show malignant transformation, ulcerated polyps cause anemia, and can cause intermittent obstruction at the gastric outlet. Therefore, diagnosis and treatment are essential. Histopathological evaluation is required to confirm the diagnosis of gastric polyp. WHO previously divided polypoid lesions into neoplastic and nonneoplastic lesions. However, some classifications are more practical today and cover all subtypes. Upper gastrointestinal tract polyps are usually detected incidentally. This is because there are no apparent symptoms of polypoid lesions (6,7).

There is no standard approach yet regarding the approach to polyps detected during upper endoscopy. In the algorithm of the British Association of Gastroenterology, it is recommended to take a biopsy from all polyps to prove the diagnosis and the presence of dysplasia (8). In addition, excision of the adenomatous polyp should be done after 6 months when the polyp cannot be removed entirely because it contains dysplastic changes. It has been reported that 1-5% of benign hyperplastic and adenomatous polyps show malignant transformation. For this reason, Vallot put forward a different opinion, stating that biopsy cannot detect malignant changes in hyperplastic and adenomatous polyps larger than 5 mm (9). On the other hand, Han et al. (10) found approximately 5.3 times more neoplastic transformation in hyperplastic polyps larger than 1 cm than in smaller polyps, despite some studies reporting that this risk is valid for polyps larger than 2 cm.

Previous studies have suggested that patients with hyperplastic and adenomatous polyps have a risk of synchronous neoplasia in the nonpolypoid gastric mucosa. Abraham et al. (11) stated that the risk of developing adenocarcinoma around the polyp was higher than the polyp (6% and 0.6%, respectively).

Archimandritis et al. (12) observed 258 gastric polyps in 157 patients in their retrospective study and found 67.5% of them to be 60 or older. 75.6% of these polyps are hyperplastic, and 43.8% are most frequently reported in the antrum location. Morais et al. (13) reported the most common hyperplastic polyp in a study including 26.000 cases. In our study, 14.7% of the polyps in the stomach were in the cardia, 19.8% in the fundus, 28.8% in the corpus, and 36.7% in the antrum. In our study, the mean age of the patients was 59 years. In parallel with other studies, lesions were most frequently observed in the antrum, and histopathologically, the most common hyperplastic polyp was reported. In our study, no statistically significant difference was observed in the number of polyps and polyp size according to the gender of the patients. There was no statistically significant relationship between the anatomical localization of the polyp and the polyp pathology groups. Additionally, no statistically significant difference was found in the number of polyps according to

the age groups of the patients.

Fundic gland polyps differ from other polyps in terms of location and endoscopic appearance. It is common in patients who use proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) extensively and in conditions characterized by hypergastrinemia, such as Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Although it is mainly considered benign, it should be kept in mind that it may accompany patients with familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) syndrome. FAP screening should be performed in more than 20 fundic gland polyps located in the antrum and detected in patients under 40 years of age. The risk of fundic gland polyp increased 3.8 times in 5 years of PPI use (14). If these polyps are larger than 1 cm, the risk of malignancy is considered 1% on average (15). If they are localized in an ulcer or antrum, the risk of malignancy increases. In our study, no statistically significant difference was found in the number of polyps according to the age groups of the patients, but, a statistically significant difference was observed in the size of the polyps.

Adenomatous polyps constitute 6-10% of stomach polyps. Unlike the other two types of polyps, Adenomatous polyps carry the risk of malignancy. Serial endoscopy follow-up has shown that 11% progress to dysplasia or carcinoma in situ within four years (16). They usually develop in the mucosa, showing chronic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. They are often single and large, and may be sessile or stalked. According to their histopathological features, they are called tubular, villous, and tubulovillous. Approximately 90% of adenomatous polyps are tubular adenomas, 5-10% are tubulovillous, and 1-2% are villous type. While the risk of malignancy development is lower in tubular adenomas, this risk is reported to be 33% in villous and tubulovillous adenomas (17).

Hyperplastic polyps constitute 75-90% of stomach polyps. These non-neoplastic polyps are common in the elderly and peak in the 6th and 7th decades. Their incidence does not change depending on gender. Hyperplastic polyps occur due to excessive epithelium regeneration due to chronic inflammatory stimulation. They are usually benign and rarely have the potential to become malignant. The risk of malignancy is related to whether the polyp histopathology focuses on intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia. Focal dysplastic foci are observed in 1-20% of patients (18,19).

FGP and HP are the most common gastric polyps. HPs have been reported between 36.2% and 88% and are thought to trigger chronic inflammation. HPs are the most common type in countries where H. pylori infection is common. It is generally solitary and localized in the antrum. Although neoplastic transformation in HPs is reported to be between 1.5% and 2.1%, since it can usually develop in polyps of 10 mm and above, polypectomy should be performed, and H. pylori eradication treatment should be given to these polyps (20). In some studies, the most common polyp type is FGP, and the incidence of FGP

has been reported to be between 16% and 51% (21).

CONCLUSION

As a result, gastric polyps are incidental formations with no prominent symptomatic features. They are essential because of their malignant transformation. The limiting features of our study are that it is single-center and retrospective. Due to the prevalence of nonspecific findings, upper endoscopic examination should be performed in patients with these complaints, especially those over fifty. When detected, excision or follow-up with a biopsy of the polyp and surrounding tissue is required if this is not possible.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008. Ethics committee approval has been granted from our institution. As this was a retrospective research, no informed consent was obtained from participants.

REFERENCES

- 1. Arteaga CD, Wadhwa R. Gastric polyp. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; July 10, 2023.
- Erdoğan Ç, Arı D, Yeşil B, et al. Evaluation of non-gastric upper gastrointestinal system polyps: an epidemiological assessment. Sci Rep. 2023;13:6168.
- 3. Early D. Diagnosis and approach to gastric polyps. Gastrointest Endosc. 2023;98:618-20.
- Chen H, Wu Y, Ma Y, Li R. Analysis of risk factors for postoperative bleeding and polyp recurrence in adolescents with gastric polyps treated with endoscopic mucosal resection: a retrospective cohort study. Transl Pediatr. 2023;12:375-86.
- 5. Salami AC, Stone JM, Greenberg RH, et al. Early prophylactic gastrectomy for the management of gastric adenomatous proximal polyposis syndrome (GAPPS). ACS Case Rev Surg. 2022;3:62-8.
- 6. Draganov PV, Wang AY, Othman MO, Fukami N. AGA institute clinical practice update: endoscopic submucosal dissection in the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:16-25.e1.
- 7. Namasivayam V, Koh CJ, Tsao S, et al. Academy of Medicine, Singapore clinical guideline on endoscopic surveillance and management of gastric premalignant lesions. Ann Acad Med Singap. 2022;51:417-35.

- 8. Kelly PJ, Lauwers GY. Clinical guidelines: consensus for the management of patients with gastric polyps. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;8:7-8.
- 9. Han AR, Sung CO, Kim KM, et al. The clinicopathological features of gastric hyperplastic polyps with neoplastic transformations: a suggestion of indication for endoscopic polypectomy. Gut Liver. 2009;3:271-5.
- 10. Vallot T. Gastric polyps. Presse Med. 2007;36:1412-7.
- 11. Abraham SC, Singh VK, Yardley JH, et al. Hyperplastic polyps of the stomach: associations with histologic patterns of gastritis and gastric atrophy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25:500-7.
- 12. Archimandritis A, Spiliadis C, Tzivras M, et al. Gastric epithelial polyps: a retrospective endoscopic study of 12974 symptomatic patients. Ital J Gastroenterol. 1996;28:387-90.
- 13. Morais DJ, Yamanaka A, Zeitune JM, Andreollo NA. Gastric polyps: a retrospective analysis of 26,000 digestive endoscopies. Arq Gastroenterol. 2007;44:14-7.
- 14. Niu JC, Qin Y. Fundic gland polyps: Should my patient stop taking PPIs?. Cleve Clin J Med. 2023;90:157-60.
- 15. Sami AS, Sylvester FA, Attard T, Mir S. Fundic gland polyps: strategizing a surveillance framework for children and adolescents. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2023;77:439-41.
- Carr S, Kasi A. Familial adenomatous polyposis. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; February 25, 2023.
- 17. DelSignore M, Jeong T, Denmark G, et al. Incidence and natural history of gastric high-grade dysplasia in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis syndrome. Gastrointest Endosc. 2023;97:25-34.e6.
- Shibagaki K, Ishimura N, Kotani S, et al. Endoscopic differential diagnosis between foveolar-type gastric adenoma and gastric hyperplastic polyps in Helicobacter pylori-naïve patients. Gastric Cancer. 2023;26:1002-11.
- Faujo Nintewoue GF, Kouitcheu Mabeku LB. Helicobacter pylori infection promotes gastric premalignancies and malignancies lesions and demotes hyperplastic polyps: a 5 year multicentric study among cameroonian dyspeptic patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2023;24:171-83.
- Chung WC. Helicobacter pylori eradication reduces risk for recurrence of gastric hyperplastic polyp after endoscopic resection. Korean J Intern Med. 2023;38:141-3.
- Cho YS, Nam SY, Moon HS, et. al. Helicobacter pylori eradication reduces risk for recurrence of gastric hyperplastic polyp after endoscopic resection. Korean J Intern Med. 2023;38:167-75.